Order Number 9503451

Qualifications, responsibilities, and duties of athletics directors at selected NCAA division I, II, and III institutions in 11 southeastern states

Kinder, T. Michael, D.A.

Middle Tennessee State University, 1994

Copyright ©1995 by Kinder, T. Michael. All rights reserved.



Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

Qualifications, Responsibilities, and Duties of Athletics Directors at Selected NCAA Division I, II, and III Institutions in 11 Southeastern States

T. Michael Kinder

A dissertation presented to the Graduate Faculty of Middle Tennessee State University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree Doctor of Arts in Physical Education

August 1994

Qualifications, Responsibilities, and Duties of Athletics Directors at Selected NCAA Division I, II, and III Institutions in 11 Southeastern States

APPROVED:

Graduate Committee:

Major

4/- PP Commi tee Memb

ere Committee Member

the Department of Health, Physical Education, Head of

Recreation, and Safety

Graduate College Dean of ťhe

ABSTRACT

Qualifications, Responsibilities, and Duties of Athletics Directors at Selected NCAA Division I, II, and III Institutions in 11 Southeastern States

T. Michael Kinder

The role of intercollegiate athletics directors (ADs) was examined to determine current qualifications, responsibilities, and duties necessary for professional and institutional success within each of the three divisions of the National Collegiate Athletic Association (NCAA).

A questionnaire was developed, validated by a panel of experts, and sent to the 193 ADs whose respective college or university was both a member of the NCAA and the Southern Association of Colleges and Schools (SACS). Ninety-seven were returned. The instrument requested general information, checklist responses to items regarding essential duties, and the amount of administrative time spent in each of the nine areas of athletics director responsibility.

General differences were found among divisions in number of sports offered, chain-of-command, previous coaching and administrative experience, coaching and teaching requirements, support staff, and athletics budget. There were no differences among NCAA divisions as to the

T. Michael Kinder

highest degree held by the athletics director, the field in which the degree was held, the position held previously, or years of experience.

1

Statistical analyses indicated significant differences among divisions, at the .05 level of confidence, on a number of duties in the checklist concerning the following: (1)how duties were performed, (2) frequency, (3) importance, and (4) difficulty. Concerning administrative time spent in the nine responsibility areas, the findings indicated: (1)ADs in all divisions spent most of their time in financial operations; (2) there was no difference in the areas of personnel, operational policies, responsibilities to student athletes, and personal/ professional growth; (3) Division I ADs spent more time on revenue generation than those in Division II or Division III, with ADs in Division II spending more time than Division III ADs; (4) Division I ADs devoted more time to public relations/promotions than ADs in Division III; (5) Division I and II ADs spent more time in compliance than those in Division III; (6) Division III ADs spent more time in facility/contest management than ADs in Division I; and (7) Division I ADs delegated more duties than ADs in Divisions II and III.

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The development and completion of this project was made possible through the inspiration, assistance, and contributions of the following individuals to whom I owe a special debt of gratitude:

 First and foremost, I can never repay the life, values, and love given me by my mother and father, the greatest parents anyone could ever know;

2. To my wife, Teresa, without whose love, support, and sacrifice this project could not have been completed;

3. To my brother Tom, who was an inspiration and motivating force throughout this entire process;

4. To Dr. A. H. Solomon, who served as a mentor to me throughout the doctoral program and devoted much of his time helping to see that the dissertation was properly done;

5. To Dr. Glen Reeder and Dr. Jack Arters, who provided suggestions and a background from which to work;

6. To Judy Clayton and Galen Lehman, who provided special help in setting things up properly;

7. To the Middle Tennessee State University Computer Services Department, which supplied data analysis for the project with much patience and understanding;

8. To my panel of experts, Mr. Sonny Moran, Mr. Glen Tuckett, Dr. A. H. Solomon, Mr. Stephen Morgan, Dr. Patricia

ii

Rodgers, and Dr. Frank Bonner, who assisted in validating the questionnaire; and

9. Finally, to my son, Thomas Michael, namesake of my father, my brother, and myself, I dedicate this work in the hope that it will someday serve as an inspiration to you.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

		Pag	ſe
List d	of	Tables	.i
List d	of	Appendices	.i
Chapte	er		
-	1.	Introduction	1
		Statement of the Problem	5
		Purpose of the Study	6
		Research Questions	6
		Significance of the Study	7
		Basic Assumptions	9
		Delimitations	9
		Limitations 1	0
		Definition of Terms 1	0
2	2.	Review of Related Literature 1	3
3	3.	Procedure and Method	2
		Instrument	2
		Subjects 3	4
		Data Analyses	5
4	ł .	Data Analyses	7
		Background Information 3	7
		Checklist Responses to Duties in the	
		Nine Areas of Responsibility 4	4

Area 1: Financial Operations	•	•	47
Area 2: Generation of Revenues	•	•	56
Area 3: Operational Policies	•	•	79
Area 4: Personnel	•	•	89
Area 5: Compliance	•	•	103
Area 6: Responsibilities to Student Athletes	•	•	117
Area 7: Public Relations/Promotions	•	•	133
Area 8: Facility/Contest Management	•	•	149
Area 9: Personal/Professional Growth	•	•	160
Administrative Time Spent on Areas of Responsibility			163
Summary		•	175
Findings		•	176
Financial Operations		•	182
Generation of Revenues	•		184
Operational Policies		•	188
Personnel	•	•	190
Compliance	•	•	194
Responsibilities to Student			
Athletes	•	•	197
Public Relations/Promotions	•	•	199
Facility/Contest Management	•	•	202
Personal/Professional Growth	•	•	204
Conclusions	•	•	205
Suggestions	•	•	209

5.

																					Page
APPENDICES .	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	٠	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	٠	•	•	210
BIBLIOGRAPHY	•	•	•	•	•	•	•		•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	319

•

TABLES

Table		Page
1.	To Whom the Athletics Director Reports by NCAA Divisional Level	39
2.	Athletics Directors Who Coach a Sport by NCAA Divisional Level	41
3.	Athletics Directors Who Teach by NCAA Divisional Level	41
4.	Athletics Directors with One or More Associate/Assistant Athletics Directors by NCAA Divisional Level	43
5.	Athletics Programs That Employ a Fund- Raiser as a Staff Position by NCAA Divisional Level	43
6.	Athletics Programs That Employ a Sports Information Director by NCAA Divisional Level	45
7.	Athletics Programs That Employ Sports Information Directors Full Time by NCAA Divisional Level	45
8.	Size of the Athletics Budget at Each Institution by NCAA Divisional Level	46
9.	Responses to Item 1.2 (Part D) of the Questionnaire by NCAA Divisional Level	49
10.	Responses to Item 1.3 (Parts A and B) of the Questionnaire by NCAA Divisional Level	51
11.	Responses to Item 1.4 (Parts B and D) of the Questionnaire by NCAA Divisional Level	53
12.	Responses to Item 1.5 (Parts B and D) of the Questionnaire by NCAA Divisional	
	Level	55

13.	Responses to Item 2.1 (Parts A, B, and D) of the Questionnaire by NCAA Divisional Level	68
14.	Responses to Item 2.2 (Parts A and B) of the Questionnaire by NCAA Divisional Level	69
15.	Responses to Item 2.3 (Parts A, B, and D) of the Questionnaire by NCAA Divisional Level	70
16.	Responses to Item 2.4 (Parts A, B, and D) of the Questionnaire by NCAA Divisional Level	71
17.	Responses to Item 2.5 (Parts A, B, and D) of the Questionnaire by NCAA Divisional Level	72
18.	Responses to Item 2.6 (Parts A, B, and D) of the Questionnaire by NCAA Divisional Level	73
19.	Responses to Item 2.7 (Parts A, B, and C) of the Questionnaire by NCAA Divisional Level	74
20.	Responses to Item 2.8 (Parts A and B) of the Questionnaire by NCAA Divisional Level	75
21.	Responses to Item 2.9 (Parts A and B) of the Questionnaire by NCAA Divisional Level	76
22.	Responses to Item 2.10 (Parts A, B, C, and D) of the Questionnaire by NCAA Divisional Level	77
23.	Responses to Item 2.11 (Part B) of the Questionnaire by NCAA Divisional Level	78
24.	Responses to Item 3.1 (Part D) of the Questionnaire by NCAA Divisional Level	80
25.	Responses to Item 3.2 (Parts B and E) of the Questionnaire by NCAA Divisional Level	83

	26.	Responses to Item 3.3 (Part B) of the Questionnaire by NCAA Divisional Level	85
	27.	Responses to Item 3.4 (Parts B, C, and D) of the Questionnaire by NCAA Divisional Level	87
	28.	Responses to Item 3.6 (Parts A and B) of the Questionnaire by NCAA Divisional Level	90
	29.	Responses to Item 4.1 (Part D) of the Questionnaire by NCAA Divisional Level	92
	30.	Responses to Item 4.3 (Part B) of the Questionnaire by NCAA Divisional Level	94
	31.	Responses to Item 4.4 (Part D) of the Questionnaire by NCAA Divisional Level	96
	32.	Responses to Item 4.6 (Parts B and D) of the Questionnaire by NCAA Divisional Level	99
	33.	Responses to Item 4.7 (Part D) of the Questionnaire by NCAA Divisional Level 1	01
	34.	Responses to Item 4.8 (Parts B and E) of the Questionnaire by NCAA Divisional Level	02
	35.	Responses to Item 5.1 (Parts A, B, and E) of the Questionnaire by NCAA Divisional Level	05
	36.	Responses to Item 5.2 (Parts B and E) of the Questionnaire by NCAA Divisional Level	07
	37.	Responses to Item 5.3 (Parts A, B, D, and E) of the Questionnaire by NCAA Divisional Level	09
:	38.	Responses to Item 5.4 (Parts A and B) of the Questionnaire by NCAA Divisional Level	11
	39.	Responses to Item 5.5 (Parts A, B, C, D, and E) of the Questionnaire by NCAA Divisional Level	14

40.	Responses to Item 5.7 (Parts A, B, D, and E) of the Questionnaire by NCAA Divisional Level	116
41.	Responses to Item 6.1 (Part B) of the Questionnaire by NCAA Divisional Level	118
42.	Responses to Item 6.2 (Part A) of the Questionnaire by NCAA Divisional Level	120
43.	Responses to Item 6.3 (Parts A and B) of the Questionnaire by NCAA Divisional Level	122
44.	Responses to Item 6.5 (Parts A and B) of the Questionnaire by NCAA Divisional Level	124
45.	Responses to Item 6.6 (Parts A and B) of the Questionnaire by NCAA Divisional Level	126
46.	Responses to Item 6.7 (Parts A and B) of the Questionnaire by NCAA Divisional Level	128
47.	Responses to Item 6.8 (Parts A and B) of the Questionnaire by NCAA Divisional Level	130
48.	Responses to Item 6.9 (Parts A, B, and D) of the Questionnaire by NCAA Divisional Level	131
49.	Responses to Item 6.10 (Parts A, B, D, and E) of the Questionnaire by NCAA Divisional Level	134
50.	Responses to Item 7.2 (Part B) of the Questionnaire by NCAA Divisional Level	136
51.	Responses to Item 7.3 (Parts A, B, D, and E) of the Questionnaire by NCAA Divisional Level	138
52.	Responses to Item 7.4 (Parts C and D) of the Questionnaire by NCAA Divisional Level	141

53.	Responses to Item 7.5 (Part D) of the Questionnaire by NCAA Divisional Level	143
54.	Responses to Item 7.7 (Parts A, B, and D) of the Questionnaire by NCAA Divisional Level	145
55.	Responses to Item 7.8 (Part B) of the Questionnaire by NCAA Divisional Level	146
56.	Responses to Item 7.9 (Part D) of the Questionnaire by NCAA Divisional Level	148
57.	Responses to Item 8.1 (Part A) of the Questionnaire by NCAA Divisional Level	150
58.	Responses to Item 8.2 (Parts A and B) of the Questionnaire by NCAA Divisional Level	152
59.	Responses to Item 8.3 (Parts A and B) of the Questionnaire by NCAA Divisional Level	153
60.	Responses to Item 8.4 (Parts A and B) of the Questionnaire by NCAA Divisional Level	155
61.	Responses to Item 8.5 (Part B) of the Questionnaire by NCAA Divisional Level	157
62.	Responses to Item 8.6 (Parts A and B) of the Questionnaire by NCAA Divisional Level	158
63.	Responses to Item 8.7 (Part A) of the Questionnaire by NCAA Divisional Level	161
64.	Administrative Time Spent on Financial Operations by NCAA Divisional Classification	165
65.	Administrative Time Spent on Generation of Revenues by NCAA Divisional Classification	166

66.	Results of the Scheffe Procedure Between NCAA Divisions I, II, and III Concerning Administrative Time Spent on Generation of Revenues	167
67.	Administrative Time Spent on Compliance by NCAA Divisional Classification	169
68.	Results of the Scheffe Procedure Between NCAA Divisions I, II, and III Concerning Administrative Time Spent on Compliance	170
69.	Results of the Scheffe Procedure Between NCAA Divisions I, II, and III Concerning Administrative Time Spent on Public Relations/Promotions	171
70.	Administrative Time Spent on Public Relations/Promotions by NCAA Divisional Classification	172
71.	Administrative Time Spent on Facility/ Contest Management by NCAA Divisional Classification	173
72.	Results of the Scheffe Procedure Between NCAA Divisions I, II, and III Concerning Administrative Time Spent on Facility/Contest Management by NCAA Divisional Classification	174
73.	Percentage of Total Administrative Time Spent in Each of the Nine Areas of Responsibility by NCAA Divisional Classification	185

APPENDICES

Appendix		Page
Α.	TABLES OF RESPONSIBILITY AREAS	211
в.	QUESTIONNAIRE	296
с.	PERMISSION LETTER (JOHN RENO)	309
D.	PERMISSION LETTER (H. LYNN CUNDIFF)	311
E.	QUESTIONNAIRE REVIEW PANEL	313
F.	COMPLIANCE LETTER	315
G.	QUESTIONNAIRE COVER LETTER	317

CHAPTER 1

Introduction

Intercollegiate athletics in the United States has reached a level of popularity and influence seldom before imagined. This phenomenon, fueled by vast media coverage, has resulted in tremendous growth and added responsibilities for colleges and universities. An examination of institutions who compete in National Collegiate Athletic Association (NCAA) sanctioned sports reveals that 1,035 schools now comprise the three respective divisions ("Membership in Association," 1990). Within each of these institutions someone, usually referred to as the athletics director or athletics administrator, is given the primary responsibility of administering the program. This selection is critical for the continued growth and development of intercollegiate athletics at both the institutional and national levels. Current athletics administrators must possess the skills, authority, courage, and integrity to make changes and decisions in response to new and increasing demands.

The role of athletics director has undergone dramatic changes in recent years. The expansion of athletics programs and the changing athletics environment have made the operation of any department more complex. Redefinition of administrative structures, pressures from fans and

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

alumni, the procurement and management of financial resources, legal issues, and compliance demands are but a few of the influences which have created novel administrative concerns and responsibilities for the athletics administrator (Williams & Miller 1983). Today's athletics directors must exhibit a variety of talents, possess a broader knowledge base, and have more versatility than those of previous times. In a study undertaken to improve curriculum design in sport management programs, Ulrich and Parkhouse (1982) affirmed the "need for a new breed of specialists--highly trained administrators who function successfully in a number of increasingly complex and varied sport-related areas" (p. 64).

While the position of athletics director may be institutionally unique, many have attempted to identify common roles, tasks, responsibilities, and qualifications which are essential for successful job performance. Many of these descriptions, however, are general in nature. Bucher (1983), for example, lists several of the most common qualifications:

> conceptual skills, integrity, ability to instill good human relations, ability to make decisions, health and fitness for the job, willingness to accept responsibility, understanding of work, command of administrative skills, and intellectual capacity." (p. 19)

Likewise, much of the literature identifies job responsibilities and tasks in similar generic terms. Hall,

Cooper, Frost, Shenk, and Warren (1973) described the functions and skills of the administrator to be:

 ability to recruit and retain excellent employees, 2) management of fiscal affairs,
 development of policies and procedures,
 understanding of new ideas and procedures,
 management of personnel and communication systems, 6) office management, and 7) delegation of authority. (pp. 104-105)

While modern leadership and management philosophy suggests that organizations which can successfully manage both the formal and informal components are the most effective, findings by Branch (1990) indicate that effective athletics organizations have leaders who are more oriented toward goal and task accomplishment than to interpersonal relationships with subordinates. Likewise, Chelladurai (1985) reports that, within the context of a contemporary leadership paradigm (Fiedler's Contingency Model of Leader Effectiveness), the situation in athletics administration favors an autocratic behavior where the leader is predisposed to task accomplishment. However, Branch (1990) also notes that defining leadership traits of athletics directors only imparts understanding of the individual and does not relate "the significance of definition to the effective functioning of the athletic organization" (p. 171). The relationship between effective athletics leadership and effective athletics management dynamics is unclear.

Input from experts in the profession assists in the development of a distinct body of knowledge essential for the preparation of athletics directors. Regardless of the type of program, skills involving communication, public relations, business, and others unique to athletics administration are suggested to be critical for fulfilling the responsibilities of the position. Additionally, a background of involvement in national meetings, some type of internship training, and leadership role or administrative experience are of value to increasing one's chances for success in athletics administration (Williams & Miller, 1983). While this information is vital, specific competencies or duties should also be identified which clarify what must be done in association with each responsibility. Priorities as well must be determined. This becomes difficult when one realizes that authorities cannot reach a consensus regarding the responsibilities and prioritization of the athletics director's job within a particular NCAA Division, much less when all three are considered at once (Cundiff, 1985).

As expected, most of the research which has been done in the area of athletics administration comes from surveys of those holding such positions. The athletics director is usually asked to indicate if the responsibilities, et cetera, listed are part of the function of the position. Since most of the items listed are taken from literature

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

involving similar studies, the athletics director usually ranks all of the responsibilities as "important" to "moderately important." The degree to which the athletics director is personally involved within each general area or what specific duties are performed seldom appears. It is also critical to note that the preparation of athletics administrators should reflect the responsibilities of the level of program to be administered. The requirements for operating a Division I program, for example, may be sufficiently unique to warrant specialized courses of study or other distinct preparation modifications. Williams and Miller (1983) report that, theoretically, athletics directors' responses to questionnaires are a reflection of background experiences and job responsibilities, with recommendations for professional preparation influenced by the type of program administered.

> Differences in complexity and philosophic orientation across divisions, as well as differences in budget and support staff, influenced the perceptions of athletic directors, implying a primary business orientation for Division I programs and an education orientation for Division III institutions. (Williams & Miller, 1983, p. 399)

Statement of the Problem

Through job analysis, this investigation seeks to determine current qualifications, responsibilities, and duties of athletics directors in the three divisions of the

National Collegiate Athletic Association in 11 southeastern states.

Purpose of the Study

The purposes of this study are as follows: (1) to identify the responsibilities and duties of intercollegiate athletics directors; (2) to differentiate, among NCAA Division I, Division II, and Division III institutions, which qualifications and professional skills are considered necessary for respective occupational success; (3) to determine the most important responsibilities at each NCAA divisional level; and (4) to identify the extent to which the athletics director is personally involved in the performance of duties to fulfill those responsibilities.

<u>Research Questions</u>

The following research questions are pertinent to this study:

1. What qualifications are necessary for successful job performance at each NCAA divisional level of athletics administration?

2. What are the job responsibilities for athletics directors at each NCAA divisional level of athletics administration?

3. Are there significant differences in responses among athletics directors from Division I, Division II, and Division III institutions? 4. To what degree is the athletics director involved in the performance of specific duties related to each responsibility at each NCAA divisional level?

5. Which responsibilities require the greatest amount of administrative time at each NCAA divisional level?

6. To what degree has athletics fund-raising become a responsibility of the athletics director at each NCAA divisional level?

7. What are the commonalities and differences in the backgrounds of athletics directors at each NCAA divisional level concerning preparation, training, and experience?

Significance of the Study

With positions in athletics administration becoming more specialized, it is important that aspiring athletics directors realize what skills, preparation, and knowledge are critical to achieving one's career goals. Appropriate choices can then be made in an individual's preparation as to institution, courses, and pre-professional and professional experiences. A self-examination should be done comparing one's own philosophy to the type of program one wishes to administer, as well as an evaluation of personal skills deemed important for fulfilling the requirements of a particular level of athletics administration. With this knowledge available, an individual could make a more objective prediction for the probability of success. Prospects might choose alternative positions which utilize skills and abilities that align with personal strengths.

There are a number of institutions throughout the country that now offer graduate programs in athletics administration and sport management. This study could be used to enhance curriculum development by identifying credentials which are considered essential for occupational success. Evaluations of current programs of study in terms of direction and emphasis might also be conducted on the basis of these results.

This research should contribute to professional literature in the field of athletics administration and sport management, hopefully resulting in improved job efficiency. Current athletics directors may utilize this data to evaluate present practices and time management techniques to ensure that appropriate prioritization is done in directing the program.

The influence of athletics programs upon institutions of higher education is well documented. Athletics has probably received more attention than any other phase of the college program, with the operation of athletics departments becoming more and more controversial (Kinder, 1976). While justifications for programs of athletics remain solid, divergent practices have resulted in many criticisms concerning the values of these programs. Although questions about athletics contributions to higher education are not

new, such questions must be addressed by athletics directors with uncompromising integrity, professionalism, and knowledge of responsibilities.

Basic Assumptions

The following statements are considered to be true concerning this research project:

1. The information in <u>The 1990-1991 National Directory</u> of <u>College Athletics</u> (1991) is accurate.

2. The information received from the Southern Association of Colleges and Schools is correct.

3. The instrument developed for this study accurately reflects the major areas of responsibility for intercollegiate athletics directors.

4. The athletics directors who participated in the study are representative of the profession in each NCAA division.

Delimitations

The following delimitations apply to this study:

1. The study included only the responses of those athletics directors whose institutions were members of both the National Collegiate Athletic Association and the Southern Association of Colleges and Schools as of October 1, 1990.

2. The qualifications, responsibilities, and duties were limited to those identified as significant to the

position of athletics director in a college/university setting.

Limitations

The following limitations apply to this study:

1. The study included only those institutions whose athletics director was willing to respond.

2. The responses to the questionnaire represented the athletics administrators' opinions at the time of the study.

Definition of Terms

<u>Athletics administrator/Athletics director</u>--the individual who has the responsibility for all administrative functions involving the operation of an athletics program within an institution of higher education.

<u>Competency</u>--a special skill or ability which is generally developed through training or experience and is adequate for executing the task to be performed.

<u>Difficulty</u>--refers to the degree of effort and ability required of the athletics director to learn or to perform adequately.

<u>Duty</u>--a task or action necessary to fulfill a responsibility of the position held.

<u>Frequency</u>--refers to how often a duty or task is performed by an athletics director.

<u>Importance</u>--refers to how significant or critical a duty is to the successful performance of the athletics director's job.

Job analysis--that process which results in establishing the identity and relative importance of the various duties performed by an individual in an occupation.

National Collegiate Athletic Association (NCAA) -- an athletic association composed of 1,035 member institutions of higher education.

<u>Qualification</u>--any prerequisite or ability that fits one for a job.

<u>Responsibility</u>--any phase of the program under the athletics director's jurisdiction and for which that individual is held accountable, whether or not it is performed directly.

<u>Southern Association of Colleges and Schools (SACS)</u>--an accreditation agency whose members are institutions located in Alabama, Florida, Georgia, Kentucky, Louisiana, Mississippi, North Carolina, South Carolina, Tennessee, Texas, and Virginia.

CHAPTER 2

Review of Related Literature

The role of athletics director in colleges and universities has become so complex that it warrants certain preparation to ensure that the individual can fulfill the responsibilities of the position. Therefore, the identification of these responsibilities is critical in order to plan appropriate preparation programs. Likewise, special qualifications in personality and character have been identified as prerequisites for successful athletics administration. While some qualifications may represent an institution's uniqueness, those that are common to all schools and those that are identified with distinct levels of competition are of particular interest to this study.

Nearly 30 years ago, Forsythe (1962) acknowledged the importance of the fit between the athletics director and the institution. Among the proposed qualifications were the following: "have a complete understanding of the school administration . . . and be sure that his thinking and objectives are in accord with the program desired . . . and conduct efficiently the business details involved" (Forsythe, 1962, p. 10). Also emphasized were the importance of supporting other departments within the school and maintaining strong community relations. Several studies have been done over the years to determine and to update the general responsibilities and qualifications of intercollegiate athletics directors. Havel and Seymour (1961) listed specific administrative responsibilities for the position of athletics director, including "legal foundations, personnel administration, program development, community relations, financial management, and facilities" (p. 10). Steitz (1971) agreed with the responsibilities presented by Havel and Seymour, but added "concern for the health and care of athletes and provision of medical supervision" (p. 1).

Richey (1963) surveyed athletics directors and college presidents to determine the primary responsibilities and qualifications of college athletics directors. The predominant responses in terms of responsibilities included teaching class, coaching varsity sports, budgeting, scheduling of contests, and advising students. A lack of training was reported in the areas of budgeting and financial responsibilities. Collegiate playing or coaching experience was considered beneficial, while the personal characteristics of good human relations, integrity, good moral character, and competency in administration were deemed most essential.

In examining the behavior of successful and unsuccessful athletics directors in small colleges and universities, Dennis (1971) found that of the activities

consuming the greatest amount of administrative time the following ranked highest: (1) teaching, coaching, instructing, and training; (2) reading and answering mail; and (3) preparing and writing reports, orders, and memoranda. Both successful and unsuccessful groups scored high in variables, indicating a good climate of rapport and two-way communication. In terms of structure, the scores of both groups were only average, indicating a lack of activity in directing group activities. Results of the study led to the conclusion that success or lack of success of small college athletics teams does not necessarily reflect differences in administrative behavior of the athletics administrators.

R. G. Sutton (1975) proposed, on the basis of an administrator survey, that the most important functions of intercollegiate athletics directors were: (1) planning of future athletics facilities, (2) preparation of the yearly schedule for all sports, (3) disbursement of budgeted finances to the various sports, and (4) approval of departmental requisitions. Berg (1978) affirmed and enhanced this list. The administrative functions that athletics administrators should be prepared to execute include planning, organizing, staffing, scheduling, coordinating, directing, supervising, and budgeting. In order to adequately perform such duties, Berg recommended that professional preparation programs in athletics

administration include emphases in school law, human relations, business management, athletics administration, public relations, and personnel management. An internship experience was also perceived as critical.

The general responsibilities presented above continue to be espoused by those knowledgeable in the field. Bucher (1987) identified the more common functions of management to be "planning, organizing, staffing, directing, and controlling" (p. 7). To properly execute these functions, the administrator should possess certain gualities:

> conceptual skills, integrity, human relations skills, ability to make decisions, health and fitness for the job, willingness to accept responsibility, understanding of work, command of technical skills, and intellectual capacity. (Bucher, 1987, p. 15)

Frost, Lockhart, and Marshall (1988) also described several of the many duties and responsibilities of athletics directors. The primary duties included:

> deciding what sport programs to conduct, scheduling and maintaining facilities, scheduling contests, hiring coaches and staff, hiring officials, promoting athletic events, providing for the health and welfare of athletes, enforcing eligibility and recruiting regulations, maintaining public relations, and supervising fiscal matters pertaining to athletics. (Frost et al., 1988, pp. 23-24)

Williams and Miller (1983) conducted an investigation to ascertain the job responsibilities and essential characteristics of intercollegiate athletics directors and to obtain recommendations for graduate study in athletics

administration. The responsibilities of athletics directors (and the rank order as determined by the survey) were represented in these 14 categories: (1) budgeting, (2) eligibility concerns, (3) policy development, (4) representative to governing organizations, (5) attending athletics contests, (6) personnel recruitment and management, (7) public relations, (8) scheduling events/ facilities, (9) record-keeping and reports, (10) financial aids concerns, (11) game/contests management, (12) equipment ordering, (13) fund-raising/promotions, and (14) travel arrangements. These categories appear to be built on those presented by Kelliher (1957), who found that the most important criteria for evaluating the administration of athletics programs fell into the major categories of financial soundness, organization, well-being of students, professional status of staff, and care of athletics equipment and property.

Due to the complexities in the role of athletics directors, graduate-level course work appropriate for job preparation was proposed by Kinder (1990). Within this course work should be phases of intercollegiate sport, business education, business advertisement, social and developmental education, and mass media administration. Particular administrative skills required involve those dealing with budgeting, administration, and interpretation of rules, communication, and office management. Additionally, the personal qualifications considered mandatory were integrity, courage, intelligence, common sense, and human relations skills.

In reviewing administrator functions, Horine (1991) stated:

A basic requirement for future positions in administration is a general liberal arts education as well as a vocational preparation. Those who know only their own discipline will always remain insecure. After building a solid base in the liberal arts, one should consider that the most important aspect of administration is human relations. One should take courses in this area or find other ways to learn how to understand and motivate people. Useful courses, either elective or required, might be in psychology, school law, business, sociology, anthropology, or political science. Computer literacy is mandatory. (p. 13)

The education described would allow the athletics director to efficiently perform the duties of the position, which are listed as: (1) monitoring and maintaining ethical standards of coaches and athletes as to eligibility and behavior; (2) personnel; (3) interpreting programs to students, faculty, administration, and public; (4) public relations, marketing, and promotions; (5) fund-raising, budgeting, and accounting; (6) equipment budgeting, accounting, purchasing, and maintenance; (7) facility planning, inspection for safety, scheduling, and maintenance; (8) long-range planning; (9) providing communication avenues among coaches, athletics director, and higher authorities; (10) statistical recording of team and individual achievements; and (11) transportation and scheduling of contests and officials. In an effort to develop an instrument to determine and evaluate the most important competencies of intercollegiate athletics directors, Cash (1983) proposed seven major management categories. Included were the following areas: (1) business and finance, (2) communication, (3) director's personal development, (4) physical facilities, (5) personnel, (6) director's professional development, and (7) student-athlete services. Of these administrative areas, management of business and finance and management of personnel were identified as the most important aspects of athletics administration.

Several researchers and writers have also focused upon the importance of the financial aspects of athletics administration. Cundiff (1985) examined the roles and tasks of athletics directors across divisions in terms of administrative time spent in the areas of financial operations, public relations, selection and supervision of staff, and increasing revenues. According to the results of the study, athletics directors in each of the three divisions reported spending the greatest amount of time in the role of financial operations:

> Division I athletic directors reported spending 28 percent of their time in this role; Division II athletic directors reported spending 33 percent; and Division III athletic directors reported spending 42 percent of their time in this role. (Cundiff, 1985, p. 123)

Broyles (1976) conducted a survey to identify the problem areas confronted by intercollegiate athletics directors from all divisions. The highest ranked problem areas dealt with money-related matters, such as expenses, revenues, and budgeting. Other areas of significance included eligibility of athletes, facility maintenance and improvement, and compliance with Title IX. Broyles and Hay (1979) concluded that athletics programs have evolved from a production (coaching) orientation to a marketing orientation and that institutions which produce a product or provide a service should focus on satisfying customers at a profit. Furthermore, Broyles, Hay, and Ginter (1979) presented the objectives of creating fan attendance and generating revenue to offset expenses as being primary functions of most successful intercollegiate athletics programs.

Indeed, intercollegiate athletics at the major Division I level may be classified as big business. L. C. Scott (1991) reported that in 1989-1990 the Louisiana State University Athletics Department generated more than \$21 million in revenue. Furthermore, the impact on the metropolitan area was tremendous, as more than \$65 million in sales for Baton Rouge area firms and \$25.5 million in household earnings were created. Thelin and Wiseman (1990) agree that Division I college sports have become a large commercial enterprise competing for the entertainment dollar. The marketing of intercollegiate athletics has

become common, with Division II and Division III programs now imitating their Division I counterparts. Likewise, the most popular method for offsetting the difference between flat or saturated revenues from ticket sales, appropriations, et cetera, and the rising costs of operation is through donor solicitation (Thelin & Wiseman, 1990). Although once associated primarily with Division I and, to a somewhat lesser extent, Division II programs, the responsibility of fund-raising has become an integral, if uncomfortable, part of the job for nearly all athletics administrators. Roach (1984) estimated that more than onehalf of Division III athletics directors do some type of fund-raising and believe it to be a function of the position.

As a result of an investigation to examine the fundraising practices of athletics directors, Nardone (1987) indicates:

> Even in National Collegiate Athletic Association Division III institutions, where athletics philosophically is supposed to be controlled and financed in the same manner as other departments of the college, athletic fund-raising appears to have become prevalent. (p. 19)

Also presented is a profile of the athletics director at each NCAA level of competition:

Division I athletic administrators appear to be individuals who are interested in athletic fundraising, do not actually perform fund-raising duties, have had developmental experience as an assistant athletic director at the collegiate level, have at least an earned bachelor's degree,

and have an undergraduate major in physical education.

Division II athletic administrators appear to be individuals who are interested in athletic fund-raising, actually perform fund-raising duties, have had developmental experience in a variety of educational circumstances, possess an earned doctoral degree, and have an undergraduate major in physical education.

Division III athletic administrators appear to be individuals who are not interested in athletic fund-raising, actually perform fund-raising duties, have had developmental experience in a variety of educational circumstances, have an earned master's or doctoral degree, and have an undergraduate major in physical education. (Nardone, 1987, pp. 100-101)

However, no significant differences were found in the qualifications among athletics directors in NCAA Division I, Division II, and Division III institutions. In NCAA Division II, Marciani (1991) reported that a university survey revealed that 90% of the respondents indicated that fund-raising would be the most probable source for increasing athletics revenues in the next decade. In 36% of the institutions, the person in charge of fund-raising was the athletics director, while 27% gave the head fund-raiser the title of associate or assistant athletics director.

An increasingly complex and important responsibility of modern athletics departments, particularly at the Division I and Division II levels, is making sure that institutions are in compliance with all NCAA rules and regulations (Glazier & Jones, 1991). Institutions must identify and implement procedures which allow them to comply with NCAA rules, according to the school's specific situation. Although the athletics director is ultimately responsible for compliance, many institutions have created a full-time compliance coordinator position, while others have added compliance responsibilities to the job description of an associate or assistant athletics director. Most Division I programs seek an individual with a law degree or extensive experience in the field of compliance.

Emphasis in athletics directors' responsibilities and attitudes seems to differ across the divisions of the NCAA. Karch (1979) found that athletics directors at Division I institutions tended to emphasize the need for business preparation, while athletics administrators at Division III institutions tended to emphasize the importance of teaching and faculty responsibilities. Toms (1979) analyzed the differences in leadership characteristics of athletics directors across the three divisions of the NCAA and the National Association of Intercollegiate Athletics. While no significant differences were identified between taskoriented and people-oriented leadership style, years of professional experience, highest degree obtained, or internal promotion versus external employment, divisional status did have an effect on number of professional personnel in the athletics department, number of assistant athletics directors, and the sport the athletics directors coached. Significant differences were also present among

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

athletics administrators across divisions in certain leader behavior dimensions.

Lopiano (1984) suggested the minimum and optimum degree requirements for persons seeking employment for many sport management jobs. For those interested in a career in higher education, such as athletics director, a doctorate may be required. It was noted, however, that:

> As college athletic programs move more toward a Division I business/entertainment emphasis and away from Division II and III educational sport (degree related programs), the master's degree in business becomes more acceptable than the doctorate in physical education or higher education. (Lopiano, 1984, p. 16)

At the Division I level of athletics administration, Parker (1986) discovered that athletics administrators perform many tasks that are more managerial than educational, that degrees were not considered as useful as experience, and that a bachelor's degree in business or related fields was a minimal qualification. On the basis of the study, recommendations were made for those aspiring to become athletics directors, including the following: (1) obtaining a bachelor's degree in business or related field; (2) attending workshops to improve skills and remain current; (3) getting college coaching experience; (4) gaining practical experience through an internship or serving as an assistant athletics director; (5) getting legal training to keep up with rules and regulations; and

(6) obtaining training in communications, resource management, and interpersonal relations.

While Youngberg's (1971) investigation agreed with the subjective traits most often identified as necessary for athletics directors (integrity, a sound philosophy of athletics in education, a pleasing personality, and good educational background), the possession of a master's degree and having coached at the college level were the two most important objective traits for prospective athletics directors. In contrast to other studies, Youngberg concluded, on the basis of a survey of athletics directors, faculty representatives, and coaches in all NCAA and National Association of Intercollegiate Athletics (NAIA) institutions, that there was no apparent need to offer different types of preparation for individuals seeking to become athletics directors at various kinds of institutions.

Until recently, coaching ability had been a prerequisite to assuming the administrative position of athletics director. Herron (1969) discovered that intercollegiate coaching in conjunction with athletics administration was the norm and the appointment to athletics director was contingent upon the ability to assume a coaching responsibility. The study revealed that directors in all groups were concentrated in the sports of basketball, football, baseball, and track. Likewise, Rochelle (1971) found that the most recent position held by the largest

number of athletics directors was, respectively, football coach, college teacher, and basketball coach. The athletics administrators also reported active participation in coaching and previous athletics activities. Hatfield, Wrenn, and Bretting (1987) noted a lack of empirical data regarding skills that potential sport administrators should possess for successful job performance and that, among athletics directors surveyed, the five most frequent jobs held previously were the following: (1) head coach--70.7%; (2) assistant AD--48.3%, (3) professor--36.8%, (4) associate AD--29.3%; and (5) business manager--19.0%.

Many experts in the field of athletics administration feel that the old route from coach to athletics director is no longer appropriate due to the increasingly complex challenges in today's world of intercollegiate athletics. In fact, career paths for intercollegiate athletics directors are not clear at all. Berg (1990) reports that while there is an increasing pattern for career sports administrators to get started via formal sport-management education programs, the difference in philosophies among athletics departments results in institutions seeking different attributes in athletics directors. However, it is emphasized that some degree of managerial expertise has become essential for major college athletics directors because of the relationship of athletics to the business world.

To adequately prepare prospective athletics directors and others seeking employment in sport organizations, many institutions now offer sport management or sport administration programs. These programs are relatively new on the academic scene. Ohio University established the first institutional sport administration curriculum in 1966 at the graduate level. By 1988, 109 colleges and universities were identified as offering programs in sport management, 75 undergraduate, 58 master's level, and 25 at both undergraduate and master's level (Brassie, 1989b). Case (1984) also found a marked increase in the number of professional preparation programs in sport management over a three-year period and that 47% of responding institutions housed the sport management program within the department of physical education. Only 23% of the schools granted a degree specifically in sport management.

The curriculum in a sport management program must consist of elements that will allow the athletics administrator to succeed on the job. P. M. Scott (1979) prescribed essentials of a preparation program in light of the new perspectives of management. The modern athletics administrator should have specialized courses or experiences in areas of business, computers, collective bargaining, public relations, school law, and interpersonal relations. Utilizing data gathered from alumni, Ulrich and Parkhouse (1982) attempted to identify clusters of courses which may

be considered important for curriculum design in sport management programs. The following sets of courses were suggested: (1) organizations management (courses in organization behavior, personnel/industrial relations, management principles, and research); (2) communication (courses in broadcast journalism, sports writing, public relations, and current issues in sports); and (3) internship. Courses in motor performance and business were less emphasized by alumni in the assessment of job performance, job satisfaction, or satisfaction with graduate training. Finally, the researchers suggested that curricula should meet the needs of a variety of sport-related occupations, while providing flexible specialty tracks to satisfy unique requirements.

Upon an examination of sport management programs across the country, Parkhouse (1987) suggested that the findings indicated many variations in curricula from one institution to another. Some programs required course work and experiences of appropriate scope and magnitude to warrant a major or a separate degree program.

> However, the majority include from one to three electives and/or required offerings in foundation and application courses that are actually credited to another major. It is false advertising to report a program in sport management when course offerings are not sufficient to at least warrant a minor or concentration in this area, regardless of the major emphasis of study. (Parkhouse, 1987, p. 107)

It is also unethical to offer specialty tracks in a number of areas, such as intercollegiate athletics administration and professional sports, when in reality only one track has been developed.

Due to the inconsistencies and variety in sport management curricula among institutions, National Association for Sport and Physical Education (NASPE) appointed a task force to address curricula concerns in sport management in 1986 (Brassie, 1989a). Guidelines were developed and distributed to assist institutions in constructing sport management curricula. Of the recommendations included at both the graduate and undergraduate levels, the internship experience is considered a core component by NASPE (W. A. Sutton, 1989). In an investigation of actual and preferred preparation patterns of Division III athletics directors, Zwald (1986) also recommended that graduate sport management programs provide an internship component in athletics administration. Additionally, the following courses were presented as necessary: (1) Athletics Administration, (2) Legal Responsibilities, (3) Communication Skills, (4) Business, (5) Human Relations, (6) Public Relations, (7) Issues in Athletics, (8) Organizational Theory, (9) Contest Management, (10) Computer Application, (11) Fund-raising, (12) Philosophical Basis of Athletics in Education, (13)

Psychosociology of Sport, (14) Women in Sport, and (15) Facilities and Equipment Management.

Graduate-level sport management curriculum, according to Hardy (1987), must go beyond providing students with technical competencies. Such preparation should orient graduates to use competencies in the fulfillment of management tasks and to understand the uniqueness of sport organizations. "Graduate level sport management curricula should produce managers, not entry level technicians" (Hardy, 1987, p. 207).

Cuneen (1992) affirmed the need for interdisciplinary study in programs designed for prospective athletics directors in NCAA Division I and Division II institutions. Of the proposed course work identified as necessary, all that qualified for the curriculum reflected management or business principles. However, while the business/commercial acumen was evident in the respondents' perception of necessary course work, three of the highest scores for importance were given to managerial type courses within the higher education core (Higher Education Administration and Organization, Institutional Planning and Research, and Issues in Higher Education). This indicates the importance of competence in educational administration by those assuming athletics leadership positions in educational settings.

Today's curriculum in most sport management programs around the country consists of three basic components: (1)foundation areas, (2) application areas, and (3) field experiences (Parkhouse, 1991). Foundation areas include courses in management, marketing, accounting, economics and finance, and computer science. Courses in public relations, advertising, interpersonal communication, and business writing are also suggested. The applied areas are built upon foundational subject matter and are sport specific. Background content, such as sport history and philosophy, sport sociology, and sport psychology, provide a basis for more sport specific courses, such as sport law, sport administration, and facility design and management. The candidate's educational experience would culminate in a field or work experience called a practicuum (part-time) or an internship (full-time). Doctoral preparation, with a research orientation, is becoming increasingly important. Parkhouse indicates there is a trend toward hiring Ph.D.'s with business and sport management orientations as athletics directors at major universities. The work environment is important in a candidate's self-appraisal process, since a greater variety of tasks is usually required of each sport administration employee in smaller settings (small college) and tasks are usually more specific in larger settings (major university).

Documentation of existing literature clearly indicates that many experts in the field of athletics administration state similar ideas concerning the responsibilities and duties of the intercollegiate athletics director. Qualifications as to the director's personal character and educational background also appear consistently. Additionally, there seems to be a general consensus concerning the undergraduate and/or graduate course work, with variations for specific situations, that will be most beneficial in allowing the potential athletics director to succeed on the job. However, there appears to be lacking in the literature the importance of each responsibility, and the duties performed to fulfill the responsibility, in relationship to the success and effectiveness of the athletics program at each respective NCAA divisional level. The need for this information is important, as it not only has implications for sports administration preparation programs, but also for practitioners to enable them to focus time and skill development on the tasks determined to be most critical.

CHAPTER 3

Procedure and Method

The purposes of the study were the following: (1) to identify the responsibilities and duties of intercollegiate athletics directors; (2) to differentiate, among National College Athletic Association Division I, Division II, and Division III institutions, which qualifications and professional skills are considered necessary for respective occupational success; (3) to determine the most important responsibilities at each NCAA divisional level; and (4) to identify the extent to which the athletics director is personally involved in the performance of duties to fulfill those responsibilities. This chapter includes a description of the procedures used to develop the instrument, select the population, and collect and analyze the data.

Instrument

A questionnaire (see Appendix B) was developed to gather the desired data from athletics directors in the southeastern United States. Demographic information was requested concerning personal characteristics, experience/background, education, and teaching/coaching responsibilities of the athletics administrators. Also included were questions concerning NCAA affiliation, departmental support staff, chain of command, and budget. Following a review of the literature, several major areas of

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

responsibility for athletics directors seemed to appear consistently. After distinguishing these nine responsibility areas, several duties were then identified for each area as being important in order for the athletics director to fulfill that responsibility.

For each duty presented, the respondent was asked to check: (1) whether or not the duty is performed; (2) whether the duty is performed independently, cooperatively, or delegated; (3) how frequently the duty is performed on a scale of 1--annually, 2--occasionally, 3--monthly, 4--weekly, or 5--daily; (4) how important the duty is to program operation on a scale of 1--none, 2--little, 3--average, 4--great, or 5--extreme; and (5) how difficult the duty is to perform on a scale of 1--very easy, 2--easy, 3--average, 4--hard, or 5--very hard. At the end of each section, the respondent was asked to check the percentage of administrative time, in multiples of 5, ranging to 50%, spent in fulfilling that responsibility. Space was also provided for comments or to list and rate additional duties. This checklist-response format and several items, developed by John Reno, were used with permission (see Appendix C). Permission was also granted by H. L. Cundiff to use several of the duties and responsibility areas incorporated into the questionnaire (see Appendix D).

After development, the questionnaire was reviewed by a panel of six individuals considered to have expertise in

athletics administration (see Appendix E). The instrument was revised according to the suggestions of the panel. An additional area of responsibility, compliance, was included as a separate category upon suggestion of the NCAA staff (see Appendix F).

The questionnaire, cover letter (see Appendix G), and a business reply envelope were mailed to all subjects on March 29, 1991. The questionnaires were coded in order to establish a list for a follow-up mailing. Sixty-four were returned. A second mailing with another questionnaire, business reply envelope, and cover letter was done on April 25, 1991, to all schools that did not respond to the first mailing. Thirty-three were returned from the second mailing. Ninety-seven athletics directors returned questionnaires, representing 50.2% of the total population. Respondents were asked to note if a copy of the results was desired. Nine percent desired to know the outcome of the study.

<u>Subjects</u>

Questionnaires were sent to all athletics directors whose institutions were members of both the National College Athletic Association and the Southern Association of Colleges and Schools as of October 1990). This information was gathered from a SACS membership list received from that organization and from the listing of schools in <u>The 1990-91</u> <u>National Directory of College Athletics</u> (1991). A total of

193 schools composed the population, with a breakdown of NCAA affiliation and number of schools responding as follows:

 NCAA Division I--number of schools, 96; number of responses, 49;

2. NCAA Division II--number of schools, 62; number of responses, 27; and

3. NCAA Division III--number of schools, 35; number of responses, 21.

Data Analyses

Data collected from the survey included background information and multiple-checklist responses to each duty item in the nine areas of responsibility for athletics directors. For responses to both the demographic and checklist-response items, a spreadsheet program (Mystat, Version 1.1) was utilized to organize the data. Entries were made on a MacIntosh computer in the Psychology Department of Eastern Mennonite College, where raw scores and percentages were calculated. The data were sorted by NCAA classification, including Division IA, IAA, IAAA and Division II and III institutions. The data were then tabulated by the Computer Service Department at Middle Tennessee State University, using the center's SPSSX program for all statistical analyses. Chi-square tests were done for all items on the questionnaire in order to determine if there was an overall significance among divisions. To

identify significant differences between NCAA divisions, the Scheffe Procedure was utilized. Since all subjects did not respond to all survey items, it is noted in the data tables presented in Chapter 4 as to the number of missing responses for each respective item. The last item for each of the nine responsibility areas requested the athletics director to indicate how much administrative time was spent performing the related duties. These responses were treated using the analysis of variance (ANOVA) technique. The .05 level of confidence was used to determine significance for all statistical procedures.

At the end of each section of the questionnaire, subjects were asked to include in an "other" line any important duties not included in the questionnaire. There were only a few random responses to this line. Therefore, none of this information is included in the study.

CHAPTER 4

Data Analyses

Chapter 4 presents data using the following sequence: (1) analysis and description of the institutional and administrator background information, (2) analysis of the data collected from the multiple-checklist responses to duties relative to the nine areas of responsibility of athletics directors (ADs), and (3) analysis of the data relating to the amount of administrative time spent in each of the nine responsibility areas of ADs.

Background Information

Of the 193 institutions identified in the population, 97 returned questionnaires indicated the following NCAA affiliations: (1) Division I, N = 49; (2) Division II, N =27; and (3) Division III, N = 21. Within Division I, 24 schools identified their athletics programs as Division IA, 19 as Division IAA, and 6 as Division IAAA.

Concerning the sponsorship of athletics teams, Division I schools supported more sports than did Division II and Division III institutions. Responses across divisions ranged from 7 to 25 sports. The mean numbers of teams were: Division I, 15.4; Division II, 10.2; and Division III, 12.0. Differences in numbers of teams fielded were significant (chi-square = 67.947; degrees of freedom = 34; significance = .0005; minimum expected frequency = .221; and cells with expected frequency < 5 = 51. of 54 [94.4%]).

Significant differences among divisions were discovered as to whom the AD directly reports at each respective institution (see Table 1). Thirty of the 49 Division I ADs reported to the president; 8 reported to the vice president; and 6 reported to the chancellor. At the Division II level, 10 of the 27 ADs reported to the president; 9 reported to the vice president; and 3 reported to the chancellor. In Division III, 7 of the 21 respondents reported to the president, while 9 reported to either the dean, academic dean, or dean of students.

There was no significance (.3939) across divisions as to the highest academic degree held by the AD. The most frequent response was the master's degree (Division I, N = 29 [60%]; Division II, N = 13 [50%]; and Division III, N = 13 [62%]). Likewise, there was no significant difference (.4097) concerning the academic field in which the degree was earned. For all groups, however, the most frequent answer was the field of physical education (Division I, N = 17 [36%]; Division II, N = 10 [40%]; and Division III, N = 8 [38%]).

Experience as ADs ranged from 0 to 33 years. There was no significant difference (.3314) among the groups. The most frequent responses were under 10 years, with Division I

	Academic Dean	Business Hanager	Chancellor	Dean	Dean of Students	PR Dept.	President	Provost	Vice Chancellor	Vice President
Division I	0 (0%)	1 (21)	6 (12%)	0 (0%)	0 (0%)	0 (D%)	30 (61%)	0 (0%)	1 (2%)	8 (16%)
Division II	2 (7%)	0 (0%)	3 (11%)	0 (0%)	1 (4%)	1 (4%)	10 (37%)	0 (0%)	1 (4%)	9 (331)
Division III	3 (14%)	1 (5%)	0 (0%)	4 (19%)	2 (10%)	0 (0%)	7 (33%)	1 (5%)	0 (0%)	3 (14%)
Chi-square		D.F.		Significand	:e	1	lin. E.F.		Cells wi	th E.F. < 5
45.097		20	, ,	.0011			.216		28 of 3	33 (84.8%)

Table 1 To Whom the Athletics Director Reports by NCAA Divisional Level

Note. Missing Responses = 3.

reporting a mean of 8.5 years of experience, Division II a mean of 9.3 years, and Division III a mean of 8.5 years.

Question 6 on the demographic part of the instrument asked the ADs to indicate the position held prior to becoming AD. There were 23 different categories of responses, with the largest in all divisions being coach (Division I, N = 14 [29%]; Division II, N = 12 [46%]; and Division III, N = 13 [62%]) and associate/assistant AD (Division I, N = 22 (46%); Division II, N = 6 (23%); and Division III, N = 3 (14%). There were, however, no significant differences (.1958) among the divisions.

ADs at the Division I level seldom coached a sport (15%), while Division III ADs usually did (71%). Nearly one-half (44%) of Division II athletics directors coached a sport. Of the ADs who coached a sport at all levels, the majority (62%) coached either basketball or football. Table 2 gives figures for ADs who coached at the three divisional levels and the significant differences among groups.

Teaching responsibilities for Division I ADs did not occur often (19%), while their Division II and Division III counterparts had teaching responsibilities rather frequently (56% and 67%, respectively). Table 3 presents these values related to teaching responsibilities.

When questioned as to whether the AD had an associate or assistant AD, most Division I ADs did have one or more such positions (94%); Division II ADs did just over one-half

Table 2

		Y	es	No
Division I Division I		7 () 12 ()	15%) 44%)	40 (85%) 15 (56%)
Division 1		15 (6 (29%)
Chi- square	D.F.	Significance	Min. E.F.	Cells with E.F. < 5
23.49612	4	.0001	.433	3 of 9 (33.3%)

Athletics Directors Who Coach a Sport by NCAA Divisional Level

Note: Missing responses = 2.

Table 3

Athletics Directors Who Teach by NCAA Divisional Level

		Y	es	No
Division :	Г	9 (19%)	38 (81%)
Division 3	II	15 (56%)	12 (44%)
Division :	III	14 (678)	7 (33%)
Chi- square	D.F.	Significance	Min. E.F.	Cells with E.F. < 5
19.472	4	.0006	.433	3 of 9 (33.3%)

Note: Missing responses = 2.

of the time (52%); and Division III ADs had these support positions much less often (33%). See Table 4 for the differences among the divisions.

Division I programs averaged 3.5 associate and/or assistant ADs, while Division II averaged 1.4 and Division III averaged 1.1. These figures were not statistically significant (.1389). ADs at Division I schools indicated that associates and assistants were given responsibilities in the areas of promotions/public relations (61%), business affairs (59%), compliance, (57%), facilities (47%), and fund-raising (41%). Division II utilized these positions most in the areas of compliance (30%), facilities (15%), and public relations/promotions (15%). Division III programs reported the largest use of an assistant in the area of facilities (14%).

Table 5 illustrates the marked differences in support staff for fund-raising across the three divisions. Eightynine percent of Division I programs had an athletics fundraiser on staff (95% were full-time in this position), while Division II institutions employed personnel for this task only 26% of the time (57% were full-time). Division III athletics departments rarely (5%) employed fund-raisers (0% were full-time).

Significant differences were also observed in the support staff position of sports information director. Division I athletics departments usually had a sports

Table	4
-------	---

		Y	es	No
Division Division Division	II	45 () 14 () 7 ()		3 (6%) 13 (48%) 14 (67%)
Chi~ square	D.F.	Significance	Min. E.F.	Cells with E.F. < 5
30.825	4	.0000	.216	3 of 9 (33.3%)

Athletics Directors with One or More Associate/Assistant Athletics Directors by NCAA Divisional Level

Note: Missing responses = 1.

Table 5

Athletics Programs That Employ a Fund-Raiser as a Staff Position by NCAA Divisional Level

			Yes		No
Division Division Division	II	7	(89%) (26%) (5%)	2	5 (11%) 0 (74%) 0 (95%)
Chi- square	D.F.	Significance	e Min. E.F.	Cells E.F.	with < 5
54.504	4	.0000	.433	3 of 9	(33.3%)
Note	: Missi	ng responses =	= 2.		

information director in place (98%), and this position was full-time in 98% of the schools. Division II schools had someone in this job 96% of the time, with 60% at full-time. Division III programs hired sports information directors 67% of the time, but only 29% were full-time (see Tables 6 and 7).

Table 8 contains information concerning the size of the athletics budgets among institutions by NCAA divisional level. Most Division I institutions have budgets of 1 million to over 5 million dollars, with 40% above 5 million dollars and another 29% between 2.5 and 5 million dollars. The greatest number of Division II athletics budgets ranged from 100,000 to 2.5 million dollars, with 35% in the 100,000 to 500,000 dollars category and an additional 35% in the .5 to 1 million dollars category. Another 26% were in the 1 million to 2.5 million dollars grouping. Among Division III schools, 57% had budgets in the 100,000 to 500,000 dollars range, with another 28% in the less than 100,000 dollars category.

<u>Checklist Responses to Duties in the Nine Areas</u> of Responsibility

Each area of responsibility on the questionnaire included several duties considered necessary to execute that particular function. Each duty requested responses to these items:

1. Do you perform this duty? ___Yes No;

Table 6

		Y	es	No
Division	I	47 (98%)	1 (2%)
Division	II	26 (968)	1 (4%)
Division	III	14 (67%)	7 (33%)
Chi- square	D.F.	Significance	Min. E.F.	Cells with E.F. < 5
19.331	4	.0007	.216	6 of 9 (66.7%)

Athletics Programs That Employ a Sports Information Director by NCAA Divisional Level

Note: Missing responses = 1.

Table 7

Athletics Programs That Employ Sports Information Directors Full Time by NCAA Divisional Level

			Yes	No
Division	I	45	(98%)	1 (2%)
Division	II	15	(60%)	10 (40%)
Division	III	4	(29%)	10 (71%)
Chi- square	D.F.	Significance	Min. E.F.	Cells with E.F. < 5
43.195	6	.0000	.216	6 of 12 (50.0%)

<u>Note</u>: Missing responses = 11.

2. Do you perform this duty independently,

cooperatively, or delegate it? ___I ___C ___D;

3. Frequency = __5 Daily __4 Weekly __3 Monthly
__2 Occasionally __1 Annually;

4. Importance = __5 Extreme __4 Great __3 Average

____2 Little ___1 None; and

5. Difficulty = ___5 Very Hard ____4 Hard

____3 Average ____2 Easy ___1 Very Easy.

Each of these items was statistically treated for

significance among and between the three NCAA divisions.

Table 8

Size of the Athletics Budget at Each Institution by NCAA Divisional Level

					Div		sion I	Di	vision. II	Div	vision III
				Frequen	cy an	d	perce	nt			
>	\$5	,000,000	_		19	(•	40%)	0	(0%)	0	(0%)
	\$2	, 500,000	-	\$5,000,000	14	(298)	1	(4%)	1	(5%)
	\$1	,000,000		\$2,500,000	13	(27%)	7	(26%)	0	(0%)
	\$	500,000	-	\$1,000,000	2	(4%)	9	(35%)	2	(10%)
	\$	100,000	-	\$ 500,000	0	(0%)	9	(35%)	12	(57%)
<	\$	100,000			0	(0%)	0	(0%)	6	(28%)

Area 1: Financial Operations

Five duties were listed under the area of financial operations.

Prepare and submit budget. The first, prepare and submit the budget for the athletics program, produced no significant responses among divisions to any of the items (see Appendix A, Table 1.1). (See Appendix A for complete tables of all responsibility areas.) Most athletics directors in all NCAA divisions (Division I = 94%, Division II = 100%, and Division III = 100%) indicated yes to the item concerning the performance of the task. In most cases this duty was performed cooperatively (Division I = 83%, Division II = 58%, and Division III = 70%) and was rarely delegated (0% in Division II and Division III, 7% in Division I). Division I ADs performed this job independently 10% of the time, while Division II and Division III ADs did so 42% and 30%, respectively. These figures were nearly significant (.0630). Most ADs at all divisional levels indicated this task is done on an annual basis (Division I = 65%, Division II = 84%, and Division III = 90%). Perceptions among ADs in all divisions were that this duty is hard to very hard to perform (Division I = 78%, Division II = 60%, and Division III = 65%). Few indicated it was easier than average to accomplish (7% in Division I, 4% in Division II, and 0% in Division III).

Prepare capital improvement program. In response to the duty of preparing a capital improvement program and budget (see Table 9), 88% of Division I, 77% of Division II, and 85% of Division III ADs indicated this task was performed. The majority also reported that the duty was executed cooperatively (Division I = 70%, Division II = 60%, and Division III = 81%) and that it was done on an annual basis most often (Division I = 68%, Division II = 58%, and Division III = 75%). None of these responses were significantly different. There was a significant difference (.0425), however, concerning the perceived importance of the duty, although a between-groups measure (Scheffe Procedure) failed to identify between which groups. No ADs thought this task was of no importance, and only 2% of Division I ADs marked it as being of little importance. Nine percent of Division I, 45% of Division II, and 19% of Division III ADs considered it of average importance, while 43% of Division I, 25% of Division II, and 25% of Division III ADs considered it of great importance. Forty-six percent of Division I, 30% of Division II, and 56% of Division III bosses thought the duty was of extreme importance. There was also no significant difference among divisions on the difficulty item, with most responses falling in the average to hard categories (Division I = 77%, Division II = 75%, and Division III = 82%).

	Division I	Division II	bivision III	Ch1-square	D.F.	sig.	Min. E.F.	calle with E.F. < 5 Migging	Missing
			Responsibility area: Financial operations	area: Financie	l operat	tons			
		Duty:	Duty: Prepare a capital improvement program and budget	il İmprovement	program	and budge	ų		
D. Importance?				EE0.E1	с - Ф	.0425	.200	5 of 12 (41.7%)	17
None	(10) 0	(10) 0	(10) 0					ı	
Little	1 (24)	(10) 0	(10) 0						
Average	4 (94)	9 (451)	3 (191)						
Great	19 (43%)	5 (25%)	4 (25N)						
Extreme	20 (46%)	6 (30%)	9 (56%)						

Responses to Item 1.2 (Part D) of the Questionnaire by NCAA Divisional Level

Table 9

.

Approval of requisitions and departmental purchases. Concerning the approval of requisitions and authorization of departmental purchases, there was a significant difference (.0214) among NCAA divisions as to whether the AD performs this duty (see Table 10). The Scheffe Procedure indicated a difference between Division I and Division II. Seventy-five percent of Division I ADs did this job, while Division II and Division III ADs assumed this task more often (100% and 95%, respectively). A significant difference (.0020) also appeared in the manner in which this duty was performed, as 50% of Division I ADs delegated it, while Division II ADs performed the task independently (62%). Division III ADs usually performed the duty independently (68%) as well. The Scheffe Procedure identified the differences as occurring between Division I and Division II and between Division I and Division III. Most athletics directors indicated the frequency of performance for this task as daily (Division I = 70%, Division II = 72%, and Division III = 63%). There were no marked differences in perceived importance across divisions, as ADs ranked this item as being of average, great, or extreme importance. Division I ADs indicated the task to be average to easy in difficulty, as did Division II and Division III ADs.

Endorse/Approve checks and vouchers. Athletics directors in all three classifications affirmed the duty of endorsing/approving checks or vouchers made on athletics

vel
ų. L
Divisional
NCAA
λđ
Questionnaire
the
ę
B)
A and B) of t
~
(Parti
1.3
Item
to I
Responses

Table 10

	Ilvision I	plyision II	Division III	Ch1-square	D.F.	s19.	Hin. E.F.	Calla with B.F. < 5 Miasing	Missing
			Responsibility area: Financial operations	area: Financia	l operati	lona		- - -	
		Duty: Appr	Duty: Approve requisitions and authorize departmental purchases	and authorize	departme	antal purc	shaees		
A. Perform? Yes No	36 (754) 12 (254)	26 (100%) 0 (0%)	20 (95%) 1 (5%)	11.505	4	.0214	, 433	5 of 9 (55.6%)	77
B. How? Individual Cooperation	(NCS) EL (NCS) IL	16 (62%) 7 (27%)	13 (68%) 4 (21%)	20.781	φ	.0020	. 866	4 of 12 (33.3%)	4
neregate	(1) b7	(TET) E	(ATT) 7						

.

department funds (Division I = 69%, Division II = 81%, and Division III = 81%). There was a significant difference (.0201), however, as to how this procedure was accomplished among institutions (see Table 11). Many Division I ADs delegated this job (48%), while most Division II (54%) and Division III (69%) ADs performed this duty independently. The Scheffe Procedure confirmed a difference between Division I and Division II and between Division I and Division III. The frequency with which this task was performed was consistent across divisions, as most ADs worked at this task daily (Division I = 62%, Division II =73%, and Division III = 59%). The ADs differed (significance = .0339) again on scores reflecting the importance of this duty. The Scheffe Procedure indicated a difference between Division I and Division II. Forty-five percent of Division I ADs indicated it to be of extreme importance, while 31% checked it to be of great importance. Another 24% thought it average, but no one in this division considered it as being of little or no importance. At the Division II level, 55% indicated this duty was of average importance; 18% checked great; 23% checked extreme; and 4% checked none. In Division III, 35% of the ADs thought this duty was of average importance, but another 35% indicated it was of extreme importance. Eighteen percent checked great, and 12% checked little for this item. ADs in all divisions most frequently rated this duty to be of average difficulty

evel
Ţè
nal
sto:
l v í i
ä
NCA
Γ
Lre
BUD
tlo
282
ğ
5
10 (c
pue
8
Le te
Ĩ)
1.4
Een
Η
ę
888
гоd
Rea

Table 11

	Division I	Division II	Division III	Chi-square	D.F.	sig.	Min. E.F.	Cella with B.F. < 5 Missing	Hissing
			Responsibility area: Financial operations	area: Flnancia	l operat.	Lona			
	Duty:		Endorse or approve checks or vouchers made on athletics department funds	vouchers made	on athle	etica dep	artment funds		
B. How?				15.017	9	1020.	3.680	3 of 12 (25.0%)	17
Indlvidual	13 (314)	12 (54%)	11 (69%)						
Cooperation	9 (21%)	7 (32%)	4 (25%)						
Delegate	20 (48%)	(148) E	1 (6%)						
D. Importance?				16.656	φ	ecco.	.221	7 OF 15 (46.7%)	20
None	(10) 0	1 (4%)	(10)0						
Little	(10) 0	(10) 0	2 (124)						
Average	9 (241)	12 (55%)	6 (35%)						
Great	(NIE) 21	4 (184)	3 (181)						
Extreme	17 (45%)	5 (23V)	6 (35%)						

(Division I = 43%, Division II = 41%, and Division III = 41%).

Maintain control, analysis, and audit of accounting system. When asked if an accounting system was maintained for control, analysis, and audit for athletics department monies, 69% of the ADs in Division I indicated that this duty was performed. Athletics directors in Division II performed this task at a high rate as well (85%), but Division III ADs had the highest affirmative response at These figures were not significantly different, 90%. however (see Appendix A, Table 1.5). Marked differences (significance = .0000) were apparent in how this duty was performed, with the Scheffe Procedure indicating that differences occurred between Division I and Division II and between Division I and Division III (see Table 12). Most Division I ADs (84%) delegated this task, while it was delegated much less often in Division II (30%) and Division III (16%). In Division II, 52% of the ADs maintained an accounting system cooperatively, as did ADs in Division III Zero percent of ADs performed this duty (63%). independently in Division I, while 18% did in Division II and 21% did in Division III. The frequency with which this duty was performed was nearly significant (.0592) as well. Division I (62%) and Division II (52%) ADs completed this task daily, while only 11% of Division III ADs did likewise. Forty-four percent of Division III ADs indicated this duty

	Division I	II noistvid	Division III	Chi-square D.F.	D.F.	sig.	Hin. E.F.	Cella with E.F. < 5 Hissing	Missing
			Responsibility area: Financial operations	area: Financia	l operati	Lons			
	Duty: Mai		ntain an accounting system for control, analysis, and audit for all monies	for control, a	nalyais,	and audit	: for all non	íea	
B. How?				33.468	9	.0000	1.732	5 of 12 (41.74)	12
Individual	0 (01)	4 (18%)	4 (21%)						
Cooperation	7 (16%)	12 (524)	12 (63%)						
Delegate	36 (84%)	7 (30%)	3 (161)						
D. Importance?				010.11	4	.0264	1.895	(ME.EE) 6 Jo E	21
None	(10) 0	(10) 0	(10) 0						
Little	(10) 0	(10) 0	(10) 0						
Average	1 (2%)	4 (191) 4	3 (16%)						
Great	11 (30%)	5 (24%)	IO (56%)						
Extreme	25 (68%)	12 (574)	5 (28%)						

Responses to Item 1.5 (Parts B and D) of the Questionnaire by NCAA Divisional Level

Table 12

was done on a monthly basis, as compared to 19% for Division I and 24% for Division II. Another 34% of Division III ADs maintained the accounting system weekly (Division I = 13% and Division II = 19%). The perceived importance of this duty varied among the divisions (significance = .0264). Division I responses included 68% in the extreme category, 30% in the great category, and 2% in the average category. Division II ADs indicated the task was of extreme (57%), great (24%), or average (19%) importance. In Division III, 56% of the respondents checked the great category, 28% checked the extreme category, and 16% checked the average category. The Scheffe Procedure confirmed that a difference existed between Division I and Division III. There was no significant difference in the difficulty item among divisions, as nearly all responses fell into the average to hard ranges.

Area 2: Generation of Revenues

There were many significant differences among the responses to items related to the 11 duties in the responsibility area of revenue generation (see Tables 13-23).

Solicit contributions from individuals. A great number of Division I (81%) and Division II (78%) ADs performed the duty of soliciting contributions from individuals, while fewer (48%) did so at the Division III level (significance = .0304). The Scheffe Procedure identified these differences

as occurring between Division I and Division III and between Division II and Division III. A significant difference (.0079) was also evident as to how the solicitation of contributions was done, although a between-groups technique (Scheffe Procedure) did not identify where the difference(s) occurred. In all divisions this task was done cooperatively most of the time (Division I = 74%, Division II = 76%, and Division III = 78%). However, Division I (21%) and Division III (22%) ADs delegated this duty more than Division II (14%) ADs. Division II ADs were also more likely to perform this job independently, 10%, as compared to 5% in Division I and 0% in Division III. The frequency of this solicitation was nearly significant (.0846). Most Division I ADs performed this duty either weekly (38%) or daily (34%), while Division II ADs usually did so occasionally (30%), weekly (25%), or monthly (20%), and Division III ADs worked at this task occasionally (44%), monthly (22%), or weekly (22%). There was a significance (.0036) among NCAA divisions as to the importance of this duty, although the Scheffe Procedure failed to identify the difference(s) between groups. No ADs in any classification considered this task to be of little or no importance, with only 2% of Division I and 11% of Division III indicating it to be of average importance (Division II = 25%). Most Division I (72%) and Division II (70%) ADs rated this task to be of extreme importance, while 33% did so in Division III. ADs

in Division III rated it of great importance (56%). There were no major differences in responses among divisions as to the difficulty of performing this duty, as the greatest number of these fell into the average, hard, or very hard groupings.

Secure donations from corporations. NCAA Division I ADs (85%) performed the duty of securing donations from corporations as part of their overall responsibilities, while most Division II ADs (67%) executed this function as well. Only 29% of Division III ADs indicated the performance of this duty (significance = .0001). The Scheffe Procedure confirmed differences between Division I and Division III and between Division II and Division III. This duty was most often done in cooperation with others in all divisions (Division I = 69%, Division II = 67%, and Division III = 66%). It was also delegated more than it was done independently (21% delegated this duty in Division I, 22% delegated in Division II, and 17% delegated in Division III). While the chi-square value (.0011) indicated a significant difference, the Scheffe Procedure did not identify any difference(s) between groups. There was no marked difference among divisions in the frequency of performance of securing corporate donations. In Division I, the responses were almost evenly distributed among four of the categories: occasionally, 26%; monthly, 21%; weekly, 26%; and daily, 24%. Division II respondents indicated

performing the task most on an occasional (41%) or monthly (29%) basis, as did ADs in Division III (33%, occasionally, and 33%, monthly). Most ADs in all divisions believed the duty to be of great (Division I = 30%, Division II = 18%, and Division III = 33%) to extreme (Division I = 60%, Division II = 59%, and Division III = 33%) importance, although the ADs in Division II and Division III favored the average more than those in Division I (Division I = 10%, Division II = 23%, and Division III = 33%). Concerning the difficulty of achieving this task, ADs in Division I described it as being hard (45%), very hard (29%), or average (26%). Division II ADs considered it to be average (35%), very hard (35%), or hard (24%). ADs in Division III rated it hard (50%) to very hard (33%) as well.

Establish and/or increase ticket prices. Establishing and/or increasing ticket prices was a duty performed by nearly all Division I (96%) and Division II (96%) ADs, but to a lesser extent (62%) by those in Division III (significance = .0003). The Scheffe Procedure confirmed a difference between Division I and Division III and between Division II and Division III. Also significant (.0003) to this question was how the duty was performed. Most athletics directors did this in cooperation with others (Division I = 73%, Division II = 65%, and Division III = 83%), but ADs in Division I delegated this function more often (Division I = 16%, Division II = 4%, and Division III

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

= 0%). ADs in Division II (31%) performed the duty independently more than those in Division I (11%) or Division III (17%). However, the Scheffe Procedure did not identify any difference(s) between groups. Athletics directors in all three divisions indicated the duty was performed annually (Division I = 87%, Division II = 80%, and Division III = 91%). There was a noticeable difference (significance = .0014) among divisions (the Scheffe Procedure identified a difference between Division I and Division III) as to the importance of formulating or raising ticket prices. Division I ADs checked the great category for importance most often (41%), with another 28% in the extreme category and 22% in the average range. In Division II, ADs perceived this task to be of average importance, 56%, with 28% checking the great category. Fifty-eight percent of the Division III ADs thought this duty was of average importance, but 33% also identified it as being of little importance. The perception of task difficulty was not significantly different among divisions, as the most frequent choice was average (Division I = 45%, Division II = 60%, and Division III = 42%) to easy (Division I = 24%, Division II = 32%, and Division III = 42%).

<u>Direct pre-season ticket sales drive</u>. A very significant difference (.0000) appeared among the divisions concerning whether a pre-season ticket sales drive was directed. Many Division I ADs (70%) indicated this duty was

performed as part of this job responsibility. Just over one-half (52%) of Division II ADs directed this activity, while very few (5%) Division III ADs responded yes. The Scheffe Procedure indicated differences between Division I and Division III and between Division II and Division III. ADs in Division I were more likely (significance = .0000) to delegate this duty (52%) than those in Division II (31%). There was only one response in Division III, where the task was delegated. While the chi-square value indicated significance, the between-groups test (Scheffe Procedure) did not identify where the differences occurred. ADs in all classifications indicated that this duty was usually performed annually (Division I = 69%, Division II = 64%, and Division III = 0%) or occasionally (Division I = 13%, Division II = 22%, and Division III = 100%). Forty-six percent of Division I ADs and 43% of Division II ADs considered this duty to be of extreme importance. Also, Division I ADs checked the great category at 33% and the average category at 18%, while 14% of Division II ADs chose great and 29% chose average (significance = .0041). The single response in Division III was in the little category. The Scheffe Procedure indicated a difference between Division I and Division III. There was no significant difference among groups as to the difficulty of this task. Most Division I responses fell into the hard (44%) to average (30%) ranges, while those in Division II were in the

average (58%), very hard (14%), or easy (14%) groupings. The lone Division III respondent indicated the duty to be easy to perform.

Negotiate television and/or radio contracts. The job of negotiating television and/or radio broadcast contracts was performed by 87% of Division I ADs, by 52% of Division II ADs, and by only 5% of Division III ADs (significance = The Scheffe Procedure confirmed that differences .0000). occurred between Division I and Division II, between Division I and Division III, and between Division II and Division III. Of the Division I respondents, 40% indicated performing this task independently; 40% indicated doing it cooperatively; and the final 20% checked that the duty was delegated. Division II ADs usually negotiated cooperatively (63%) or delegated the job (31%). The one Division III respondent performed the duty independently. These responses were significant (.0000), but the Scheffe Procedure did not identify differences between groups. The duty was performed annually by most Division I (58%) and Division II (67%) ADs. Division III ADs did this occasionally (100%, 1 response), as did a number of Division I (21%) and Division II (27%) ADs. The greatest number of Division I ADs believed this task to be of extreme (44%) or great (44%) importance, while Division II ADs perceived it to be of average (40%), great (27%), or extreme (27%) importance. The single Division III response fell into the

average category (significance for importance = .0531). No major differences in groups were revealed concerning the difficulty of performing this job, as most responses fell into the average or hard categories.

Secure revenue through guarantees. Securing revenue through guarantees was a duty performed by 87% of Division I, 78% of Division II, and 43% of Division III ADs (significance = .0016). The Scheffe Procedure identified differences between Division I and Division III and between Division II and Division III. Division III ADs did this task in cooperation with others (63%) or independently (37%), but never delegated it (0%). Division I and Division II ADs usually performed this job independently (44% and 52%, respectively) or cooperatively (35% and 35%, respectively). This was significant at .0005, although the Scheffe Procedure did not identify differences between The duty of working with guarantees was done most aroups. frequently either annually (Division I = 33%, Division II =47%, and Division III = 75%) or occasionally (Division I = 40%, Division II = 19%, and Division III = 25%). ADs in Division I indicated this task to be of extreme (40%) to great (42%) importance, while Division II ADs thought it to be of average (38%), extreme (24%), or great (19%) importance. Division III ADs considered it to be of average (50%) or little (25%) importance (significance = .0226). There was a difference between Division I and Division III,

according to the Scheffe Procedure. Eighty-eight percent of Division III, 67% of Division II, and 51% of Division I ADs indicated this duty was of average difficulty.

Secure contracts for facilities rental. Just over onehalf (Division I = 51%, Division II = 52%, and Division III = 57%) of all ADs surveyed across NCAA divisions indicated that generating revenue through facility rental was part of the function of such an administrative position. Who actually performed this duty, however, differed significantly (.0005) among the divisions. The Scheffe Procedure indicated these differences occurred between Division I and Division II and between Division I and Division III. The task was delegated by 68% of Division I ADs, while 62% of Division II and 58% of Division III ADs performed this duty cooperatively. Variations were also apparent in the frequency with which this job was done (significance = .0253). Many Division I athletics directors occasionally performed this task (45%), as did Division II (31%) and Division III (50%) ADs. Division I ADs also performed this duty on a weekly basis (23%), as compared to none (0%) at the Division II and Division III levels. ADs in Division II were more likely to work at this job on an annual (31%) or daily (23%) basis. ADs in Division III performed this duty quite often on a monthly basis (42%). The importance of contracting for facility rental was most often designated as average by ADs in all classifications

(Division I = 56%, Division II = 31%, and Division III = 75%). Likewise, the difficulty of performing this requirement was usually perceived to be average by all groups (Division I = 47%, Division II = 67%, and Division III = 50%).

Determine and/or increase concession prices. ADs in each NCAA division did not usually determine or increase concession prices ("No" responses: Division I = 62%, Division II = 56%, and Division III = 67%). There was a significant difference, however, as to how the job was performed when performed. Division III ADs did the work independently (83%); Division I ADs delegated (55%) or performed it cooperatively (41%); and Division II ADs did the task independently (36%), did the task cooperatively (28%), or delegated it (36%). The significance for this factor was .0015, and the Scheffe Procedure identified differences between Division I and Division III and between Division II and Division III. The frequency of performing this duty occurred annually in most cases (Division I = 77%, Division II = 75%, and Division III = 67%), and its importance was average (Division I = 56%, Division II = 75%, and Division III = 33%). Difficulty was also considered average (Division I = 59%, Division II = 59%, and Division III = 17%), although most Division III ADs (50%) responded to the easy category.

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

Propose student fee increases. Proposing increases in students' fees which support the athletics program was something that was more common to Division I ADs (55%) than to Division II (26%) or Division III (5%) ADs (significance = .0005). The Scheffe Procedure identified differences between Division I and Division II and between Division I and Division III. Most ADs performing this duty did so cooperatively (Division I = 62%, Division II = 86%, and Division III = 100%), although many Division I ADs (31%) indicated the task was performed independently (significance = .0011). The Scheffe Procedure, however, did not identify differences between divisions. In all divisions, these proposed increases were submitted annually (Division I = 79%, Division II = 72%, and Division III = 100%). Although the responses were not significant, Division I and Division III ADs considered this duty to be of extreme importance (62% and 100%, respectively), while those in Division II were equally distributed among the average (29%), great (29%), and extreme (29%) responses. Concerning the difficulty of proposing fee increases for students, the most frequent response fell into the very hard range (Division I = 41%, Division II = 43%, and Division III = 100%).

<u>Supervise a fund-raising unit</u>. The duty of supervising an organizational unit whose purpose is to fund-raise for the athletics program yielded significant responses to four of the five items. Only the difficulty item was not

significant, as most responded that this task was hard to perform (Division I = 44%, Division II = 43%, and Division III = 80%). Sixty-six percent of Division I ADs performed this function, as compared to 52% in Division II and 5% in Division III (significance = .0144). The Scheffe Procedure confirmed a difference between Division I and Division III. Most ADs in Division I accomplished this task cooperatively (51%), but many also delegated it (27%) or performed it independently (22%). Seventy-nine percent of Division II ADs did this work cooperatively, with another 14% delegating it. No Division III ADs indicated performing this job independently, but achieved supervision by working cooperatively (60%) or delegating (40%; significance = .0021). The Scheffe Procedure did not identify any difference(s) between groups. Division I ADs were more likely to perform this duty daily (40%), while Division II ADs did so weekly (36%), and Division III ADs did occasionally (60%). This was significant at .0394. ADs in Division I considered this duty to be of extreme (67%) to great (31%) importance, as did ADs in Division II (43% extreme and 43% great). ADs in Division III categorized this job to be of extreme (40%), great (40%), or little (20%) importance. This item's level of significance was .0511.

<u>Submitting grant proposals</u>. There was only one marked difference among divisions concerning the task of submitting

Respondes to Item 2.1 (Parts A, B, and D) of the Questionnairs by NCAA Divisional Level

Table 13

	Division I	Division II	Division III	Chi-equare	D.F.	sig.	HLn. C.F.	Cella with E.F. < 5	Hissing
			Responsibility area: Generation of revenues	res: Generatic	n of rev	enues			
	Dut	y: Salicit cont	Duty: Solicit contributions from individuals by phone, mail, or personal contact	yd eleubivlbn	phone, m	ail, or p	rreonal conta	ct	
A. Perform?				10.680	4	0304	. 433	(ME.51) 9 30 E	2
Yes	38 (814)	21 (784)	10 (484)						
NO	(161) 6	6 {228}	11 (52%)						
B. How?				17.420	9	.0079	. 866	5 of 12 (41.7%)	24
Individual	2 (54)	2 (101)	(10) 0						
Cooperation	32 (74%)	16 (761)	7 (78%)						
Delegate	9 (21%)	3 (144)	2 (22%)						
D. Importance?				15.575	4	.0036	. 887	5 of 9 (55.6%)	26
None	0 (01)	(10) 0	(10) 0						
Little	(10)0	(10) 0	(10) 0						
Average	1 (2%)	5 (25)	1 (114)						
Great	11 (26%)	1 (2N)	5 (56%)						
Extreme	30 (72%)	14 (70%)	3 (33%)						

	Divis	ion I	Division	II Divi	Bion III	Chi-square	D.P.	Sig.	Min. E.F.	Cells with E.F. < 5	Missing
				Respon	sibility a	area: Generatio	on of rev	/enues			
				Duty	: Secure d	onations from	corporat	Lons			
A. Perform?						23.276	4	.0 001	. 433	3 of 9 (33.3%)	2
Yes	40 (18 (67%)	6	(29%)						
No	7 (15%)	9 (33%)	15	(71%)						
B. How7						22.303	6	.0011	1.515	5 of 12 (41.7%)	31
Individual	4 (10%}	2 (113)	1	(17%)						
Cooperation	29 (69%)	12 (67%)	4	(66%)						
Delegate	-	215)	4 (221)		(17%)						

Table 14 Responses to Item 2.2 (Parts A and B) of the Questionnairs by NCAA Divisional Level

	Division I	Division II	Division III	Chi-square	D.F.	Sig.	Min. E.F.	Cells with B.F. < 5	Missing
			Responsibility a	rea: Generatic	on of rev	/enueø			
		I	Duty: Establish a	ind/or increase	ticket	prices			
A. Perform?				20.807	4	.0003	. 433	5 of 9 (55.6%)	2
Yes	45 (96%)	26 (96%)	13 (62%)						
No	2 (4%)	1 (4%)	8 (38%)						
B. How?				25.609	6	.0003	1.732	7 of 12 (58.3%)	14
Individual	5 (11%)	8 (31%)	2 (17%)						
Cooperation	33 (73%)	17 (65%)	10 (83%)						
Delegate	7 (16%)	1 (4%)	0 (0%)						
D. Importance?				21.646	6	.0014	1.446	6 of 12 (50.0%)	14
None	0 (0%)	0 (0%)	0 (0%)						
Little	4 (9%)	2 (8%)	4 (33%)						
Average	10 (22%)	14 (56%)	7 (58%)						
Great	19 (41%)	7 (28%)	1 (9%)						
Extreme	13 (28%)	2 (8%)	0 (0%)						

Table 15 Responses to Item 2.3 (Parts A, B, and D) of the Questionnaire by NCAA Divisional Level

Table 16

÷

Responses to Item 2.4 (Parts A, B, and D) of the Questionnaire by NCAA Divisional Level

	Division I	Division II	Division III	Chi-square	D.F.	sig.	MIn. E.F.	Cells with E.F. < 5 Missing	Alea Ing
			Responsibility area: Generation of revenues	rea: Generatio	n of reve	entes			
			Duty: Direct a pre-season ticket sales drive	e-season tick	st sales	drive			
A. Perform?				27.121	4	0000	.433	3 of 9 (33.3%)	2
Yea	(104) 25	_	1 (5%)					• •	
No	14 (30%)	13 (481)	20 (95%)						
B. How?				43.021	9	0000.	.433	3 of 12 (25.0%)	38
Individual	(NE2) I	_	(10) 0						
Cooperation	19 (45%)	10 (63%)	(10)0						
Delegate	22 (524)	5 (314)	(1001) 1						
D. Importance?				22.489	¢	.0041	610.	11 of 15 (73.3%)	64
None	(40)0	1 (74)							
Little	1 (3%)	1 (7%)	1 (1001)						
Average	7 (18%)	4 (29%)							
Great	13 (33%)	2 (14%)							
Extreme	18 (46%)	6 (43%)							

.

Responses to Item 2.5 (Parts A, B, and D) of the Questionnaire by NCAA Divisional Level

Table 17

.

	Division I	Division I Division II	Division III	Chi-aquare	D.F.	sig.	Min. E.F.	Cells with E.F. < 5	Missing
			Responsibility area: Generation of revenues	rea: Generatio	n of rev	enues	2		
		Duty: N	Duty: Negotiate television and/or radio broadcast contracts	on and/or radi	o broadc	aet contro	leta		l
A. Perform?				43.808	4	0000.	.433	(#E.EE) 9 fo E	2
Yes No	41 (87%) 6 (13%)	14 (52%) 13 (48%)	1 (5%) 20 (95%)						
B. How?				49.516	9	0000.	1E0.E	3 of 12 (25.0%)	7E
Individual	17 (401)	1 (61)	1 (1004)					•	
Cooperation	17 (40%)	10 (631)	(10) 0						
Delegato	9 (20%)	(NIE) 2	(10) 0						
D. Importance?				12.429	9	1620.	.034	7 of 12 (58.34)	38
None	(10) 0	0 (0%)	_						
Little	1 (24)	1 (61)	(10) 0						
Average	4 (101)	6 (40%)	1 (1001)						
Great	19 (444)	4 (274)							
Extreme	19 (44%)	4 (27%)							

Table 18

Missing 25 17 33 Cells with E.F. < 5 3 of 12 (25.0%) 9 of 15 (60.0%) 3 of 9 (33.34) Responses to Item 2.6 (Parts A, B, and D) of the Questionnairs by NCAA Divisional Level HLn. E.F. 2.598 III. .433 .0005 .0226 .0016 51g. Responsibility area: Ceneration of revenues Duty: Secure revenue through guarantees D.F. ø 4 v chi~aquare 24.294 17.817 17.484 Division III 3 (374) 5 (634) 0 (04) 9 (43%) 12 (57%) (01) (251) (%ET) (%ET) 0 1 4 4 4 Division II 21 (78%) 6 (22%) (52%) (35%) (13%) (5%) (14%) (38%) (38%) (24%) n a L Division I 19 (44%) 15 (35%) 9 (21%) 0 (0%) 1 (2%) 7 (16%) 18 (42%) 17 (40%) 41 (87%) 6 (13%) Individual Cooperation Delegate Importance? A. Perform? Yea None Little Average Great Extreme 8. How? 2 å

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

	Division I	Division II	Division III	Chi-square	D.F.	Sig.	Min. E.F.	Cells with E.F. < 5	Missin
			Responsibility a	area: Generatio	on of rev	venues			
		Duty: Sec	ure contracts fo	or the rental o	of athlet	tice facil	itles		
B. How?				24.307	6	.0005	2.165	2 of 12 (16.7%)	35
Individual	3 (8%)	4 (31%)	3 (25%)						
Cooperation	9 (24%)	8 (62%)	7 (58%)						
Delegate	25 (68%)	1 (7%)	2 (17%)						
. Frequency?				17.496	B	.0253	1.500	11 of 15 (73.3%)	41
Annually	3 (10%)	4 (31%)	0 (0%)						
Occasionally	14 (45%)	4 (31%)	6 (50%)						
Monthly	3 (10%)	2 (16%)	5 (42%)						
Weekly	7 (23%)	0 (0%)	0 (0%)						
Daily	4 (12%)	3 (23%)	1 (8%)						

Table 19 Responses to Item 2.7 (Parts A, B, and C) of the Questionnaire by NCAA Divisional Level

.

Table 20 Responses to Item 2.8 (Parts A and B) of the Questionnaire by MCAA Divisional Level

	Division I	Division II	Division III	chi-square	D.F.	sig.	Min. E.F.	Celle with E.F. < 5	buşasın.
			Responsibility area: Generation of revenues	cea: Generatio	n of revi	enuen			
		Dut	Duty: Determine and/or increase concession prices	for increase c	oncessio.	n prices			
A. Perform?				2.643	4	.6192	. 433	3 of 9 (33.3%)	6
Yea	18 (38%)	12 (441)	7 (331)						
No	29 (62%)	15 (561)	14 (67%)						
B. How?				21.470	9	.0015	2.381	5 of 12 (41.74)	48
Individual	1 (4%)	5 (36%)	5 (83%)						
Cooperation	12 (414)	4 (284)	1 (17%)						
Delegate	16 (55%)	5 (361)	(10) 0						

Responses to Item 2.9 (Parts A and B) of the Questionnaire by NCAA Divisional Level

	Division I	Division II	Division III	Chi-square	D.F.	Sig.	Min. E.F.	Cells with E.F. < 5	Missing
		·······	Responsibility a	irea: Generatio	on of rev	renues	,		
		Duty: Propose i	ncreases in stude	ent fees which	support	the athle	tics program		
A. Perform?				19.789	4	.0005	.433	3 of 9 (33.3%)	2
Yes No	26 (55%) 21 (45%)	7 (26%) 20 (74%)	1 (5%) 20 (95%)						
B. How?				22.308	6	.0011	.433	5 of 12 (41.7%)	60
Individual	9 (31%)	1 (14%)	0 (0%)						
Cooperation	18 (62%)	6 (86%)	1 (100%)						
Delegate	2 (7%)	0 (0%)	0 (0%)						

Responses to Item 2.10 (Parts A, B, C, and D) of the Questionnaire by NCAA bivisional Level

Table 22

	Division I	Division II	Division III	Chi-square	D.F.	sig.	Min. E.F.	Celle with E.F. < 5	Missing
			Responsibility area: Ceneration of revenues	area: Ceneratic	n of reve	sones			
	Duty: Supervise		an organizational unit whose purpose is to fund-raise for the athletics program	sse purpose is	to fund-r	caise for	the athletic	s program	
A. Perform? Yea No	1661) (166) 15	14 (52%) 13 (48%)	5 (24%) 16 (76%)	12.430	4	-0144	.433	3 of 9 (33.34)	7
B. How? Individual Cooperation Pelegate	8 (224) 19 (514) 10 (274)	1 (7%) 11 (79%) 2 (14%)	0 (0%) 3 (60%) 2 (40%)	20.652	w	1200-	1.948	5 of 12 (41.7%)	4
 C. Frequency? Annually Occasionally Monthly Weekly Daily 	6 (164) 4 (114) 4 (115) 8 (224) 15 (404)	3 (21%) 1 (8%) 2 (14%) 5 (36%) 3 (21%)	0 (04) 2 (404) 3 (604) 0 (04)	16.215	æ	.0394	. 625	(NE.C7) 21 30 11	41
D. Importance? None Little Average Great Extreme	0 (0%) 0 (0%) 1 (2%) 11 (31%) 24 (67%)	1 (7%) 0 (7%) 1 (7%) 1 (7%) 6 (43%) 6 (43%) 6 (43%)	0 (0%) 1 (20%) 2 (40%) 2 (40%)	15.440	ಯ	1120-	.091	12 of 15 (80.0%)	42

Level
Divisional
NCAA I
λq
Questionnaire
of the Q
σť
t B) af
{Part
2.11
Item
2
Responses

Table 23

	Division I	Division II	pivision III	Ch1-square	D.F.	sig.	Hin. E.F.	Cells with Z.P. < 5 Missing	Kleeing
			Responsibility area: Generation of revenues	rrea: Generatio	n of reve	anue s			
		Duty; Submit pro	Submit proposals for grants from the NCAA and/or from the conference	ts from the NCA	A and/or	from the	s conference		
B. How?				26.498	م ا	0003	1.515	4 of 12 (33.34)	40
Individual	2 (61)	4 (33%)	(10V) I	 • •		:			
Cooperation	14 (401)	8 (674)	(106) 6						
Delegate	19 (54%)	(10) 0	(10 } 0						

grant proposals to the NCAA or member conference. Fiftyseven percent of Division I, 44% of Division II, and 48% of Division III ADs responded yes to the question asking if this was done. Division I ADs (54%) delegated this task much more than those in Division II and Division III (0% in both classifications), who performed the job cooperatively (Division II = 67% and Division III = 90%). Significance for this item was .0002, and the Scheffe Procedure identified differences between Division I and Division II and between Division I and Division III. The task was usually done on an occasional basis in all cases (Division I = 53%, Division II = 44%, and Division III = 50%); was of average importance (Division I = 52%, Division II = 36%, and Division III = 70%); and was of average difficulty (Division I = 48%, Division II = 55%, and Division III = 50%).

Area 3: Operational Policies

Plan athletics department policies and procedures. The first of six duties listed under the responsibility area of operational policies dealt with the planning of athletics department policies and procedures (see Table 24). Virtually all ADs, regardless of NCAA classification, performed this function (Division I = 96%, Division II = 96%, and Division III = 100%). Likewise, most ADs did this planning cooperatively (Division I = 87%, Division II = 81%, and Division III = 84%). Division I ADs performed the duty monthly (35%), annually (28%), or occasionally (20%).

	Division I	Division II	Division III	Chi-equate	D.F.	s1g.	Min. 2.F.	Cells with E.F. < 5 Hissing	M1ssing
			Responsibility area: Operational policies	area: Operatio	nal polic	: les			
		Duty:	Duty: Flan Athletics Department policies and procedures	epartment poli	icies and	procedure	8		
D. Importance?		.		9.828	4	.0434	4.396	1 of 9 (11.1%)	o
None	0 (04)	(10) 0	(10) 0					•	
Little	0 (04)	(10) 0	0 (01)						
Average	11 (24%)	8 (324)	1 (51)						
Great	14 (308)	12 (484)	7 (35%)						
Extreme	21 (46%)	5 (20%)	12 (60%)						

Responses to Item 3.1 (Part D) of the Questionnairs by NCAA Divisional Level

Table 24

.

Division II ADs were more likely to do this task annually (40%) or occasionally (40%), while Division III ADs performed the job annually (30%), monthly (20%), or weekly (20%). The one item which produced a significant difference (.0434) among the groups was that of importance. The Scheffe Procedure identified a difference between Division II and Division III. ADs in Division III thought this duty was of extreme (60%) or great (35%) importance. Division I ADs considered it extremely important (46%), greatly important (30%), or of average importance (24%). Division II ADs checked great (48%), average (32%), or extreme (20%), while no respondents in any group checked the little or none categories. The majority of responses to the difficulty item fell into the average range (Division I = 57%, Division II = 68%, and Division III = 50%), with the second greatest number of responses in the hard range (Division I = 28%, Division II = 24%, and Division III = 45%).

<u>Prepare, revise, and distribute athletics department</u> <u>handbook</u>. Sixty-five percent of ADs in Division I, 74% in Division II, and 81% in Division III fulfilled the duty of directing the preparation, revision, and distribution of the departmental handbook (see Table 25). The groups differed greatly (significance = .0020), however, as to how the task was accomplished. The Scheffe Procedure identified differences between Division I and Division III and between Division II and Division III. Division I ADs (51%)

delegated this job, but only 25% of Division II and 6% of Division III ADs delegated it. Most Division II (65%) and Division III (53%) ADs performed this duty cooperatively (44% in Division I), while 41% in Division III performed the task independently. Responses to the frequency item indicated this job was completed annually (Division I = 79%, Division II = 69%, and Division III = 88%) most of the time. This duty was considered to be of extreme importance by 31% of Division I ADs, 15% of Division II ADs, and 47% of Division III ADs. It was considered of great importance by 28% in Division I, 37% in Division II, and 35% in Division III. Another 33% in Division I and 48% in Division II considered it to be of average importance. Concerning the perception of difficulty, the category with the largest number of responses was the average category (Division I =63%, Division II = 47%, and Division III = 59%). This item produced a significant difference (.0443) among groups, as Division I also responded with 16% to easy, 11% to very hard, and 5% each to hard and very easy. Division II produced no responses to either the very easy or very hard groupings (as did Division III), but had response rates of 37% to hard to 16% to easy. Thirty-five percent also checked hard and 6% easy to complete Division III. The Scheffe Procedure did not identify differences between groups for this item.

	Division 1	Division II	Division III	Chi-square	D.F.	sig.	Min. E.F.	Cells with E.P. < S	Hissing
			Responsibility	area: Operatio	onal pol	icies			
	Duty: 1	Direct the prep	aration, revision	on, and distrib	ution of	the depar	tmental hand	ibook	
B. How?				20.848	6	. 0020	2.381	3 of 12 (25.01)	21
Individual	2 (5%)	2 (10%)	7 (41%)						
Cooperation	17 (44%)	13 (65%)	9 (53%)						
Delegate	20 (51%)	5 (25%)	1 (6%)						
E. Difficulty?				15.869	8	.0443	- 459	10 of 15 (66.7%)	23
Very easy	2 (5%)	0 (0%)	0 (DN)					• •	
Basy	6 (16%)	3 (16%)	1 (5%)						
Average	24 (63%)	9 (47)	10 (59%)						
Hard	2 (5%)	7 (37%)	6 (35%)						
Very hard	4 (113)	0 (04)	0 (0%)						

 Table 25

 Responses to Item 3.2 (Parts B and E) of the Questionnaire by NCAA Divisional Level

8°3

Develop quidelines for scheduling, travel, and home contests. The development of procedures and guidelines for scheduling, travel, and home athletics contests was a duty performed by 85% of ADs in Division I, 89% in Division II, and 100% in Division III (see Table 26). It was significantly different (.0280) as to how the job was performed, with the Scheffe Procedure indicating a difference between Division I and Division III. This task was done cooperatively by 68% of the respondents in Division I, 79% in Division II, and 60% in Division III. However, Division I ADs were more apt to delegate (24%) the duty, while Division III ADs were more likely to perform it independently (35%). This function was mostly done on an annual (Division I = 50%, Division II = 30%, and Division III = 40%) to occasional (Division I = 24%, Division II = 30%, and Division III = 25%) basis and was considered average (Division I = 42%, Division II = 43%, and Division III = 35%) or higher in importance. Difficulty was also rated average (Division I = 73%, Division II = 78%, and Division III = 68%).

<u>Develop/Maintain system for purchasing, receiving,</u> <u>storing, and inventory</u>. For duty 3.4, "develop and maintain a system for purchasing, receiving, storing, and inventory," 68% of Division I, 85% of Division II, and 90% of Division III ADs performed this task. This was not statistically significant. However, a significance (.0000) was present as

	Division I	Division II	Division III	Chi-square	D.F.	Sig.	Min. E.F.	Cells with E.F. < 5	Missing
			Responsibility	area: Operation	al polic	cies			
	Duty: Dev	elop procedures	and guidelines	for scheduling,	travel,	, and hom	e athletics (conteste	
I. How? Individual Cooperation	3 (8%) 28 (68%)	3 (13%) 19 (79%)	7 (35%) 12 (60%)	14.153	6	.0280	2.598	6 of 12 (50.0%)	12
Cooperation Delegate	28 (68%) 10 (24%)	19 (79%) 2 (8%)	12 (60%) 1 (5%)						

Table 26 Responses to Item 3.3 (Part B) of the Questionnaire by NCAA Divisional Level

.

to how the duty was performed (see Table 27). Eighty-four percent of Division I ADs delegated the job, 16% did it cooperatively, and 0% did it independently. Fifty-two percent of Division II ADs performed the duty cooperatively; 30% delegated it; and 18% worked at it independently. In Division III, 63% performed the task cooperatively, 21% performed it independently, and 16% delegated it. The Scheffe Procedure confirmed differences between Division I and Division II and between Division I and Division III for this item. There was no significant difference in frequency, although close at .0592. Division I and Division II ADs performed the duty on an annual basis (62% and 52%, respectively), while Division III did so mostly on a monthly (44%) or occasional (33%) basis. Most Division I and Division II ADs perceived the importance of this duty to be extreme (68% and 57%, respectively), while Division III thought it of great importance (56%, significance = .0264). The Scheffe Procedure indicated a difference between Division I and Division III. There were no responses to the little or none categories for the importance item. Each group generally rated the duty to be average (Division I = 47%, Division II = 47%, and Division III = 62%) to hard (Division I = 28%, Division II = 33%, and Division III = 33%) in difficulty.

<u>Develop evaluation plan</u>. Eighty-nine percent of ADs in Division I and 78% of ADs in Division II performed the task

Responsibility area: Operational policies Responsibility area: Operational policies Duty: Develop and maintain a system for purchasing, receiving, and inventory Job How 1. How 0 (01) 4 (181) 32.915 4 .0000 1.768 3 of 9 (33.31) 12 1. Individual 0 (01) 1 (181) 4 (211) 32.915 4 .0000 1.768 3 of 9 (33.31) 12 0. costention 7 (161) 1 (201) 3 (161) 4 (211) 0 (01) 12	1		Division I	Division II	Division III	Chi-square	D.F.	sig.	Min. E.P.	Cells with E.F. < 5	Hissing
Duty: Develop and maintain a system for purchasing, receiving, and inventory 0 (01) 4 (181) 4 (211) 7 (161) 12 (521) 12 (631) 36 (841) 7 (100) 12 (631) 7 (161) 12 (521) 12 (631) 7 (161) 12 (521) 12 (631) 7 (161) 12 (521) 12 (631) 7 (161) 12 (521) 12 (631) 7 (161) 12 (521) 12 (631) 7 (161) 7 (190) 3 (164) 7 (161) 6 (111) 14.995 8 (-052) 7 (161) 5 (114) 4 (199) 6 (114) 1 (31) 1 (521) 2 (114) 14.995 8 (-050) 1 (31) 1 (51) 2 (114) 14.995 8 (-050) 1 (31) 1 (51) 2 (114) 14.995 9 of 15 (60.01) 1 (31) 1 (51) 2 (114) 14.995 3 of 9 (13.31) 1 (31) 1 (31) 0 (01) 0 (01) 11.010 1 (310) 5 (241) 1 (010) 1 (010) 1 (010) 1 (301) 5 (201) 1 (010) <th>ĺ</th> <th></th> <th></th> <th></th> <th>Reponsibility</th> <th>area: Operatic</th> <th>nal polic</th> <th>cies</th> <th></th> <th></th> <th></th>	ĺ				Reponsibility	area: Operatic	nal polic	cies			
(NE.EE) 0 0 0 0 0 0 1.7 (161) 4 (11) 12 (531) 12 (531) 12 (531) 12 (531) 12 (531) 12 (531) 12 (531) 12 (531) 12 (531) 12 (531) 12 (531) 12 (531) 12 (531) 12 (531) 12 (531) 12 (531) 12 (531) 12 (531) 12 (531) 11 (502) 23 (141) 2 (111) 14			Duty:	Develop and ma	aintain a gystem	for purchaeing,	receivin	ng, storin	ig, and inver	зеогу	
0 (00) 4 (130) 4 (210) 7 (166) 12 (530) 3 (150) 36 (84h) 7 (30h) 3 (15h) 23 (62h) 11 (52h) 2 (11h) 4 (19h) 6 (33h) 14.995 8 .0592 2317 9 of 15 (60.0h) 7 (18h) 5 (24h) 8 (44h) 14.995 8 (44h) 1 (1 (3h)) 9 of 15 (60.0h) 1 (34) 0 (0h) 1 (1 (0h)) 0 (0h) 0 (0h) 0 (0h) 0 (0h) 1 (1.010 4 .0264 1.895 3 of 9 (33.31) 1 (20h) 5 (28h) 1 (0h) 4 .0264 1.895 3 of 9 (33.31) 2 (110) 4 .0264 1.895 3 of 9 (33.31) 1 (1 3.10) 1 (20h) 5 (28h) 1 (0h) 1 .0264 1 .895 3 of 9 (33.31)		How?				32.915	4	0000.	1.788	3 of 9 (33.34)	12
7 (164) 12 (524) 12 (534) 36 (84h) 7 (30h) 3 (16h) 7 (10h) 7 (10h) 3 (16h) 7 (10h) 7 (12h) 2 (11h) 7 (10h) 5 (14h) 4 (19h) 7 (10h) 5 (24h) 8 (44h) 7 (10h) 5 (24h) 8 (44h) 1 (34) 1 (54) 2 (11h) 1 (34) 1 (5h) 2 (11h) 1 (34) 1 (5h) 2 (11h) 1 (34) 0 (0h) 0 (0h) 0 (0h) 0 (0h) 0 (0h) 0 (0h) 0 (0h) 0 (0h) 1 (2h) 5 (28h) 3 (16h) 1 (2h) 5 (28h) 1 (10h) 25 (60h) 12 (57h) 5 (28h)		Individual	(10)0	4 (184)	4 (21%)						
J6 (844) 7 (304) 3 (164) 1 (524) 3 (164) Y 5 (148) 4 (194) 6 (1314) 14.995 8 .0592 2317 9 of 15 (60.04) Y 5 (148) 5 (248) 8 (448) 14.995 8 .0592 .237 9 of 15 (60.04) 7 (184) 5 (244) 8 (448) 1 (51) 2 (114) 1 (51) 9 of 15 (60.04) 1 (34) 1 (54) 2 (114) 1 (54) 2 (114) 1 (54) 9 of 15 (50.04) 1 (34) 1 (54) 2 (114) 2 (114) 1 (54) 2 (114) 1 (54) 1 (34) 1 (54) 2 (114) 1 (010) 4 .0264 1.895 3 of 9 (33.14) 0 (04) 0 (04) 0 (04) 0 (04) 1 (04) 3 (164) 1 (24) 12 (57) 5 (284) 1 (100) 5 (284) 1 (104) 5 (284)		Cooperation	7 (16%)		12 (63%)						
Y 23 (52N) 11 (52N) 2 (11N) 6 (33N) 5 (48U) 6 (33N) 5 (24N) 8 (46U) 7 (19N) 5 (24N) 8 (44N) 11 (51) 2 (11N) 5 (24N) 8 (44N) 11 (31) 1 (51) 2 (11N) 1 (51		Deiegate	36 (841)	(308) 7	3 (16%)						
Y 23 (62N) 11 (52N) 2 (11N) 5 (14N) 5 (19N) 6 (13N) 1 (3N) 1 (5N) 2 (11N) 1 (3N) 0 (0N) 0 (0N) 0 (0N) 0 (0N) 0 (0N) 0 (0N) 0 (0N) 1 (2N) 4 (19N) 3 (15N) 25 (60N) 12 (57N) 5 (28N)	ပံ	Frequency?				14.995	83	.0592	.237	9 of 15 (60.0%)	21
Y 5 (14) 4 (19) 6 (13) 7 (18) 5 (24) 8 (44) 1 (3) 1 (5) 2 (18) 1 (3) 1 (5) 2 (18) 1 (3) 0 (0) 0 (0) 0 (0) 0 (0) 0 (0) 0 (0) 0 (0) 0 (0) 1 (20) 0 (0) 0 (0) 1 (20) 5 (24) 10 (56) 25 (68) 12 (57) 5 (28)		Annually	23 (62%)	_							
7 (18%) 5 (24%) 8 (44%) 1 (3%) 1 (5%) 2 (11%) 1 (3%) 0 (0%) 0 (0%) 0 (0%) 0 (0%) 0 (0%) 1 (2%) 4 (19%) 3 (16%) 25 (68%) 12 (57%) 5 (28%)		Occasionally	5 (14%)	4 (161) 5							
1 (3%) 1 (5%) 2 (11%) 1 (3%) 0 (0%) 0 (0%) 0 (0%) 0 (0%) 0 (0%) 1 (2%) 4 (19%) 3 (16%) 1 (2%) 12 (5%) 12 (57%) 5 (28%) 25 (68%) 12 (57%) 5 (28%)		Monthly	7 (18%)	5 (24k)							
1 (31) D (01) D (01) 0 (01) D (01) 0 (01) D (01) 0 (01) D (01) 1 (20) D (01) 1 (20) 5 (24) D (563) 25 (68) 12 (57) 5 (28)		Weekly	1 (38)	1 (5%)	-						
0 (0%) 0 (0%) 0 (0%) 11.010 4 .0264 1.895 3 of 9 (33.3%) 0 (0%) 0 (0%) 0 (0%) 0 (0%) 1 (2%) 4 (19%) 3 (16%) 11 (2%) 5 (2%) 10 (56%) 10 (56%) 25 (68%) 12 (57%) 5 (28%)		Daily	1 (36)	(10)0	-						
0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 2% 4 19% 3 11 30% 5 2% 10 25 (68%) 12 (5%) 5	ġ.	Importance?				11.010	4	.0264	1.895	3 of 9 (33.34)	21
0 (0%) 0 (0%) 1 (2%) 4 (19%) 11 (30%) 5 (24%) 25 (68%) 12 (57%)		None	0 (0%)	(10) 0	0 (04)						
1 (2%) 4 (19%) 11 (30%) 5 (24%) 25 (68%) 12 (57%)		Little	(10) 0	(10) 0	0 (08)						
11 (30%) 5 (24%) 25 (68%) 12 (57%)		Average	1 (2%)	4 (16N)	3 (16%)						
25 (68%) 12 (57%)		Great	(NOE) II	5 (24%)	10 (56%)						
		Extreme	25 (68%)	~	5 (28%)						

Responses to Item 3.4 (Parts B, C, and D) of the Questionnaire by NCAA Divisional Level

Table 27

of developing a plan for program evaluation, as compared to 100% who did so in Division III (see Appendix A, Table 3.5). This was nearly significant (.0632). Also close to significance (.0751) were the responses to the how-performed item. Seventy-three percent of Division I ADs executed this function cooperatively; 20% executed this function independently; and 7% delegated it. In Division II, 52% performed the duty cooperatively; 43% performed the it independently; and 5% delegated it. In Division III, 57% did this work cooperatively, and 43% did it independently. This function was usually performed annually (Division I =66%, Division II = 45%, and Division III = 55%). Concerning importance, Division I ADs preferred the extreme (43%), average (30%), and great (22%) categories. Division II ADs thought the duty to be of average (45%), great (35%), or extreme (20%) importance. ADs in Division III considered it to be of great (50%), extreme (35%), or average (15%) importance. This task was viewed as being of average (Division I = 52%, Division II = 65%, and Division III = 45%) to hard (Division I = 27%, Division II = 20%, and Division III = 35%) in difficulty.

Develop handbook for student athletes. Developing a handbook for student athletes was a duty performed by 60% of the ADs in Division I, by 44% of the ADs in Division II, and by only 14% of the ADs in Division III (significance = .0026). The Scheffe Procedure identified a difference

between Division I and Division III. This duty was delegated by 51% of the ADs in Division I and 40% in Division II, but by only 25% in Division III (see Table 28). Division III ADs were more inclined to do the job independently (50%), while ADs in all divisions worked at this task cooperatively (Division I = 43%, Division II =53%, and Division III = 25%). This item was significant at .0007, but the between-groups technique (Scheffe Procedure) did not identify any differences(s) between divisions. The performance of this duty was nearly always done on an annual basis (Division I = 78%, Division II = 84%, and Division III = 75%). The item of importance was close to being significantly different (.0946) among divisions, as Divisions II and III favored the extreme (50% and 50%, respectively) category, while Division I chose the extreme (35%), average (35%), and great (26%) categories. Twentyfive percent of Division III also checked the none category. There was no significant difference concerning difficulty, as 64% of Division I, 58% of Division II, and 75% of Division III thought it to be average.

Area 4: Personnel

Plan and conduct regular staff meetings. Nearly all ADs in all NCAA divisions (Division I = 98%, Division II = 93%, and Division III = 100%) performed the duty of planning and conducting regularly scheduled athletics staff meetings (see Table 29). These ADs usually executed this function

Table	28
-------	----

Responses to Item 3.6 (Parts A and B) of the Questionnaire by NCAA Divisional Level

	Division I	Division II	Division III	Chi-square	D.F.	sig.	Hin. E.F.	Cells with E.F. < 5	Hissing
<u> </u>			Responsibility	area: Operatio	onal poli	cies			
		1	Duty: Develop a l	handbook for st	udent at	.hletes			
A. Perform?				16.356	4	.0026	.866	3 of 9 (33,3%)	4
Yea	27 (60%)	12 (44%)	3 (14%)						
No	18 (40%)	15 (56N)	18 (86%)						
B. How?				23.417	6	.0007	1.082	3 of 12 (25.0%)	41
Individual	2 (6%)	1 (7%)	2 (50%)						
Cooperation	16 (43%)	8 (53%)	1 (25%)						
Delegate	19 (51%)	6 (40%)	1 (251)						

independently (Division I = 53%, Division II = 71%, and Division III = 53%), although many did the work cooperatively (Division I = 42%, Division II = 25%, and Division III = 47%). The frequency of performing this task was not significant, although it was close at .0724. Division II and Division III responded that the duty was performed monthly (52% in Division II and 50% in Division III), while Division I's 47% indicated it was most often done weekly (with monthly at 30%). Another 50% checked weekly in Division III, while the remaining Division II ADs were divided between occasionally (28%) and weekly (20%). There was a significant difference (.0158) among groups as to the importance of the duty, but the Scheffe Procedure failed to identify a difference between groups. Forty-three percent of Division I, 12% of Division II, and 30% of Division III ADs considered it to be extremely important. Thirty-four percent of Division I, 48% of Division II, and 60% of Division III ADs considered it to be of great importance. Seventeen percent of Division I, 40% of Division II, and 10% of Division III ADs thought the duty to be of average importance. Most ADs in all divisions perceived this task to be of average difficulty (Division I = 70%, Division II = 80%, and Division III = 68%).

Hold individual conferences with staff. No significant differences among NCAA groups were found for any of the items related to the duty of holding individual conferences

Division I	Division II							
		Division III	ch1-square	D.F.	sig.	Min. E.F.	Cells with E.F. < 5 Mimsing	Missing
		Responsibi	Responsibility area: Personnel	rsonnel				
	Duty: Plan A	Duty: Flan and conduct regularly acheduled athletics staff meetings	arly scheduled	athletid	ce staff :	meetings		
D. Importance?			15.643	ە ا	.0158	. 652	4 of 12 (33.34)	ى م
	(10) 0							
Little 3 (6%)	(10) 0	0 (01)						
	~	2 (101)						
	12 (48%)	12 (604)						
Ехстете 20 (43%)	3 (12%)	(10C) 9						

Responses to Item 4.1 (Part D) of the Questionnaire by NCAA Divisional Level

Table 29

with staff members (see Appendix A, Table 4.2). One hundred percent of ADs in all divisions performed this function, with the majority doing so independently (Division I = 89%, Division II = 88%, and Division III = 85%). This duty was usually done on an occasional basis (Division I = 28%, Division II = 46%, and Division III = 50%), although scores were distributed among the more frequent categories. Most ADs perceived this duty to be of great to extreme importance and of average difficulty.

Prepare job analyses/descriptions for all positions. Ninety-two percent of Division II and 95% of Division III ADs prepared a job analysis or job description for all positions, as compared to 72% at the Division I level (see Table 30). This was close to significance (.0752). Division I ADs (38%) were much more inclined to delegate this duty than Division II (4%) or Division III (5%) ADs (significance = .0072). The greatest percentage of ADs in Division I and Division II checked the cooperatively category (Division I = 42% and Division II = 58%), while Division III ADs (53%) indicated the task was more often performed independently. The Scheffe Procedure identified differences between Division I and Division II and between Division I and Division III for this item. Division I (65%), Division II (78%), and Division III (94%) ADs fulfilled this obligation annually. The item of importance was near the required level of significance at .0622. ADs

Level
Divisional
NCAN
Å
Questionnaire
: B) of the Q
ö
â
(Part
4.3
Item
3
Reaponaes

Table 30

	Division I	Division II	Division III	chi-square	D.₹.	sig.	Hin. E.F.	Celle with E.P. < 5 Mimbing	Missing
			Reaponaibi	Responsibility area: Personnel	sonnel				
		Duty: Prepa	Duty: Prepare a job analysis or job description for all positions	e or job deacr	lption fo	r all po	sttions		
B. How?				17.648	9	.0072	3.031	4 of 12 (33.31)	14
Individual	8 (20%)	(186) 6	10 (531)						
Cooperation	17 (424)	14 (584)	8 (42%)						
Delegate	IS (38%)	1 (48)	1 (5%)						

in Division I rated the importance as extreme (43%), average (30%), or great (24%), while Division II ADs checked average (52%), great (35%), or extreme (9%), and ADs in Division III identified importance as extreme (44%), average (33%), great (11%), or little (11%). Difficulty was considered average (Division I = 68%, Division II = 65%, and Division III = 44%), although many in Division III (39%) perceived the task as being hard to perform.

Interview/Select coaches and support personnel.

Virtually all ADs (Division I = 98%, Division II = 100%, and Division III = 100%) reported interviewing and selecting new coaching and support personnel as a performed duty (see Table 31). Seventy-nine percent of Division I, 92% of Division II, and 85% of Division III ADs did this job cooperatively. This task was usually done an occasional (Division I = 76%, Division II = 56%, and Division III = 55%) or annual basis. The importance of the duty, however, produced a significant difference (.0015) among the groups. The Scheffe Procedure indicated a difference between Division I and Division II and between Division II and Division III. Division I ADs ranked it as being of extreme (82%) or great (16%) importance, while Division II ADs thought of it as being of extreme (40%), great (40%), or average (20%) importance. Division III ADs' responses were similar to those of Division I, as the task was rated as being of extreme (75%) to great (25%) importance. The

Responses to Item 4.4 (Part D) of the Questionnaire by NCAA Divisional Level

Table 31

	Division I	Division II	Division III	Ch1-square	D.F.	sig.	Min. E.F.	Celle with E.F. < 5 Migging	Missing
			Responsibi	Responsibility area: Personnel	faone1				
		Duty: Int	Duty: Intervlew and select new coaching and support personnel	t new coaching	ldne pue	port pers	onnel		
D. Juportance?				17.563		0015	1.333	4 of 9 (44.4%)	5
None	0 (08)	(10)0	08) 0						
Little	(10) 0	0 (00)	(10) 0						
Average	1 (2%)	5 (20%)	(10) 0						
Great	7 (16%)	-	5 (25%)						
Extreme	37 (82%)	-	15 (75%)						

perception of difficulty among divisions varied slightly from the average, hard, or very hard categories, but the scores were not significant.

Establish and/or recommend salary schedules. There were no significant differences among the NCAA groups for any items concerning the duty of establishing or recommending salary schedules for staff (see Appendix A, Table 4.5). Ninety-four percent in Division I, 92% in Division II, and 76% in Division III performed the duty. Division I and Division II ADs performed the task independently to a greater extent than those in Division III (Division I = 57%, Division II = 61%, and Division III = 44%), while the latter (56%) did this job more cooperatively than the Division I or Division II ADs (35% and 39%, respectively). The frequency identified by most respondents for this duty was annually (Division I = 83%, Division II = 79%, and Division III = 94%), while the importance item was viewed as great (Division I = 41%, Division II = 42%, and Division III = 44%) to extreme (Division I = 41%, Division II = 29%, and Division III = 44%) by most ADs. For the difficulty item, Divisions I and II perceived the task as being average (57% and 50%, respectively); hard (26% and 17%, respectively); or very hard (11% and 29%, respectively). Division III ADs indicated the task was very hard (31%), average (25%), hard (19%), or easy (19%). This item was nearly significant at .0770.

Determine coaching loads and assignments. Determining or adjusting loads or coaching assignments was a job performed by 70% of Division I ADs, 81% of Division II ADs, and 95% of Division III ADs (see Table 32). Many of these ADs made the determinations cooperatively (Division I = 33%, Division II = 67%, and Division III = 58%), although 14% of Division I ADs delegated this task as opposed to 0% in Divisions II and III. Division I ADs also assumed the task independently (53%) more than those in Division II (33%) or Division III (42%). This item was significant at .0499, but the Scheffe Procedure did not identify a difference between groups. This duty was almost exclusively performed on an annual or occasional basis by ADs in all groups. The perception of importance came close to significance at In Division I, 38% of the ADs rated it average; 31% .0540. rated it great; and 25% rated it extreme. Division II ADs thought it was of average (57%), great (29%), or extreme (14%) importance. Fifty-eight percent of Division III ADs thought it was of great importance, while another 37% checked extreme. The difficulty item was not significant, although Division III ADs favored the hard category (42%), while most Division I and Division II ADs responded to the average category (59% and 62%, respectively).

<u>Conduct formal evaluations of staff</u>. Eighty-nine percent of Division I, 92% of Division II, and 90% of Division III ADs conducted formal evaluations of all staff

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

Division I Division II Chi-equare D.F. Sig. Min. E.F. Celle with E.F. < 5										
Responsibility area: Personnel Duty: Datermine or make adjustmente in loads/coaching assignments 19 (53%) 7 (33%) 8 (42%) 12 (33%) 1 (67%) 12.599 6 .0499 1.082 4 of 12 (33.3%) 12 (33%) 1 (67%) 11 (59%) 12.559 6 .0499 1.082 4 of 12 (33.3%) 12 (33%) 14 (67%) 11 (59%) 0 (0%) 0 (0%) 1.082 4 of 12 (33.3%) 12 (33%) 0 (0%) 0 (0%) 1 (59%) 1.082 4 of 12 (33.3%) 12 (31%) 0 (0%) 0 (0%) 1 (58%) 1.0540 7 of 15 (46.7%) 12 (31%) 2 (57%) 1 (58%) 1 (58%) 1 (58%) 7 (37%) 7 (45.7%) 10 (31%) 2 (14%) 7 (37%) 7 (37%) 7 (37%) 7 (46.7%) 7 of 15 (46.7%)		Division I	Division II	Division III	chi-equare	D.F.	sig.	Min. E.F.	Celle with E.F. < 5	
Duty: Determine or make adjustments in loads/coaching gesignments 19 (53N) 7 (33N) 8 (42N) 19 (53N) 1 (67N) 11 (59N) 12 (33N) 14 (67N) 11 (59N) 12 (33N) 14 (67N) 11 (59N) 12 (33N) 0 (0N) 0 (0N) 1 (3N) 0 (0N) 0 (0N) 1 (3N) 0 (0N) 15.277 8 .0540 7 of 15 (46.7N) 1 (3N) 0 (0N) 1 (5N) 1 (5N) 1 (5N) 12 (3N) 12 (57N) 1 (5N) 1 (5N) 12 (3N) 1 (5N) 1 (5N) 1 (5N) 10 (3N) 2 (25N) 1 (5N) 7 (3N) 10 (2N) 3 (14N) 7 (3N) 7 (3N)				Responsibl	lity area: Pei	csonne1				
19 (53t) 7 (33t) 8 (42t) 12.599 6 .0899 1.082 4 of 12 (33.34) 12 (33t) 14 (67t) 11 (58t) 1 (58t) 1 (58t) 1 (59t) 12 (33t) 14 (67t) 11 (58t) 1 (58t) 1 (58t) 12 (33t) 0 (0t) 0 (0t) 0 (0t) 1 (58t) 1 (3t) 0 (0t) 0 (0t) 1 (51t) 8 .0540 .264 1 (3t) 0 (0t) 0 (0t) 0 (0t) 1 (51t) 12 (38t) 12 (57t) 1 (58t) 1 (58t) 12 (38t) 12 (57t) 1 (58t) 10 (31t) 2 (57t) 1 (58t) 10 (31t) 2 (57t) 1 (58t) 10 (31t) 3 (14t) 7 (37t)			Duty: Deter	mine or make adj	ustments in lo	ads/coac)	jiaas guid	jumente		
19 (534) 7 (334) 8 (424) 12 (334) 14 (674) 11 (584) 12 (334) 0 (04) 0 (04) 5 (144) 0 (04) 0 (04) 1 (31) 0 (01) 0 (01) 1 (33) 0 (01) 0 (01) 12 (384) 12 (574) 1 (584) 10 (314) 6 (294) 1 (584) 8 (254) 3 (144) 7 (374)	8. How?				12.599	o l	.0499	1.082	4 of 12 (33.3v)	21
12 (334) 14 (674) 11 (584) 5 (144) 0 (04) 0 (04) 1 (34) 0 (04) 0 (04) 1 (34) 0 (04) 0 (04) 1 (34) 0 (04) 0 (04) 1 2 (384) 12 (574) 1 (58) 10 (314) 6 (294) 11 (584) 8 (254) 3 (144) 7 (374)	Indivídual	19 (53 v)	1 (33%)	8 (42%)						
5 (14%) 0 (0%) 0 (0%) 15.277 8 .0540 .264 7 of 15 (46.7%) 1 (3%) 0 (0%) 0 (0%) 1 (3%) 1 (5%) 1 (5%) 12 (38%) 12 (57%) 1 (5%) 10 (31%) 6 (29%) 11 (5%) 8 (25%) 3 (14%) 7 (37%)	Cooperation	(NEE) 21	14 (67%)	11 (58%)						
1 (34) 0 (04) 0 (054) 15.277 8 .0540 .264 7 of 15 (46.74) 1 (34) 0 (03) 0 (04) 12 (38) 12 (574) 1 (58) 10 (318) 5 (294) 11 (58) 8 (254) 3 (144) 7 (378)	Delegate	5 (14%)	(10)0	(40)0						
1 (3%) 0 (0%) 1 (3%) 0 (0%) 12 (3%) 12 (57%) 10 (31%) 6 (29%) 8 (25%) 3 (14%)	Importance?				15.277	æ	.0540	.264	7 of 15 (46.7%)	25
1 (3%) 0 (0%) 12 (3%) 12 (57%) 10 (31%) 6 (29%) 8 (25%) 3 (14%)	None	1 (31)	(10) 0	(40)0						
12 (38%) 12 (57%) 10 (31%) 6 (29%) 8 (25%) 3 (14%)	Little	1 (30)	(10) 0	0 (04)						
10 (31%) 6 (29%) 8 (25%) 3 (14%)	Average	12 (38%)	12 (57%)	1 (5%)						
8 (25N) 3 (14N)	Great	10 (31%)	6 (29%)	11 (58%)						
	Extreme	8 (25N)	3 (144)	7 (37%)						

Responses to Item 4.6 (Parts B and D) of the Questionnaire by NCAA Divisional Level

Table 32

(see Table 33). This job was most often done independently (Division I = 52%, Division II = 70%, and Division III = 78%) and annually (Division I = 81%, Division II = 79%, and Division III = 89%). A difference was apparent in the responses to the importance item (significance = .0034), however, and the Scheffe Procedure identified the difference as occurring between Division II and Division III. Most ADs in Division I institutions categorized the importance of this duty as great (53%) or extreme (37%). Division II bosses rated the importance as great (33%), average (33%), or extreme (21%), Seventy-two percent of Division III ADs thought the duty was of extreme importance, and another 22% considered it of great importance. Division I ADs thought the task was hard (39%) to average (37%) to accomplish, while most Division II ADs (67%) considered it to be average. In Division III, ADs considered this task's difficulty hard (56%) or very hard (22%). The difficulty item was not significant, but near at .0677.

Direct activities of office personnel. Most ADs at all levels responded yes (Division I = 65%, Division II = 74%, and Division III = 81%) when asked if they directed the activities of office personnel (see Table 34). Many Division I ADs (51%) delegated this duty, while fewer did so in Divisions II and III (25% and 6%, respectively). Division III ADs (41%) were much more likely to perform the duty independently, while a number from all divisions

Responses to Item 4.7 (Part D) of the Questionnaire by NCRA Divisional Level

	Division I	Division II	Division III	Chi-equare	D.F.	Sig.	Min. E.F.	Cells with E.F. < S	Missing
			Responsib	ility area: Pe	reonnel				
		۵	uty: Conduct for	mal evaluation	e of all	staff			
D. Importance?				19.485	6	.0034	.212	5 of 12 (41.7%)	12
None	1 (3%)	0 (0%)	0 (0%)						
Little	0 (0%)	0 (0%)	0 (D%)						
Average	3 (7%)	8 (331)	1 (6%)						
Great	23 (53%)	11 (46%)	4 (22)						
arear									

Responses to Item 4.8 (Farts B and E) of the Questionnaire by NCAA Divisional Level

Table 34

	Division I	Division II	III uoisivid	Chi-square	D.F.	sig.	Min. E.F.	Cells with E.F. < 5	Missing
			Reaponsibi	Responsibility area: Personnel	reonne l				
			Duty: Direct activities of office personnel	ivities of off	ice pers	ondel			
B. How?				20,003	4	, 0005	2.461	2 of 9 (22.2%)	21
Individual	2 (54)	Z (10%)	7 (414)						
Cooperation	17 (441)	13 (654)	9 (53%)						
Delegate	20 (511)	5 (25%)	1 (64)						
E. Diffleulty?				15,869	ß	.0443	.459	10 of 15 (66.7%)	23
Very easy	2 (5%)	(10) 0	(10) 0						
Easy	6 (16%)	3 (16%)	1 (61)						
Average	24 (63%)	9 (478)	10 (59%)						
Hard	2 (5%)	7 (37%)	6 (35%)						
Very hard	4 (111)	(10) 0	0 [01]						

(Division I = 44%, Division II = 65%, and Division III = 53%) accomplished this task cooperatively (significance = .0005). The Scheffe Procedure indicated a difference between Division I and Division III and between Division II and Division III. Most ADs in all divisions (Division I = 79%, Division II = 68%, and Division III = 88%) completed this duty on an annual basis. The responses for importance were not significant, but generally ranged from the average to extreme categories. Most respondents rated the duty average in difficulty (Division I = 63%, Division II = 47%, and Division III = 59%), although ADs in Divisions II and III rated the difficulty higher than those in Division I (hard: Division I = 5%, Division II = 37%, and Division III = 35%). This item was significant (.0443), but the Scheffe Procedure failed to identify a difference between groups. Area 5: Compliance

Certify eligibility and complete and submit forms for all student athletes. In the area of compliance, the duty of certifying the eligibility of athletes was performed by 64% of Division I ADs, by 78% of Division II ADs, and by 90% of Division III ADs. This item was very close to significance at .0508 (see Table 35). Significant (.0000) was the manner in which the task was done, as 76% of Division I ADs delegated it, and only 38% in Division II and 6% in Division III did likewise. Most Division II ADs (54%) performed this duty cooperatively, while most Division III

ADs (59%) did the work independently. The Scheffe Procedure confirmed differences between Division I and Division II, between Division I and Division III, and between Division II and Division III for this item. This task was most often performed annually (Division I = 40%, Division II = 48%, and Division III = 56%), although Division I ADs indicated a tendency to work at the job more frequently (20% weekly and 20% daily). This was not significant, however. Most ADs in all classifications gave this duty the highest score for importance, as 86% in Division I, 74% in Division II, and 67% in Division III marked extreme. This item was also not significant, although Division III ADs weighted this duty as being of slightly less importance overall than those in Division I and Division II. The difficulty rating produced a significant difference (.0316) among groups, as Division I ADs perceived the task to be more difficult than those in Division II and Division III. The Scheffe Procedure identified a difference between Division I and Division III. In Division I, 44% checked hard; 28% checked very hard; and 22% checked average. In Division II, 44% marked average; 35% marked hard; and 17% marked very hard. In Division III, 50% of the ADs checked average; 17% checked easy; 11% checked very easy; 11% checked hard; and 11% checked very hard.

Ensure that recruitment of athletes is done properly. Eighty-four percent of Division I, 89% of Division II, and

Responses to Item 5.1 (Parts A, B, and E) of the Questionnaire by MCAA Divisional Lavel

Table 35

	Division I	Division II	Division III	Ch1-square	D.F.	sig.	Min. E.F.	Cella with E.F. < 5	Missing
			Responsibi	Responsibility area: Compliance	pliance				
	Duty: C	ertify the eligi	Duty: Certify the eligibility of all student athletes; complete and submit required forms	udent athletes	t) complet	te and su	bmit required	l forms	
A. Perform?				9.448	4	.0508	.866	3 of 9 (33.34)	4
Yea	29 (641)	21 (784)	(106) 61					•	
No	I6 (36%)	6 (22%)	2 (10V)						
B. How?				44.998	φ	0000-	2.814	4 of 12 (33.3%)	13
Individual	1 (2%)	2 (BN)	10 (59%)						
Cooperation	9 (221)	14 (54%)	6 (351)						
Delegate	31 (76%)	(486) 01	1 (64)						
E. Difficulty?				16.855	ø	9160.	.935	8 of 15 (53.3%)	20
Very eagy	1 (38)	1 (48)							
Easy	1 (38)	(10) 0	3 (174)						
Average	8 (224)	10 (444)							
Hard	16 (44%)	8 (35%)	2 (114)						
Very hard	10 (281)	4 (171)	2 (11%)						

100% of Division III ADs indicated that ensuring the recruitment of athletes is done in accordance with NCAA regulations was a duty which they performed (see Table 36). Most Division I ADs (57%) did this cooperatively, but 39% also delegated the task. In Division II, 44% of the respondents performed the job cooperatively; 30% performed it independently; and 16% delegated it. Division III ADs accomplished the task cooperatively (55%) or independently (45%). This was a significant item at .0028, with the Scheffe Procedure indicating a difference between Division I and Division III. Although responses were spread throughout all categories, there was no significance in the frequency item, with daily the most prevalent answer from all groups (Division I = 45%, Division II = 35%, and Division III = 35%). The majority of ADs in all divisions rated this duty of recruitment supervision to be extremely important (Division I = 90%, Division II = 73%, and Division III = 65%). The difficulty of the task varied among groups (significance = .0087), as Division I ADs rated the duty as being more difficult than did those in Division II. Likewise, the ADs in Division II rated it more difficult overall than those in Division III. The Scheffe Procedure confirmed a difference between Division I and Division III. In Division I, 41% checked hard; 32% checked very hard; and 24% checked average. In Division II, 50% checked average; 31% checked hard; and 15% checked very hard. In Division

Responses to Item 5.2 (Parts B and E) of the Questionnaire by NCAA Divisional Level

Division I Divis	ion II Division	II Chi-square	D.F. S	ig. Min.	E.F. Col	le with E.F. < 5	Missing
------------------	-----------------	---------------	--------	----------	----------	------------------	---------

Responsibility area: Compliance

Duty: Ensure that recruitment of all student athletes is done in accordance with NCAA regulations

B. How?				19.962	6	-0028	1.299	4 of 12 (33.3%)	6
Individual	2 (41)	8 (30%)	8 (40%)						
Cooperation	25 (571)	12 (44%)	11 (55%)						
Delegate	17 (39%)	7 (16%)	1 (5%)						
E. Difficulty?				20.466	8	.0087	.920	7 of 15 (46.7%)	10
Very casy	0 (0%)	1 (4%)	3 (15%)						
Easy	1 (34)	0 (0%)	3 (15%)						
Average	10 (24%)	13 (50%)	7 (35%)						
Hard	17 (41%)	8 (31%)	4 (20%)						
Very hard	13 (32%)	4 (15%)	3 (15%)						

III, 35% checked average; 20% checked hard; 15% checked very hard; 15% checked easy; and 15% checked very easy.

Oversee awarding of scholarships, work-aid grants, and other financial aid. Duty 3, overseeing the awarding of athletics scholarships, work-aid grants, or other forms of financial aid produced tremendous differences among the groups in four of the five items (see Table 37). Eighty percent of Division I and 96% of Division II ADs performed this function, while only 10% of Division III ADs did so (significance = .0000). The Scheffe Procedure identified a difference between Division I and Division III and between Division II and Division III. Division I ADs delegated (51%) or cooperated (47%) in achieving this task, while ADs in Division II worked cooperatively (65%), worked independently (23%), or delegated (12%). The three respondents (100%) in Division III indicated the job was delegated (significance = .0000). The between-groups analysis (Scheffe Procedure) indicated a difference between Division II and Division III. The frequency of performing this task was determined by most ADs to be either annually or occasionally, although Division I and Division II ADs responded to all categories. The importance item was significant at .0000, although the Scheffe Procedure failed to identify a difference between groups. Fifty-nine percent of Division I ADs thought it to be of extreme importance, while another 32% marked great. Division II ADs thought the Responses to Item 5.3 (Parts A, B, D, and E) of the Questionnaire by NCAA Divisional Level

Table 37

		piviaton I	Division II	Division III	Chi-square	D.F.	sig.	Min. E.F.	Cells with E.F. < 5	Minsing
1				Responsibl	Responsibility area: Compliance	pliance	i			
ł		Duty: Oversee	the awarding of	Duty: Oversee the awarding of athletics scholarships, work-aid grants, or other forms of financial aid	irships, work-e	ild grante	a, or oth	er forms of	financial aid	
Α.	A. Perform? Yes No	36 (80%) 9 (70%)	26 (964) 1 (45)	2 (101) 19 (904)	52,392	4	0000.	. 866	3 of 9 (33.3%)	4
I						,				
B	B. How? Individual	1 (281		0 (04)	516.77	ø	.0000	1.515	4 of 12 (33.34	23
	Cooperation	21 (471)	17 (65%)	(10) 0						
	Delegate	(NIS) EZ	3 (124)	(1001) E						
4	D. Importance?				34.525	9	.0000	.029	8 of 12 (66.74)	29
	None	(10) 0		-						
	Little	0 (04)	(10) 0	1 (504)						
	Average	4 (38)		-						
	Great	13 (32N)	8 (32%)	-						
	Extreme	24 (59%)	13 (52%)	<u> </u>						
м.	E. Dífficulty?				21.558	ŝ	.0058	680.	11 of 15 (73.3V)	29
	Very easy	I (2%)		1 (50%)						
	Еаву	1 (2%)		÷						
	Average	20 (49%)	(144) II	(10) 0						
	Kard	14 (344)		-						
	very hard	5 (12%)	3 (12%)	(10)0						

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

duty was of extreme (52%), great (32%), or average (16%) importance. Only two ADs responded in Division III, one to the extreme category and one to the little category. The difficulty item was also significant (.0058), with the Scheffe Procedure indicating a difference between Division I and Division III and between Division II and Division III. Forty-nine percent of Division I and 44% of Division II checked average; 34% of Division I and 36% of Division II checked hard; and 12% of both Divisions I and II checked very hard. The two respondents in Division III split between the very easy and easy categories.

Provide drug education and substance abuse programs. Providing a program for drug education and/or regular testing for substance abuse was a duty performed by most Division I and Division II ADs (80% and 74%, respectively), but by relatively few Division III ADs (29%). The Scheffe Procedure confirmed a difference between Division I and Division III and between Division II and Division III. The chi-square significance was .0002 for the NCAA divisional groups (see Table 38). Division II (61%) and Division III (60%) ADs were more likely to perform this job cooperatively, while Division I ADs (59%) usually delegated The significance was .0000, but the Scheffe Procedure it. did not identify a difference between groups. The frequency of performance was indicated as monthly, occasionally, or annually by most ADs. Likewise, the importance of this

Responses to Item 5.4 (Parts A and B) of the Questionnairs by NCAA Divisional Level

	Division I	Division II	Division III	Chi-square	D.F.	Sig.	Min. E.F.	Cells with E.F. < 5	Missing
			Responsib	ility area: Com	pliance				
·····	Duty:	Provide a prog	ram for drug edu	cation and/or n	egular t	testing fo	or substance	abuse	
A. Perform7				22.534	4	.0002	.866	3 of 9 (33.3%)	4
Yes	36 (80%)	20 (74%)	6 (29%)						
No	9 (20%)	7 (26%)	15 (71%)						
B. How?				35,660	6	.0000	.649	3 of 12 (25.0%)	28
Individual	1 (2)	2 (9%)	0 (0%)						
	16 (201)	14 (61%)	3 (60%)						
Cooperation	16 (39%)	YA LOTAL							

function was determined to be extreme or great by the majority of respondents. Concerning difficulty, the responses were clustered between two categories, average and hard.

Inform/Interpret NCAA and conference legislation to staff. Four of the five items were significant for the duty of informing and interpreting NCAA and conference legislation to staff (see Table 39). One hundred percent of both Division II and Division III respondents performed this task, while 86% of the Division I ADs assumed the duty (significance = .0162). The between-groups technique (Scheffe Procedure) did not indicate a difference. Division II (52%) and Division III (75%) ADs were inclined to complete the task independently, while Division I ADs either did the job cooperatively (50%) or delegated it (36%). Forty-eight percent of Division II ADs also performed the duty cooperatively, but no Division II or Division III ADs delegated this function (significance = .0000). The Scheffe Procedure identified a difference between Division I and Division II and between Division I and Division III. Division I ADs performed the duty daily (31%), monthly (28%), weekly (18%), occasionally (18%), and annually (5%). Division II ADs worked at this job occasionally (27%), weekly (27%), monthly (23%), daily (15%), or annually (8%). Division III ADs, however were more likely to perform the task occasionally (55%), annually (15%), daily (15%), weekly

(10%), or monthly (5%). Significance for the frequency item was .0538. Division I ADs weighted the importance of this duty more than ADs in Divisions II and III (significance = .0194). The Scheffe Procedure identified a difference between Division I and Division III. ADs in Division I thought the duty was extremely (83%) or greatly (15%) important. ADs in Divisions II and III perceived the importance as extreme (58% and 50%, respectively); great (27% and 20%, respectively); and average (15% and 20%, respectively). Division I ADs also thought the task to be of greater difficulty than those in Divisions II and III (significance = .0344), although the Scheffe Procedure did not identify a difference between groups. Division I ADs rated the task as being average (38%), hard (35%), or very hard (23%) in difficulty. Division II ADs perceived the difficulty as average (58%) or hard (38%). Fifty-five percent of Division III ADs thought the difficulty was average, with 15% each for the categories of easy, hard, and very hard.

<u>Provide plan for enforcement</u>. There was no significant difference among divisions for any item concerning the duty of providing a plan for enforcement (see Appendix A, Table 5.6). Nearly all ADs (Division I = 98%, Division II = 93%, and Division III = 100%) performed this job. This was usually accomplished either independently (Division I = 53%, Division II = 71%, and Division III = 53%) or cooperatively

Table	39
-------	----

Responses to Item 5.5 (Parts A, B, C, D, and E) of the Questionnaire by NCAA Divisional Level

	Division I	Division II	Division III	Chi-square	D.F.	Sig.	Min. E.F.	Cells with E.F. < 5	Missing
			Responsib	ility area: Co	pliance				
		Duty: Inform	a and interpret H	NCAA and confe	cence leg	gislation	to staff		
A. Perform?				12.153	4	.0162	1.082	6 of 9 (66.7%)	5
Yes	38 (86%)	27 (100%)	21 (100%)						
No	6 (14%)	0 (0%)	0 (0%)						
B. How?				38.158	6	-0000	1.732	5 of 12 (41.7%)	в
Individual	6 (14%)	14 (52%)	15 (75%)						
Cooperation	21 (50%)	13 (48%)	5 (25%)						
Delegate	15 (36%)	0 (0%)	0 (0%)						
C. Frequency?				15,286	8	.0538	1.647	7 of 15 (46.7%)	12
Annually	2 (51)	2 (8%)	3 (15%)						
Occasionally	7 (18%)	7 (27%)	11 (55%)						
Monthly	11 (28%)	6 (23%)	1 (5%)						
Weekly	7 (18%)	7 (27%)	2 (10%)						
Daily	12 (31%)	4 (15%)	3 (15%)						
D. Importance?				15.111	6	.0194	. 465	7 of 12 (58.3%)	11
None	0 (0%)	0 (0%)	0 (0%)						
Little	0 (0%)	0 (0%)	2 (10%)						
Average	l (2%)	4 (15%)	4 (20%)						
Great	6 (15%)	7 (271)	4 (20%)						
Extreme	33 (83%)	15 (58%)	10 (50%)						
E. Difficulty?				16.611	8	.0344	-465	8 of 15 (53.3%)	11
Very easy	1 (2%)	1 (4%)	0 (0%)					- •	
Easy	1 (28)	0 (0%)	3 (15%)						
Average	15 (38%)	15 (58%)	11 (55%)						
Hard	14 (35%)	10 (38%)	3 (15%)						
Very hard	9 (234)	0 (0%)	3 (15%)						

(Division I = 42%, Division II = 25%, and Division III = 47%). The frequency of performance was most often monthly, with some indicating occasionally. Most ADs rated this task to be of average importance and average difficulty.

Conduct ongoing review and evaluation of compliance Table 40 shows that 91% of Division I, 89% of systems. Division II, and 62% of Division III ADs performed the duty of conducting ongoing review and evaluation of compliance systems (significance = .0070). The Scheffe Procedure confirmed differences between Division I and Division III and between Division II and Division III. Most Division I ADs had undertaken the task cooperatively (79%), while Division II ADs performed the job both cooperatively (56%) and independently (28%). Division III ADs completed the work independently (62%) or cooperatively (30%). These scores produced a significance of .0012, and the Scheffe Procedure indicated a difference between Division I and Division III. All categories for frequency received a number of responses from ADs in all classifications, but there was no significance among groups. Most ADs favored the occasional or annual categories. The importance item for this duty was perceived differently (significance = .0023) among the groups, as Division I ADs favored the extreme (78%) and great (15%) categories. In Division II, 46% rated this duty as being of extreme importance, while 33% checked great, and 21% checked average. Division III

Table 40 Responses to Item 5.7 (Parts A, B, D, and B) of the Questionnaire by NCAA Divisional Level Missing 20 ¢ 1 20 ഗ ۷ 9 (55.6%) 5 of 12 (41.74) 7 of 12 (58.3%) 9 of 15 (60.0%) Cells with E.F. 5 of Е.Т. 2.165 .169 -169 .866 Duty: Conduct ongoing review and evaluation of compliance systems Min. .0012 .0141 .0070 ,0023 stg. Responsibility area: Compliance D.F. ø ø ۵ 4 chi-square 22.115 14.094 19.154 20.481 Division III 0 (00) 3 (230) 6 (460) 4 (316) 0 (00) (151) (151) (151) (624) (384) (62%) (30%) (8%) е**т** в 0 7 F 0 H 0 N 7 H 7 (28%) 14 (56%) 4 (16%) 0 (0%) 0 (0%) 5 (21%) 8 (33%) 11 (46%) 24 (894) 3 (114) 1 (41) 0 (01) 14 (581) 5 (211) 4 (171) (214) Division Division I 4 (9%) 33 (79%) 5 (12%) (NBL) 1E (NSI) 9 (NC) 0 (NO) 0 0 (0%) 1 (2%) 14 (35%) 13 (33%) 12 (30%) 41 (91%) 4 (9%) Cooperation Delegate D. Importance? None E. Difficulty? B. How? Individual Very easy Easy Average Hard Very hard Perform? Yes Little Average Great Extreme Ŷ ż

ADs rated the importance less overall than those in Division I and Division II, checking average (46%), extreme (31%), great (15%), and little (8%). The Scheffe Procedure identified a difference between Division I and Division III for the importance item. A significant difference (.0141) was also present on the difficulty item, with the Scheffe Procedure indicating a difference between Division I and Division III. Division I ADs rated the difficulty as average (35%), hard (33%), or very hard (30%), while the scores of Division II ADs were more toward average (58%), with hard at 21% and very hard at 17%. Division III ADs thought the job was average (46%), hard (31%), or easy (23%) in difficulty.

Area 6: Responsibilities to Student Athletes

Arrange insurance plan for all athletes. The question of performance for the duty of arranging an insurance plan for athletes was close to significance (.0634), as 51% of Division I, 81% of Division II, and 57% of Division III ADs responded yes (see Table 41). A great majority (78%) of Division I ADs delegated the task, while fewer did so in Division II (32%) and Division III (50%). Division II and Division III ADs indicated the job was usually performed cooperatively at these levels (41% and 50%, respectively), although 27% of Division II ADs also executed this function independently (significance = .0003). The Scheffe Procedure identified a difference between Division I and Division II

	Division 1	Division II	Division III	Chi-square	D.F.	Sig.	Min. E.F.	Cells with B.F. < 5	Missing
		-	sibility area: Re	-					
B. How?				25.309	6	.0003	1.515	5 of 12 (41.7%)	23

Table 41 Responses to Item 6.1 (Part B) of the Questionnaire by NCAA Divisional Level

for this item. The consensus among all ADs was that this job was done annually (Division I = 84%, Division II = 86%, and Division III = 83%). ADs in all divisions were also in accord concerning the importance of this duty, as most thought it was extremely important (Division I = 66%, Division II = 52%, and Division III = 75%). The difficulty item was also not significant, as the greatest number of responses fell into the average category (Division I = 61%, Division II = 62%, and Division III = 33%). In Division III, each of the remaining categories (very easy, easy, hard, and very hard) received 17% of the responses.

Ensure that all athletes have physical examinations. Table 42 shows that 57% of Division I, 85% of Division II, and 95% of Division III ADs assumed the duty of ensuring that all athletes have physical examinations. This was the only significant (.0077) item for this duty. The Scheffe Procedure confirmed a difference between Division I and Division III. The majority of all ADs delegated the task (Division I = 82%, Division II = 56%, and Division III = 53%), although Division II and Division III ADs (40% and 42%, respectively) performed the job cooperatively more than those in Division I (18%). The consensus among ADs in all divisions was that this duty was performed annually (Division I = 80%, Division II = 96%, and Division III = 79%). Similarly, most ADs thought the duty was of extreme importance (Division I = 69%, Division II = 65%, and

	Division I	Division II	Division III	Chi-square	D.F.	Sig.	Min. E.F.	Cells with E.F. < 5	Hissing
		•	bibility area: Re Ensure that all a	-					
A. Perform7 Yes No	27 (57%) 20 (43%)	22 (85%) 4 (15%)	20 (95%) 1 (5%)	13.886	4	.0077	.649	3 of 9 (33.3%)	3

Division III = 74%) and of average difficulty (Division I = 67%, Division II = 73%, and Division III = 32%).

Arrange meals, lodging, et cetera, when team travels. There was a significant difference (.0175) among the NCAA divisional groups concerning the duty of arranging transportation, meals, lodging, et cetera, when teams travel (see Table 43). The Scheffe Procedure identified a difference between Division I and Division III. Sixty percent of Division I ADs assumed this task, while a greater percentage did so in Division II (59%) and Division III (81%). ADs in Division I (97%) almost exclusively delegated the job, while most Division II (57%) and Division III (68%) ADs delegated as well, but to a lesser extent. Division II and Division III ADs were more likely to perform the duty cooperatively than those in Division I (Division I = 3%, Division II = 43%, and Division III = 26%). The significance for this item was .0027, with the Scheffe Procedure indicating a difference between Division I and Division II and between Division I and Division III. Most ADs worked at this task on either a daily (Division I = 39%, Division II = 32%, and Division III = 50%) or weekly (Division I = 32%, Division II = 21%, and Division III = 33%) basis. The importance factor was considered great, extreme, or average, and the difficulty was generally thought to be average.

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

	Division I	Division II	Division III	Chi-square	D.7.	Sig.	Nin. E.F.	Cells with E.F. < 5	Hissing
		Respons	ibility area: Re	sponsibilities	to stud	ent athlet	ea		
		Duty: Arrange t	ransportation, m	eals, lodging,	etceter	t, when te	ams travel		
A. Perform? Yes	19 (40%)	Duty: Arrange t	17 (81%)	<pre>leals, lodging, </pre>	etceter:	.0175	ams travel	3 of 9 (33.3%)	2

20.034

1 (5%)

5 (26%) 13 (68%) 6

.0027

.216

6 of 12 (50.0%)

18

Table 43
Responses to Item 6.3 (Parts A and B) of the Questionnairs by NCAA Divisional Level

No B. How?

Individual

Cooperation Delegate 0 (0%)

1 (3%) 38 (97%) 0 (0%)

9 (431) 12 (571)

Enforce code of ethics and conduct for athletes. None of the items related to the duty of enforcing codes of ethics and conduct for athletes produced significant differences among the divisions (See Appendix A, Table 6.4). Most ADs performed the duty (Division I = 87%, Division II = 96%, and Division III = 90%) and did so cooperatively (Division I = 57%, Division II = 58%, and Division III = 83%). The frequency item was close to significance (.0640), as Division I ADs leaned toward the daily (38%), occasionally (21%), and monthly (19%) answers, while Division II ADs checked daily (52%) and annually (28%). Division III ADs marked occasionally (44%) and daily (39%) most often. The task was considered to be of extreme (Division I = 60%, Division II = 40%, and Division III = 61%) importance and of average (Division I = 60%, Division II = 56%, and Division III = 44%) difficulty overall by most ADs.

Assign athletes to athletics department or campus jobs. Eighty-seven percent of ADs in Division I institutions assigned athletes to athletics department or campus jobs, as compared to only 37% in Division II and 48% in Division III (see Table 44). This item was significant at .0131; the Scheffe Procedure indicated a difference between Division I and Division III. All Division I ADs (100%) who performed this duty did so by delegating it, while 40% of Division II and 60% of Division III ADs delegated (significance = Responses to Item 6.5 (Farts A and B) of the Questionnaire by NCAA Divisional Level

Table 44

	Division I	Division II	pivision III	Chi-square	D.F.	sig.	Min. E.F.	Cells with E.F. < 5	Missing
		Respons	Responsibility area: Responsibilities to student athletes	sponsibí lities	to stud	ent athle	tes	,	
		Duty: AB	Duty: Assign athletes to athletics department or campus jobs	athletics depu	artment c	or campus	jobs		
A. Perform?				12.658	4	.0131	.433	3 of 9 (33.3%)	2
Yea	6 (87%)	10 (37%)	10 (48%)						
No	(181) 18	17 (63%)	11 (524)						
B. How?				17.222	Q	.0085	.216	6 of 12 (50.0%)	58
Individual	0 (08)	(10) 0	1 (10%)						
Cooperation	040) 0	6 (60N)	3 (304)						
Delegate	(NODT) 6T	4 (401)	6 (60%)						

.0085). The Scheffe Procedure identified a difference between Division I and Division II and between Division I and Division III. Division II ADs (60%) usually fulfilled this requirement cooperatively. This function was performed annually or occasionally by most ADs, who also considered it to be of average importance and average to easy in difficulty.

Develop system of record-keeping for all sports. While most Division I ADs (57%) performed the task of developing a system of record-keeping for all sports, a greater number did this in Division II (85%) and Division III (90%) programs (significance = .0115). The Scheffe Procedure confirmed a difference between Division I and Division III. Table 45 also shows the differences (significance = .0012) among the groups as to how the duty was executed. The Scheffe Procedure identified a difference between Division I and Division III. Seventy-six percent of Division I ADs delegated the job, whereas only 38% in Division II and 33% in Division III did likewise. Division II (62%) and Division III (50%) performed the duty cooperatively. The frequency of performance was designed as annually (Division I = 33%, Division II = 33%, and Division III = 11%) or daily (Division I = 36%, Division II = 33%, and Division III = 33%) by most respondents, although 28% of Division III ADs marked occasionally. The importance rating was identified as extreme or great by the majority of ADs, although a

	Division I	Division II	Division III	Chi-square	D.F.	sig.	Min. E.P.	Cells with E.F. < 5 Missing	Mlesing
		Reapone	Responsibility area: Responsibilities to student athletes	sponsibilities	to stude	ant athlet	5		
		Duty:	Duty: Develop a system of keeping records for all sports	of keeping re-	corde for	all spor	L L L		
A. Perform?				12.960	4	,0115	£E\$.	3 of 9 (33.3%)	14
Yea No	27 (57%) 20 (43%)	23 (85%) 4 (15%)	19 (90%) 2 (10%)						
B. How?				22.048	φ	2100,	1.082	5 of 12 (41.7%)	11
Individual Cooperation Delegate	2 (54) 8 (194) 32 (764)	0 (0%) 16 (62%) 10 (38%)	3 (17%) 9 (50%) 6 (33%)						

Responses to Itcm 6.6 (Parts A and B) of the Questionnaire by NCAA Divisional Lavel

Table 45

number also perceived the importance as average. The difficulty factor was considered average by most ADs in all classifications.

Establish standards/qualifications for sports awards. The percentage of affirmative responses to the question of duty 7, "establish standards for qualifications for sports awards," increased progressively from Division I (68%) to Division II (85%) to Division III (95%). The significance of the performance item was .0532 (see Table 46). Ninetytwo percent of Division II, 78% of Division III, and 45% of Division I ADs achieved this task cooperatively, although 43% of Division I ADs also delegated the job (significance = .0027). The Scheffe Procedure confirmed a difference between Division I and Division III. The duty was most frequently performed on an annual basis by all groups (Division I = 66%, Division II = 73%, and Division III = 95%). It was also mostly designated as being of average importance (Division I = 37%, Division II = 64%, and Division III = 58%) and was thought to be of average difficulty (Division I = 60%, Division II = 82%, and Division III = 47%).

Provide plan for laundry services. Seventy-one percent of Division III ADs and 59% of Division II ADs performed the duty of providing a plan for laundry services, whereas only 30% of Division I ADs did the same (significance = .0065). The Scheffe Procedure identified a difference between Tabla 46

.

Responses to Item 6.7 (Parts A and B) of the Questionnaire by NCAA Divisional Level

	Division I	Division II	Division III	Chi-square D.F.	D.F.	sig.	Min. E.F.	Celle with E.F. < 5 Higging	Hlseing
		Яевропв	Responsibility area: Responsibilities to student athletes	aponaibilitiea	to stud	ent athle	8		
		Duty: Est	Duty: Establish standards for gualifications for sports awards	for qualificat	tions for	f aports a	warde		
A. Perform?				9.337	4	. 0532	.433	4 of 9 (44.44)	~
Yes	32 (68%)	(NSB) EZ	20 (95%)						
No	15 (324)	4 (151)	1 (5%)						
B. How?				20.044	9	.0027	1.732	6 of 12 (50.04)	13
Individual	5 (124)	(10) 0	(1/1) E						
Cooperation	19 (45%)	22 (924)	14 (78%)						
Delegate	18 (43%)	2 (81)	1 (5%)						

Division I and Division III. Also very significant (.0012) was how the task was handled (see Table 47); differences were between Division I and Division II and between Division I and Division III as identified by the Scheffe Procedure. Nearly all Division I ADS (96%) delegated the job, while about one-half of the ADS did likewise in Division II (56%) and Division III (50%). ADS in Divisions II and III performed the duty cooperatively at 33% and 50%, respectively. The scores for frequency of performing the task were dispersed among the categories, but the most prevalent responses fell into the annual and daily groupings. The duty was generally considered to be of average importance and average to easy in difficulty by all division ADS. None of these last three items were significant.

Arrange athletics banquet(s). The duty of arranging a yearly athletics banquet(s) was performed by more of the Division II (96%) and Division III (90%) ADs than by those in Division I (57%). This item was significant at .0007 (see Table 48), with the Scheffe Procedure indicating a difference between Division I and Division II and between Division I and Division III. Most Division I ADs (67%) delegated this job to someone else, while Division II (76%) and Division III (65) ADs performed the work cooperatively (significance = .0003). The Scheffe Procedure confirmed a difference between Division I and Division II and between Responses to Item 6.8 (Parts A and B) of the Questionnaire by NCAA Divisional Level

Table 47

	Division I	Division II	Division III Chi-square	Chi-equare	D.F.	sig.	sig. Min. B.F.	Celle with E.F. < 5 Migsing	Missing
		Respons	Responsibility area: Responsibilities to student athietes	sponsibilities	to stud	ent athle	tea		
			Duty: Provide a plan for laundry services	plan for laun	дгу вегч	ices.			
A. Perform?	-			14.249	4	.0065	. 433	3 of 9 (33.34)	2
Yea	14 (304)	16 (594)	15 (714)					•	
Na	33 (704)	11 (418)	6 (291)						
B. How?				21.938	9	.0012	.433	5 of 12 (41.7%)	37
Individual	(10) 0	2 (114)	0 (04)						
Cooperation	1 (46)	6 (33%)	8 (50%)						
Delegate	25 (96%)	10 (56%)	8 (SON)						

.

.

Table 48

Responses to Item 5.9 (Parts A, B, and D) of the Questionnaire by NCAA Divisional Level

	Division I	Division II	Division III	Ch1-square	D.F.	stg.	Min. E.F.	Cella with E.F. < 5	Hissing
		Кевроля	Responsibility area: Responsibilities to student athletes	sponsibilities	to stud	ent athlet	8		
			Duty: Arrange yearly athletics banquet(s)	early athletic	s banque	t(0)			
A. Perform?				19.279	4	- 0007	.433	4 of 9 (44.48)	~
Yea	27 (57%)	26 (96%)	(106) 61						
NO	20 (43%)	1 (44)	2 (10%)						
B. How?				25.007	υ	.000	1.732	5 of 12 (41.7%)	16
Individual	3 (7%)	Z (81)	(181) E						
Cooperation	10 (26%)	19 (764)	11 (65%)						
Delegate	26 (671)	4 (161)	3 (18%)						
D. Importance?				16-912	8	.0310	.235	11 of 15 (73.3%)	29
None	1 (44)	(%0) 0	(10) 0						
Little	4 (I4#)	(10) 0	(10)0						
Average	12 (43%)	18 (75%)	8 (\$0%)						
Great	3 (11%)	4 (174)	6 (384)						
Extreme	8 (281)	2 (81)	2 (12%)						

Division I and Division III. This activity was usually done annually (Division I = 71%, Division II = 88%, and Division III = 56%). Division I ADs thought the task was of average (43%), extreme (28%), little (14%), great (11%), or no (4%) importance. This differed (significance = .0310) from the Division II and Division III groups, as 75% of Division II ADs rated the duty as average, 17% great, or 8% extreme; and 50% of Division III ADs checked average, 38% great, and 12% extreme. The Scheffe Procedure failed to identify a difference between groups. This task was considered average in difficulty (Division I = 55%, Division II = 75%, and Division III = 75%) by most ADs.

Provide counseling services for athletes who aspire to play professionally. The performance of the duty to provide a counseling program for athletes who aspire to become professionals was more common to Division I ADs (55%) than to Division II (33%) or Division III (10%) ADs (significance = .0040). The Scheffe Procedure confirmed a difference between Division I and Division III. While many ADs in all groups performed the duty cooperatively (Division I = 35% Division II = 50%, and Division III = 67%), those in Division I (62%) usually delegated the task (50% delegated it in Division II, and 33% delegated it in Division III). Significance for this item was .0040 (see Table 49), but the between-groups analysis did not identify a difference between groups. The frequency for this task was identified

by all groups as occurring occasionally (Division I = 45%, Division II = 60%, and Division III = 33%) or annually (Division I = 23%, Division II = 30%, and Division III = 67%). There was a significant difference (.0247) in the importance question, although there were only 3 responses in Division III and 10 in Division II; the Scheffe Procedure failed to identify a difference between groups. Most respondents in Division I rated the importance as average (33%), great (33%), or extreme (23%), while those in Division II favored the average (60%), but also checked great (20%) and extreme (20%). The three Division III responses were spread one each into the none, average, and extreme categories. The difficulty item was also significant (.0049) as Division III ADs (three responses) checked very easy (67%) and easy (33%). Seventy percent of Division II ADs rated it average in difficulty, with 10% each in the categories of very easy, easy, and hard. ADs in Division I perceived the duty to be average (61%), easy (23%), hard (10%), or very hard (6%) to perform. The Scheffe Procedure indicated a difference between Division I and Division III and between Division II and Division III for this item.

Area 7: Public Relations/Promotions

Interpret program to faculty, students, community and <u>alumni</u>. The great majority of ADs in all NCAA divisions (Division I = 100%, Division II = 96%, and Division III =

Responses to Item 6.10 (Parts A, B, D, and E) of the Questionnairs by NCAA Divisional Level

	Division I	Division II	Division III	Chi-square	D.F.	Sig.	Min. E.F.	Cells with E.F. < 5	Kisein
		Respons	sibility area: Re	sponsibilities	s to stud	lent athle	tes		
	Duty	: Provide a cou	nseling program	for athletes w	ho aspir	e to beco	me profession	als	
. Perform?				15.361	4	.0040	. 433	3 of 9 (33.3%)	2
Yes	26 (55%)	9 (33%)	2 (10%)						
No	21 (45%)	18 (67%)	19 (90%)						
3. How?				24.875	6	.0004	.216	4 of 12 (33.3%)	45
Individual	1 (3%)	0 (0%)	0 (0%)						
Cooperation	13 (35%)	6 (50%)	2 (671)						
Delegate	23 (62%)	6 (50%)	1 (33%)						
). Importance?				17.568	8	.0247	.070	12 of 15 (80.0%)	54
None	0 (01)	0 (0%)	1 (33%)						
Little	3 (10%)	0 (0%)	0 (0%)						
Average	10 (33%)	6 (60%)	1 (33%)						
Great	10 (33%)	2 (20%)	0 (0%)						
Extreme	7 (23%)	2 (20%)	1 (33%)						
2. Difficulty?				22.000	8	.0049	.136	12 of 15 (80.0%)	53
Very easy	0 (0%)	1 (10%)	2 (67%)						
Easy	7 (23%)	1 (10%)	1 (33%)						
Average	19 (614)	7 (70%)	0 (0%)						
Hard	3 (10%)	1 (10%)	0 (01)						
Very hard	2 (61)	0 (0%)	0 (0%)						

95%) assumed the duty of interpreting phases of the athletics program to faculty, students, community, and alumni (see Appendix A, Table 7.1). Most of these ADs also completed the task cooperatively (Division I = 68%, Division II = 60%, and Division III = 53%) or independently (Division I = 32%, Division II = 32%, and Division III = 47%). The frequency of performance was distributed among the categories, with Divisions I and II very similar in responses. The two groups performed the duty most on an occasional (Division I = 24% and Division II = 29%); monthly (Division I = 28% and Division II = 21%); or weekly (Division I = 28% and Division II = 29%) basis. Although this item was not significant, Division III ADs seemed to favor the occasional (53%), daily (16%), and annual (16%) categories. The importance item was also not significant, as nearly all ADs thought the job was of extreme (Division I = 48%, Division II = 17%, and Division III = 37%); great (Division I = 39%, Division II = 50%, and Division III = 32%); or average (Division I = 11%, Division II = 33%, and Division III = 32%) importance. The difficulty factor was considered average or hard by most ADs.

Address alumni and other groups. Ninety-eight percent of Division I, 96% of Division II, and 86% of Division III ADs all made special addresses to alumni or other groups (see Table 50). However, 94% of Division III ADs performed the task independently, whereas Division I and Division II

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

Table 50

Responses to Item 7.2 (Part B) of the Questionnaire by NCAA Divisional Level

	Division I	Division II	Division III	Chi-equare	D.F.	sig.	Min. E.F.	Cells with E.F. < 5	Missing
		Re	sponsibility are	a: Public rela	tions/Pr	omotiona			
		Duty:	Make special ac	dresses to alu	mni or o	ther group)a		
				15.327	mnioro	ther group	.649	6 of 12 (50.0%)	7
B. How? Individual Ccoperation	27 (57%) 19 (40%)	Duty: 14 (54%) 11 (42%)	Make special ac 16 (94%) 0 (0%)					6 of 12 (50.0%)	7

٠

.

ADs performed this function independently at 57% and 54%. respectively (significance = .0179). The Scheffe Procedure indicated a difference between Division I and Division III and between Division II and Division III. The frequency item was not significant, but close at .0673, as Division III respondents (82%) indicated the task was done occasionally. Division I and Division II ADs checked "occasionally" at 34% and 56%, monthly at 30% and 24%, and weekly at 26% and 20%, respectively. Division I ADs considered the task to be of great (45%), extreme (36%), or average (17%) importance, while Division II ADs marked average (48%), great (40%), or extreme (12%), and Division III ADs checked extreme (35%), great (35%), or average The consensus among all ADs was that the duty was (29%). average in difficulty (Division I = 57%, Division II = 88%, and Division III = 47%).

Arrange preferential seating for ardent supporters. Four of the five items were significant concerning the duty of arranging preferential seating for ardent supporters of the athletics program (see Table 51). Fifty-five percent of Division I and 52% of Division II ADs performed the duty, but only 14% of Division III ADs did so (significance = .0131). The Scheffe Procedure identified a difference between Division I and Division III and between Division II and Division III. This task was done cooperatively by 80% of Division II and 67% of Division III ADs, whereas Division Table 51

Responses to Item 7.3 (Farts A, B, D, and E) of the Questionnaire by NCAA Divisional Level

	Division I	Division II	Division III	chi-square	D.F.	sig.	Hin. E.F.	Cells with E.F. < 5	Missing
		Rei	Responsibility area: Public relations/Promotions	a: Public relat	ions/Pro	motions			
	Duty	/: Arrange prefe	Duty: Arrange preferential seating for ardent supporters of the athletics program	for ardent sup.	porters (of the at!	nletics progr	ura:	
A. Perform? Yes Na	26 (55%) 21 (45%) 21 (45%)	14 (52 1) 13 (48 1)	3 (14%) 18 (86%)	12.667	47	0130.	.433	3 of 9 (33.34)	7
 B. How? Individual Cooperation Delegate 	3 (88) 15 (42N) 18 (50N)	1 (7%) 12 (80%) 2 (13%)	(%5) 1 (%5) 1 (%7) 2 (%0) 0	29.443	ŵ	1000.	1.082	4 of 12 (33.34)	M W
D. Importance? None Little Average Great Extreme	0 (04) 0 (04) 3 (104) 16 (554) 10 (344)	0 (01) 0 (01) 5 (361) 7 (501) 2 (141)	0 (0%) 1 (50%) 1 (50%) 0 (0%) 0 (0%)	28.601	ω	1000.	.044	8 of 12 (66.7%)	52
E. Difficulty? Very easy Easy Aversge Hard Very hard	0 (0%) 2 (7%) 14 (48%) 7 (24%) 6 (21%)	2 (141) 0 (01) 10 (711) 2 (141) 0 (01)	0 (0%) 2 (100%) 0 (0%) 0 (0%) 0 (0%)	26.732	æ	.0002	680.	12 of 15 {80.0 1 }	52

I ADs worked at the task cooperatively (42%), or delegated it (50%). Significance for this item was .0001, but the Scheffe Procedure did not identify a difference between groups. This duty was usually performed on an annual or occasional basis by ADs of all groups. Fifty-five percent of Division I and 50% of Division II ADs rated the task of great importance, whereas the two respondents in Division III were split into the little (50%) and average (50%) categories (significance = .0001). In Division I, 34% also checked extreme, while 36% in Division II checked average. According to the Scheffe Procedure, differences occurred between Division I and Division III and between Division II and Division III. The two responses by Division III ADs (100%) fell into the easy category for difficulty, while 48% of Division I and 71% of Division II ADs thought the difficulty was average (significance = .0002). In Division I, 24% also marked hard, and 21% marked very hard. The Scheffe Procedure did not produce any difference between groups for this item.

<u>Cooperate with boosters and support groups</u>. All items except that of difficulty were significant for the three divisional groups concerning the duty of cooperating with boosters and athletics benefit groups (see Table 52). In Divisions I and II, 98% and 96% of the ADs performed the duty, while in Division III 57% did so (significance = .0000). The Scheffe Procedure identified a difference

between Division I and Division III and between Division II and Division III. Most ADs (Division I = 64%, Division II = 65%, and Division III = 50%) performed the duty cooperatively, although 33% in Division I, 27% in Division II, and 50% in Division III did the job independently (significance = .0001, but the Scheffe Procedure did not indicate a difference between groups). Concerning frequency, Division I ADs worked at the task monthly (25%), weekly (25%), daily (20%), occasionally (18%), or annually (11%). Division II ADs did this occasionally (33%), monthly (29%), weekly (29%), or daily (8%). Division III ADs worked at this job on either an occasional (89%) or monthly (11%) basis (significance = .0045). The Scheffe Procedure identified a difference between Division I and Division III. The importance of the duty was considered extreme (48%), great (27%), or average (23%) by Division I ADs; average (46%), great (29%), or extreme (25%) by Division II ADs; and great (44%), average (22%), little (22%), or extreme (11%) by Division III ADs (significance = .0104). The Scheffe Procedure did not identify a difference between divisions. Difficulty was generally considered average by all groups.

Visit schools for speaking engagements. Nearly all ADs (Division I = 96%, Division II = 100%, and Division III = 86%) visited schools for speaking engagements when requested and did so either independently (Division I = 68%, Division II = 65%, and Division III = 100%) or cooperatively

Responses to Item 7.4 (Partn C and D) of the Questionnaire by NCAA Divisional Level

Table 52

	Division I	Division II	Division III	Chi-square	0.7.	51g.	Min. E.F.	Cells with Z.F. < 5	Hiseing
		Rei	Responsibility area: Public relations/Promotions	: Public relat	: tons/Pro	motions			
		Duty: C	Duty: Cooperate with boosters and athletics benefit groups	sters and ath	letics be	nefit gro	មជភ		
C. Frequency?				22.206	8	.0045	,584	8 of 15 (53.3%)	20
Annually		(10)0	(10)0						
Occasionally		8 (33%)	8 (891)						
Honthly		7 (291)	1 (111)						
Weekly		7 (29%)	(10)0						
Daily	9 (201)	2 (81)	(10)0						
D. Importance?				16.702	vo	.0104	.351	6 of 12 (50.0%)	20
None	(10) 0	(10) 0	0 (0%)						
Little	1 (24)	(10)0	2 (22%)						
Average	10 (23%)	11 (464)	2 (224)						
Great	12 (27%)	7 (29%)	4 (44%)						
Extreme	21 (48%)	6 (25%)	1 (111)						

.

(Division I = 30% and Division II = 31%). Table 53 also shows that this duty was completed on an occasional basis (Division I = 55%, Division II = 76%, and Division III = 94%). In Division I, ADs thought the task was of average (48%), extreme (30%), or great (22%) importance, while Division II ADs checked average (68%), great (20%), or extreme (12%); and Division III ADs marked great (35%), extreme (29%), average (18%), or little (18%). This item of importance was the only one of significance (.0025) for this duty, although the Scheffe Procedure failed to identify a difference between groups. The difficulty was perceived as average by most ADs.

Serve as consultant to various groups and organizations. No items produced significant differences among the NCAA divisional levels for the duty of serving as a consultant to programs of youth organizations and commercial, civic, and industrial groups (see Appendix A, Table 7.6). Most ADs performed this duty (Division I = 72%, Division II = 56%, and Division III = 62%) and did so independently (Division I = 69%, Division II = 53%, and Division III = 75%) and occasionally (Division I = 53%, Division II = 79%, and Division III = 75%). This duty was considered to be of average importance (Division I = 47%, Division II = 64%, and Division III = 58%) and average difficulty (Division I = 61%, Division II = 79%, and Division III = 58%).

	Division I	Division II	Division III	Chi-square	D.F.	51g.	Min. E.P.	Cells with E.F. < 5 Missing	Missing
		Re	Responsibility area: Public relations/Promotions	r Public rela	tions/Pro	omotione			1
		Duty: V	Duty: Visit schools for speaking engagements when requested	speaking engag	lements 🖌	hen reque	sted		
e2				20.215	ф	.0025	. 622	5 of 12 (41.7%)	15
	(10)0	-	(10) 0						
	(10)0	0 (01)	3 (18%)						
	19 (484)	-	3 (184)						
Great	9 (22%)	5 (20%)	6 (35%)						
	12 (30%)	3 (124)	5 (292)						

Responses to Item 7.5 (Fart D) of the Questionnaire by NCAA Divisional Level

Table 53

Plan marketing campaigns. Seventy-seven percent of Division I and 63% of Division II ADs in the study planned marketing campaigns, while 33% performed this duty in Division III (significance = .0081). The Scheffe Procedure identified a difference between Division I and Division III. Table 54 shows that 60% of Division I, 63% of Division II, and 71% of Division III ADs executed this function cooperatively. A number of ADs in Division I (35%) and Division II (37%) also delegated the task, while Division III ADs (29%) were more likely to complete the job independently (significance = .0002). Differences were identified between Division I and Division III and between Division II and Division III (Scheffe Procedure). The performance of the duty was usually done on an annual, occasional, or monthly schedule by all groups. Division I ADs considered the job to be of extreme (44%), great (44%), or average (12%) importance. Division II ADs thought the importance was great (38%), extreme (31%), or average (31%), and Division III ADs perceived the importance to be average (57%) or great (43%). The difficulty factor was scored as average or hard by the majority of respondents.

Arrange media coverage. Most Division III (62%) ADs assumed the task of arranging media coverage for athletics events, while the majority in Division I (51%) and Division II (56%) did not (see Table 55). These differences were not significant, however. ADs in all divisions delegated this

Responses to item 7.7 (Parts A, B, and D) of the Questionnairs by NCAA Divisional Level

Table 54

		Division I	Division II	Division III	Chi-square	D.F.	s1g.	MIn. E.F.	Calle with E.F. < 5	Miseing
			Rei	Responsibility area: Public relations/Fromotions	uplic relat	tons/Pro	motions			
				Duty: Plat	Duty: Plan merketing campaigne	angi aqu				
Å	Perform?				13.769	4	.0081	613.	3 of 9 (33,3%)	2
	Yee	36 (771)	17 (63%)	7 (334)						
	No	(162) 11	10 (JTE)	14 (671)						
ų	How?				26.773	Q	.0002	.865	4 of 12 (33.3%)	28
	Individual	2 (51)	0 (04)	2 (291)						
	Cooperation	26 (60%)	12 (63%)	5 (71V)						
	Delegate	IS (35%)	7 (37%)	(10) 0						
ц.	Importance?				9.269	4	.0547	1.581	4 of 9 (44.4%)	35
	None	0 (01)	0 (03)	(10)0						
	Little	(10) 0	(10) 0	(10) 0						
	Average	5 (12%)	5 (JIN)	4 (57 k)						
	Great	17 (44%)	6 (38%)	3 (434)						
	Extreme	17 (44%)	5 (JIN)	(10) 0						

Table	55	

Responses to Item 7.8 (Part B) of the Questionnaire by NCAA Divisional Level

Division I Division II Division III Chi-square D.F. Sig. Min. E.F. Cells with B.F. < 5 Missing

Responsibility area: Public relations/Promotions

Duty:	Arrange	media	coverage	for	athletics	contesta
-------	---------	-------	----------	-----	-----------	----------

B. How?				12.152	6	.0507	.649	5 of 12 (41.7%)	24
Individual	1 (2%)	0 (0%)	2 (15%)						
Cooperation	5 (12%)	4 (22%)	3 (23%)						
Delegate	36 (86%)	14 (78%)	8 (62%)						

ļ

duty (Division I = 86%, Division II = 78%, and Division III = 62%), although Division II ADs also performed the task cooperatively (22%), and Division III ADs did the work cooperatively (23%) and independently (15%). This item was very close to significance (.0587). The duty was usually performed on a weekly or daily basis, was of great or extreme importance, and was average or hard in difficulty. No items for this duty were significant.

Prepare press, radio, and television releases. The majority of ADs in all divisions (Division I = 66%, Division II = 59%, and Division III = 52%) responded no when asked if they performed the duty of preparing press, radio, or television releases (see Table 56). The duty was usually delegated (Division I = 94%, Division II = 94%, and Division III = 78%) and was performed either weekly (Division I = 28%, Division II = 58%, and Division III = 44%) or daily (Division I = 56%, Division II = 25%, and Division III = Division I ADs thought the duty of more importance 22%). (54% extreme, 27% great, and 19% average) than did ADs of Division II (50% great, 42% average, and 8% extreme), and Division III (67% great, 22% extreme, and 11% average). This item was significant (.0294), with the Scheffe Procedure indicating a difference between Division I and Division II. Sixty-four percent of Division I, 58% of Division II, and 67% of Division III ADs considered the difficulty average.

Responses to Item 7.9 (Part D) of the Questionnaire by NGAA Divisional Level

Table 56

.

	Division I	Division II	Division III	Chi-square D.F.	D.F.	stg.	Min. E.F.	Cella with Z.P. < 5 Mimeing	Mieeing
		Rei	Responsibility area: Public relations/Promotions	: Public relat	:ione/Prc	motions			
		Dut	Duty: Frepare press, radio, or television releases	radio, or te.	levision	releases			
D. Importance?				10.763	4	.0294	2,106	6 of 9 (66.7%)	20
None	(10) 0	(%0)0	(10) 0						
Little	(10) 0	(10) 0	(10) 0						
Average	5 (19%)	5 (42%)	1 (11%)						
Great	7 (274)	6 (50A)	6 (67%)						
Extreme	14 (544)	1 (81)	2 (224)						

Area 8: Facility/Contest Management

Coordinate people and services for games, operations, and cleanup. The duty to coordinate all activities and personnel involved in game preparation, operation, and cleanup was performed by progressively more ADs as results were reported from Division I (53%), Division II (74%), and Division III (95%) ADs (significance = .0059). The Scheffe Procedure confirmed a difference between Division I and Division III. Table 57 shows that 79% of Division I ADs delegated the job, while 45% of Division II and 42% of Division III ADs delegated it (significance = .0446). Fifty percent of Division II and 58% of Division III ADs performed this task cooperatively. The Scheffe Procedure indicated a difference between Division I and Division II. Most ADs in all divisions (Division I = 56%, Division II = 55%, and Division III = 56%) worked at this duty weekly. The task was considered to be of extreme (Division I = 52%, Division II = 40%, and Division III = 37%) or great (Division I = 21%, Division II = 45%, and Division III = 53%) importance by the majority of ADs. The difficulty factor was marked average by more than one-half (Division I = 53%, Division II = 50%, and Division III = 63%) of all respondents.

Oversee physical plant employees for athletics facilities. Seventy-one percent of Division III ADs supervised the work of physical plant employees in athletics facilities, while only 26% of Division I and 33% of Division

	Division I	Division II	Division III	Chi-square	D. F .	Sig.	Nin. E.F.	Cella with B.F. < 5	Missing
		Re	sponsibility are	a: Facility/Co	ntest mai	nagement			
<u> </u>	Duty: Coordi	nate all activi	ties and personn	el involved in	game pro	eparation,	, operation,	and cleanup	
A. Perform? Yes	Duty: Coordi	nate all activi	ties and personn	el involved in	game pro	eparation,	, operation,	and cleanup 3 of 9 (33.3%)	2

 Table 57

 Responses to Item 6.1 (Part A) of the Questionnaire by NCAA Divisional Level

II ADs performed this duty (significance = .0038). The Scheffe Procedure identified a difference between Division I and Division III and between Division II and Division III. Also significant (.0002) was the manner in which the work was completed (see Table 58), although the between-groups analysis (Scheffe Procedure) did not identify a difference. Ninety-one percent of Division I ADs delegated this task. In Division II, 62% delegated, and 31% performed the work cooperatively. Division III ADs did the job cooperatively (53%), independently (20%), or delegated it (27%). This task was usually completed on a daily or weekly schedule, was of average, great, or extreme importance, and was of average difficulty.

Arrange security for athletics contests. Less than one-half (47%) of Division I ADs arranged security for athletics contests, a duty which most Division II (74%) and Division III (76%) ADs were required to perform (significance = .0411). The Scheffe Procedure was unable to identify a difference between groups. The duty was delegated by 83% of Division I ADs, but by only 41% of those in Division II and 27% of those in Division III (see Table 59). The greatest number of respondents from the Division II level performed the duty cooperatively (45%). Division III ADs also fulfilled this obligation independently (40%) and cooperatively (33%). The significance for this item was .0004, with the Scheffe Procedure identifying a difference

	Division I	Division I Division II	Division III	Chi-square	p.F.	sig.	Hin. E.F.	Cells with E.F. < 5 Missing	Kissing
		Ref	Responsibility area: Facility/Contest management	1: Facility/Con	ltest man	agement			
	-	Duty: Oversee th	Oversee the work of physical plant employees in athletics facilities	al plant emplo	ni aayo	athletice	facilities		
A. Perform?				15.478	-	8000.	.433	(ME.EE) 6 }o E	6
Yeb No	12 (26%) 35 (74%)	9 (33%) 18 (67%)	15 (71%) 6 (29%)						
B. How?				26.125	¢	.0002	1.082	5 of 12 (41.7V)	36
Individual Cooperation Delegate	1 (31) 2 (61) 30 (911)	1 (7%) 4 (31%) 8 (62%)	3 (20%) 8 (53%) 4 (27%)						1

Responses to Item 8.2 (Farts A and B) of the Questionnairs by NCAA Divisional Level

Table 58

.

IGOIC 22	Ta	ble	59
----------	----	-----	----

Responses to Item 8.3 (Parts A and B) of the Questionnairs by NCRA Divisional Level

	Division I	Division II	Division III	Chi-square	D.F.	Sig.	Min. E.F.	Cells with E.F. < 5	Hissing
	- · · · · · · · ·	Re	aponsibility are	ea: Facility/Co	ntest ma	nagement			
		I	Duty: Arrange se	curity for ath	letics co	ontests			
. Perform?				9,960	4	.0411	.433	3 of 9 (33.3%)	2
Yea	22 (47%)	20 (74%)	16 (76N)						
No	25 (53%)	7 (26%)	5 (24%)						
. How?				24.679	6	.0004	2.814	4 of 12 (33.3%)	19
Individual	4 (10%)	3 (14%)	6 (40%)						
Cooperation	3 (7%)	10 (45%)	5 (33%)						
Delegate	34 (83%)	9 (411)	4 (27%)						

.

between Division I and Division II and between Division I and Division III. The frequency categories receiving the majority of responses from all groups were weekly and occasionally. The importance was thought to be extreme, great, or average overall by the ADs, who also considered the task to be of average difficulty.

Arrange payment for officials and issue guarantees to visiting teams. The majority of NCAA Division II (89%) and Division III (86%) ADs assumed the tasks of paying officials and/or presenting guarantee checks to visiting teams, whereas fewer Division I (47%) ADs performed this duty (significance = .0005). The Scheffe Procedure confirmed a difference between Division I and Division II and between Division I and Division III. Ninety-three percent of Division I ADs delegated this job, but only 31% in Division II and 35% in Division III did so (see Table 60). Division II ADs completed the work cooperatively (42%) and independently (27%) as well, as did Division III ADs (35% independently and 30% cooperatively). This item was also significant (.0000), and the Scheffe Procedure indicated a difference between Division I and Division II and also between Division I and Division III. This duty was performed most often on a weekly basis and was rated as being of average importance and average difficulty by the greatest number of respondents.

	Division I	Division II	Division III	Chi-square	D. f .	Sig.	Min. E.F.	Colls with B.F. < 5	Missing
		Re	sponsibility are	a: Facility/Co	ntest ma	inagement			
		Duty: Pay of	ficials and/or p	resent guaranti	e check	s to visit	ing teams		
. Perform?				19.942	4	.0005	.433	3 of 9 (33.3%)	2
Yes	22 (47%)	24 (89%)	18 (86%)						
No	25 (53%)	3 (11%)	3 (14%)						
. How?				37.657	6	.0000	2.598	5 of 12 (50.0%)	12
Individual	2 (5%)	7 (27%)	6 (35%)						
Cooperation	1 (2%)	11 (42%)	5 (30%)						
Delegate	39 (93%)	8 (314)	6 (35%)						

Responses to Item 8.4 (Parts A and B) of the Questionnaire by NCAA Divisional Level

Table 60

Arrange complimentary tickets and/or pass lists for The obligation to arrange for complimentary contests. tickets and/or pass lists for athletics events was personally fulfilled by 53% of Division I, 81% of Division II, and 71% of Division III ADs (see Table 61). This item was nearly significant (.0744). Seventy-three percent of Division I ADs delegated this job, whereas 44% in Division II and 21% in Division III delegated it. Forty-eight percent of Division II ADs performed the task cooperatively, as did 43% of those in Division III. In Division III, 36% performed the duty independently (significance = .0005). The Scheffe Procedure identified a difference between Division I and Division III. This task was performed most often weekly or occasionally, although all categories received a number of responses. The consensus among groups was that the importance of the duty was average and the difficulty was also average.

Prioritize and schedule athletics facilities usage. Table 62 shows that while 90% of Division III ADs prioritized and scheduled athletics facilities usage, only 49% in Division I and 78% in Division II performed this duty (significance = .0039). The Scheffe Procedure identified a difference between Division I and Division II and between Division I and Division III. Seventy percent of Division I ADs delegated this job, as 25% performed it cooperatively, and 5% performed it independently. In Division II, 44% of

	Division I	Division II	Division III	Chi-square	D.F.	Sig.	Min. E.F.	Cells with E.F. < 5	Missing
		Re	esponsibility are	a: Facility/Co	ntest ma	nagement			
	Di	ity: Arrange for	complimentary t	cickets and/or	pass lis	ts for atl	nletics event	8	
·									
B. How?			· • • • •	23.998	6	.0005	2.381	4 of 12 (33.3%)	14
Individual	4 (91)	2 (8%)	5 (36%)	23.998	6	.0005	2.381	4 of 12 (33.3%)	14
B. How? Individual Cooperation Delegate	4 (9%) 8 (18%) 32 (73%)	2 (8%) 12 (48%)	5 (36%) 6 (43%) 3 (21%)	23.998	6	.0005	2.381	4 of 12 (33.3%)	14

Responses to Item 8.5 (Part B) of the Questionnaire by NCAA Divisional Level

Table 61

Table 62 Responses to Item 8.6 (Parts A and B) of the Questionnaire by MCAA Divisional Level

	Division I	Division II	Division III	chi-equare	0.7.	sig.	Min. 8.P.	Cells with 2.P. < 5 Missing	Missing
		Rei	Responsibility area: Facility/Contest management	u Facility/Co	ntest man	ıAgement			
		Duty: 1	Duty: Prioritize and schedule athletics facilities usage	chedule athlet.	ics facil	lities usa	Ð		
A. Perform? Yee No	23 (494) 24 (514)	21 (78%) 6 (22%)	19 (90%) 2 (10%)	15.449	4	. 0039	. 433	(NE'EE) 6 30 E	7
B. How? Individual Cooperation	2 (54) 10 (254)	6 {24%} 11 {44%}	6 (31%) 6 (31%)	15.836	υ	.0147	2,814	4 of 12 (33.34).	13
Delegate	28 (70%)	B (32%)	7 (374)						

the ADs completed the task cooperatively; 32% delegated it; and 24% did it independently. Thirty-seven percent of Division III ADs delegated this task; 31% performed it cooperatively; and 31% completed it independently (significance = .0147, but the Scheffe Procedure did not indicate a difference between groups). The duty was usually completed weekly (Division I = 40%, Division II = 27%, and Division III = 42%) or daily (Division I = 27%, Division II = 41%, and Division III = 47%) and was considered to be of average (Division I = 31%, Division II = 50%, and Division III = 21%); great (Division I = 28%, Division II = 23%, and Division III = 42%); or extreme (Division I = 34%, Division II = 27%, and Division III = 37%) importance. Forty-eight percent of Division I, 73% of Division II, and 58% of Division III ADs thought the duty was of average difficulty.

Inspect regularly for safety hazards and sanitary conditions. ADs in all divisions performed the job of inspecting facilities, equipment, and supplies for safety hazards and sanitary conditions, although more Division II (78%) and Division III (100%) ADs directly handled the task than did those in Division I (55%). This item was the only one of significance (.0019) for this duty (see Table 63). The Scheffe Procedure indicated a difference between Division I and Division III. The fulfillment of the duty was accomplished independently (Division I = 10%, Division II = 21%, and Division III = 16%); cooperatively (Division I = 31%, Division II = 50%, and Division III = 58%); or by delegating it (Division I = 59%, Division II = 29%, and Division III = 26%). The task was performed frequently, as daily, weekly, and monthly received the greatest number of responses. The inspection of facilities and equipment was considered to be of extreme (Division I = 58%, Division II = 23%, and Division III = 47%); great (Division I = 16%, Division II = 32%, and Division III = 21%); or average (Division I = 23%, Division II = 45%, and Division III = 32%) importance. The duty was scored average in difficulty by most ADs (Division I = 62%, Division II = 82%, and Division III = 42%).

Area 9: Personal/Professional Growth

Serve on institutional committees outside athletics department. Of the seven duties in the responsibility area of personal/professional growth, only one frequency item (in duty 5) produced a significant difference among groups (see Appendix A, Tables 9.1-9.7). For item B (how duty was performed), there were virtually no responses to the delegated category for each duty due to the nature of the responsibility area.

Eighty-seven percent of Division I, 93% of Division II, and 95% of Division III ADs served on institutional committees outside of the athletics department. Most performed the duty independently and on a monthly or weekly

	Division I	Division II	Division III	Chi-square	D.F.	Sig.	Min. E.F.	Cells with E.F. < 5	Hissi
		Re	sponsibility are	a: Facility/Co	ntest man	nagement			
	Duty: Ins	pect facilities	, equipment, and	supplies for	safety h	azards an) sanitary co	nditions	
	Duty: Ins	pect facilities	, equipment, and	supplies for	safety h	szards an) eanitary co	nditions	
. Perform?	Duty: Ins	pect facilities	, equipment, and	supplies for	safety h	ezerds and	eanitary co	aditions	
. Perform? Yes	Duty: Ins	21 (78%)	, equipment, and 						

Table 63 Responses to Item 8.7 (Part A) of the Questionnaire by NCAA Divisional Level schedule. The duty was rated average or great in importance and average in difficulty by most ADs.

<u>Conduct independent research</u>. Only 35% of Division I, 33% of Division II, and 19% of Division III ADs conducted independent research. Those who conducted research did so independently and occasionally. The activity was thought to be of average importance and average difficulty by most ADs.

Represent institutions at meetings. One hundred percent of ADs from all three NCAA divisional levels fulfilled the duty of representing the institution at NCAA and conference meetings. The job was usually done independently, with a frequency of occasionally or annually. Most ADs considered the importance item for this duty extreme or great and the difficulty item average.

Serve on national and/or conference level committees. The majority of all ADs (Division I = 87%, Division II = 77%, and Division III = 76%) served on professional committees at the national and/or conference level. The duty was usually performed independently and occasionally. It was rated average, great, or extreme in importance and average in difficulty.

Write or edit materials for publication. Few ADs (Division I = 36%, Division II = 23%, and Division III = 24%) either wrote or edited materials for professional publications. Those who did, however, did so independently. A significant difference (.0179) appeared in the frequency item, as 69% of Division I and 75% of Division III ADs performed this activity occasionally, while 75% of Division II ADs worked at this annually. However, the Scheffe Procedure failed to identify a difference between groups. The highest percentage of Division I, Division II, and Division III ADs rated the duty average in importance, although all categories, except none, received scores. The difficulty was considered average or easy.

Take graduate courses for professional development. Thirteen percent of Division I, 15% of Division II, and 29% of Division III ADs reported taking graduate courses for professional development. The ADs who pursued further education did it independently and either occasionally or annually. This duty was considered average or great in importance and average or hard in difficulty.

Develop computer skills. Although there was no significant difference (.1953) among the groups, only 35% of Division I and 41% of Division II ADs indicated developing computer skills, while 57% of Division III ADs developed such skills. Most ADs worked at improving the skills occasionally. The importance and difficulty of the item were thought to be average by the largest number of ADs in each group.

Administrative Time Spent on Areas of Responsibility Significant differences were found in administrative time spent performing duties to fulfill responsibilities in four

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

of the nine areas. These differences were present in the following areas: (1) generation of revenues, (2) compliance, (3) public relations/promotions, and (4) facility/contest management.

Financial operations. In the area of financial operations, most Division I ADs indicated spending between 15% of 25% of the administrative time in this area, while Division II ADs usually spent from 10% to 30% and Division III ADs from 10% to 20%. Divisions I and II averaged 27%, while Division III averaged 18%. The ANOVA produced a probability of .0332 (see Table 64), but the Scheffe Procedure indicated no two groups were significantly different at the .05 level.

Revenue operations. Tables 65 and 66 show that Division I ADs spent significantly more administrative time in the area of revenue generation than either Division II or Division III ADs. Division II ADs also spent more time in this area than did Division III ADs. The probability for these differences among groups was .0000, and the Scheffe Procedure confirmed the differences occurred between Division I and Division II, between Division I and Division III, and between Division II and Division III. Sixty-six percent of Division I ADs indicated spending between 15% and 25% of their time in this area, whereas 62% of Division III ADs spent only 5% of the time on revenue generation.

Percent of Time	No. of Responses	0 ·	5	10	15	20	25	30	35	40	45	50
Division I	45	0 (0%)	1 (2%)	4 (9%)	6 (138)	11 (24%)	8 (18%)	2 (4%)	2 (4%)	5 (11%)	0 (0%)	6 (13%)
Division II	25	0 (0%)	0 (0%)	3 (12%)	3 (12%)	5 (20%)	4 (16%)	J (12%)	2 (8%)	1 (4%)	1 (4%)	3 (12%)
Division III	21	0 (0%)	0 (0%)	8 (38%)	5 (24%)	4 (19%)	1 (5%)	0 (0%)	1 (5%)	1 (5%)	0 (0%)	1 (5%)
				Anz	alysis of a	variance						
Source	D.F.		Sum o	of squares		Неал в	quares		F ratio		Fpr	obability
Between groups	2		1,	080.8718		540.	4359		3.5410			.0332
Within groups	88		13,	430.6667		152.	6212					
Total	90		14	511.5385								

Table 64 Administrative Time Spent on Financial Operations by NCAA Divisional Classification

.

Percent of Time	No. of Responses	o	5	10	15	20	25	30	35	40	45	50
Division I	40	0 (0%)	1 (34)	4 (101)	7 (18%)	10 (25%)	9 (23%)	4 (10%)	0 (0%)	2 (5%)	0 (0%)	3 (81)
Division II	21	0 (0%)	3 (14%)	7 (33%)	2 (10%)	3 (14%)	4 (19%)	1 (5%)	1 (5%)	0 (0%)	0 (0%)	0 {0\;
Division III	21	2 (10%)	13 (62%)	5 (24%)	1 (5%)	0 (0%)	0 (0%)	0 (0%)	0 (01)	0 (0%)	0 (0%)	0 (QN)
					Analysis	of variance						
Source		D.F.	Si	n of squar	res	Kear	aquares		F ratio		F pro	babilit
Between groups		2		3,968.1360	5	1,9	84.0683		24.7818			0000
Within groups		79		6,324.851;	2		80.0614					
Total		81	1	10,292.9878	A							

Table 65 Administrative Time Spent on Generation of Revenues by NCAA Divisional Classification

Fifty-seven percent of Division II ADs spent between 5% and 15% of their time in this area.

Table 66

Results	of	the	Schei	fe	Procedur	e E	Between	NCAA	Divisions
I,	II,	and	I III	Coi	ncerning	Adr	ainistra	ative	Time
-		Spe	ent or	ı Ge	eneration	n of	f Reveni	les	

Divisions	III	II	I
Mean	6.1905	16.1905	23.1250
III			
II	*		
I	*	*	

*Denotes pairs of groups significantly different at the .05 level.

Operational policies. The greatest number of ADs in each division allowed approximately 10% of their total administrative time for operational policies (Division I = 42%, Division II = 40%, and Division III = 35%). In Division I, 21% also indicated spending 5% of their time in this area, and in Division III 35% indicated spending 15% of the time in this area (see Appendix A, Table 12, for statistical values.)

<u>Personnel</u>. There were no significant differences among groups in time used for personnel (see Appendix A,

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

Table 13). Most Division I responses fell into the 5% time category (23%), 10% time category (30%), or 15% time category (20%). Fifty percent of Division II ADs spent 10% of their time in this responsibility area, with another 27% spending 15% of the time here. In Division III, 43% of the ADs indicated allowing 15% of their time for personnel.

<u>Compliance</u>. Tables 67 and 68 show that Division I and Division II ADs spent significantly more time in the area of compliance than Division III ADs. The probability for these differences between divisional groups was .0054. In Division III, 71% of the ADs spent only 5% of their total administrative time in the area of compliance. Forty-six percent of Division I ADs spent 10% of their time in this area, with 27% checking the 5% category and 12% checking the 15% category. Thirty-eight percent of Division II ADs spent 10% of the time on compliance, with 19% each marking the categories of 5%, 15%, and 20%.

Responsibilities to student athletes. Sixty percent of Division I ADs reported spending 5% of their time in the responsibilities to student athletes area, with another 26% spending 10% of the time doing this work. In Division II, 42% of the ADs marked the 10% category, 31% marked the 5% category, and 19% marked the 15% category. In Division III, 33% of the ADs checked the 5% category, 29% checked the 10% category, and 33% checked the 15% category. These figures

Percent of time	No. of responses	o	S	10	15	20	25	30	35	40	45	50
Division I	41	0 (0%)	11 (27%)	19 (46%)	5 (12)	4 (10%)	1 (2%)	0 (0%)	0 (0%)	0 (0%)	0 (0%)	1 (2%)
Division II	26	0 (0%)	5 (19%)	10 (38%)	5 (19%)	5 (19%)	0 (0%)	0 (0%)	0 (0%)	0 (0%)	0 (0%)	1 (4%)
Division III	21	0 (0%)	15 (71%)	6 (29%)	0 (0%)	0 (0%)	0 (0%)	0 (0%)	0 (0%)	0 (0%)	0 (0%)	0 (0%)
				A	nalysis of	variance						
Source		D.F.	Su	m of squares	3	Mean s	quares		F ratio		Fpro	obability
Between groups		2		609.7171		304.	. 8586		5.5517			.0054
Within groups		85		4,667.5556		54.	.9124					
Total		87		5,277.2727								

Table 67

Administrative Time Spent on Compliance by NCAA Divisional Classification

.

produced no significant difference among groups (see

Appendix A, Table 15 for scores and statistical values).

· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		
III	I	II
6.4286	11.5854	13.4615
*		
*		
	6. 4286 *	6.4286 11.5854 *

Table 68

Results of the Scheffe Procedure Between NCAA Divisions

I, II, and III Concerning Administrative Time Spent on Compliance

*Denotes pairs of groups significantly different at the .05 level.

Public relations/Promotions. A significant difference was present between Division I and Division III (see Table 69) in the area of public relations/promotions. While 67% of ADs in Division I spent between 5% and 10% of their time in this area, 13% also spent 25% or more time in public relations/promotions. Seventy percent of Division III ADs spent 5% of the time in this area, with no responses above 15%. Most Division II ADs (81%) spent between 10% and 15% of their time in this area of responsibility. The probability for the difference between groups was .0096 (see Table 70). A significant difference was noted between Divisions I and III.

Table 69

Results of the Scheffe Procedure Between NCAA Divisions I, II, and III Concerning Administrative Time Spent on Public Relations/Promotions

Divisions	III	II	I
Mean	6.5000	11.1538	13.1395
III			
II			
I	*		

*Denotes pairs of groups significantly different at the .05 level.

Facility/Contest management. Tables 71 and 72 reveal that Division III ADs spent more time in the facility/ contest management area than did ADs in Division I. Fortythree percent of the ADs in Division III indicated spending 5% of the time in this area, but 14% checked the categories of 10% and 15%, respectively, and 24% checked the 20% category. Eighty-one percent of Division I ADs responded to the 5% category. In Division II, 38% marked the 5% category, 33% marked the 10% category, and 25% marked the 15% category. The probability for the difference between

Table 7

Administrative Time Spent on Public Relations/Promotions by NCAA Divisional Classification

Percent of time	No. of responses	o	5	10	15	20	25	30	35	40	45	50
Division I	43	0 (0%)	13 (30%)	16 (37%)	6 (14%)	2 (5%)	3 (7%)	0 (0%)	0 (0%)	1 (2%)	1 (2%)	1 (2%)
Division II	26	0 (0%)	3 (12%)	16 (62%)	5 (19%)	2 (8%)	0 (0%)	0 (0%)	0 (0%)	0 (0%)	0 (0%)	0 (0%)
Division III	20	1 (5%)	14 (70%)	3 (15%)	2 (10%)	0 (0%)	0 (0%)	0 (0%)	0 (0%)	0 (0%)	0 (0%)	0 (0%)

Source	D.F.	Sum of squares	Kêan squares	F ratio	F probability
Between groups	2	602.0481	301.0240	4.9109	.0096
Within groups	86	5,271.5474	61.2971		
Total	88	5,873.5955			

1 Classification
NCAA Divisiona
, yd
t Management
lity/Conteg
5
Spent
s Time Spen
Administrative Time Spent on Faci

Table 71

.

Percent of time	No. of responses	D	un.	10	15	20	25	OE	35	40	45	Ó S
pivision I	42	(10) 0	34 (81%)	5 (12N)	2 (54)	(10)0	(10) 0	(10) 0	(10) 0	(10) 0	(10) 0	1 (2V)
Division II	24	(10) 0	9 (38%)	(122) B	6 (25 1)	(NG) O	I (48)	(10) 0	(10) 0	(10) 0	(10) 0	(10) 0
Division III	12	(10) 0	9 (434)	(101) 8	3 (14s)	5 (241)	1 (54)	(10) 0	(10) 0	(v a) a	(10) 0	(10) 0
Source		D.F.		And Sum of squares	Analysis of variance es An	ariance Mean B	ce Moan squares		F ratio		F pro	F probability
Between groups		6		318.1445		159.	159.0722		3.5883			0260.
Althin groups		84	(U)	3,723.8095		44.	44.3311					
Total		86	4	4,041.9540								

groups was .0320. Once again, significance was between Divisions I and III.

Table 72

Results of the Scheffe Procedure Between NCAA Divisions I, II, and III Concerning Administrative Time Spent on Facility/Contest Management

Divisions	I	II	III
Mean	7.1429	10.0000	11.6667
I		<u></u>	
II			
III	*		

*Denotes pairs of groups significantly different at the .05 level.

Personal/Professional growth. There was no significant difference among groups in the area of personal/ professional growth, as 73% of Division I, 68% of Division II, and 57% of Division III ADs indicated spending 5% of their administrative time in this area. Very few ADs spent more than 10% of their administrative time in the area. (See Appendix A, Table 18, for scores and statistical values.)

CHAPTER 5

Summary

This investigator collected data on the gualifications, responsibilities, and duties of athletics directors at colleges and universities in the southeastern United States during the spring of 1991. A questionnaire, validated by a panel of experts, was mailed to all athletics directors whose institutions were members of both the National Collegiate Athletic Association (NCAA) and the Southern Association of Colleges and Schools (SACS). The study was undertaken for the following purposes: (1) to identify the responsibilities and duties of intercollegiate athletics directors; (2) to differentiate, among NCAA Division I, Division II, and Division III institutions, which qualifications and professional skills are considered necessary for respective occupational success; (3) to determine the most important responsibilities at each NCAA divisional level; (4) to identify the extent to which the athletics director is personally involved in the performance of duties to fulfill these responsibilities; and (5) to contribute to the body of knowledge for the preparation of professionals in the field of athletics administration.

The questions to be answered from this research were the following:

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

1. What qualifications are necessary for successful job performance at each NCAA divisional level of athletics administration?

2. What are the job responsibilities for athletics directors at each NCAA divisional level of athletics administration?

3. Are there significant differences in responses among athletics directors from Division I, Division II, and Division III institutions?

4. To what degree is the athletics director involved in the performance of specific duties related to each responsibility at each NCAA divisional level?

5. Which responsibilities require the greatest amount of administrative time at each NCAA divisional level?

6. To what degree has athletics fund-raising become a responsibility of the athletics director at each NCAA divisional level?

7. What are the commonalities and differences in the backgrounds of athletics directors at each NCAA divisional level concerning preparation, training, and experience?

<u>Findings</u>

Of the 11 items which constituted the background data, several were statistically significant as determined by chisquare analysis. Division I athletics programs generally offered more sports (15.4) than Division II (10.2) or Division III (12.0) programs. This may be a result of the size of the schools and monies available in Division I, along with requirements by the NCAA for Division I membership. The philosophy of Division III, promoting a broad-based program with an emphasis on participation, might explain why more athletics teams are sponsored in Division III than in Division II.

The chain-of-command question produced significant responses among groups, as 61% of Division I athletics directors reported to the president of the institution, 16% to the vice president, 12% to the chancellor, and 2% to the vice chancellor. This is in keeping with an emphasis by the NCAA, as evidenced by the recent report of the Knight Commission recommending that institutions and college presidents take control of their respective athletics programs. Division II athletics directors reported to the president (37%), vice president (33%), and chancellor (11%) most often, also reflecting the emphasis on institutional control by the chief executive officers. In Division III, 33% of the athletics directors reported to the president, while 43% reported to the dean. This seems to agree with the Division III tenet that athletics are part of the educational experiences of students, as Williams and Miller (1983) implied in comparing the philosophic orientation of Division I and Division III programs.

There were no significant differences in the highest academic degree attained by the athletics director across

divisions, as most held a master's degree. There were also no significant differences as to the field in which the degree was held, with the most frequent response being physical education. This study supports the findings of Nardone (1987), who characterized athletics directors in all divisions as having an undergraduate major in physical education, and Toms (1979), who reported no differences among athletics directors as to the highest degree obtained. The findings do not support the contentions of Lopiano (1984), who suggested that a doctorate may be required for athletics directors in higher education or that the master's degree in business is more acceptable in Division I, or Parkhouse (1991), who indicated that there is a trend toward hiring athletics directors with Ph.D.'s (with a business and sport management orientation) at major universities. If such a trend exists, it was not apparent in this research. A focus on athletics directors' hiring patterns during the past five to seven years might reveal the beginning of such a trend. That was not a focus of this study.

No differences were present among the divisional groups concerning the number of years of experience as athletics director. The means for the groups ranged from 8.5 to 9.3 years of experience. Toms (1979) also found no difference in years of experience among groups.

Many Division I athletics directors (45%) in the study reported previous experience as an associate or assistant

athletics director, and many from all divisions (Division I = 35%, Division II = 44%, and Division III = 62%) reported having a coaching background. These findings support, to some degree, the findings of Hatfield et al. (1987), who discovered that over 70% of athletics directors had coaching experience and that 48% had administrative experience as an assistant athletics director, and Youngberg (1971), who proposed that coaching experience at the college level was a prerequisite for the job of athletics administrator. The findings are in agreement with those of Nardone (1987), who reported that Division I athletics directors had developmental experience as an assistant athletics director at the collegiate level, but that no significant differences were found in experience qualifications between Division I, Division II, and Division III athletics administrators.

Most Division III (71%) athletics directors also coached, while few Division I athletics directors did (15%). About one-half (44%) of Division II athletics directors coached. Sixty-two percent of all athletics directors who coached did so in the sports of football or basketball. Herron (1969) also reported similar results in the sports coached by athletics directors, as did Rochelle (1971) and Toms (1979). The size and complexity of sports programs at large schools usually preclude the athletics director from coaching, while smaller schools continue to require the

athletics administrators to assume a variety of responsibilities, including coaching.

Likewise, athletics directors in Division II (56%) and Division III (67%) had teaching responsibilities, while few (19%) in Division I did. Responsibilities in the teaching requirements have apparently changed, at least at the Division I level, since Richey (1963) and Dennis (1971) identified teaching as a primary responsibility of the athletics administrator. The results of this investigation are more in line with those of Karch (1979), who reported that athletics directors in Division II and Division III institutions tended to emphasize the importance of teaching and faculty responsibilities.

Significant differences were present among divisions concerning the availability of associate/assistant athletics directors. Nearly all (94%) Division I athletics directors had assistants, while about one-half (52%) of Division II and one-third (33%) of Division III had assistants. Toms (1979) also found significant differences among divisions as to the number of assistants the athletics directors had. It is clear that many responsibilities are assigned to these assistants at the Division I level and that athletics directors delegate many duties to these support personnel.

An area of marked difference between divisions was in the position of fund-raiser. Eighty-nine percent of Division I schools had fund-raisers, while 26% of Division

II and 5% of Division III schools had this position on staff. This re-emphasizes the relationship of Division I athletics to business as reported by Broyles et al. (1979) and Thelin and Wiseman (1990), who suggested that a primary function of these programs is to generate revenues to offset expenses. This study tends to agree with Nardone (1987) and Roach (1984) that Division II and Division III athletics directors themselves usually perform the fund-raising duties that the particular institution allows.

Athletics directors at Division I and Division II institutions employed sports information directors more often (98% and 96%, respectively) than did Division III (67%). This position was usually full-time at the Division I level (98%), but less so at either the Division II (60%) or the Division III (29%) levels. At the Division III and, to some extent, at the Division II level, sports information may not be distributed in amounts comparable to Division I programs, and/or other personnel probably assume duties related to this area.

It is not surprising that Division I programs have much larger athletics budgets than Division II programs, who in turn have larger budgets than Division III programs. Among other factors, the number of sports sponsored, travel costs, and the number of athletics grants-in-aid awarded make this necessary. Nearly all Division I programs spent over 1 million dollars per year, with 40% of the institutions

spending over 5 million dollars. Most Division II schools spent between 100,000 dollars and 2.5 million dollars, while most Division III budgets were between 100,000 dollars and 500,000 dollars or less. This alone seems to support the contention that a business acumen is needed in Division I, as reported by Karch (1979), who found that athletics director in Division I emphasized the need for business preparation. Broyles (1976), P. M. Scott (1979), Berg (1990), and Parkhouse (1991) also indicated this need. Financial Operations

In the area of financial operations, all five duties listed were performed by the great majority of athletics directors in all NCAA divisions, indicating each duty is a function of the position of athletics director. However, a difference (significance = .0214) was noted in duty 1.3, "approve requisitions and authorize departmental purchases," as 75% of Division I athletics directors indicated performing the task, while 100% and 95% of Division II and Division III athletics directors, respectively, performed the task. Significant differences were also discovered in item B (how performed) for duty 1.3, "approve requisitions and authorize departmental purchases" (significance = .0020); duty 1.4, "endorse or approve checks" (significance = .0201); and duty 1.5, "maintain an accounting system" (significance = .0000). With the complexity of Division I athletics programs and the availability of support staff,

most athletics directors at this level delegate many of the routine functions of endorsing checks, et cetera, to others, while Division II and Division III athletics directors are required to do the work independently or cooperatively. Assistant athletics directors with expertise in a particular area may be employed to handle such things as everyday business affairs, whereas Division II and Division III institutions may not have this capability or need.

Significant differences were also present in three duties concerning the item D (importance). In duty 1.2, "prepare a capital improvement program and budget" (significance = .0425), Division I and Division III athletics directors perceived the importance to be extreme or great, while Division II athletics directors thought it average. This was a surprise to this investigator since most financial matters, especially of this magnitude, seem to be a priority for athletics directors of all divisions. For duty 1.4, "endorse or approve checks" (significance = .0339), Division II athletics directors rated the task as less important than athletics directors of Division I or Division III. For duty 1.5, "maintain an accounting system" (significance = .0264), Division I and Division II athletics directors considered the importance extreme, while Division III athletics directors considered it great. Division I and Division II schools seem to place an emphasis on accounting for all funds, as do Division III schools; the difference

between great and extreme may have been hard to distinguish for some athletics directors as well. No significant differences among divisions were present in the "frequency" or "difficulty" items for any duty.

Athletics directors from all NCAA divisions indicated spending most of the total administrative time in the area of financial operations (see Table 73). There was no significant difference among divisional groups as determined by analysis of variance and the Scheffe Procedure. Division I athletics directors reported spending 26% of the time in this area; Division II athletics directors reported spending 27%; and Division III athletics directors reported spending 18% of the time in this area. Except for the percentages in Division III, these findings tend to agree with those of Cundiff (1985), who found that athletics directors in each of the three divisions spent the greatest amount of time in the role of financial operations (Division I = 28%, Division II = 33% and Division III = 42%). Cash (1983) also identified the administrative area of business and finance as the most important responsibility of athletics administrators, as did Williams and Miller (1983).

Generation of Revenues

Many significant differences appeared among divisional groups within the area of generation of revenues, primarily in item A, (whether performed); item B (how performed-independently, cooperatively, or delegated); and item D

(importance). There were no significant differences among groups concerning difficulty (item E) for any of the duties.

Table 73

Percentage of Total Administrative Time Spent in Each of the Nine Areas of Responsibility by NCAA Divisional Classification

	Division I	Division II	Division III
Financial operations	26%	27%	18%
Generation of revenues	23%	16%	68
Operational policies	13%	14%	15%
Personnel	14%	13%	17%
Compliance	12%	13%	6%
Responsibilities to student athletes	10%	10%	10%
Public Relations/promotions	13%	11%	7%
Facility/Contest management	7%	10%	12%
Personal/Professional growth	8%	7%	8%

Division I and Division II athletics directors performed duty 2.1, "solicit contributions" (significance = .0304); duty 2.2, "secure donations from corporations" (significance = .0001); duty 2.3, "establish . . . ticket prices" (significance = .0003); duty 2.4, "direct . . . sales drive" (significance = .0000); duty 2.5, "negotiate television . . . contracts" (significance = .0000);

duty 2.6, "secure revenue . . . guarantees" (significance = .0016); duty 2.9, "propose increases in students' fees" (significance = .0005); and duty 2.10, "supervise . . . unit . . . to fund-raise" (significance = .0144) to a much greater extent than did Division III athletics directors. Division I athletics directors also performed duties 2.2, 2.4, 2.5, 2.9, and 2.10 (above) more than Division II athletics directors. These responses were expected due to the big-time nature of Division I athletics programs and their relationship to the business and entertainment worlds, while Division III programs are participation-based and conducted on a much smaller scale and budget. Division II programs are somewhat of a combination of the two.

While most duties in this area of responsibility were performed cooperatively, Division I athletics directors were more inclined to delegate duties, while Division II and Division III athletics directors were more likely to fulfill these duties independently, if performed at all. The exceptions were duty 2.5, "negotiate television . . . contracts"; duty 2.9, "propose increases"; and duty 2.10, "supervise . . . unit . . . to fund-raise," where larger percentages of Division I athletics directors performed the duty independently. There was a significant difference in each of the duties, 2.1-2.11, for item B (see Appendix A, Tables 2.1-2.11). Since most Division I athletics programs have an athletics fund-raiser on staff, it is understandable why many of these duties are delegated at this level.

Since the duties associated with generating revenues were performed to a greater extent by Division I and Division II athletics directors than by Division III athletics directors, it is not surprising that Division I and Division II athletics directors rated these duties higher in importance. Duty 2.1, "solicit contributions" (significance = .0036); duty 2.3, "establish . . . ticket prices" (significance = .0014); duty 2.4, "direct . . . sales drive" (significance = .0041); duty 2.5, "negotiate television . . . contracts" (significance = .0531); duty 2.6, "secure . . . guarantees" (significance = .0226); and duty 2.10, "supervise . . . unit . . . to fund-raise" (significance = .0511), were significantly different in importance, as Division I athletics directors rated these duties higher than did Division II and Division III athletics directors, except that Division II athletics directors rated duties 2.1 and 2.4 nearly the same as those in Division I.

Significant differences were present in item C (frequency) for duty 2.7, "secure contracts for the rental of athletics facilities" (significance = .0253), and duty 2.10, "supervise . . . unit . . . to fund-raise" (significance = .0394). Since Division II athletics directors worked at renting facilities more frequently than

either Division I or Division III athletics directors, this may be a more important income source for athletics programs in this classification. For duty 2.10, it appears clear that because fund-raising organizations are of critical importance to Division I programs, athletics directors work at this task on a more frequent basis, usually daily.

Significant differences were present in the amount of administrative time spent in the area of revenue generation (see Appendix A, Tables 11.1, 11.2, and 19). Division I athletics directors reported spending 23% of the total administrative time in this area, while Division II reported spending 16%, and Division III reported spending 6%. These findings lend support to Broyles et al. (1979), who suggested that generating revenues was a primary function of major intercollegiate athletics programs. This study cannot support, at the Division I level, the proposal by Williams and Miller (1983) that the responsibility area of fundraising is thirteenth in importance. The findings do concur with those of Marciani (1991), who indicated that fundraising is becoming much more prevalent at the Division II level.

Operational Policies

For the responsibility area of operational policies, most athletics directors from all divisions performed these duties. The only significant difference (.0026) in item A appeared in duty 3.6, "develop a handbook for student

athletes." Division I athletics directors performed this duty more than either Division II or Division III athletics directors. Division II athletics directors also performed the duty much more than Division III athletics directors. This seems to be indicative of the more complex recruiting and eligibility regulations for Division I and Division II programs, along with a greater probability that some of these athletes will become professionals.

Division I athletics directors, usually with much larger support staffs, tended to delegate duty 3.2, "direct the preparation . . . of the departmental handbook" (significance = .0020); duty 3.3, "develop procedures . . . for scheduling, travel, and . . . contests" (significance = .0280); duty 3.4, "develop . . . a system for purchasing, receiving, storing and inventory" (significance = .0000); and duty 3.6, "develop a handbook for student athletes" (significance = .0007), more than athletics directors in Division II or Division III. Athletics directors in Division III seldom delegated these duties.

Duty 3.1, "plan athletics department policies and procedures," generated a significant difference (.0434) among groups, as Division III athletics directors considered it more important than those in Division I or Division II. Division I athletics directors also rated the duty more important than those in Division II. These differences were surprising to this investigator, as high ratings for

importance were anticipated from all divisions for this duty. There was also a significant difference among groups for duty 3.4 (item D), although the difference was only between the great and extreme categories.

A significant difference (.0443) was present in item E (difficulty) for duty 3.2, "direct the preparation . . . of the departmental handbook." While most athletics directors from all divisions rated the task average in difficulty, greater percentages of Division II and Division III athletics directors rated the duty hard to perform. This difference might exist because one-half of Division I athletics directors delegate this duty.

The area of operational policies proved to be a relatively important one for all groups, as determined by the amount of administrative time spent in the area. Division I athletics directors reported spending 13%; Division II reported spending 14%; and Division III reported spending 15% of the time in this area. There was no significant difference among groups (see Appendix A, Tables 12 and 19). The findings tend to agree with those of Williams and Miller (1983), who found that athletics directors rated the responsibility of policy development third out of 14 categories.

<u>Personnel</u>

The fourth area of responsibility, personnel, generated no significant differences for any duty in item A (whether performed) or item C (frequency). Nearly all athletics directors reported performing these duties, indicating that the personnel responsibilities and respective duties of athletics directors are essentially the same in all NCAA divisions.

Responses from the groups for item B (how performed-independently, cooperatively, or delegated) were significantly different for duty 4.3, "prepare a job . . . description for all positions" (significance = .0072); duty 4.6, "determine . . . coaching assignments" (significance = .0499); and duty 4.8, "direct activities of office personnel" (significance = .0005). Over one-half of Division III athletics directors prepared job descriptions independently, while Division I and Division II athletics directors did this cooperatively. A high percentage of Division I athletics directors also delegated this duty. It is no surprise that most Division III athletics directors must perform this duty independently, while many in Division I are able to delegate it. Few athletics directors in any group delegated duty 4.6, but more Division I athletics directors did this job independently, while others in Division II or Division III performed the task cooperatively. This may be due to the necessity, at the Division II and Division III levels, of institutions having to assign coaches responsibilities in a faculty position, as well as a staff position in athletics. Many Division I

athletics directors also delegated to subordinates the duty of directing the office staff.

Significant differences were present in item D (importance) for duty 4.1, "plan and conduct . . . staff meetings" (significance = .0158); duty 4.4, "interview and select . . . personnel" (significance = .0015); duty 4.6, "determine . . . coaching assignments" (significance = .0540); and duty 4.7, "conduct formal evaluations of all staff" (significance = .0034). For duty 4.1, Division I athletics directors rated the importance higher than those in Divisions II and III. Division III athletics directors also rated the duty higher in importance than those in Division II, which had more responses in the average category. For duty 4.4, Division I and Division III athletics directors rated the duty much more important than athletics directors in Division II. This finding was unexpected since the selection of personnel seems to be a critical duty at any level. For duty 4.6, Division III athletics directors considered making assignments more important than Division I or Division II athletics directors did, perhaps because of the complexity of these coaching/faculty roles in small colleges. For duty 4.7, Division III athletics directors thought that conducting formal evaluations was extremely important, while athletics directors in Divisions I and II marked this duty of somewhat

lesser importance. This investigator thought this duty would be considered very important at all levels.

A significant difference appeared in item E (difficulty) only for duty 4.8, "direct activities of office personnel" (.0443). Most athletics directors across divisions considered it of average difficulty, although a greater percentage of those in Divisions II and III rated it hard. There could be a relationship between this finding and the finding that most Division I athletics directors delegate this job.

In Appendix A, Table 13 shows that there were no significant differences among divisions as to the amount of administrative time spent on personnel, while Table 73 shows that Division I athletics directors spent 14%, Division II athletics directors spent 13%, and Division III athletics directors spent 17% of their time on this responsibility. According to comparisons made to other areas of responsibility in this study concerning amounts of administrative time, personnel appears to be moderately to very important. Many researchers, including Berg (1978), Ulrich and Parkhouse (1982), Parker (1986), Zwald (1986), Bucher (1987), Kinder (1990), and Horine (1991), emphasize the need for athletics directors to develop human relations skills to deal with personnel. Williams and Miller (1983) determined the area of personnel to be 6th out of 14 responsibilities of the athletics director, while Cash

(1983) identified the administrative area of personnel as the second most important one from a list of seven. Compliance

For item A (whether performed) in the area of compliance, significant differences appeared in duties 5.1, 5.3, 5.4, and 5.5. In duty 5.1, "certify the eligibility" (significance = .0508), higher percentages of Division II and Division III athletics directors performed this job than did those of Division I. This is related to item B, where 76% of all Division I athletics directors delegated the duty. Since most Division I programs have compliance officers, this result was expected. Duty 5.3, "oversee the awarding of . . . aid" (significance = .0000), revealed that Division I and Division II athletics directors perform this task to a much greater extent than Division III athletics directors. Since Division III programs offer no athletics scholarships, and since athletics personnel cannot be involved in the awarding of financial aid to athletes, these findings were predictable. Division III athletics directors performed duty 5.4, "provide a program for drug education" (significance = .0002), much less than those in Divisions I and II. Since Division I and Division II programs are conducted on a much larger basis than those in Division III, this also was expected. The importance of football at the larger schools may be a factor as well. Since Division I programs usually have compliance coordinators, it appears

that Division I athletics directors performed duty 5.5, "inform and interpret . . . legislation to staff" (significance = .0162), slightly less than those in Divisions II and III, who responded at the 100% rate. Significantly fewer Division III athletics directors performed duty 5.7, "conduct ongoing review and evaluation of compliance systems" (significance = .0070), than their Division I and Division II counterparts, primarily because compliance requirements are not as great as those existent in Divisions I and II.

Duties 5.1, 5.3, 5.4, 5.5, and 5.7 were all significant as to how the duty is performed (item B). While many athletics directors indicated performing the majority of these duties cooperatively, Division I athletics directors were much more likely to delegate these duties. Division II and Division III athletics directors were more likely to perform these jobs independently, indicating that programs on these levels do not have the support staff as those of Division I.

One duty, 5.5, "inform and interpret . . . legislation," was significantly different (.0538) for item C (frequency). Division I schools tended to work at this task on a more frequent basis than those of Divisions II and III. Division II schools also performed this work more often than Division III schools. With the complexity of rules and regulations in Divisions I and II, this was not surprising.

Significant differences were found in importance (item D) for duties 5.3, 5.5, and 5.7. For duty 5.3, "oversee the awarding . . . aid" (significance = .0000), Division I and Division II athletics directors understandably rated this duty much more important than did Division III athletics directors, who are not involved with scholarships or other forms of financial aid. Division I athletics directors rated duty 5.5, "inform and interpret NCAA and conference legislation to staff" (significance = .0194), more important than Division II or Division III athletics directors did. While expectations were that this function would be extremely or greatly important at all divisional levels, the emphasis on improving the integrity of "big-time" intercollegiate sports may have accounted for this difference at the Division I level. Due to the scope and complexity of Division I athletics, it appears that Division I athletics directors considered duty 5.7, "conduct ongoing review and evaluation of compliance systems" (significance = .0023), more important than did athletics directors in Division II or Division III. Likewise, athletics directors in Division II thought the duty more important than those in Division III.

Duties 5.1, 5.2, 5.3, 5.5, and 5.7 were significantly different in difficulty (item E) among divisional groups. These differences were probably due to the magnitude of Division I programs and the volume of paperwork required to

satisfy rules and regulations. In the same manner, athletics directors from Division II programs usually rated these duties more difficult than those of Division III.

As expected, a significant difference (.0054) was present among groups concerning time spent on compliance (see Appendix A, Tables 14.1, 14.2, and 19). These differences occurred between Division I and Division III and also between Division II and Division III groups, indicating that Division I and Division III athletics directors spend much more time in this responsibility area than those of Division III. Division I athletics directors reported spending 12%; Division II reported spending 13%; and Division III reported spending 6%. What must be considered as well is that most Division I programs also have compliance officers.

Eligibility and rules interpretation has been a responsibility of concern for intercollegiate athletics directors as reported by Broyles (1976), Williams and Miller (1983), Kinder, (1990), Horine (1991), and Glazier and Jones (1991). Since the responsibility is relatively new as an area in and of itself, there is little research to which these findings can be compared.

Responsibilities to Student Athletes

Significant differences were present in 8 of 10 duties in response to item A (whether performed) and also in 8 of 10 duties in response to item B (how performed--

independently, cooperatively or delegated). For duty 6.2, "arrange for an insurance coverage plan" (significance = .0077); duty 6.3, "arrange transportation" (significance = .0175); duty 6.6, "develop a system of keeping records" (significance = .0115); duty 6.7, "establish standards . . . for sports awards" (significance = .0532); duty 6.8, "provide . . . laundry services" (significance = .0065); and duty 6.9, "arrange yearly athletics banquet(s)" (significance = .0077), fewer Division I athletics directors indicated performing these tasks than did athletics directors in Division II or Division III. These findings are clearly related to those of item B since Division I athletics director delegated all duties (except duties 6.2 and 6.4) much more than athletics directors in Divisions II and III. However for duty 6.5, "assign athletes to . . . jobs," and duty 6.10, "provide a counseling program," more Division I athletics directors indicated performing these tasks than did athletics directors in Division II and Division III. These findings were expected due to the scope and nature of the programs at the different levels.

Two duties were rated significantly different in importance (item D). Division I and Division II athletics directors rated duty 6.9, "arrange yearly athletics banquet(s)" (significance = .0310), more important overall than did athletics directors in Division II. Division I athletics directors also thought duty 6.10, "provide a

counseling program" (significance = .0247), more important than did athletics directors in the other two divisions. Division III athletics directors also rated duty 6.10 much less difficult (significance = .0049) than did athletics directors in Divisions I and II, probably because fewer athletes at this level become professionals and this service is unnecessary for many Division III programs. There were no significant differences for any of the 10 duties in relation to frequency of performance (item C).

Athletics directors from Divisions I, II, and III all averaged approximately 10% of administrative time for performance of responsibilities to student athletes. Most of the duties listed were important to fulfilling these responsibilities, with Division I athletics directors delegating these tasks most of the time. This area was also identified by Kelliher (1957), Steitz (1971), Williams and Miller (1983), Cash (1983), and Frost et al. (1988) as a moderately important aspect of athletics administration. Public Relations/Promotions

In the area of public relations/promotions, three duties generated significant differences among the divisional groups for item A (whether performed). Division I and Division II athletics directors performed duty 7.3, "arrange preferential seating" (significance = .0130); duty 7.4, "cooperate with boosters" (significance = .0000); and duty 7.7, "plan marketing campaigns" (significance = .0081),

more than athletics directors in Division III. This seems indicative of the business orientations associated with the larger athletics programs and the emphasis on generating financial resources.

Concerning item B (how performed--independently, cooperatively, or delegated), duty 7.2, "make special addresses" (significance = .0179), was usually performed independently by all groups, but almost exclusively so by athletics directors in Division III. Duty 7.3, "arrange preferential seating" (significance = .0001), was delegated by most Division I athletics directors, but performed cooperatively by those in the other two groups. Duty 7.4, "cooperate with boosters" (significance = .0001), was done cooperatively by all groups, although more Division III athletics directors performed this duty independently. Duty 7.7, "plan marketing campaigns" (significance = .0002), was usually performed cooperatively by all athletics directors, although those in Divisions I and II were more likely to delegate, and those in Division III were more likely to work at this independently. The responses to duties in this area producing significant differences seem to be due to staffing implications as well as need.

Duty 7.4, "cooperate with boosters" (significance = .0045), generated a marked difference among groups for item C (frequency). Division I athletics directors performed this duty more often than those in Division II or

Division III, while athletics directors in Division II performed the duty more often than athletics directors in Division III. This seems consistent with the perceived importance of fund-raising for athletics at the larger institutions as noted below.

For item D, (importance), significant differences were present for duty 7.3, "arrange preferential seating" (significance = .0001); duty 7.4, "cooperate with boosters" (significance = .0104); duty 7.5, "visit schools" (significance = .0025); and duty 7.9, "prepare press . . . releases" (significance = .0294). Division I athletics directors rated these duties more important than did athletics directors from other divisions, with the exception of duty 7.5, where both Division I and Division III athletics directors rated the duty higher in importance than did athletics directors from Division II. Athletics directors from Division II also rated duty 7.4 higher in importance than did athletics directors from Division III.

Duty 7.3, "arrange preferential seating" was significant (.0002) for item E (difficulty), as Division I athletics directors rated it more difficult than did athletics directors from the other divisions. Division II athletics directors also rated it more difficult than those of Division III.

There was a significant difference among groups as to the amount of administrative time spent in the area of

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

public relations/promotions, with the difference occurring between Division I and Division III (see Appendix A, Tables 16.1, 16.2, and 19). Division I athletics directors averaged 13% of the total time in this area, while Division II averaged 11%, and Division III averaged 7%. This seems to again be indicative of the business nature of athletics at large universities and the necessary fund-raising efforts which must accompany these programs, as evidenced by the differences in duties 7.3, 7.4, and 7.7.

The importance of public relations/promotions has been documented by authorities, such as Forsythe (1962), Berg (1978), Frost et al. (1988), Williams and Miller (1983), Cundiff (1985), and Thelin and Wiseman (1990). Experts in professional preparation programs for athletics directors, such as P. M. Scott (1979), Ulrich and Parkhouse (1982), Zwald (1986), Kinder (1990), and Parkhouse (1991), have also emphasized the need for training in the areas of public relations and marketing.

Facility/Contest Management

Significant differences were found in six of the seven duties listed under this area for item A (whether performed) and also for six of the seven duties in response to item B (how duty is performed--independently, cooperatively or delegated). For duty 8.1, "coordinate . . . game preparation, operation, and cleanup" (significance = .0059); duty 8.2, "oversee the work of physical plant employees"

(significance = .0038); duty 8.3, "arrange security for athletics contests" (significance = .0411); duty 8.4, "pay officials" (significance = .0005); duty 8.6, "schedule athletics facilities usage" (significance = .0039); and duty 8.7, "inspect facilities, equipment, and supplies" (significance = .0019), fewer Division I athletics directors indicated performing these tasks than did athletics directors in Division II or Division III. These responses are obviously related to the significant responses to item B, where Division I athletics directors delegated duties, 8.1, 8.2, 8.3, 8.4, 8.5 ("arrange for complimentary tickets"), and 8.6 much more than athletics directors from Divisions II and III. These findings were anticipated since most Division I athletics directors have an assistant (47% indicated yes) or other support personnel who are responsible for facilities management.

There were no significant differences for item C (frequency), item D (importance), or item E (difficulty) for any of the seven duties. This seems to suggest that these managerial tasks are performed somewhat routinely at all divisional levels, with Division I athletics directors delegating these duties to subordinates.

A significant difference was identified between Division I and Division III groups concerning the amount of administrative time spent in the area of facility/contest management (see Appendix A, Tables 17.1, 17.2, and 19).

Division I athletics directors averaged 7% of their time in this area, while Division II athletics directors averaged 10%, and Division III averaged 12%. These findings tend to indicate that Division I athletics directors spend less time in this responsibility area because the corresponding duties are delegated to others to perform. The responsibility of facility/contest management was also identified as an area of significance by Havel and Seymour (1961), Broyles (1976), Cash (1983), Zwald (1986), Frost et al. (1988), Horine (1991), and Parkhouse (1991).

Personal/Professional Growth

Within the area of personal/professional growth, only one duty, 9.5, "write or edit materials," generated a significant difference (.0179) among groups for item C (frequency). The athletics directors favored less frequent categories overall, but more Division III athletics directors checked daily, while Division I and Division II athletics directors checked monthly. There were no other significant differences on any item for any duty.

Most athletics directors did perform duty 9.1, "serve on institutional committees"; duty 9.3, "represent the institution at NCAA"; and duty 9.4, "serve on professional committees." Most athletics directors, however, did not perform duty 9.2, "conduct independent research"; duty 9.5, "write or edit materials"; duty 9.6, "take graduate courses"; and duty 9.7, "develop computer skills."

There was also no difference in the amount of administrative time spent in this area, as Division I and Division III athletics directors average 8%, and Division II athletics directors averaged 7%. These findings indicate that there are no differences among NCAA divisional groups in this responsibility area and that this area is considered less important, or requires less time, than most other responsibility areas. Duties 9.1, 9.3, and 9.4 appear to be the most important ones for this responsibility.

<u>Conclusions</u>

NCAA Division I athletics programs operate on a much larger scale than many Division II and nearly all Division III programs, as observed by the number of athletes, the awarding of athletics grants-in-aid, the number of support personnel, and the size of the operating budget, for example. Many Division I programs may be categorized as: (1) supporting over 15 sports; (2) having positions, including a number of assistant athletics directors, a fulltime fund-raiser, and a full-time sports information director; and (3) having a budget of over five million dollars. Division I athletics directors seldom have teaching or coaching responsibilities and also delegate many tasks and overall responsibilities for particular areas to assistants. This position reports to the president of the institution in most cases. These facts lead this investigator to agree with findings by Parker (1986) that

Division I athletics directors perform many tasks that are more managerial than educational and that a business background or business education is useful and highly recommended.

Division II athletics programs combine elements of both Division I and Division III. Programs in Division II may be categorized as: (1) sponsoring over 10 sports; (2) having assistant athletics directors in about one-half of the schools, having a sports information director, but having no athletics fund-raiser; and (3) having an operating budget of over one million dollars. Additionally, about one-half of Division II athletics directors must coach a sport, and most also have teaching responsibilities. The athletics director usually reports to the president of the institution.

Division III athletics programs emphasize the importance of being a part of the overall educational process. Programs at this level may be categorized as: (1) sponsoring an average of 12 sports; (2) seldom having assistant athletics directors, a fund-raiser, or a full-time sports information director; and (3) having an operating budget of less than 500,000 dollars. Athletics directors in Division III usually have coaching and teaching responsibilities. This position reports to the dean of the college in most cases.

There are, however, no differences in qualifications of athletics directors among NCAA divisions in relationship to

the following: (1) the highest degree obtained (most held a master's) or the field in which the degree was awarded (most were in physical education); (2) the number of years of experience as an athletics director; and (3) the position held prior to becoming an athletics director, although many have had coaching experience and many in Division I have had administrative experience as an assistant athletics director.

Athletics directors in all classifications spend most of their administrative time in the responsibility area of financial operations. This conclusion is supported by Cash (1983), Williams and Miller (1983), and Cundiff (1985). Other areas of responsibility which are equally important to all divisions and which require a significant amount of administrative time include, in rank order, the following: (1) personnel, (2) operational policies, and (3) responsibilities to student athletes. This is also in agreement with Cash (1983) concerning personnel and with Williams and Miller (1983) concerning policy.

Due to the "big-business" nature of athletics at this level, Division I athletics directors spend much more administrative time than do Division II and Division III athletics directors performing duties in the responsibility area of revenue generation. This is supported by Broyles and Hay (1979), Thelin and Wiseman (1990), and Cuneen (1992). Division II athletics directors also spend

significantly more time in this area than do athletics directors in Division III. Additionally, Division I and Division II athletics directors spend significantly more time fulfilling the responsibility of compliance than do those in Division III, while Division III athletics directors spend more time in the responsibility area of facility/contest management than those of Division I.

This study seems to support contentions by Parkhouse (1991) that (1) the work environment is important in an administrator candidate's self-appraisal process and (2) a greater variety of tasks is required in smaller colleges, while tasks are more specific at larger universities. Based upon the results of this investigation, potential athletics directors at the Division I and Division II levels would do well to gain additional experience or education in the areas of revenue generation, promotions, and compliance. Division III prospects should expect to handle more details (as in game management) as an administrator in combination with coaching and/or teaching. Therefore, candidates should obtain experience and education in these areas, as well as through internships, et cetera. This study cannot support Youngberg's (1971) contention that there is no need to offer different types of preparation for individuals seeking to become athletics directors at various kinds of institutions.

Suggestions

 This study should be repeated to include all NCAA institutions in the United States.

2. Since the rate of return was just over 50%, probably due to the length of the questionnaire, steps should be taken to condense it wherever possible. The area of personal/professional growth might be eliminated, and particular items incorporated into other areas. Each area should also be examined to determine if some duties could be eliminated or combined with others. Consideration should also be given to eliminating the difficulty item and possibly the frequency item since few differences were found in difficulty, while frequency responses were similar or a reflection of the importance item.

3. The questionnaire should be evaluated to determine if there are duties of great importance which should be added without adding undue length to the instrument.

4. A section concerning administrative time spent on respective responsibility areas could be done on a separate sheet, with a request that the total from all areas equal 100%.

5. Demographic data concerning age and sex of athletics directors would be of interest to such a study.

APPENDICES

٠

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

APPENDIX A

.

TABLES OF RESPONSIBILITY AREAS

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

APPENDIX A

TABLES OF RESPONSIBILITY AREAS

,

Table 1.1

Responses to Item 1.1 of the Questionnaire by NCAA Divisional Level

	Division I	II uojstvīd	Division III	Ch1-eguare	D.F.	sig.	HÍN. S.F.	Celle with E.P. < 5	Missing
		Duty: Pro	Responsibility area: Financial operations Duty: Frepare and submit the budget for the athletics program	area: Financia the budget for	1 operat	lons letica pr	ute z Go		
A. Perform? Yes No	45 (94 1) 3 (6 1)	26 (100%) 0 (0%)	21 (100%) 0 (0%)	3,836	4	. 4286	433	6 of 9 (66.74)	N
B. How? Individual Cooperation Delegate	5 (104) 38 (834) 3 (71)	11 (42%) 15 (58%) 0 (0%)	6 (30%) 14 (70%) 0 (0%)	11.953	v	.0630	. 649	7 of 12 (58.3%)	μ
C. Frequency? Annually Occasionally Honthly Heekly Daily	al (65%) 3 (65%) 9 (19%) 3 (6%) 2 (4%)	21 (84%) 0 (04) 1 (44) 3 (120) 0 (04)	17 (85%) 2 (10%) 1 (5%) 0 (0%)	E69.11	œ	.1588	430	(ME.ET) 21 30 11	4
D. Importance? None Little Average Great Extreme	0 (04) 0 (04) 0 (04) 7 (154) 41 (854)	0 (0%) 0 (0%) 1 (4%) 4 (16%) 20 (80%)	0 (0%) 0 (0%) 0 (0%) 2 (10%) 18 (90%)	3.165	4	.5305	Stz .	5 of 9 (55.61)	4
E. Difficulty? Very easy Easy Average Hard Very hard	0 (00) 3 (70) 7 (150) 27 (574) 10 (214)	1 (48) 0 (08) 9 (369) 9 (369) 6 (248)	0 (04) 0 (04) 12 (604) 12 (54)	662 ° ET	ದ	• 0872	.217	(NE.E2) 21 30 8	4

Responses to Item 1.2 of the Questionnaire by NCAA Divisional Level

	Division I	Division II	Division III	Chi-square	D.F.	stg.	Min. E.F.	Cells with E.F. < 5	Misaing
			Responsibility area: Financial operations	area: Financia	l operati	ons			
		Duty:	Duty: Prepara a capital improvement program and budget	11 improvement	program	and budge			
A. Perform?				1.832	4	.7666	.649	5 of 9 (55.6m)	[1]
Yea No	44 (88%) 6 (12%)	20 (77%) 6 (23%)	17 (85%) 3 (15%)						
•									
B. How?				7.440	9	.2820	.649	5 of 12 (41.7%)	18
Individual	10 (231)	8 (404)							
Cooperation	30 (70%)	12 (60%)	-						
Delegate	(NL) E	(10) 0	0 1 01						
C. Frequency?				4.971	8	.7607	£03.	(NE.E7) 21 Jo II	18
Annually	30 (68%)	11 (584)	12 (75%)						
Occasionally	9 (20%)	(116) 1	4 (25%)						
Honthly	2 (5%)	0 (00)	-						
Weekly	2 (5%)	1 (5%)	(%0)0						
Daily	1 (24)	140) 0	(10)0						
D. Importance?				13.033	9	.0425	.200	5 of 12 (41.7%)	17
None	(80) 0		(10) 0						
Little	1 (2N)	(40) 0	(10) 0						
Average	(36) 5		3 (184)						
Great	19 (43%)		4 (25%)						
Extreme '	ZO (46%)	(1 00) 9	9 (56%)						
E. Difficulty?				4-941	9	.5513	.608	5 of 12 (41.7%)	18
Very easy	0 (01)	÷	(10) 0						
Еаву	_	-	0 (01)						
Average	15 (35%)		7 (441)						
Hard	18 (42 %)	5 (25%)	6 (38%)						
Very hard	7 (16%)	5 (25%)	3 (181)						

213

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

.

Responses to Item 1.3 of the Questionnaire by NCAA Divisional Level

;	Division I	Division II	Division III	Ch1-square	D.F.	sig.	Min. E.F.	Ceile with E.F. < 5	Missing
			Responsibility area: Financial operations	area: Financia	l operat	ions			
		Duty: Appr	Duty: Approve requisitions and authorize departmental purchases	and authorize	departm	ental pur	chages		
A. Perform?				11.505	4	.0214	.433	5 of 9 (55.64)	ы
Yea No	36 (75%) 12 (25%)	26 (100%) 0 (0%)	20 (95%) 1 (5%)						
B. How?				20.781	ġ	.0020	.866	4 of 12 (33.3 v)	4
Indévidual	(NT2) EI	16 (62%)	13 (684)					•	
Cooperation	11 (238)	-							
Delegate	24 (50%)	(%EI } E	2 (NII)						
C. Frequency?				8.461	8	.3897	.216	10 of 15 (66.7%)	5
Annually	1 (24)	-	(10) 0						
Occasionally	5 (III)	1 (4%)	(10) 0						
Honthly	1 (2%)	-							
Weekly	6 (JSN)	6 (24%)							
paily	31 (70%)	-	12 (634)						
D. Importance?				3.921	ø	.6873	.422	3 of 12 (25.0%)	7
None	(10) 0	-							
Little	2 (41)	(%0) 0	(10) 0						
Average	11 (24%)	~							
Great	17 (37%)	12 (48%)	_						
Extreme	16 (J5V)	-	6 (324)						
E. Difficulty?				7.703	60	.4629	.854	9 of 15 (60.04)	Ľ
Very easy	3 (7%)	0 (04)	3 (16%)						
Easy	17 (38 %)	8 (321)	5 (26%)						
Average	18 (40%)	-	-						
Нагс	5 (111)	2 (8%)	0 (01)						
very hard	2 (41)	1 (44)	1 (5N)						

Responses to Item 1.4 of the Questionnaire by NCAA Divisional Level

ĺ		Division I	Division II	Division III	Chi-square	D.F.	sig.	Min. E.F.	Cells with E.F. < 5	Missing
		Dut	ty: Endorse or a	Responsibility area: Financial operations Duty: Endorse or approve checks or vouchers made on athletics department funds	area: Financia vouchers made	l operat on athl	ions etics dep	artment funde		
4	Darform3				9 645		9913	417	3 of 9 (13 15)	•
		33 (69%)	21 (818)	17 (814)		•			;	8
	Ňo		5 (191)	(161) 5						
	How?				15.017	9	1020.	3,680	3 of 12 (25.0%)	17
	Individual	(NIE) EI		11 (694)						
	Cooperation	9 (214)	(125) 7	4 (251)						
	Delegate	20 (481)	(101) E	1 (61)						
ů	Frequency?				4.769	ę	.5737	.436	7 of 12 (58.3%)	19
	Annually	(10)0	(10) 0	0 (01)						
	Occasionally		1 (48)	1 (64)						
	Monthly		0 (01)							
	Weekly	8 (20%)								
	Daily	24 (621)	16 (73%)	10 (594)						
<u>.</u>	Importance?				16.656	8	.0339	.221	7 of 15 (46.7%)	20
	None	0 (04)	1 (4 8)	(10)0						
	Little		(00) 0							
	Average		12 (55%)	_						
	Great	12 (314)	4 (18%)							
	Extreme	17 (45 %)	5 (23%)	(135 N)						
ы.	Difficulty?				2.366	æ	.9677	.671	9 of 15 (60.0%)	21
	Very easy	5 (14P)	3 (14%)							
	Еаву	9 (24%)	7 (311)	5 (29%)						
	Average	~	9 (41%)	Ľ						
	Hard	2	3 (14M)	1 (61)						
	Very hard	2 (5%)	(00) 0	1 (6%)						

Responses to Item 1.5 of the Questionnaire by NCAA Divisional Level

	Division I	Division II	Division III	Chi-square	D.F.	Sig.	Hin. E.F.	Cells with E.F. < 5	Kissin
			Responsibility	area: Financia	1 operat	tions			
	Duty:	: Maintain an ac	counting system	for control, a	nalysis,	, and aud <u>i</u>	t for all mor	nies	
A. Perform?			-	5.776	4	.2165	.433	4 of 9 (44.4%)	2
Yes	33 (69%)	22 (85%)	19 (90%)						
NO	15 (31%)	4 (15%)	2 (10%)						
. How?				33.468	6	.0000	1.732	5 of 12 (41.7%)	12
Individual	0 (0%)	4 (18%)	4 (21%)						
Cooperation	7 (16%)	12 (52%)	12 (63%)						
Delegate	36 (84%)	7 (30%)	3 (16%)						
. Frequency?				14.995	8	.0592	.237	9 of 15 (60.0%)	21
Annually	1 (3%)	0 (0%)	0 (0%)					- • · · · •	
Occasionally	1 (3%)	1 (5%)	2 (114)						
Monthly	7 (19%)	5 (24%)	B (44%)						
Weekly	5 (13%)	4 (19%)	6 (34%)						
Daily	23 (62%)	11 (52%)	2 (11%)						
). Importance?				11.010	4	.D264	1.895	3 of 9 (33.3%)	21
None	0 (0%)	0 (0%)	0 (0%)						
Little	0 (01)	0 (0%)	0 (01)						
Average	1 (2%)	4 (19%)	3 (16%)						
Great	11 (30%)	5 (24%)	10 (56%)						
Extreme	25 (68%)	12 (57%)	5 (28%)						
. Difficulty?				5.729	8	.6775	. 480	9 of 15 (60.0%)	22
Very easy	1 (3%)	1 (5%)	1 (6%)						
Еаву	1 (3%)	1 (5%)	0 (0%)						
Average	17 (47%)	10 (48%)	11 (61%)						
Hard	10 (28%)	7 (33%)	6 (33%)						
Very hard	7 (19%)	2 (9%)	0 (0%)						

Table	2.1	
-------	-----	--

Responses to Item 2.1 of the Questionnaire by NCAA Divisional Level

Division I	Division II	Division III	Chi-square	D.P.	Sig.	Min. E.F.	Cells with E.F. < 5	Missing
------------	-------------	--------------	------------	------	------	-----------	-----------------------	---------

Responsibility area: Generation of revenues

Duty: Solicit contributions from individuals by phone, mail, or personal contact

_													
А.	Perform?							10.680	4	.0304	.433	3 of 9 (33.3%)	2
	Yes	38	(81%)	21 (7	78%)	10 (48%)						
	No	9	(19%)	6 (2	228)		52%}						
в.	How?							17.420	6	.0079	.866	5 of 12 (41.7%)	24
	Individual	2	(5%)	2 (1	101)	0 (011						
	Cooperation	32	(74%)	16 (7	76%)	7 (781)						
	Delegate	9	(21%)	3 (1	14%)	2	224)						
c.	Frequency?							13.893	8	.0846	.380	10 of 15 (66.7%)	26
	Annually	D	(01)	2 ()	101)	1	12%}						
	Occasionally	6	(14%)	5 (3	301)	4 (441)						
	Monthly	6	(14%)	4 (3		2 (221)						
	Weekly	16	(38%)	5 (2	251)	2 (22%}						
	Daily	14	(34%)	3 (1	15%)	0 (01)						
p.	Importance?							15.575	4	.0036	.887	5 of 9 (55.6%)	26
	None	0	(0%)	0 (0%)	0 ((0)						
	Little		(05)			0	01)						
	Average	1	(21)	-	25)	1	115						
	Great		(26%)	11	58)	5 (561)						
	Extreme		(72%)	14 (7	701)	3 ((334)						
Е.	Difficulty?							7.821	6	.2515	.254	6 of 12 (50-0%)	26
	Very easy	0	(0))	0 (0%)	0	(01)	-					-
	Easy		(21)	0 (•		121)						
	Average		(24%)	10 (5	•		221)						
	Hard		(48%)		251 }		441)						
	Very hard		(26%)		25%)		221)						

Responses to Item 2.2 of the Questionnaire by NCAA Divisional Lavel

	Division I	Dįvisian II	Division III	Chi-equate	D.F.	stg.	Min. E.F.	Cells with 2.P. < 5	Missing
			Responsibility area: Generation of revenues	Irea: Generatio	n of reve	nues			
			Duty: Secure d	Duty: Secure donations from corporations	corporatio	auc			
A. Perform? Yea No	40 (85%) 7 (15%)	18 (674) 9 (334)	6 (29%) 15 (71%)	23.276	4	.0001	£54.	3 of 9 (33.34)	N
B. How? Individual Cooperation Delegate	4 (10%) 29 (69%) 9 (21%)	2 (114) 12 (674) 4 (224)	1 (17%) 4 (66%) 1 (17%)	22.303	œ	1100.	1.515	5 of 12 (41.78)	15
C. Frequency? Annually Occamionally Honthly Weekly Daily	1 (3%) 11 (26%) 9 (21%) 11 (26%) 10 (24%)	1 (64) 7 (414) 5 (294) 3 (184) 1 (54)	1 (17%) 2 (33%) 2 (33%) 2 (33%) 1 (17%) 1 (17%)	7.768	ω	. 4564	.277	10 of 15 (66.7%)	2 F
D. Importance? None Littla Average Great Extreme	0 { 0%) 0 { 0%) 4 (10%) 13 (30%) 25 (60%)	0 (04) 0 (04) 4 (234) 3 (184) 10 (594)	0 (00) 0 (01) 2 (334) 2 (334) 2 (334) 2 (334)	4.424	4	.3517	.923	5 of 9 (55.6%)	R R
E. Difficulty? Very easy Easy Average Hard Very hard	0 (0%) 0 (0%) 11 (26%) 19 (45%) 12 (29%)	0 (0%) 1 (6%) 6 (35%) 6 (35%) 6 (35%)	0 (04) 1 (174) 0 (04) 3 (504) 2 (334)	6.223	٥	.1614	. 185	7 of 12 (58.34)	57 17

Responses to Item 2.3 of the Questionnaire by NCAA Divisional Level

	Division I	Division II	Division III	Chi-squ are	D.F.	sig.	Hin. E.F.	Cella with E.F. < 5	Hissing
			Responsibility area: Generation of revenues	brea: Generatic	n of revi	santra			
			Duty: Establish and/or increase ticket prices	and/or increase	ticket]	prices			
A. Perform?				20.807	4	.0003	.433	5 of 9 (55.6%)	6
Yes	45 (96%)	26 (96%)	13 (624)					•	
No	2 (41)	1 (4N)	8 (384)						
B. How?				25,609	ę	£000.	1.732	7 of 12 (58.34)	14
Individual	5 (114)	(NIE) 8	2 (174)						
Cooperation	(JEL) EE	17 (65%)	10 (831)						
Delegate	_	1 (4m)	(NO) O						
C. Frequency?				10.084	80	.2591	.134	12 of 15 (80.0%)	15
Annually	40 (87%)	20 (80%)	(\$16) 01						
Occasionally	1 (24)		16) I						
Молсћју	3 (7%)	0 (01)	(10) 0						
Ческіу	1 (24)		~						
Daily	1 (24)		÷						
D. Importance?				21.646	Q	.0014	1.446	6 of 12 (50.04)	14
None	(10) 0	(40) 0	(10) 0						
Little	4 (3#)	2 (8%)	4 (33%)						
Average	-								
Great	19 (414)		1 (94)						
Extreme	13 (284)	2 (8%)	-						
E. Difficulty?				10.770	8	.2151	.578	10 of 15 (66.7%)	14
Very eagy			2 (16%)						
Easy			5 (42%)						
Average	-	15 (60%)	5 (42%)						
Hard	6 (13%)	0 (01)	~						
Very hard	4 (34)		(10)0						

ı

Responses to Item 2.4 of the Questionnaire by NCAA Divisional Level

	I noisiu	Division II	Division III	Ch1-square	D.F.	sig.	HIN. E.F.	Cells with E.F. < 5	6uțeețH
			Responsibility area: Generation of revenues Duty: Direct a pre-season ticket sales drive	irea: Generatic re-season tick	n of rav et sales	enues drive			
A. Perform? Yem No	(#07) EE (#01) 41	14 (52%) 13 (48%)	1 (5 4) 20 (95 4)	27.121	4	0000.	EE4.	(NE-EE) 6 30 E	N
B. How? Individual Cooperation Delegate	1 1 (234) on 19 (454) 22 (524)	1 (64) 10 (634) 5 (314)	0 (0%) 0 (0%) 1 (100%)	43.021	φ	. 0000	.433	3 of 12 (25.01)	38
C. Frequency? Annually Occasionally Honthly Weekly Daily	7 27 (694) 11y 5 (134) 3 (134) 1 (24) 3 (34)	9 (644) 3 (221) 1 (71) 0 (01) 1 (71)	0 (00) 0 (00) 0 (00) 0 (00) 0 (00)	n, 964	ά	-6512	010 .	12 of 15 (80.04)	6 7
D. Importance? None Little Average Great Extreme	e? 0 (04) 1 (34) 7 (184) 13 (334) 18 (464)	(NC) 1 (NC) 4 (NC) 4 (N	0 (00) 0 (00) 0 (00) 0 (00) 0 (00)	22.489	æ	.0041	.019	(f5.57) 21 ja 11	e 4
E. Difficulty? Very easy Easy Average Hard Very hard	-2 ² (0 (04) 7 (184) 12 (304) 17 (444) 17 (444) 17 (448)	1 (74) 2 (141) 8 (581) 1 (71) 2 (141)	0 (00) 0 (00) 0 (00) 0 (01)	919.EI	۵	9690.	- 019	11 of 15 (73.34)	E 4

Responses to Item 2.5 of the Questionnaire by NCAA Divisional Level

	Division I	Division II	Division III	ch1-square	D.F.	sig.	Min. E.F.	Cells with E.F. < 5	Hissing
			Responsibility area: Generation of revenues	rea: Generation	t of reve	thue B			
		Duty: Ne	Duty: Negotiate television and/or radio broadcast contracts	on and/or radic	broadc	ist contra	acts		
A. Perforn? Yes No	41 (87%) 6 (13%)	14 (52%) 13 (48%)	1 (51) 20 (951)	43.808	4	0000.	£6\$.	(1 E.EE) 9 30 E	N
B, How? Individual Cooperation Delegate	17 (401) 17 (401) 9 (201)	1 (19) 1 (19) 01 (131) 5	1 (100N) 1 (10N) 1 (10N) 1 (10N)	49.516	Ś	0000 .	3.031	3 of 12 (25.01)	37
C. Frequency? Annually Occasionally Monthly Weekly Daily	25 (58%) 9 (21%) 3 (7%) 3 (7%) 3 (7%)	10 (67%) 4 (27%) 1 (6%) 0 (0%) 0 (0%)	0 (0%) 1 (100%) 0 (0%) 0 (0%) 0 (0%)	5.690	α,	. 6818	150.	12 of 15 (80.04)	8
D. Importance? None Little Average Great Extreme	0 (08) 1 (28) 4 (100) 19 (448) 19 (448)	0 (0%) 1 (6%) 6 (40%) 4 (27%) 4 (27%)	0 (0%) 0 (0%) 1 (100%) 0 (0%) 0 (0%)	12.429	чD	.0531	.034	7 of 12 (58.3%)	Ω Π
E. Difficulty? Very easy Easy Average Hard Very hard	1 (2%) 5 (12%) 9 (21%) 21 (49%) 7 (16%)	0 (01) 2 (131) 9 (601) 2 (131) 2 (131)	0 (0%) 0 (0%) 1 (100%) 0 (0%) 0 (0%)	11.454	80	.1773	610-	10 of 15 (66.7%)	8 E

.

Responses to Item 2.6 of the Questionnairs by NCAA Divisional Lavel

A. Ferform? A. Ferform? Yes No B. How? Individual Cooperation Delegate C. Frequency? Annually Occasionally Monthly Heekly Heekly Daily D. Importance? None Little									
 A. Perform? A. Perform? Yes No Individua Individua Cooperati Delegate Delegate Cooperati Delegate Cooperati Delegate Del									
 A. Perform? A. Perform? No B. How? B. How? B. How? B. How? B. How? Cocperations Monthly Monthly Montant D. Important Little 			Responsibility area: Gansration of revenues	rea: Generatio	n of reve	anuea			
 A. Perform? Yes No B. How? Individua Cooperations Delegate Delegate Cooperations Monually Occasions Montally Daily D. Important Little 			Duty: Secure 1	- Duty: Secure revenue through guarantees	guaranti	808			
No B. How? Individua Cooperati Delegate Delegate Annually Annually Annually Ccasions Monthly Heekly Daily D. Importand None Little	41 (871)			17.484	4	.0016	.433	3 of 9 (33.34)	2
 B. How? Individua Cooperati Delegate C. Frequency Annually Annually Occasions Monthly Weekly Daily D. Important None Little 	(121) 9	6 (22%)	12 (574)						
Individua Cooperati Delegate C. Frequency Annually Occasions Monthly Meekly Daily Daily D. Importanc None Little				24.294	9	.0005	2.598	3 of 12 (25.04)	23
cooperation Delegate C. Frequency Annually Cccasions Monthly Heekly Daily Daily D. Importanc None Little	19	-							
C. Frequency Annually Occasions Monthly Weekly Daily D. Importand None Little		8 (J34) 3 (J34)	(10) 0						
Annually Cccasions Monthly Meekly Daily Dily None None Little	2			7.832	¢	.4500	.225	10 of 15 (66.7%)	26
Occasions Monthly Meekly Daily Daily D. Importand None Little	14 (33%)	10 (47%)	6 (75N)						
Monthly Meekly Daily D. Importand None Little	17	4 (194)	2 (25%)						
Weekly Daily D. Important None Little	7 (174)	(161) 🕈	-						
Daily D. Importand None Little	1 (34)	-	(10) 0						
D. Importand None Little	(NL) E	2 (104)	\sim						
None Little	e7			17.817	ß	.0226	111.	9 of 15 (60.04)	25
Little	(10) 0	-							
	1 (2V)	3 (14%)	2 (25%)						
Average	7 (16%)	-							
Great	16 (424)	4 (194)	(151) 1						
Extreme	17 (40M)							F	
E. Difficulty?	<i>դ</i> г			7.395	ø	.4946	EEE.	11 of 15 (73.34)	25
Very casy		~	ميه						
Easy	7 (164)	2 (ION)						•	
Average	22 (51%)	-	7 (881)						
Hard		4 (16N)							
Very hard		1 (4%)	1 (124)						

Responses to Item 2.7 of the Questionnaire by NCAA Divisional Level

	Division I	Division II	bivision III	Chi-square	D.F.	stg.	HÍN. E.F.	cells with E.P. < 5	Hissing
			Responsibility area: Generation of revenues	irea: Generatio	n of revi	anues			
		Duty: Sec	Duty: Secure contracts for the rental of athletics facilities	or the rental o	f athlet	ce facil:	it iea		
A. Perform? Yes No	24 (51%) 23 (49%)	(188) 14 (188) 13	12 (57%) 9 (43%)	2.227	ব	. 6940	. 43 6	3 of 9 (33.31)	м
B. How? Individual Cooperation Delegate	3 (8%) 9 (24%) 25 (68%)	4 (311) 8 (621) 1 (71)	3 (25%) 7 (58%) 2 (17%)	24.307	9	- 0005	2.165	2 of 12 (16.74)	S.
C. Frequency? Annually Occasionally Monthly Weekly Daily	3 (10%) 14 (45%) 3 (10%) 7 (23%) 4 (12%)	4 (314) 4 (314) 2 (164) 0 (04) 3 (234)	0 (04) 6 (504) 5 (424) 0 (04) 1 (84)	17.496	¢	.0253	1.500	11 of 15 (73.3%)	41
<pre>D. Importance? None Little Average Great Extreme</pre>	1 (34) 5 (155) 18 (564) 4 (134) 4 (134)	0 (01) 2 (151) 2 (311) 4 (311) 3 (313) 3 (313)	0 { 04) 2 (173) 9 (754) 1 { 84) 0 { 04)	8.278	œ	. 4068	112.	10 of 15 (66.74)	40
E. Difficulty? Very casy Easy Average Hard Very hard	3 (9%) 10 (32%) 15 (47%) 3 (9%) 1 (9%)	2 (174) 1 (84) 8 (674) 0 { 04) 1 (84)	0 (0%) 5 (42%) 6 (50%) 1 (8%)	8.018	£	7162.		(#E.E7) 21 90 11	41

Responses to Item 2.8 of the Questionnaire by NCAA Divisional Level

	Division I	Division II	Division III	Chi-square	D.F.	Sig.	Min. E.F.	Cells with E.F. < 5	Missin
			Responsibility :	irea: Generatio	on of rev	enues.			
		Dut	y: Determine and	i/or increase o	oncessio	on prices			
. Perform?				2.643	4	. 6192	.433	3 of 9 (33.3%)	2
Yes	18 (38%)	12 (44%)	7 (33%)						
No	29 (62%)	15 (56%)	14 (67%)						
. How?				21.470	6	.0015	2.381	5 of 12 (41.7%)	48
Individual	1 (4%)	5 (36%)	5 (83%)						
Cooperation	12 (41%)	4 (28%)	1 (17%)						
Delegate	16 (55%)	5 (36%)	0 (0%)						
. Frequency?				6.527	8	. 5884	.136	13 of 15 (86.7%)	53
Annually	20 (77%)	9 (75%)	4 (67%)						
Occasionally	4 (15%)	0 (0%)	1 (17%)						
Honthly	1 (4%)	1 (8%)	1 (17%)						
Weekly	0 (0%)	1 (8%)	0 (0%)						
Daily	1 (4%)	1 (8%)	0 (0%)						
). Importance?				13.063	8	.1097	.133	13 of 15 (86.7%)	52
None	0 (0%)	0 (0%)	1 (17%)						
Little	3 (11%)	2 (17%)	2 (33%)						
Average	15 (56%)	9 (75N)	2 (33%)						
Great	6 (22%)	1 (8%)	0 (0%)						
Extreme	3 (11%)	0 (0%)	1 (17%)						
. Difficulty?				6.553	8	.5855	.267	12 of 15 (80.0%)	52
Very easy	2 (7%)	0 (0%)	1 (17%)						
Easy	7 (26%)	3 (25 %)	3 (50%)						
Average	16 (59%)	7 (59%)	1 (17%)						
Hard	1 (4%)	1 (8%)	0 (0%)						
Very hard	1 (4%)	1 (8%)	1 (17%)						

Table	2.9
-------	-----

Responses to Item 2.9 of the Questionnaire by NCAA Divisional Level

	Division I	Division II	Division III	Chi~square	D.F.	Sig.	Min. E.F.	Cells with E.F. < 5	Missin
			Responsibility a	irea: Generatio	n of rev	renues			
	D	uty: Propose in	creases in stude	ent fees which	support	the athle	tice program		
. Perform?				19.789	4	.0005	.433	3 of 9 (33.3%)	2
Yes	26 (55%)	7 (26%)	1 (5%)						
No	21 (45%)	20 (741)	20 (95%)						
. How?				22.308	6	.0011	.433	5 of 12 (41.7%)	60
Individual	9 (31%)	1 (14%)	0 (DN)						
Cooperation	18 (621)	6 (86%)	1 (100%)						
Delegate	2 (7%)	0 (0%)	0 (0%)						
. Frequency?				10.102	8	.2579	.028	13 of 15 (86.7%)	61
Annually	22 (79%)	5 (72%)	1 (100%)						
Occasionally	4 (14%)	0 (01)	0 (01)						
Monthly	0 (0%)	1 (14%)	σίον						
Weekly	2 (71)	0 (0%)	0 (01) -						
Daily	0 (0%)	1 (14%)	0 (0%)						
. Importance?				4.044	6	.6706	.054	10 of 12 (83.3%)	60
None	0 (0%)	0 (08)	0 (0%)						
Little	1 (3%)	1 (13%)	0 (0%)						
Average	4 (14%)	2 (29%)	0 (0%)						
Great	6 (21%)	2 (29%)	0 (0%)						
Extreme	18 (62%)	2 (29%)	1 (100%)						
. Difficulty?				5.376	8	.7166	.027	12 of 15 (80.0%)	60
Very easy	1 (4%)	0 (0%)	0 (0%)						
Easy	3 (10%)	1 (14%)	0 (0%)						
Average	5 (17%)	3 (43%)	0 (0%)						
Hard	8 (28%)	0 (0%)	0 (0%)						
Very hard	12 (41%)	3 (43%)	1 (100%)						

Responses to Item 2.10 of the Questionnairs by NCAA Divisional Level

I	plvision I	Division II	Division III	ch1-square	D.F.	stg.	Min. E.P.	Cells with E.F. < 5	Hissing
			Responsibility area: Generation of revenues	rea: Generatio	n of reve	saura -			
	Duty: Super	vise an organiz	Duty: Supervise an organizational unit whose purpose is to lund-raise for the athletics program	ge purpose is	to Iund-1	alse for	the athletic	a program	
A. Perform?				12.430	4	.0144	CEP.	3 of 9 (33.3%)	ы
Yes	31 (66 1)	14 (52%)	5 (24%)						
No	16 (344)	(484) ET	16 (76%)						
B. How?				20.652	9	.0021	1.948	5 of 12 (41.7%)	41
Individual	8 (22%)	1 (78)	0 (04)						
Cooperation		11 (794)	3 (60%)						
Delegate	10 (27%)	2 (144)	2 (40%)						
C. Frequency?				16.215	¢	4660.	. 625	(ME.E7) 21 Jo II	41
Annually	6 (16%)	3 (21%)	(10) 0						
Occasionally	4 (11%)	1 (8%)							
Monthly	(111) 4		3 (60 %)						
Weekly	8 (22%)	5 (36%)	(10) 0						
Daily	15 (40%)	(NIZ) E	(10)0						
D. Importance7				15.440	8	.0511	160.	12 of 15 (80.0%)	42
None	(10) 0		(10) 0						
Little	(10)0	(10) 0	1 (20%)						
Average	1 (24)								
Great	(NIE) II								
Extreme	24 (67%)	6 (43N)	2 (40%)						
E. Difficulty?				7.369	æ	.4973	160.	11 of 15 (73.34)	42
Very easy	(40)0	-	-						
Easy	(NE) T	(40) 0	(10)0						
Average	9 (25%)								
Hard	16 (44%)		4 (80%)						
Very hard	10 (28 4)	2 (14%)	1 (204)						

226

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

Responses to Item 2.11 of the Questionnaire by NCAA Divisional Level

Division I	Division II	Division III	Chi-square	D.F.	sig.	Min. E.F.	Cells with E.P. < 5	Missing
------------	-------------	--------------	------------	------	------	-----------	---------------------	---------

Responsibility area	Generation	of	revenues
---------------------	------------	----	----------

Duty: Submit proposals for grants from the NCAA and/or from the conference

А.	Perform?				3.331	4	.5040	.433	3 of 9 (33.3%)	2
	Yes	27 (571)	12 (44%)	10 (48%)						
	No	20 (43%)	15 (56%)	11 (52%)						
в.	How?				26.498	6	.0002	1.515	4 of 12 (33.3%)	40
	Individual	2 (6%)	4 (33%)	1 (10%)						
	Cooperation	24 (40%)	8 (67%)	9 (90%)						
	Delegate	19 (54%)	0 (0%)	0 (0%)						
c.	Frequency?				7.323	8	.5022	. 182	11 of 15 (73.3%)	42
	Annually	9 (26%)	1 (6%)	4 (40%)						
	Occasionally	18 (53%)	7 (44%)	5 (50%)						
	Honthly	5 (15%)	1 (6%)	1 (10%)						
	Weekly	0 (0%)	1 (6%)	0 (0%)						
	Daily	2 (6%)	1 (6%)	0 (0%)						
D.	Importance7				13,551	8	.0942	. 370	11 of 15 (73.3%)	43
	None	0 (0%)	2 (18%)	0 (0%)						
	Little	2 (6%)	1 (9%)	1 (10%)						
	Average	17 (52%)	4 (36%)	7 (70%)						
	Great	7 (21%)	0 (01)	1 (10%)						
	Extreme	7 (211)	4 (36%)	1 (10%)						
ε.	Difficulty7				8.180	8	.4160	.926	11 of 15 {73.3%}	43
	Very easy	3 (9%)	2 (18%)	0 (0%)					••••••	
	Easy	5 (15%)	0 (01)	1 (10%)						
	Average	16 (48 %)	6 (55%)	5 (50%)						
	Hard	6 (18%)	1 (9%)	4 (40%)						
	Very hard	3 (9%)	2 (18%)	0 (0%)						

-

Responses to Item 3.1 of the Questionnaire by NCAA Divisional Level

	Division I	Division II	Division III	Chi-square	D.F.	Sig.	Hin. E.F.	Cells with E.F. < 5	Missir
			Responsibility	area: Operatio	onal poli	icies			
		Duty;	Plan Athletics I	Department poli	cies and	t procedure	8		
. Perform?				3.963	4	.4110	. 649	6 of 9 (66.7%)	3
Уев	44 (96%)	26 (96%)	21 (100%)						
No	2 (4%)	1 (4%)	0 (0%)						
3. How?				2.830	6	.8298	.865	8 of 12 (66.7%)	7
Individual	4 (9%)	3 (12%)	3 (16%)						
Cooperation	39 (87%)	21 (81%)	16 (84%)						
Delegate	2 (4%)	2 (7%)	0 (0%)						
. Frequency?				13.257	6	.1033	1.758	7 of 15 (46.7%)	6
Annually	13 (28%)	10 (40%)	6 (30%)						
Occasionally	9 (20%)	10 (40%)	3 (15%)						
Monthly	16 (35%)	3 (12%)	4 (20%)						
Weekly	3 (6%)	1 (4%)	4 (20%)						
Daily	5 (11%)	1 (4%)	3 (15%)						
. Importance?				9.828	4	.0434	4.396	1 of 9 (11.1%)	6
None	0 (0%)	0 (0%)	0 (0%)						
Little	0 (0%)	0 (0%)	0 (0%)						
Average	11 (24%)	8 (32%)	1 (5N)						
Great	14 (30%)	12 (48%)	7 (35%)						
Extreme	21 (46%)	5 (20%)	12 (60%)						
. Difficulty?				5.854	8	.6636	.440	9 of 15 (60.0%)	6
Very easy	2 (4%)	0 (0%)	0 (0%)						
Easy	1 (2%)	1 (4%)	0 (0%)						
Average	26 (57%)	17 (68%)	10 (50%)						
Hard	13 (28%)	6 (24%)	9 (45%)						
Very hard	4 (9%)	1 (4%)	1 (5%)						

Responses to Item 3.2 of the Questionnaira by NCAA Divisional Level

	Division I	Division fl	Division III	Chi-square	D.F.	Sig.	Min. E.F.	Cells with E.F. < S	Hissin
			Responsibility	area: Operatio	onal poli	LCies			
	Duty:	Direct the prep	aration, revisio	n, and distrib	ution of	thø depa	ctmental hand	book	
A. Perform?				4.929	4	.2946	.649	3 of 9 (33.3%)	3
Yes	30 (65%)	20 (74%)	17 (811)						
No	16 (35%)	7 (26%)	4 (19%)						
. How?				20.848	6	.0020	2.381	3 of 12 (25.0%)	21
Indivídual	2 (5%)	2 (10%)	7 (41%)						
Cooperation	17 (44%)	13 (65%)	9 (53%)						
Delegate	20 (51%)	5 (25%)	1 (6%)						
. Frequency?				3.916	6	.6879	.230	8 of 12 (66.7%)	23
Annually	30 (79%)	13 (69%)	15 (88%)						
Occasionally	5 (13%)	5 (26%)	2 (12%)						
Monthly	2 (5%)	1 (5%)	0 (ON)						
Weekly	1 (3%)	0 (0%)	0 (0%)						
Daily	0 (0%)	0 (0%)	0 (0%)						
. Importance?				8,790	8	.3603	.227	6 of 15 (40.0%)	22
None	1 (3%)	0 (0%)	0 (0%)						
Little	2 (51)	0 (0%)	1 (6%)						
Average	13 (33%)	9 (48%)	2 (12%)						
Great	11 (28%)	7 (371)	6 (35%)						
Extreme	12 (311)	3 (15%)	8 (47%)						
Difficulty?				15,869	8	.0443	.459	10 of 15 (66.7%)	23
Very easy	2 (5%)	0 (0%)	0 (0%)						
Еаву	6 (16%)	3 (16%)	1 (6%)						
Average	24 (63%)	9 (47%)	10 (59%)						
Hard	2 (5%)	7 (37%)	6 (35%)						
Very hard	4 (11%)	0 (0%)	0 (0%)						

Responses to Item 3.3 of the Questionnaire by NCAA Divisional Level

	Division I	Division II	Division III	Chi-square	D.F.	Sig.	Min. E.F.	Cells with E.F. < 5	Hissing
			Responsibility	area: Operation	al poli	lcies			
	Duty: Dev	velop procedure:	and guidelines	for scheduling,	travel	l, and hom	e athletics (contests	
A. Perform?				6.600	4	.1585	. 649	5 of 9 (55.6%)	3
Yes	39 (85%)	24 (89%)	21 (100%)						
No	7 (15%)	3 (11%)	0 (0%)						
B. How?				14.153	6	.0 280	2.598	6 of 12 (50.0%)	12
Individual	3 (8%)	3 (13%)	7 (35%)						
Cooperation	28 (68%)	19 (79%)	12 (60%)						
Delegate	10 (24%)	2 (8%)	1 (5%)						
C. Frequency?				6.703	8	.5690	1.176	8 of 15 (53.3%)	12
Annually	21 (50%)	7 (30%)	8 (40%)						
Occasionally	10 (24%)	7 (30%)	5 (25%)						
Monthly	6 (141)	5 (22\)	3 (15%)						
Weekly	4 (10%)	3 (13%)	1 (5%)						
Daily	1 (2%)	1 (5%)	3 (15%)						
D. Importance?				6,983	8	.5384	.233	6 of 15 (40.0%)	11
None	1 (2%)	0 (0%)	0 (0%)						
Little	2 (5%)	0 (0%)	0 (0%)						
Average	18 (42%)	10 (43%)	7 (35%)						
Great	7 (16%)	8 (35%)	7 (35%)						
Extreme	15 (35%)	5 (22%)	6 (30%)						
E. Difficulty7				8,108	8	. 4230	.687	12 of 15 (80.0%)	14
Very easy	3 (7%)	0 (0%)	0 (0%)						
Еаву	4 (10%)	1 (4%)	3 (16%)						
Average	30 (73%)	18 (78%)	13 (68%)						
Hard	3 (78)	2 (9%)	3 (16%)						
Very hard	1 (3%)	2 (9%)	0 (0%)						

Responses to Item 3.4 of the Questionnaire by NCRA Divisional Level

	Division I	Division II	Division III	Chi-square	D.F.	Sig.	Min. E.F.	Cells with E.F. < 5	Miesin
			Responsibility	area: Operatio	onal poli	lcies			
	Duty:	Develop and mai	ntain a system i	for purchasing,	, recelvi	ing, stori	ng, and inver	itory	
. Perform?				4.943	2	.0844	4.642	1 of 6 (16.7%)	2
Yes	33 (68%)	22 (85%)	19 (90%)						
No	15 (32%)	4 (15%)	2 (10%)						
. How?				32.915	4	.0000	1.788	3 of 9 (33.3%)	12
Individual	0 (01)	4 (18%)	4 (21%)						
Cooperation	7 (16%)	12 (52%)	12 (63%)						
Delegate	36 (84%)	7 (30%)	3 (16%)						
. Frequency?				14.995	8	.0592	.237	9 of 15 (60.0%)	21
Annually	23 (621)	11 (52%)	2 (11%)						
Occasionally	5 (14%)	4 (19%)	6 (33%)						
Monthly	7 (18%)	5 (24%)	8 (44%)						
Weekly	1 (31)	1 (5%)	2 (11%)						
Daily	1 (3%)	0 (0%)	0 (0%)						
. Importance?				11.010	4	.0264	1.895	3 of 9 (33.3%)	21
None	0 (0\)	0 (0%)	0 (0%)						
Little	0 (Ob)	0 (0%)	0 (0%)						
Average	1 (2%)	4 (19%)	3 (16%)						
Great	11 (30%)	5 (24%)	10 (56%)						
Extreme	25 (68%)	12 (57%)	5 (28%)						
. Difficulty?				5,729	8	.6775	.480	9 of 15 (60.0%)	22
Very easy	1 (3%)	1 (5%)	1 (6%)						
Easy	1 (3%)	1 (5%)	0 (0%)						
Average	17 (47%)	10 (47%)	11 (62%)						
Hard	10 (28%)	7 (33%)	6 (33%)						
Very hard	7 (19%)	2 (10%)	0 (0%)						

Responses to Item 3.5 of the Questionnaire by NCAA Divisional Level

	Division I	Division II	Division III	Chi-square	D.F.	sig.	Min. E.F.	Cella with E.F. < 5	Missing
			Responsibility area: Operational policies	Area: Operatio	bilog Ist	:ies			
			Duty: Develop a plan for program evaluation	plan for progr	am evalu	Ition			
A. Perform? Yes No	(868) 14 (811) 2	21 (78%) 6 (22%)	21 (100%) 0 (0%)	8,918	খ	2E90°	. 649	5 of 9 (55.6%)	m
B. How? Individual Cooperation Delegate	8 (20%) 30 (73%) 3 (7%)	9 (43%) 11 (52%) 1 (5%)	9 (43%) 12 (57%) 0 (0%)	11.462	ъ	.0751	. 865	5 of 12 (41.7%)	14
C. Frequency? Annually Occasionally Monthly Weekly Daily	Y 27 (66%) 3 (7%) 9 (22%) 2 (5%) 0 (0%)	9 (45%) 6 (30%) 2 (10%) 1 (5%) 2 (10%)	11 (554) 6 (304) 2 (104) 1 (54)	012.61	w	.1048	.741	10 of 15 (66.7%)	16
<pre>D. Importance? None Little Average Great Extreme</pre>	0 (0%) 2 (5%) 12 (30%) 9 (22%) 17 (43%)	0 (0%) 0 (0%) 9 (45%) 7 (35%) 4 (20%)	0 (01) 0 (01) 3 (150) 10 (501) 7 (350)	10.082	ŝ		. 500	(\$0.22 (25.0%)	17
E. Difficulty? Very easy Easy Average Hard Very hard	2 (5%) 3 (8%) 21 (52%) 11 (27%) 3 (8%)	0 (0%) 2 (10%) 13 (55%) 4 (20%) 1 (5%)	0 (04) 2 (104) 9 (454) 7 (354) 2 (104)	4.061	æ	. 8515	, 500	9 of 15 (60.0%)	7 T

Responses to Item 3.6 of the Questionnaire by NCAA Divisional Level

		Division I	Division II	Division III	Ch1-square	D.F.	sig.	Hin. E.P.	calle with E.F. < 5	Hissing
				Responsibility area: Operational policies	area: Operatic	nal poli	cies			
			Δ	Duty: Develop a handbook for student athlates	andbook for st	udent at	hlates			
Ä	Perform?		!		16.356	4	.0026	.866	3 of 9 {33.3%}	4
	Yeu	27 (604)		3 (14%)						
	No	18 (404)	15 (564)						-	
Ë	How?				23.417	Ŷ	.0007	1.082	3 of 12 (25.0%)	41
	Individual	2 (61)	1 (7%)	2 (504)						
	Cooperation	16 (43N)	8 (53%)							
	Delegate	19 (SIN)	_							
ပံ	Frequency?				3.173	80	.9230	.085	13 of 15 (86.7%)	50
	Annually	24 (784)	10 (84%)	3 (75%)						
	Occasionally	3 (104)	1 (BV)							
	Monthly	1 (34)	-	(10) 0						
	Weekly		-							
	Daily	2 (68)	(10) 0	(10) 0						
р.	Importance?				13.537	8	.0946	.085	12 of 15 (80.0 %)	50
	None	0 (04)	(10) 0	1 (254)						
	Little	1 (41)	(%0)0	(40)0						
	Average	11 (35%)		-						
	Great	8 (264)	~	1 (25%)						
	Extreme	(NSE) TT	6 (50%)	2 (50%)						
ຜ່	Difficulty?				9.031	8	.3396	580.	12 of 15 (80.0%)	50
	Very еаву	1 (34)	(10)0	1 (25%)						
	Easy	3 (10%)	1 (8%)	-						
	Average	20 (64%)	_	3 (75%)						
	Hard	(NEZ) 7	3 (26%)	~						
	Very hard	(10) 0	1 (84)	(10) 0						

Table 4.1

Responses to Item 4.1 of the Questionnaire by NCAA Divisional Level

	Division I	Division II	Division III	Ch1-square	D.F.	sig.	Min. E.F.	Cella with E.F. < 5	Nissing
			Responsibl	Responsibility area: Personnel	aonne.l				
		Duty: Plan a	Duty: Plan and conduct regularly scheduled athletics staff meetings	arly scheduled	athletic	e staff m	eetinge		
A. Perform? Yes No	46 (98%) 1 { 2%)	25 (93%) 2 (7%)	21 (100 1) 0 (0 1)	4.487	4	.3441	.433	6 OF 9 (55.7%)	~
B. How? Individual Cooperation Delegate	24 (53%) 19 (42%) 2 (5%)	17 (71%) 6 (25%) 1 (4%)	(NES) D1 (NTA) 9 (NTA) 0	3.601	ŝ	50£7.	. 649	6 of 12 (50.0%)	a
C. Frequency? Annually Occasionally Monthly Weekly Daily	1 (48) B (174) 14 (30%) 22 (47%) 2 (2%)	0 (0%) 7 (28%) 13 (52%) 5 (20%) 0 (0%)	0 (04) 0 (04) 10 (504) 10 (504) 10 (04)	14.380	ಹ	.0724	712.	(ME.E2) 21 10 8	Ŵ
D, Importance? None Little Average Great Extreme	0 (01) 3 (61) 8 (171) 16 (341) 20 (431)	0 (0%) 0 (0%) 10 (40%) 12 (48%) 3 (12%)	(100) 0 (100) 0 (100) 2 (100) 2 (10	15.643	ى	.0158	. 652	(NE.EE) 11 10 4	۵
E. Difficulty? Very easy Easy Average Hard Very hard	4 (9%) 5 (13%) 33 (70%) 2 (4%) 2 (4%)	1 (4%) 4 (16%) 20 (80%) 0 (0%) 0 (0%)	1 (5%) 3 { 164) 13 { 684) 2 { 114) 0 { 01}	5 . 594	¢	. 6925	,418	11 of 15 (73.3 4)	۵

.

Table	4.2
-------	-----

Responses to Item 4.2 of the Questionnaire by NCAA Divisional Level

	Division I	Division II	Division III	Chi-square	D.F.	Sig.	Min. E.F.	Cells with E.F. < 5	Hissing
			Responsib	ility area: Pe	rsonnel				
		Duty	: Hold individual	l conferences	with sta	iff members	1		
A. Perform?				.863	2	.6493	. 649	3 of 6 (50.0%)	3
Yes	47 (100%)	26 (100%)	21 (100%)						
No	0 (0%)	0 (0%)	0 (0%)						
3. How?				2.148	6	.9055	.216	8 of 12 (65.7%)	8
Individual	40 (89%)	21 (88%)	17 (85%)						
Cooperation	4 (9%)	3 (12%)	3 (15%)						
Delegate	1 (2%)	0 (0%)	0 (0%)						
. Frequency?				10.281	8	-2458	1.087	7 of 15 (46.7%)	Э
Annually	3 (7%)	1 (4%)	1 (5%)						
Occasionally	13 (28%)	12 (46%)	10 (50%)						
Honthly	5 (11%)	6 (23%)	2 (10%)						
Weekly	13 (28%)	4 (15%)	6 (30%)						
Daily	12 (26%)	3 (12%)	1 (5%)						
. Importance?				8,900	6	.1793	. 440	4 of 12 (33.3%)	6
None	0 (01)	0 (0%)	0 (01)						
Little	1 (2%)	0 (0%)	1 (5%)						
Average	10 (22%)	8 (32%)	3 (15%)						
Great	16 (35%)	14 (56%)	9 (45%)						
Extreme	19 (41%)	3 (12%)	7 (35%)						
. Difficulty7				4.821	8	.7765	.440	10 of 15 (66.7%)	6
Very easy	3 (7%)	1 { 4% }	2 (10%)						
Еаву	7 (15%)	5 (20%)	2 (10%)						
Average	30 (65%)	16 (64%)	12 (60%)						
Hard	4 (9%)	3 (12%)	4 (201)						
Very hard	2 (4%)	D (O%)	0 (01)						

Responder to Itam 4.3 of the Questionnaire by NCAA Divisional Level

	Division I	Division II	Division III	chi-square	D.F.	sig.	Min. E.F.	Cells with E.F. < 5	Hissing
			Responstb	Responsibility area: Personnel	teonet				
		Duty: Frepå	Duty: Frepare a job Analysis or job description for all positions	s or job descr	iption f	or all po	sitione		
A. Perform?				8.483	4	.0752	.649	5 of 9 (55.64)	m
Yes	34 (724)	24 (924)	20 (95%)					•	
No	(NBZ) ET	2 (84)	1 (54)						
B. How?				17.648	9	.0072	160.6	4 of 12 (33.3%)	14
Individual	8 (201)	(18E) 6	10 (53V)						
Cooperation	17 (42%)	14 (58N)	8 (42%)						
Delegate	15 (384)	-	1 (5%)						
C. Frequency?				8.187	ø	.4154	.231	11 of 15 (73.3%)	19
Annually	24 (65%)		17 (94%)						
Occasionally		5 (224)	-						
Monthly	2 (5%)		(10) 0						
Weekly		<u>ب</u>	-						
Daily	1 (3V)	(10)0	<u> </u>						
D. Importance?				11.990	ų	.0622	.923	4 of I2 (33.34)	19
None	(10) 0	0 0 08)	(10) 0						
Little	1 (34)								
Average	(100) 11	12 (52%)	6 (33%)						
Great	9 (24%)	~	-						
Extreme	16 (43%)	2 (91)	8 (44%)						
E. Difficulty?				72.21	8)	.1409	.231	10 of 15 (66.7%)	19
Very easy	3 (84)	-							
Eaby	3 (8 4)								
Average	25 (68%)	-							
Hard	5 (14%)	(%ET) E	(N6E) L						
Very hard	1 (24)	(10)0	(\$0)0						

236

.

Responses to Item 4.4 of the Questionnaire by NCAA Divisional Level

		Division I	Division II	Division III	Chi-square	D.F.	sig.	Min. B.P.	Cells with B.F. < 5	Hissing
			Duty: Int	Responsibility area: Personnel Duty: Interview and select new coaching and support personnel	Responsibility area: Personnel and select new coaching and s	rsonnel 7 and sup	port pars	1 euro		
A. Perform? Yes No	orm?	46 (981) 1 (21)	26 (100%) D { 01}	21 (1004) 0 (04)	1.874	4	. 7588	.216	6 of 9 (66.74)	m
B. How? Individu Cooperat Delegate	How? Individual Cooperation Delegate	7 {154) 7 {154) 37 (794) 3 (64)	2 (84) 23 (924) 0 (04)	3 (15%) 17 (85%) 0 (0%)	4.279	œ	. 6390	.649	8 of 12 (66.74)	ហ
C. Frequency? Annually Occasional Monthly Weekly Daily	Frequency? Franually Occasionally Monthly Weekly Daily	8 (17%) 35 (76%) 25 (76%) 2 (76%) 2 (76%) 2 (76%) 2 (76%) 2 (76%)	10 (40%) 14 (56%) 0 (56%) 1 (44) 0 (0%)	9 (45%) 11 (55%) 0 (0%) 0 (0%)	9.042	ن	.1712	. 440	6 of 12 (50.0%)	vo
D. Importa None Little Averaga Great Extreme	Importance? None Little Average Great Extreme	0 { 04) 0 { 04) 1 { 24) 7 [164] 37 [824]	0 { 00) 0 { 00} 5 { 200) 10 { 400) 10 { 400)	0 (04) 0 (04) 0 (04) 5 (254) 15 (754)	17.563	4	5100 .	EEE.1	4 of 9 (44.41)	Ŋ
E. Difficulty? Very easy Easy Average Hard Vary hard	Difficulty? Very easy Easy Average Hard Very hard	1 (24) 1 (24) 1 (24) 17 (384) 16 (364) 10 (224)	0 (04) 2 (84) 10 (404) 6 (241) 7 (284)	1 (54) 2 (54) 2 (104) 11 (554) 5 (254)	9.605	¢	8262.	444	7 of 15 (46.74)	ធ

.

Responses to Item 4.5 of the Questionnaire by NCAA Divisional Level

	Division I	Division II	Division III	Chi-square	D.F.	sig.	Hin. E.P.	Cells with B.P. < 5	Hissing
			Responsibl	Responsibility area: Personnel	rsonnal				
		Duty:	Duty: Establish or recommend salary schedules for staff	ommend salary	schedules	for sta	6E		
A. Perform?				5,940	4	.2037	.649	5 of 9 (55.6%)	•
Yee	_	24 (924)	16 (76%)						
ND	3 (64)	2 (81)	5 (241)						
B. How?				9.554	ę	.1447	.866	5 of 12 (41.74)	12
Individual	26 (57%)	14 (611)	7 (444)					•	
Cooperation	16 (35%)	(165) 6	9 (195) 6						
Delegate	4 (84)	(10)0	(10) 0						
C. Frequency?				4.748	S	.5764	.186	8 of 12 (66.7%)	1
Annually	38 (83%)		15 (94%)						
Occasionally	5 (11%)	5 (214)	-						
Henthly	2 (41)		-						
Weekly	(10) 0		00 0						
paily	1 (2%)		(10)0						
D. Importance?				7.934	9	.2430	.186	5 of 12 (41.74)	11
None	(10) 0		0 (04)						
Little	~	(10) 0	1 (64)						
Average	8 (18%)		-						
Great			7 (444)						
Extreme	19 (418)		7 (441)						
E. Difficulty?				14.189	8	.0770	.558	9 of 15 (60.04)	12
Very еаву	2 (41)	~	1 (6%)						
Еаву	1 (2%)	2 (4%)							
Average	26 (57%)	12 (50%)							
Hard	12 (264)		3 (194)						
Very hard	5 (11%)	7 (294)	(NIE) S						

•

Responders to Item 4.6 of the Questionnaire by NCAA Divisional Level

	Division I	Division II	Division III	Chi-equare	D.F.	stg.	kin. E.F.	Cella with E.F. < 5	Hissing
			Reaponstbi	Responsibility area: Personnel	rsonnel				
		Duty: Dater	Duty: Determine or make adjustments in loads/coaching assignments	ustments in lo	ade/coach	ling assic	jnments		
A. Perform? Yes No	32 (70%) 14 (30%)	21 (81%) 5 (19%)	20 (95%) 1 (5%)	7.255	4	.1230	.865	4 of 9 (44.4%)	4
 B. How? Individual Cooperation Delegate 	(162) 91 (122 (331) 144) 2	7 (33%) 14 (67%) 0 (0%)	8 (42%) 11 (58%) 0 (0%)	12.599	LO .	. 0499	1.082	4 of 12 (33.3%)	21
C. Frequency? Annually Occasionally Monthly Weekly Daily	15 (47%) 15 (47%) 15 (47%) 1 (3%) 0 (0%) 1 (3%)	12 (57%) 7 (33%) 1 (5%) 1 (5%) 0 (0%)	15 (794) 4 (211) 5 (01) 0 (01) 0 (01) 0 (01)	8.891	۵	.3515	. 264	9 of 15 (60.0%)	25
D. Importance? None Little Average Great Extreme	1 (34) 1 (34) 12 (384) 10 (314) 8 (254)	0 (01) 0 (01) 12 (571) 6 (291) 3 (141)	0 (01) 0 (01) 1 (51) 11 (581) 7 (371)	15.277	ದ	,0540	. 264	7 of 15 (46.7%)	35
E. DiffLculty? Very easy Easy Average Hard Very hard	4 (134) 3 (96) 19 (594) 5 (164) 1 (34)	0 (01) 2 (101) 13 (621) 3 (141) 3 (141)	1 (54) 2 (114) 5 (264) 8 (424) 3 (164)	13.352	œ	£001,	1.319	11 of 15 (73.3%)	25

Responses to Item 4.7 of the Questionnaire by NCAA Divisional Level

	Division I	Division II	Division III	Chi-square	D.F.	Sig.	Min. E.F.	Cells with E.F. < 5	Miøsing
			Responsit	ility area: Pe	reonnel				
		đ	uty: Conduct for	mal evaluation	s of all	staff			
A. Perform?				1.030	4	.9052	. 649	5 of 9 (66.7%)	3
Yes	42 (89%)	24 (92%)	19 (90%)						
No	5 (11%)	2 (81)	2 (10%)						
B. How?				6.848	6	.3351	.866	5 of 12 (41.7%)	12
Individual	23 (52%)	16 (70%)	14 (78 %)						
Cooperation	17 (39%)	7 (30%)	4 (22%)						
Delegate	4 (9%)	0 (0%)	0 (0%)						
C. Frequency?				1.514	6	.9585	.635	9 of 12 (75.0%)	12
Annually	35 (81%)	19 (79%)	16 (89%)						
Occasionally	4 (9%)	3 (13%)	1 (6%)						
Monthly	2 (5%)	1 (4%)	1 (6%)						
Weekly	2 (5%)	1 (4%)	0 (0%)						
Daily	0 (0%)	0 (0%)	0 (0%)						
D. Importance?				19.485	6	.0034	.212	5 of 12 (41.7%)	12
None	1 (3%)	0 (0%)	0 (0%)						
Little	0 (0%)	0 (0%)	0 (0%)						
Average	3 (7%)	8 (33%)	1 (6%)						
Great	23 (53%)	11 (46%)	4 (22%)					<u>.</u>	
Extreme	16 (37%)	5 (21%)	13 (72%)						
E. Difficulty?				14.585	8	.0677	.635	8 of 15 (53.3%)	16
Very easy	2 (5%)	0 (0%)	1 (5%)						
Easy	2 (5%)	1 (4%)	1 (5%)						
Average	16 (37%)	16 (67%)	2 (11%)						
Hard	17 (39%)	4 (17%)	10 (56%)						
Very hard	6 (14%)	3 (12%)	4 (22%)						

Responses to Item 4.8 of the Questionnaire by KCAA Divisional Level

	pivision I	Division II	Division III	chi-square	D.F.	stg.	Kin. 2.P.	Celle with E.F. < 5	Missing
			Responsib	Responsibility area: Personnel	teonnet				
			Duty: Direct activities of office personnel	ivities of off	ice perso	une!			
A. Perform?				1.888	ы	0686.	6.032	(0.01)	n
Yea	30 (651)	20 (74%)	17 (814)					•	
No	16 (354)	7 (264)	4 (194)						
B. How?				20.003	4	.0005	2.461	2 of 9 (22.24)	21
Individual	2 (54)		(414) 7						
Cooperation	17 (44%)	(13) [1]	9 (534)						
Delegate	20 (514)								
C. Frequency?				3.916	9	.6879	052.	8 of 12 (66.78)	23
Annually	30 (79%)	13 (684)	15 (88%)					•	
Occasionally	5 (134)		2 [124]						
Monthly	2 (51)	1 (61)	~						
Weekly	1 (34)		-						
Daily	(10) 0		(10)0						
D. Importance?				8.790	8	.3603	.227	6 of 15 (40.04)	22
None	1 (34)		(10) 0						
Little	2 (54)	(10) 0	1 (61)						
Average		9 (47%)	2 (12%)						
Great	11 (201)		6 (35%)						
Extreme	(NIE) ZI	3 (16%)	8 (47%)					•	
E. Difficulty?				15.869	8	.0443	.459	10 of 15 (66.7%)	23
Very easy	2 (5%)		(10) 0						
Easy	6 (161)		1 (6%)						
Average	÷.	9 (47 %)	10 (59%)						
Hard	2 (51)		6 (35%)						
Very hard	4 (111) 4	(10)0	(10) 0						

Responses to Item 5.1 of the Questionnaire by NCAA Divisional Level

	Division I	Division II	Division III	Chi-equare	D.F.	Sig.	Min. E.F.	Cells with E.F. < 5	Missin
			Responsibi	ility area: Co	zpliance				
	Duty: Ce	ertify the elig:	bility of all st	tudent athlete	s; comple	ete and su	bmit required	i forms	
A. Perform?				9.448	4	.0508	.866	3 of 9 (33.3%)	4
Yes	29 (64%)	21 (78%)	19 (90%)						
No	16 (36%)	6 (22%)	2 (10%)						
B. How?				44.998	6	.0000	2.814	4 of 12 (33.3%)	13
Individual	1 (2%)	2 (81)	10 (59%)						
Cooperation	9 (22%)	14 (54%)	6 (35%)						
Delegate	31 (76%)	10 (38%)	1 (6%)						
. Frequency?				13.178	8	.1058	2.132	11 of 15 (73.3%)	21
Annually	14 (40%)	11 (48%)	10 (56%)						
Occasionally	4 (11%)	6 (26%)	4 (22%)						
Monthly	3 (9%)	2 (9%)	4 (22%)						
Weekly	7 (20%)	2 (9%)	0 (0%)						
Daily	7 (20%)	2 (9%)	0 (0%)						
). Importance?				13.715	8	.0895	.234	12 of 15 (80.0%)	20
None	0 (0%)	0 (0%)	1 (5%)						
Little	0 (0%)	0 (0%)	1 (5%)						
Average	0 (0%)	2 (9%)	3 (17%)						
Great	5 (14%)	4 (17%)	1 (5%)						
Extreme	31 (86%)	17 (74%)	12 (67%)				•		
. Difficulty?				16.855	8	.0316	.935	8 of 15 (53.3%)	20
Very easy	1 (3%)	1 (4%)	2 (11%)						
Easy	1 (3%)	0 (0%)	3 (17%)						
Average	8 (22%)	10 (44%)	9 (50 %)						
Hard	16 (44%)	8 (35%)	2 (11%)						
Very hard	10 (28%)	4 (17%)	2 (11%)						

.

Responses to Item 5.2 of the Questionnaire by NCAA Divisional Level

	Division I	Division II	Division III	Chi-square	D.F.	Sig.	Min. E.F.	Cells with B.F. < 5	Niecin
			Responsibi	lity area: Con	pliance				
	Duty: Ensure	e that recruitme	ent of all studer	nt athletes is	done in	accordanc	e with NCAR 1	egulations	
A. Perform?				8.958	4	.0622	1.082	5 of 9 (55.6%)	5
Yes	37 (84%)	24 (89%)	21 (100%)						
No	7 (16%)	3 (11%)	0 (0%)						
. How?				19.962	6	.0028	1.299	4 of 12 (33.3%)	6
Individual	2 (4%)	8 (30%)	8 (40%)						
Cooperation	25 (57%)	12 (44%)	11 (55%)						
Delegate	17 (39%)	7 (16%)	1 (5%)						
. Frequency?				8.790	8	.3603	1.628	8 of 15 (53.3%)	11
Annually	2 (5%)	2 (8%)	3 (15%)						
Occasionally	4 (10%)	8 (31%)	6 (30%)						
Monthly	10 (25%)	5 (19%)	2 (10%)						
Weekly	6 (15%)	2 (8%)	2 (10%)						
Daily	18 (45%)	9 (35%)	7 (35%)						
). Importance?				6,994	4	-1362	1.839	6 of 9 (66.7%)	10
None	0 (0%)	0 (04)	0 (0%)						
Little	0 (0%)	0 (0%)	0 (0%)						
Average	1 (2%)	4 (15%)	3 (15%)						
Great	3 (8%)	3 (12%)	4 (20%)						
Extreme	37 (90%)	19 (73%)	13 (65%)						
E. Difficulty?				20.466	8	.0087	.920	7 of 15 (46.7%)	10
Very easy	0 (0%)	1 (4%)	3 (15%)						
Easy	1 (3%)	0 (0%)	3 (15%)						
Average	10 (24%)	13 (50%)	7 (35%)						
Hard	17 (41%)	8 (31%)	4 (20%)						
Very hard	13 (32%)	4 (15%)	3 (15%)						

Responses to Item 5.3 of the Questionnaire by NCAA Divisional Level

	Division I	Division II	bivision III	chi-square	D.F.	sig.	Min. E.P.	Cella with E.F. < 5	Hiselng
	Duty: Oversee	the awarding of	Responsibility area: Compliance Duty: Oversee the awarding of athletics scholarships, work-aid grants, or other forms of financial aid	Responsibility area: Compliance :ics scholarships, work-aid gran	pliance id grante	, or oth	er forms of 1	ilnencial aid	
A. Perform? Yes No	36 (801) 9 (201)	26 (961) 1 { 41)	2 (104) 19 (904)	52.392	4	0000 .	• 865	(NE.EE) 9 30 E	4
B. How? Individual Cooperation Delegate	1 (2%) 21 (47%) 23 (51%)	6 (23%) 17 (65%) 3 (12%)	0 (01) 0 (01) 3 (1001)	77.315	9	.0000	1.515	4 of 12 (33.34)	62
C. Frequency? Annually Occasionally Honthly Weekly Dally	15 (38%) 13 (33%) 3 (7%) 4 (10%) 5 (12%)	6 (24%) 6 (24%) 4 (16%) 4 (16%) 5 (20%)	1 (50%) 1 (50%) 0 (0%) 0 (0%)	4.568	co	.8026	505.	10 of 15 (66.74)	0
D. Importance? None Littia Average Great Extreme	0 (0%) 0 (0%) 4 (9%) 13 (32%) 24 (59%)	0 (01) 0 (01) 4 (161) 8 (321) 13 (521)	0 (01) 1 (501) 1 (501) 1 (501)	34.525	v	000 0 .	.029	8 of 12 (66.74)	5
E. Difficulty? Very easy Easy Average Hard Very hard	1 (24) 1 (24) 20 (494) 14 (344) 5 (12b)	1 (46) 1 (40) 11 (440) 9 (350) 3 (120)	1 (504) 1 (504) 0 (00) 0 (01)	21.558	Ð	. 0058	880.	11 of 15 (73.34)	52

.

Responses to Item 5.4 of the Questionnaire by NCAA Divisional Level

	l noisivid	Division II	Division III	Chi-equare	D.F.	stg.	Hin. [†] E.F.	Cella with E.F. < 5	Mlssing
			Responsth	Responsibility area: Compliance	pliance				
	Duty:	Provide a progr	Duty: Provide a program for drug aducation and/or regular testing for substance abuse	ation and/or r	egulår te	isting fo	c aubstance a	buse	
A. Perform?	!	1		22.534	4	2000.	.866	3 of 9 (33.3%)	4
Yea No	36 (80%) 9 (20%)	20 (74%) 7 (26%)	6 (29%) 15 (71%)						
B. How?				35.660	و	0000	.649	3 of 12 (25.0%)	28
Individual	1 (24)	2 (9%)	(10) 0						
Cooperation	-		3 (60%)						
Delegate	24 (59%)	7 (304)	2 (404)						
C. Frequency?				3.140	¢	.9253	.078	9 of 15 (60.04)	55
Annually	8 (214)		2 (40%)						
Occasionally		(185) 8	1 (20%)						
Honthly	13 (348)		2 (40%)						
Weekly	4 (114)	1 (44)	(10) 0						
Daily	1 (2%)		-						
D. Importance?				117.2	4	.6073	856.	4 of 9 (44.4%)	33
None	(10) 0		(10) 0					,	
Little		(10) 0	(10) 0						
Average									
Great	12 (32%)		2 (401)						
Extreme	20 (52%)	9 (43%)	1 (20%)						
E. Difficulty?				6.279	æ	.6159	.078	11 of 15 (73.3%)	33
Very easy	(10) 0		~						
Easy	_	(10) 0							
Average	_	10 (484)	4 (BON)						
Hard			<u> </u>						
Very hard	5 (13%)	2 (101)	(10) 0						

.

Responses to Item 5.5 of the Questionnaire by NCAA Divisional Level

	Division I	pivision II	Division III	Ch1-square	D.F.	stg.	Hín. E.F.	Cells with E.F. < 5	Missing
			Responsibl	Responsibility area: Compliance	pliance				
		Duty: Inform	Duty: Inform and interpret NCAA and conference legislation to staff	CAA and confer	ence legi	alation	to etaíf		
A. Perform? Yea No	38 (86%) 6 (14%)	27 (1004) 0 (04)	21 (100%) 0 [0%)	E31.21	4	.0162	1.062	6 o£ 9 (66.7 4)	u
 B. How? Individual Cooperation Dalegate 	6 (14%) 21 (50%) 15 (36%)	14 (52%) 13 (48%) 0 (0%)	15 (75%) 5 (25%) 0 (0%)	38.158	G	0000 .	2 6 7.1	5 of 12 (41.7%)	ω
C. Frequency? Annually Occamionally Monthly Weekly Daily	2 (54) 7 (184) 11 (284) 7 (184) 12 (314)	2 (84) 7 (274) 6 (234) 7 (234) 4 (154)	3 (15%) 11 (55%) 1 (5%) 2 (10%) 3 { 15%)	15.286	ω	.0538	1.647	7 of 15 (46.7%)	5
D. Importance? None Little Åverage Great Extreme	0 (01) 0 (01) 1 (21) 6 (151) 33 (838)	0 (04) 0 (04) 4 (154) 7 (274) 15 (584)	0 { 04) 2 { 105) 4 { 201) 4 { 201) 10 { 505)	11.21	¢	.0194	6 1	(#6.82) 11 10 T	ц
E. Difficulty? Very casy Eary Average Hard Very hard	1 (24) 1 (24) 15 (38%) 14 (35%) 9 (23%)	1 (4%) 0 (0%) 15 (58%) 10 (38%) 0 (0%)	0 (0%) 3 (154) 3 (154) 3 (154) 3 (154)	16.611	ω	.0344	, 6 N	8 of 15 (53.34)	1

Responses to Item 5.6 of the Questionnaire by NCAA Divisional Level

	Division 1	Division II	Division III	Chi-square	D.F.	Sig.	Min. E.F.	Cells with E.P. < 5	Missin
			Responsib	ility area: Com	pliance				
			Duty: Provid	e a plan for e	nforceme	int			
A. Perform?	······			2.442	2	. 2949	.663	3 of 6 (50.0%)	2
Yes	46 (98%)	25 (93%)	21 (100%)						
No	1 (2%)	2 (7%)	0 (0%)						
. How?				3.455	4	.4848	.648	3 of 9 (33.3%)	9
Individual	24 (53%)	17 (71%)	10 (53%)						
Cooperation	19 (42%)	6 (25%)	9 (47%)						
Delegate	2 (5%)	1 (4%)	0 (0%)						
C. Frequency7				6.428	4	.1694	.189	4 of 9 (44.4%)	44
Annually	1 (4%)	0 (0%)	0 (0%)						
Occasionally	8 (35%)	7 (35%)	0 (UN)						
Monthly	14 (61%)	13 (65%)	10 (100%)						
Weekly	0 (0%)	0 (0%)	0 (0%)						
Daily	Ð (0%)	0 (0%)	0 (0%)						
D. Importance?				3.763	2	.1523	.261	4 of 6 (65.7%)	74
None	0 (ON)	O (DN)	0 (0%)						
Little	3 (27%)	0 (0%)	0 (0%)						
Average	8 (731)	10 (100%)	2 (100%)						
Great	0 (0%)	0 (0%)	0 (0%)						
Extreme	0 (0%)	0 (ON)	0 (0%)						
E. Difficulty?				.8169	4	.9362	1.200	5 of 9 (55.6%)	12
Very easy	4 { 9%}	1 (4%)	1 (6%)						
Easy	6 (14%)	4 (16%)	3 (18%)						
Average	33 (77%)	20 (80%)	13 (76%)						
Hard	0 (O%)	0 (0%)	0 (0%)						
Very hard	0 (0%)	0 (0%)	0 (0%)						

Responses to Item 5.7 the Questionnaire by NCAA Divisional Level

	Division I	Division II	Division III	Chi-square	D.F.	Sig.	Min. E.F.	Cells with E.F. < 5	Hissin
			Responsibi	lity area: Com	pliance				
		Duty: Condu	act ongoing revie	w and evaluati	on of co	mpliance	øystem s		
. Perform?				14.094	4	.0070	.866	5 of 9 (55.6%)	4
Yes	41 (91%)	24 (89%)	13 (62%)						
No	4 (9%)	3 (11%)	8 (38%)						
. How?				22,116	6	.0012	2.165	5 of 12 (41.7%)	17
Individual	4 (9%)	7 (28%)	8 (62%)						
Cooperation	33 (79%)	14 (56%)	4 (30%)						
Delegate	5 (12%)	4 (16%)	1 (8%)						
. Frequency?				6.037	8	.6430	1.688	9 of 15 (60.0%)	20
Annually	10 (25%)	3 (12%)	2 (15%)						
Occasionally	9 (22%)	10 (42%)	7 (54%)						
Monthly	7 (18%)	4 (17%)	1 (8%)						
Weekly	6 (15%)	3 (12%)	1 (8%)						
Daily	8 (20%)	4 (17%)	2 (15%)						
. Importance?				20.481	6	.0023	.169	7 of 12 (58.3%)	20
None	0 (0%)	0 (0%)	0 (0%)						
Little	0 (0%)	0 { 0%}	1 (8%)						
Average	3 (7%)	5 (21%)	6 (46%)						
Great	6 (15 %)	8 (33%)	2 (15%)						
Extreme	31 (78%)	11 (46%)	4 (31%)						
. Difficulty?				19.154	8	.0141	.169	9 of 15 (60.0%)	20
Very easy	0 (0%)	1 (4%)	0 (0%)						
Easy	1 (2%)	0 (01)	3 (23%)						
Average	14 (35%)	14 (58%)	6 (46%)						
Hard	13 (33%)	5 (21%)	4 (31%)						
Very hard	12 (30%)	4 (17%)	0 (0%)						

Responses to Item 6.1 the Questionnaire by NCAA Divisional Level

	Division I	Division II	Division III	Chi-square	D.£.	Sig.	Min. E.F.	Cells with E.F. < 5	Hiesing
		Respon	sibility area: Re	sponsibilities	s to stu	dent athle	tee		
		Duty	: Arrange for an	insurance pla	n for al	l athlete:	3		
A. Perform?				8.908	4	.0634	. 433	3 of 9 (33.3%)	2
Yes	24 (51%)	22 (81%)	12 (57%)						
No	23 (49%)	5 (19%)	9 (43%)						
B. How?				25,309	6	.0003	1.515	5 of 12 (41.7%)	23
Individual	1 (21)	6 (27%)	0 (0%)						
Cooperation	8 (20%)	9 (41%)	6 (50%)						
Delegate	31 (78%)	7 (32%)	6 (50%)						
C. Frequency?				2.071	6	.9131	.188	9 of 12 (75.0%)	33
Annually	26 (84%)	18 (86%)	10 (83%)		-				
Occasionally	1 (34)	1 (4%)	0 (01)						
Honthly	0 (01)	0 (01)	0 (0%)						
Weekly	1 (3%)	0 (0%)	0 (04)						
Daily	3 (10%)	2 (10%)	2 (171)						
D. Importance7				2.950	4	.5661	1.292	4 of 9 (44.4%)	32
None	0 (0%)	0 (0%)	0 (0%)					· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	
Little	0 (0%)	0 (0%)	0 (04)						
Average	4 (12%)	3 (14%)	0 (01)						
Great	7 (221)	7 (331)	3 (25%)						
Extreme	21 (66%)	11 (52%)	9 (75%)						
E. Difficulty?				8.651	8	.3725	.563	11 of 15 (73.3%)	33
Very easy	0 (0%)	1 (5%)	2 (17)		-			== == == ()	
Easy	2 (6%)	1 (5%)	2 (17%)						
Average	19 (61%)	13 (62%)	4 (33%)						
Hard	7 (23%)	4 (19%)	2 (17%)						
Very hard	3 (10%)	2 (10%)	2 (17%)						

Responses to Item 6.2 of the Questionnaire by NCAA Divisional Level

	Division I	Division II	Division III	Chi-square	D.F.	Sig.	Min. E.F.	Cells with E.F. < 5	Hissing
		Respons	ibility area: Re	esponsibilities	to stud	ient athle	tes		
		Duty: E	meure that all a	thletes have g	hysical	examinati	ODB		
A. Perform?				13.886	4	,0077	.649	3 of 9 (33.3%)	3
Yes	27 (57%)	22 (85%)	20 (95%)						
No	20 (43%)	4 (15%)	1 (5%)						
B. How?				8.508	6	.2032	.433	6 of 12 (50.0%)	9
Individual	0 (0%)	1 (48)	1 (5%)	-				, ,	
Cooperation	8 (18%)	10 (40%)	8 (42%)						
Delegate	36 (82%)	14 (56%)	10 (53%)						
C. Frequency?				10.200	8	,2512	.247	12 of 15 (80.0%)	20
Annually	28 (80%)	22 (96%)	15 (79%)						
Occasionally	3 (9%)	1 (4%)	1 (5%)						
Honthly	1 (3%)	0 (01)	3 (16%)						
Weekly	1 (3%)	0 (0%)	0 (0%)						
Daily	2 (6%)	0 (0%)	0 (0%)						
D. Importance?				1.453	4	.8349	2.192	5 of 9 (55.6%)	19
None	0 (0%)	0 (0%)	0 (0%)						
Little	0 (0%)	0 (0%)	0 (0%)						
Average	3 (8%)	4 (17%)	2 (10%)						
Great	8 (22%)	4 (17%)	3 (16%)						
Extreme	25 (69%)	15 (65%)	14 (74%)						
E. Difficulty?				11.720	8	.1541	.740	11 of 15 (73.3%)	20
Very easy	2 (5%)	2 (9%)	2 (11%)					• •	
Easy	6 (17%)	1 (4%)	5 (26%)						
Average	24 (671)	16 (73%)	6 (321)						
Hard	3 (8%)	3 (14%)	4 (214)						
Very hard	1 (3%)	0 (01)	2 (11%)						

Responses to Item 5.3 of the Questionnaire by NCAA Divisional Level

	Division I	Division II	Division III	Chi-equare	D.F.	sig.	Hin. 2.F.	Cells with E.F. < 5	Missing
		Respon	Responsibility area: Responsibilities to student athletes	esponsibilities	to stude	athlet	es		
		Duty: Arrange	Arrange transportation, meals, lodging, etcatera, when teams travel	neals, lodging,	etcetera	t, when te	ans travel		
A. Perform?				11.981	4	-0175	.433	3 of 9 (33.3%)	2
Yea	(40 ⁴) 81	16 (591)	17 (814)						
No	28 (604)	11 (414)	4 (194)						
B, How?				20.034	9	.0027	.216	6 of 12 (50.04)	16
Individual	(10) 0	(10) 0	1 (5%)						
Cooperation	1 (30)	9 (43%)	5 (26%)						
Delegate	(N79) 8E	12 (574)	13 (68%)						
C. Frequency?				8.335	80	.4014	.794	9 of 15 (60.0%)	29
Annually	2 (6%)	1 (5%)	(10) 0						
Occasionally	4 (131)	3 (164)							
Monthly	(101) E		(10) 0						
Weekly		4 (21%)	6 (334)						
Daily	(166) 21	6 (32%)	6 (50%)						
D. Importance?				2.221	4	.6952	4.957	1 of 9 (11.14)	28
None	(10) 0	(10)0	(10) 0						
Little	(10) 0	(10) 0	(10) 0						
Average		~							
Great	15 (474)	8 (42%)	5 (28%)						
Extreme	(%IE) 0I	5 (26%)	7 (39%)						
E. Difficulty?				6.344	80	. 6088	. 750	11 of 15 (73.3%)	29
Very easy	1 (36)		2 (12%)						
Еазу	5 (16V)								
Average	-								
Hard	5 (16%)	6 (32%)	-						
Very hard	2 (64)	1 (54)	(10) 0						

Responses to Item 6.4 of the Questionnaire by NCAA Divisional Level

	Divlaion I	Division II	bivision III	Chi-square	D.F.	sig.	Min. E.F.	Celle with E.F. < 5	Histog
		Respons	Responsibility area: Responsibilities to student athletes	aponsibilities	to stud	ent athlet			
		Duty:	Duty: Enforce codes of ethics and conduct for athletes	f ethics and c	onduct fo	or athlete			
A. Perform? Yes No	40 (87%) 6 (13%)	26 (961) 1 (41)	19 (90%) 2 (10%)	4.761	4	.3127	. 649	6 of 9 (66.7%)	m
B. How?		•		7.236	9	.2995	1.082	6 of 12 (50.0%)	٢
Individual Constation	4	1 (4%) 15 (58%)	0 (04) 15 (834)						
Delegate		(186) 01	(1/1) 6						
C. Frequency?	77			14.757	8	.0640	1.059	8 of 15 (53.3%)	12
Annually	ŝ								
Occasionally	6		8 (444)						
Monthly	8 (194)	2 (8%)	2 (11 4)						
Weekly	4 (104)								
Daily	16 (384)	13 (52V)	(166) 2						
D. Importance?	ce?			3.325	4	.5049	3.388	3 of 9 (33.3%)	77
None	0								
Little		(10) 0	(10)0						
Average									
Great	11 (264)		4 (22%)						
Extreme	25 (60%)	10 (404)	11 (61%)						
E. Difficulty?	ty?			4.858	ø	.7726	1.271	10 of 15 (66.7%)	12
Very aagy									
Easy	2 { 54)	1 (4%)	3 (171)						
Average	25 (60%)		-						
Hard	10 (241)	_							
Very hard	d 3()	2 (84)	2 (114)						

Responses to Item 6.5 of the Questionnaire by NCAA Divisional Lavel

Division I Division II Division III Chi-square D.F. Sig. Min. E.	. Cells with E.F. < 5 Missin	ng
--	------------------------------	----

Responsibility area: Responsibilities to student athletes

Duty: Assign athletes to athletics department or campus jobs

						-				
Α.	Perform?				12.658	4	.0131	.433	3 of 9 (33.3%)	2
	Yes	6 (874)	10 (37%)	10 (48%)						
	No	41 (13%)	17 (63%)	11 (52%)						
в.	How?				17.222	6	.0085	.216	6 of 12 (50.0%)	58
	Individual	0 (0%)	0 (0%)	1 (10%)						
	Cooperation	0 (0)	6 (60%)	3 (30%)						
	Delegate	19 (100%)	4 (40%)	6 (60%)						
c.	Frequency?				5.199	8	.7361	.303	14 of 15 (93.3%)	64
	Annually	5 (38%)	6 (60%)	3 (30%)						
	Occasionally	3 (231)	2 (201)	4 (40%)						
	Honthly	3 (231)	1 (10%)	1 (10)						
	Weekly	1 (. 81)	0 (0%)	0 (0%)						
	Daily	1 (8%)	1 (10%)	2 (20%)						
D.	Importance?				3.710	6	.7158	.909	9 of 12 (75.0%)	64
	None	0 (01)	0 (0%)	0 (0%)						
	Little	2 (151)	2 (20%)	1 (10%)						
	Average	7 (54%)	7 (70%)	6 (60%)						
	Great	1 (84)	0 (01)	2 (20%)						
	Extreme	3 (23%)	1 (10%)	1 (10%)						
Б.	Difficulty?				7.664	8	.4669	. 303	14 of 15 (93.3%)	64
	Very easy	0 (0%)	1 (10%)	1 (10%)						
	Easy	6 (46%)	2 (20%)	3 (30%)						
	Average	5 (38N)	7 (70)	4 (40%)						
	Hard	2 (15%)	0 (01)	1 (10%)						
	Very hard	0 (0%)	0 (01)	1 (10%)						

Responses to Item 6.6 of the Questionnaire by NCAA Divisional Level

	Division I	Division II	Division III	ch1-square	D.P.	sig.	Min. E.F.	Cella with Z.P. < 5	Hissing
		Reapone	Responsibility area: Responsibilities to student athletes	sponstbilities	to stude	ant athle	60		
		Duty:	Duty: Develop a system of keeping records for all sports	of keeping red	ords for	all spor	t B		
A. Perform? Yes No	27 (574) 20 (434)	23 (85%) 4 (15%)	19 (90%) 2 (10%)	12.960	4	SI10.	E6 4 .	(#E.EE) 9 10 E	N
 B. How? Individual Cooperation Delegate 	2 (54) 8 (194) 32 (764)	0 (04) 16 (624) 10 (384)	3 (177) 9 (501) 6 (331)	22.048	ę	2100-	1.082	5 of 12 (41.74)	Ţ
C. Frequency? Annually Occasionally Monthly Meekly Dally	II (33%) 6 (18%) 2 (6%) 2 (6%) 12 (36%)	8 (334) 2 (84) 2 (84) 2 (84) 2 (84) 4 (174) 8 (334)	2 (114) 5 (201) 3 (278) 2 (114) 6 (334)	7.640	۵	4693	1,680	(15.53) 21 jo 8	22
D. Importance? None Little Average Great Extreme	0 (0%) 2 (6%) 7 (21%) 11 (32%) 14 (41%)	0 (01) 2 (81) 8 (331) 9 (381) 9 (211)	0 (04) 1 (64) 4 (224) 4 (223) 9 (501)	4.613	νΩ	. 5942	1.184	4 of 12 (33.34)	21
E. Difficulty? Very easy Easy Average Hard Very hard	2 (64) 5 (154) 20 (594) 5 (154) 2 (64)	1 (40) 1 (41) 16 (671) 5 (214) 1 (41)	I (64) 2 (114) 10 (564) 4 (224) 1 (64)	2.368	80	.9676	.947	(#E.67) 21 jo 11	21

Responses to Item 5.7 of the Questionnaire by NCAA Divisional Level

Division I D	ivision II	Division III	Chi-square	D.F.	Siq.	Min. E.F.	Cells with E.F. < 5	Missing
--------------	------------	--------------	------------	------	------	-----------	---------------------	---------

Responsibility area: Responsibilities to student athletes

Duty: Establish standards for qualifications for sports awards

-													
A.	Perform?							9.337	4	.0532	.433	4 of 9 (44.4%)	2
	Yes	32	(68%)	23	(85%)	20 (95%)					, <u>,</u>	
	No	15	(32%)	4	(15%)	1 (5%)						
8.	How?							20.044	6	.0027	1.732	6 of 12 (50.0%)	13
	Individual	5	(12%)	0	(0%)	3 (178)						
	Cooperation	19	(45%)	22	(92%)	14 (781)						
	Delegate	18	(43%)	2	(8%)	1 (5%)						
c.	Frequency?							6.923	8	.5449	, 250	11 of 15 (73.3%)	21
	Annually	23	(66%)	16	(73%)	18 (95%)						
	Occasionally	7	(201)	3	(14%)		51)						
	Monthly	3	(9%)	2	(9%)	0 (01)						
	Weekly	1	(3%)		(4%)	0 (01)						
	Daily	1	(31)	0	(0%)	ο (01)						
D.	Importance?							6.204	6	.4007	2.250	7 of 12 (58.3%)	21
	None	0	(0%)	0	{ 0%}	0 (0%)						
	Little	5	(14%)	2	(9%)	2 (11%)						
	Average	13	(37%)		(64%)	11 (58%)						
	Great	11	(311)	4	(18%)	2 (118)						
	Extreme	6	(17%)	2	(9%)	4 (214)						
Σ.	Difficulty?							10.682	8	.2204	.750	11 of 15 (73.3%)	21
	Very easy	3	(9%)	1	(4%)	2 (10%)					•	
	Easy	7	(20%)	3	(14%)		321)						
	Average	21	(60%)	18	(82%)	9 (478)						
	Hard		(9%)		(01)		01)						
	Very hard		(2)		ioni		101)						

Responses to Item 6.8 of the Questionnaire by NCAA Divisional Level

	Division I	Division II	Division III	Chl-square	D.P.	s1g.	MIn. E.F.	Calle with B.P. < 5	Hissing
		Кевропе	Responsibility area: Responsibilities to student athletes	sponsibilitie:	s to stud	ent athle	te B		
			Duty: Provide a plan for laundry services	i plan for law	ndry gerv	i cae			
A. Perform?				14.249	4	.0065	.433	3 of 9 (33.34)	~
Yes	14 (301)	16 (59%)	15 (71W)						
Ňo	33 (70%)	11 (414)	6 (291)						
B. How?				21.938	Ś	.0012	.433	5 of 12 (41.74)	37
Individual	(10) 0		0 (04)						
Cooperation	1 (4V)	6 (334)	8 (50%)						
Delegate	25 (964)		8 (504)						
C. Frequency?				7.929	8	.404	516.	12 of 15 (80.0%)	15
Annually	6 (354)	6 (43N)	4 (271)						
Occasionally	3 (184)	1 (74)							
Monthly	~	(10) 0	2 (J3V)						
Weekly	(10) 0	1 (71)	2 (13N)						
Daily	4 (244)	6 (438)	4 (27%)						
D. Importance?				8.562	æ	.3806	.596	12 of 15 (80.0%)	50
None			1 (74)						
Little	2 (114)	1 (7N)	3 (204)						
Average			_						
Great	_		2 (13%)						
Extreme	a (174)	2 (141)	2 (13%)						
E. Difficulty?				5.924	B	.6556	.596	(NE.E7) 21 Jo 11	50
Very еаву	1 (5%)	0 (01)							
Еаву	7 (39%)	3 (214)	5 (331)						
Average	8 (441)	(NTL) DT	~						
Hard	1 (5%)	1 (74)	(10) 0						
Very hard	1 (54)	(10) 0	1 (7%)						

Responses to Item 6.9 of the Questionnaire by NCAA Divisional Level

	Division I	Division II	Division III	Ch1-square	D.F.	sig.	Min. E.F.	Cells with E.F. < 5	Miesing
		Respons	Responsibility area: Responsibilities to student athists	eponsibilities	to stude	int athlet	102		
			Duty: Arrange yearly athletics banquet(s)	early athletic	a banquet	{B}			
A. Perform?				19.279	4	.0007	654.	4 of 9 (44.4%)	R
Yes	27 (574)	26 (96%)	(1 06) EI						
No	20 (434)	1 (41)	2 (104)						
B. How7				25.007	Q,	.0003	1.732	5 of 12 (41.74)	16
Individual	3 (71)	2 (8%)	3 (184)					•	
Cooperation	10 (264)	19 (76%)	11 (65%)						
Delegate	26 (67%)	4 (16%)	3 (164)						
C. Frequency?				11.681	80	.1660	.235	12 of 15 (80.04)	29
Annually	20 (71%)	21 (88%)	9 (56N)						
Occasionally	3 (JIN)		5 (31%)						
Monthly	4 (14%)	1 (44)	1 (6%)						
Weekly	0 (04)		~						
Daily	1 (48)		1 (61)						
D. Importance?				16.912	8	0160.	.235	11 of 15 (73.3V)	29
None	1 (48)	(10) 0	(10) 0						
Little		(10) 0	(10) 0						
Average	12 (43%)	18 (75 %)	8 (SON)						
Great	3 (11%)	4 (17N)							
Extreme	8 (284)	2 (8%)	2 (121)						
E. Difficulty?				6.961	ø	.5408	1.159	12 of 15 (80.0%)	28
Very еа ву	4 (14s)	(10)0							
Еаву	4 (14%)	2 (8%)	(10) 0						
Average	16 (55N)	18 (75%)							
Hard	3 (101)	2 (8%)							
Very hard	2 (74)	2 (8%)	1 (6%)						

Responses to Item 6.10 of the Questionnaire by NCAA Divisional Level

	Division I	Division II	Division III	Chi-square	D.F.	Sig.	Min. B.F.	Cells with E.F. < 5	Hissi
		Respon	sibility area: R	esponsibilitie	s to stu	ient athle	tes		
	Duty	y: Provide a cou	inseling program	for athletes w	ho aspir	e to beco	me profession	als	
A. Perform?				15.361	4	.0040	.433	3 of 9 (33.3%)	2
Yes	26 (55%)	9 (33%)	2 (10%)						
No	21 (45%)	18 (67%)	19 (90%)						
. How?				24.875	6	.0004	.216	4 of 12 (33.3%)	45
Individual	1 (3%)	0 (0%)	0 (0%)						
Cooperation	13 (35%)	6 (50%)	2 (67%)						
Delegate	23 (62%)	6 (50%)	1 (33%)						
C. Frequency?				5.702	6	.4574	.273	10 of 12 (83.3%)	53
Annually	7 (231)	3 (30%)	2 (67%)						
Occasionally	14 (45%)	6 (60%)	1 (33%)						
Monthly	7 (23%)	0 (0%)	0 (0%)						
Weekly	0 (0%)	0 (0%)	0 (0%)						
Daily	3 (9%)	1 (10%)	0 (0%)						
D. Importance?				17.568	8	.0247	.070	12 of 15 (80.0%)	54
None	0 (0%)	0 (0%)	1 (33%)						
Little	3 (10%)	0 (04)	0 (01)						
Average	10 (33%)	5 (60%)	1 (33%)						
Great	10 (33%)	2 (20%)	0 (0%)						
Extreme	7 (23%)	2 (20%)	1 (33%)						
E. Difficulty?				22.000	8	.0049	.136	12 of 15 (80.0%)	53
Very easy	0 (0%)	1 (10%)	2 (67%)						
Еаву	7 (23%)	1 (10%)	1 (33%)						
Average	19 (61%)	7 (70%)	0 (0%)						
Hard	3 (10%)	1 (10%)	0 (0%)						
Very hard	2 (61)	0 (0%)	0 (05)						

Responses to 7.1 of the Questionnaire by NCAA Divisional Level

Division I	Division II	Division III	Chi-square	D.F.	Sig.	Hin. E.F.	Cells with E.P. < 5	Missing
------------	-------------	--------------	------------	------	------	-----------	---------------------	---------

Responsibility area: Public relations/Promotions

Duty: Interpret phases of the athletics program to faculty, students, community, and alumni

	erform? es	47	(100%)	26	(96%)	20		2.963	4	.5639	.433	6 of 9 (66.7%)	3
			• •		• •		(95%)						
No	0	U	(01)	1	(4%)	1	(51)						
в. н	ow?							7.623	6	.2670	. 433	6 of 12 (50.0%)	6
I	ndividual	15	(32%)	8	(32%)	9	(47%)						
C	coperation	32	(68%)	15	(60%)	10	(53%)						
P	elegate	0	(0%)	2	(8%)	0	(0%)						
C. F.	requency?							13.008	8	.1116	1.281	7 of 15 (46.7%)	(
	nnually	1	(2%)	2	(8))	3	(16%)						
	ccasionally		(24%)		(29%)		(531)						
M	onthly	13	(281)		(211)	2	(114)						
W	leekly	13	(28%)	7	(29%)	1	(5%)						
D	aily	8	(178)	3	(13%)	3	(16%)						
D. I	mportance?							10.907	6	.0913	.213	4 of 12 (33.3%)	1
N	one	0	(0%)	0	(0%)	0	(03)					•	
L	ittle	1	(21)	0	(0%)	0	(0%)						
A	verage	5	(111)	8	(33%)	6	(321)						
	reat	18	(391)		(50%)		(32%)						
E	xtreme		(48 v)		(17%)		(378)						
E. D	ifficulty?							6.871	8	.5505	.648	9 of 15 (60.0%)	
	ery easy	2	(41)	0	(0%)	1	(5%)						
	аву	8	(18%)		(8%)		(118)						
	verage		(44)		(714)		(47)						
	ard		(22%)		(131)		(32%)						
	ery hard		(111)		(8%)		(5%)						

Responses to Item 7.2 of the Questionnaire by NCAA Divisional Level

I		Division I	Division II	Division III	Chi-equare	D.F.	sig.	MIN. E.F.	Cells with E.P. < 5	Missing
			Res	Responsibility area: Public relations/Promotions	1: Public relat	.tons/Prc	motions			
ł			Duty:	Duty: Make special addresses to alumni or other groups	fresses to alum	ni or ot	ther group	10		
Α.	A. Perform?				6.543	4	.1621	664.	6 of 9 (66.7%)	11
	Yes	46 (984)	26 (96%)	18 (86%)						
	No	1 (24)	1 (4)	1 (41)						
8	How?				15.327	9	.0179	.649	6 of 12 (50.04)	7
	Individual	27 (57%)	14 (54%)	16 (944)						
	Cooperation	19 (404)	11 (42N)	0 (04)						
	Delegate	1 (2%)		-						
ů	Frequency?				14.606	æ	.0673	191.	8 of 15 (53.34)	60
	Annually	1 (24)	(%0) 0	0 (01)						
	Occasionally	16 (348)		-						
	Monthly	14 (30%)	6 (24%)							
	Weekly	12 (26%)	5 (20N)	1 [64)						
	Daily	4 (B1)	(10)0	1 (61)						
9	Importance?				10.296	9	.1127	191.	5 of 12 (41.7%)	æ
	None	(40)0	(%0)0	-						
	Little	1 { 21)	-	(10) 0						
	Average	8 (I7N)	12 (484)	_						
	Great	21 (45%)	~	_						
	Extreme	17 (361)	3 (12%)	6 (35%)						
ដ	Difficulty?				12,410	ø	.1338	.573	(NE.ET) 21 10 II	8
	Very easy	2 (41)	~	1 (6%)						
	Easy	11 (23%)		3 (181)						
	Average	27 (574)	22 (88%)	8 (47%)						
	Hard	5 (111)		4 (24%)						
	Very hard	2 (41)	2 (41)	1(64)						

.

Responses to Item 7.3 of the Questionnaire by NCAA Divisional Level

Division I Division	I Division III	Chi-square	D.F.	Sig.	Min. E.P.	Calls with E.F. < 5	Missing
---------------------	----------------	------------	------	------	-----------	---------------------	---------

Responsibility area: Public relations/Promotions

Duty: Arrange preferential seating for ardent supporters of the athletics program

A. Perform7				12.667	4	.0130	.433	3 of 9 (33.3%)	:
Yes	26 (55%)	14 (52%)	3 (14%)		•	•		(,	
No	21 (45%)	13 (48%)	18 (86%)						
B. How?				29.443	6	.0001	1.082	4 of 12 (33.3%)	4:
Individual	3 (8%)	1 (7%)	1 (33%)						
Cooperation	15 (424)	12 (80%)	2 (67%)						
Delegate	18 (50%)	2 (13%)	0 (0%)						
C. Frequency?				8.663	8	.3715	.045	12 of 15 (80.0%)	53
Annually	17 (61%)	9 (64%)	0 (01)						
Occasionally	8 (29%)	2 (14%)	2 (100%)						
Monthly	1 (3%)	1 (71)	D (0%)						
Weckly	1 (3%)	2 (14%)	0 (0%)						
Daily	1 (3%)	0 (0%)	0 (0%)						
D. Importance?				28.601	6	.0001	.044	8 of 12 (66.7%)	5
None	0 (0%)	0 (0%)	0 (0%)						
Little	0 (0%)	0 (0%)	1 (50%)						
Average	3 (10%)	5 (36%)	1 (50%)						
Great	16 (55%)	7 (50%)	0 (01)						
Extreme	10 (34%)	2 (14%)	0 (01)					·	
E. Difficulty?				30.732	8	.0002	.089	12 of 15 (80.0%)	5
Very easy	0 (0%)	2 (14%)	0 (0%)						
Easy	2 (7%)	0 (04)	2 (100%)						
Average	14 (48%)	10 (71%)	0 (0%)						
Hard	7 (24%)	2 (141)	0 (0%)						
Very hard	6 (21%)	0 (01)	0 (0%)						

Respondes to Item 7.4 of the Questionnaire by NCAA Divisional Level

		Division I	Division II	pivision III	chi-square	D.F.	sig.	MIn. E.F.	Cells with E.F. < 5	6uī sai H
			Re	Responsibility area: Public relations/Promotions	a: Public rela	tions/Pro	wotions			
			Duty: C	Duty: Cooperate with boosters and athletics benefit groups	osters and ath	letics be	mefit gro	adn		
A. Perform?	tm?				29.029	4	0000	. 649	5 of 9 (55.6%)	m
Yes		45 (984)	26 (96%)	12 (574)						
No		1 (24)		9 (434)						
B. How?					28.145	9	.000	.649	5 of 12 (41.74)	16
Indiv	Individual	15 (33%)	7 (27%)	5 (50%)					•	
Coope	Cooperation		17 (65%)							
Delegate	ate	1 (34)	2 (8%)	(\$0)0						
C. Frequency?	ency7				22.206	Ø	.0045	.584	8 of 15 (53.34)	20
Annually	117	5 (110)		(10) 0						
OccaB	Occasionally		(131) B							
Monthly	Ίγ	11 (25%)		1 (111)						
Weekly	Y	11 (25%)	7 (294)	~						
Daily		9 (204)	2 (8%)	(10)0						
D. Importance?	tance?				16.702	g	-0104	.351	6 of 12 (50.01)	20
None		(10)0	(10) 0	(%0)0						
Little	8	1 (21)	(10) 0	2 [22%]						
Average	ge	10 (234)		_						
Great		12 (274)		4 (44%)						
Extreme	ane	21 (484)	6 (251)	(NEI) I						
E. Difficulty?	culty?				11.509	80	.1745	.711	12 of 15 (80.04)	21
Very еабу	easy	4 (34)	~~							
Easy		4 (91)								
Average	abi	19 (444)	16 (67 1)	5 (56%)						
Hard				-						
Very hard	hard	5 (12%)	1 (41)	(10)0						

Responses to Item 7.5 of the Questionnaire by NCRA Divisional Level

Division I	Division II	Division III	Chi-square	D.F.	Sig.	Min. E.F.	Cells with E.P. < 5	Hissing
------------	-------------	--------------	------------	------	------	-----------	-----------------------	---------

Responsibility area: Public relations/Promotions

Duty:	Visit	schools	for	speaking	engagements	when	requested
•							-

A. Perform?				6.405	4	.1709	.866	6 of 9 (66.7%)	- 4
Yea	44 (96%)	26 (100%)	18 (86%)						
No	2 (4%)	0 (0%)	3 (14%)						
B. How?				10.283	6	.1132	.433	6 of 12 (50.0%)	10
Individual	30 (68%)	17 (65%)	17 (100%)						
Cooperation	13 (30%)	8 (31%)	0 (01)						
Delegate	1 (2%)	1 (4%)	0 (0%)						
C. Frequency?				13.524	8	.0950	.405	11 of 15 (73.3%)	13
Annually	3 (7%)	0 (ON)	0 (0%)						
Occasionally	23 (55%)	19 (76N)	16 (94%)						
Monthly	9 (21%)	2 (8%)	1 (6%)						
Weekly	5 (12%)	4 (16%)	0 (0%)						
Daily	2 (5%)	0 (0%)	0 (0%)						
D. Importance?				20.215	6	.0025	. 622	5 of 12 (41.7%)	15
None	0 (0%)	0 (01)	0 (0%)						
Little	0 (01)	0 (0%)	3 (18%)						
Average	19 (48%)	17 (68%)	3 (18%)						
Great	9 (221)	5 (20%)	6 (35%)						
Extreme	12 (30%)	3 (121)	5 (29%)						
E. Difficulty?				9.160	8	.3290	.630	10 of 15 (66.7%)	18
Very easy	2 (5%)	1 (4%)	2 (12%)					-	
Easy	14 (36%)	3 (12%)	5 (29%)						
Average	21 (54%)	19 (76%)	7 (41%)						
Hard	1 (2%)	1 (4%)	2 (121)						
Very hard	I (2%)	1 (4%)	1 (5%)						

.

Responses to Item 7.6 of the Questionnaire by NCAA Divisional Level

		Division I	Division II	Division III	chi-sguare	D.F.	sig.	Min. E.F.	cells with E.P. < 5	Missing
		Responsibility area: Pubiic relations/Premotions Duty: Serve as a consultant to programs of youth organizations and commercial, civic, and industrial groups	Re consultant to I	Responsibility area: Public relations/Promotions programs of youth organizations and commercial.	a: Public rela organization	tions/Pro	emotions mercial,	civic, and L	ndustrial groups	
A. Perform? Yee No	:form?	34 (72%) 13 (28%)	15 (56%) 12 (44%)	13 (62%) 8 (38%)	4.270	*	.a707	. 433	3 of 9 (33.34)	м
8. How? Indf Coop Dele	How? Individual Cooperation Delegate	24 (69%) 9 {26%) 2 { 5%}	9 (534) 6 (354) 2 (124)	9 (75%) 1 (8%) 2 (17%)	5.155	ω	.5241	1.299	5 of 12 (41.71)	E)
C. Freque Annual Occasi Month Weekly Daily	C. Frequency? Annually Occasionally Monthly Weekly Daily	2 (54) 18 (534) 8 (244) 3 (94) 3 (94)	0 (01) 11 (794) 2 (141) 1 (74) 0 (01)	0 (0%) 9 (75%) 3 (25%) 0 (0%)	6.684	Q	.5710	- 400	11 of 15 (73.34)	37
D. Impor None Litti Aver Great Extre	D. Importance? None Little Average Great Extreme	0 (0%) 2 (6%) 16 (47%) 7 (21%) 9 (26%)	0 (0%) 0 (0%) 9 (64%) 2 (14%) 3 (21%)	0 (04) 1 (84) 7 (584) 2 (174) 2 (174)	E72,5	v	6830	. 600	7 of 12 (58.34)	5
E. D1ffi Very Eagy Avery Hard Very	E. Difficulty? Very cany Eany Average Hard Very hard	1 (34) 9 (276) 20 (619) 3 (94) 0 (06)	2 (14%) 0 (0%) 11 (79%) 1 (7%) 0 (0%)	1 (84) 2 (174) 7 (584) 2 (174) 0 (04)	7.084	υ	. 111	.814	B of 12 (66.7%)	e.

Responses to Item 7.7 the Questionnaire by NCAA Divisional Level

	Division I	Division II	Division III	Chi≁square	D.F.	sig.	Min. E.F.	Cells with E.F. < 5	Missing
		" Re	sponsibility are	a: Public rela	tions/Pr	omotions			
			Duty: Pla	n marketing ca	mpaigne				
. Perform?				13.769	4	.0081	. 433	3 of 9 (33.3%)	2
Yes	36 (77%)	17 (63%)	7 (33%)						
No	11 (23%)	10 (37%)	14 (67%)						
. How?				26.773	6	.0002	.866	4 of 12 (33.3%)	28
Individual	2 (5%)	0 (0%)	2 (29%)						
Cooperation	26 (60%)	12 (63%)	5 (71%)						
Delegate	15 (35%)	7 (37%)	0 (0%)						
. Frequency?				8.988	8	. 3433	.226	11 of 15 (73.3%)	35
Annually	17 (44%)	3 (19%)	1 (14%)						
Occasionally	8 (21%)	7 (441)	4 (57%)						
Honthly	9 (23%)	4 (25%)	2 (29%)						
Weekly	3 (8%)	2 (12%)	0 (0%)						
Daily	2 (5%)	0 (0%)	0 (0%)						
. Importance?				9.269	4	.0547	1.581	4 of 9 (44.4%)	35
None	0 (0%)	0 (0%)	0 (0%)						
Little	0 (0%)	0 (0%)	0 (0%)						
Average	5 (12%)	5 (31%)	4 (57%)						
Great	17 (44%)	6 (38%)	3 (43%)						
Extreme	17 (44%)	5 (31%)	0 (0%)						
. Difficulty?				9.385	6	.1530	.230	8 of 12 (66.7%)	36
Very easy	0 (0%)	0 (0%)	0 (0%)						
Easy	1 (2%)	0 (01)	1 (14%)						
Average	12 (321)	8 (50%)	5 (71%)						
Hard	19 (50%)	7 (44%)	1 (14%)						
Very hard	6 (16%)	1 (61)	0 (0%)						

Responses to Item 7.8 of the Questionnaire by NCAA Divisional Level

	Division I	Division II	Division III	Chi⊷aquare	D.F.	sig.	HÍN. E.F.	Cells with B.P. < 5	Missing
		Rec	Responsibility area: Public relations/Promotions	a: Fublic rela	tions/Pro	notione			
		Duty	Duty: Arrange media coverage for athletics contests	coverage for s	thletics	contests			
A. Perform?				3.565	4	.4680	.433	3 of 9 (33.3%)	6
Yeb No	23 (49%) 24 (51%)	12 (44%) 15 (56%)	(12) (12) (13) 8						
B. How?				12.152	9	.0587	.649	5 of 12 (41.7%)	24
Individual	1 (2%)	(%0)0	2 (15%)					•	
Cooperation	5 (12%)	4 (22%)	3 (23%)						
Delegate	36 (86%)	14 (784)	8 (62%)						
C. Frequency?				10.778	6)	.2146	.696	12 of 15 (80.04)	41
Annually	(NOT) E		[10]0					r	
Occasionally	3 (10%)	3 (23%)							
Monthly	2 (7%)		3 (23V)						
Weekly	(166) 01		2 (15%)						
Daily	12 (40%)	2 (15%)	(NIE) 5						
D. Importance?				4.532	ų	.6051	.228	7 of 12 (58.34)	40
None	0 (01)		(10) 0					•	
Little		(%0)0	(10) 0						
Average	5 (16%)								
Great			_						
Extreme	14 (45%)	3 (23%)	3 (23%)						
E. Difficulty?				9.931	8	.2698	232.	11 of 15 (73.34)	41
Very easy	(00) 0	(10) 0	1 (81)						
Еаву	6 (20%)	(10) 0							
Average	13 (43%)	B (62%)	6 (46%)						
Hard	9 (30%)	5 (38%)							
Very hard	2 { 74)	(10)0	2 (15%)						

Responses to Item 7.9 of the Questionnaire by MCAA Divisional Level

	Division I	Division II	Division III	ch1-square	D.F.	sig.	Min. 2.P.	Cella with E.F. < 5	Nissing
		Rec	Responsibility area: Public relations/Promotions	1: Public relat	tions/Pro	not ions			
		Duty	Duty: Prepare press, radio, or television releases	radio, or te	leviation	releases			
A. Perform? Yes No	16 (34%) 31 (66%)	11 (41%) 16 (59%)	10 (48%) 11 (52%)	3,181	4	.5279	.433	3 of 9 (33-34)	71
B. How? Individual Cooperation Delegate	1 (3%) 1 (3%) 34 (94%)	D { DW) 1 { 6W) 17 (94%)	0 [04) 2 (224) 7 (784)	112.01	ш	.1160	+216	6 of 12 (50-04)	34
C. Frequency? Annually Occasionally Monthly Weekly Daily	2 (84) 0 (04) 2 (81) 7 (281) 14 (569)	0 (04) 1 (84) 1 (84) 7 (584) 3 (254)	0 (01) 1 (111) 2 (221) 4 (441) 2 (221)	6EE.OI	ω	.2420	16E,	(1 5.78) 15 jo El	51
D. Importance? None Little Average Great Extreme	0 (01) 0 (01) 5 (194) 7 (274) 14 (544)	0 (00) 0 (00) 5 (420) 6 (500) 1 (80)	0 { 04) 0 { 04) 1 (114) 6 (574) 2 (224)	10.763	A.	. 0294	2,106	6 af 9 (66.7%)	C, S
E. Difficulty? Very easy Easy Average Hard Very hard	0 (0%) 3 (12%) 16 (64%) 5 (20%) 1 (4%)	0 (04) 1 (84) 7 (584) 4 (334) 0 (04)	0 (01) 1 (111) 6 (671) 2 (221) 0 (01)	1.621	φ	.9510	.196	8 o£ 12 (66.7 8)	25

Respondes to Item 8.1 of the Questionnaire by NCAA Divisional Level

		Division 1	Divleion II	Division III	Chi∽aquare	D.F.	sig.	Min. E.F.	Cells with E.F. < 5	Missing
l			Aer	Responsibility area: Facility/Contest management	a: Facility/Co	itest mår	lagement			
Į		Duty: Coordi	nate all activit	Duty: Coordinate all activities and personnel involved in game preparation, operation, and cleanup	ni bevloved in	game pr	sparation,	operation,	and cleanup	
Α.	A. Perform?				14.486	4	.0059	.433	3 of 9 (33.3%)	7
	Уев	25 (53%)		20 (95%)						
	No	22 (474)	7 (26%)	1 (54)						
ů.	B. How?				12.904	ę	.0446	.433	5 of 12 (41.74)	14
	Individual	1 (2%)	1 (2 1)	(*0) 0						
	Cooperation	8 (16T) B		11 (58 4)						
	Delegate	33 (794)	10 (454)	B (42%)						
υ	c. Frequency?				6.425	æ	1992.	.514	11 of 15 (73.3V)	27
	Annually	1 (34)		1 (5%)						
	Occasionally	I (3%)	1 (51)	(10) 0						
	Monthly	6 (161) 9	3 (15N)	(10) 0						
	Weekly									
	Daily	(1 6T) 9	4 (20%)	7 (394)						
ä	D. Importance?				10.777	Ŷ	.0955	.264	5 of 12 (41.7%)	25
	None	(10)0		0 (08)						
	Little	~	(10) 0	1 (5%)						
	Average	9 (274)		-						
	Great	7 (21%)								
	Extreme	17 (52%)	8 (40%)	7 (37%)					•	
မ်	E. Diffleulty?				7.013	æ	.5352	.268	9 of 15 (60.04)	26
	Very easy			(10) 0						
	Еаву	3 (1 8)	0 (01)	3 (16N)						
	Average	17 (534)	10 (50%)	(163) 21						
	Hard	8 (25%)		3 (161)						
	very hard	3 (91)	2 (101)	1 (54)						

.

Responses to Item 8.2 of the Questionnaire by NCAA Divisional Level

	Division I	Division II	Division III	Chi~square	D.F.	Sig.	Hin. E.F.	Calls with E.F. < 5	Missing
		Re	sponsibility are	a: Facility/Co	ntest ma	nagement			
	1	Duty: Oversee t	he work of physi	.cal plant empl	oyees in	athletics	facilities		
A. Perform?				15.478	4	.0038	.433	3 of 9 (33.3%)	2
Yes	12 (26%)	9 (33%)	15 (71%)						
No	35 (74%)	18 (67%)	6 (29%)						
. How?				26.125	6	.0002	1.082	5 of 12 (41.7%)	36
Individual	1 (3%)	1 (7%)	3 (20%)						
Cooperation	2 (6%)	4 (31%)	B (53%)						
Delegate	30 (91%)	8 (62%)	4 (27%)						
. Frequency?				10.035	8	.2625	.182	13 of 15 (86.7%)	54
Annually	0 (0%)	1 (12%)	a (os)						
Occasionally	3 (14%)	1 (12%)	2 (14%)						
Honthly	3 (14%)	0 (0%)	0 (0%)						
Weekly	4 (18%)	3 (38%)	2 (14%)						
Daily	12 (55%)	3 (38%)	10 (71%)						
. Importance?				3.479	6	.7466	.170	8 of 12 (66.7%)	51
None	0 (0%)	0 (0%)	0 (0%)						
Little	1 (4%)	0 (01)	0 (0%)						
Average	9 (38%)	4 (50%)	4 (27%)						
Great	6 (25%)	3 (38%)	6 (40%)						
Extreme	8 (33%)	1 (12%)	5 (33%)						
. Difficulty?				1.710	6	.9443	.533	9 of 12 (75.0%)	53
Very easy	0 (0%)	0 (0%)	0 (0%)						
Easy	4 (181)	1 (121)	4 (278)						
Average	14 (64%)	6 (75%)	9 (60%)						
Hard	2 (9%)	1 (12%)	1 (78)						
Very hard	2 (9%)	0 (05)	1 (7%)						

Responses to Item 8.3 of the Questionnairs by NCAA Divisional Lavel

	Division I	Division II	Division III	Chi~aquare	D.F.	sig.	MIN. E.F.	calle with E.P. < 5	Hissing
		Υ. Έ	Responsibility area: Facility/Contest management	1: Facility/Co	ntest mår	lagement			
			Duty: Arrange security for athletics contests	urity for ath	etica co	nteata			
A. Perform? Yes No	22 (47%) 25 (53%)	20 (74%) 7 (26%)	16 (76%) 5 (24%)	9.960	4	.0411	.433	3 of 9 (33.31)	0
 B. How? Individual Cooperation Delegate 	4 (10%) 4 (10%) 3 (7%) 36 (83%)	3 (14%) 10 (45%) 9 (41%)	6 (40%) 5 (33%) 4 (27%)	24.679	ص	.0004	2.814	4 of 12 (33.31)	19
C. Frequency? Annually Occasionally Honthly Heekly Daily	3 (10%) 4 (13%) 4 (13%) 15 (50%) 4 (13%)	1 (54) 6 (304) 5 (254) 6 (304) 2 (104)	0 (0%) 6 (40%) 0 (0%) 6 (40%) 3 (20%)	10.592	æ	.2259	£29.	11 of 15 (73.34)	ZE
D. Importance? None Little Average Great Extreme	0 (04) 1 (34) 9 (281) 6 (194) 16 (504)	0 (01) 0 (01) 1 (351) 9 (451) 4 (201)	0 (04) 2 (101) 3 (201) 5 (331) 2 (331)	10.304	v	.1124	.672	5 of 12 (41.7%)	OF
E. Difficulty? Very easy Easy Average Hard Very hard	1 (34) 7 (234) 20 (674) 0 (04) 2 (74)	1 (54) 3 (154) 13 (554) 2 (104) 1 (54)	0 { 0%} 5 { (334) 8 { (534) 2 { (134) 0 { 01}	6.812	œ	. 5570	.462	(JE.E7) 21 Jo 11	N M

Responses to Item 8.4 of the Questionnaire by NCAA Divisional Level

	Division I	Division II	Division III	Chi-aquare	D.F.	Sig.	Min. E.F.	Cells with E.F. < 5	Hissing
		Re	sponsibility are	a: Facility/Co	ntest ma	nagement			
		Duty: Pay off	icials and/or pr	esent guarante	e checke	to visit	ing teams		
A. Perform?				19.942	4	.0005	. 433	3 of 9 (33.3%)	2
Yes	22 (47%)	24 (89%)	18 (86%)						
No	25 (53%)	3 (114)	3 (14%)						
B. How?				37.657	6	.0000	2,598	6 of 12 (50.0%)	12
Individual	2 (5%)	7 (27%)	6 (35%)						
Cooperation	1 (2%)	11 (42%)	5 (30%)						
Delegate	39 (93%)	8 (31%)	6 (35%)						
C. Frequency?				4.777	8	.7811	. 692	11 of 15 (73.3%)	32
Annually	2 (7%)	1 (5%)	0 (0%)						
Occasionally	4 (14%)	4 (18%)	3 (20%)						
Honthly	5 (18%)	4 (18%)	0 (0%)						
Weekly	12 (43%)	9 (41%)	6 (53%)						
Daily	5 (18%)	4 (18%)	4 (27%)						
D. Importance7				2.818	6	.8313	1.071	6 of 12 (50.0%)	27
_	0 (0%)	0 (01)	0 (0%)						
Little	3 (10%)	1 (48)	1 (6%)						
Average	15 (48%)	11 (46%)	7 (47%)						
Great	3 (10%)	6 (25%)	3 (20%)						
Extreme	10 (32%)	6 (25%)	4 (278)					•	
E. Difficulty?				4.572	6	. 5996	.441	7 of 12 (58.3%)	29
Very easy	3 (10%)	2 (8%)	2 (131)	-	-				
Easy	10 (34%)	4 (17%)	4 (27%)						
Average	15 (52%)	18 (75%)	8 (53%)						
Hard	0 (01)	0 (01)	0 (0%)						
Very hard	1 (3%)	0 (0%)	1 (7%)						

.

Table	8.	5
-------	----	---

Responses to Item 8.5 of the Questionnaire by NCAA Divisional Level

	Division I	Division II	Division III	Chi-square	D.F.	Sig.	Hin. E.F.	Cells with E.F. < 5	Missin
		Re	sponsibility are	a: Facility/Co	ntest ma	nagement			
	Du	ty: Arrange for	complimentary t	ickets and/or	pass lis	ts for at	hletics event	8	
. Perform?				8.517	4	.0744	. 433	3 of 9 (33.3%)	2
Yes	25 (53%)	22 (81%)	15 (71%)						
No	22 (47%)	5 (19%)	6 (29%)						
. How?				23.998	6	.0005	2.381	4 of 12 (33.3%)	14
Individual	4 (9%)	2 (8%)	5 (36%)						
Cooperation	8 (18%)	12 (46%)	6 (43%)						
Delegate	32 (73%)	11 (44%)	3 (21%)						
Frequency?				4.463	8	.8131	1.485	11 of 15 (73.3%)	31
Annually	4 (13%)	1 (5%)	2 (14%)					•	
Occasionally	8 (25%)	3 (15%)	5 (36%)						
Monthly	4 (13%)	3 (15%)	1 (7%)						
Weekly	13 (41%)	9 (45%)	5 (36%)						
Daily	3 (9%)	4 (20%)	1 (7%)						
. Importance?				8.530	8	.3835	.203	10 of 15 (66.7%)	28
None	1 (3%)	0 (0%)	0 (0%)						
Little	1 (3%)	4 (18%)	0 (0%)						
Average	15 (45%)	11 (50%)	9 (64%)						
Great	8 (24%)	3 (14%)	3 (21%)						
Extreme	8 (24%)	4 (18%)	2 (14%)						
. Difficulty?				9.797	8	.2795	.418	10 of 15 (66.7%)	30
Very easy	2 (6%)	2 (9%)	4 (29%)						
Easy	12 (39%)	5 (23%)	2 (14%)						
Average	14 (45%)	14 (64%)	7 (50%)						
Hard	2 (61)	1 (4%)	0 (0%)						
Very hard	1 (3%)	0 (0%)	1 (7%)						

.

Table 8.6

Responses to Item 8.6 of the Questionnaire by NCRA Divisional Level

Division I	Division II	Division III	Chi-square	D.F.	Sig.	Min. E.P.	Cells with E.F. < 5	Missing
------------	-------------	--------------	------------	------	------	-----------	-----------------------	---------

		Re	sponsibility are	a: Facility/Co	ntest m	anagement			
	_	Duty:	Prioritize and s	chedule athlet	ice fac:	ilitiee use	ge		
A. Perform?				15.449	4	.0039	.433	3 of 9 (33.3%)	2
Yes	23 (49%)	21 (78%)	19 (90%)					-	
No	24 (51%)	6 (22%)	2 (10%)						
3. How?				15.836	6	.0147	2.814	4 of 12 (33.3%)	13
Individual	2 (5%)	6 (24%)	6 (31%)						
Cooperation	10 (25%)	11 (44%)	6 (31%)						
Delegate	28 (70%)	8 (32%)	7 (37%)						
. Frequency?				6.181	8	.6269	.803	9 of 15 (60.0%)	2
Annually	2 (7%)	1 (4%)	0 (0%)						
Occasionally	4 (13%)	3 (14%)	0 (0%)						
Monthly	4 (13%)	3 (14%)	2 (11%)						
Weekly	12 (40%)	6 (27%)	8 (42%)						
Daily	8 (27%)	9 (41%)	9 (47%)						
). Importance?				6.876	6	. 3325	.521	3 of 12 (25.0%)	24
None	0 (0%)	0 (0%)	0 (0%)						
Little	2 (6%)	0 (0%)	0 (01)						
Average	10 (31%)	11 (50%)	4 (21%)						
Great	9 (28%)	5 (23%)	8 (42%)						
Extreme	11 (34%)	6 (27%)	7 (374)						
. Difficulty?				12.517	8	.1296	1.056	11 of 15 (73.3%)	2
Very easy	1 (3%)	0 (0%)	3 (16%)						
Easy	6 (194)	0 (01)	1 (5%)						
Average	15 (48%)	16 (73%)	11 (58%)						
Hard	5 (19%)	4 (18%)	2 (114)						
Very hard	3 (10%)	2 (9%)	2 (114)						

Table 8.7

Responsed to Item 8.7 of the Questionnaire by NCAA Divisional Level

	Division I	Division II	Division III	chi-square	D.F.	sig.	Min. E.F.	Cella with E.F. < 5	Missing
		Rea	Responsibility area: Facility/Contest management	u Facility/Co	nteet mar	nagement			
	buty: Ing	pect facilities,	Duty: Inspect facilities, equipment, and supplies for safety harards and sanitary conditions	supplies for	aafety h	stards and	sanitary cor	ditione	
A. Perform? Yes No	26 (554) 21 (454)	21 (784) 6 (22%)	21 (1004) 0 { 04)	17.017	4	.0019	633.	3 of 9 (33.34)	R
B. How? Individual Cooperation Delegate	4 (10%) 12 (31%) 23 (59%)	5 (211) 12 (501) 7 (294)	3 (16%) 11 (58%) 5 (26%)	10.316	υ	.1120	2.598	4 of 12 (33.34)	15
C. Frequency? Annually Occasionally Monthly Weekly Daily	0 (01) 6 (201) 8 (224) 6 (204) 9 (311)	2 (9%) 3 (14%) 4 (18%) 6 (27%) 7 (32%)	0 (01) 3 (161) 3 (161) 4 (211) 9 (471)	6.926	۵	. 5446	47	9 of 15 (60.04)	5 5
D. Importance? None Little Average Great Extreme	0 (01) 1 (31) 7 (231) 5 (161) 18 (581)	0 { 04) 0 { 03) 10 (454) 7 (324) 5 (234)	0 (01) 0 (01) 6 (321) 4 (211) 9 (471)	8.537	υ	.2013	- 264	5 of 12 (41.7%)	25
E. Difficulty? Very easy Easy Average Hard Very hard	D (0%) 4 (14%) 18 (62%) 6 (21%) 1 (3%)	2 (94) 2 (94) 18 (824) 0 (03) 0 (04)	2 (114) 4 (214) 8 (424) 5 (264) 0 (04)	142 I	æ	.1070	172.	12 of 15 (80.0%)	23

Responses to Item 9.1 of the Questionnaire by NCAA Divisional Level

	Division I	Division II	bivision III	Chi-equare	D.F.	sig.	Hin. E.F.	Cells with E.P. < 5	Missing
		Rec	Responsibility area: Personal/Frofessional Growth	: Personal/Pro	fessional	Growth			
	-	Duty: Serve on A	Duty: Serve on institutional committees outside of the athlatics department	mittees outsid	e af the	athlatic:	department		
A. Perform? Yea No	40 (87%) 6 (13%)	25 (93%) 2 (7%)	20 (95%) 1 (5%)	4.382	4	.3567	. 649	6 of 9 (66.74)	m
B. How? Individual Cooperation Delegate	34 (874) 5 (134) 0 (04)	19 (79%) 5 (21%) 0 (0%)	16 (84%) 3 [16%] 0 { 0%)	2,596	4	. 6274	2.814	4 of 9 (44.44)	15
C. Freguency? Annually Occasionally Honthly Weekly Daily	2 (54) 10 (254) 13 (324) 11 (284) 4 (104)	2 (101) 7 (310) 6 (194) 8 (384) 0 (01)	2 (114) 1 (64) 8 (444) 7 (394) 0 (04)	10.824	œ	.2119	.	(12 (23 - 34)	18
D. Importance? None Little Average Great Extreme	0 (01) 2 (54) 13 (334) 12 (334) 12 (304)	0 (0%) 1 (5%) 11 (52%) 7 (33%) 2 (10%)	0 (0%) 0 (0%) 7 (39%) 8 (44%) 3 (17%)	5.748	υ	.4519	50 4	5 of 12 (41.7%)	8
E. Difficulty? Very easy Easy Average Hard Very hard	1 (34) 9 (234) 18 (464) 6 (154) 5 (134)	1 (5%) 3 (14%) 15 (71%) 2 (10%) 0 (0%)	1 (51) 2 (111) 12 (671) 3 (171) 0 (01)	8.826	80	.3572	. 692	10 of 15 {66.74}	51

•

275

Responses to Item 9.2 of the Questionnaire by NCaA Divisional Level

	Division I	Division II	Division III	ch1-square	D.F.	sig.	Min. E.F.	Cells with E.F. < 5	Missing
		Rea	Rosponsibility area: Personal/Professional Growth	: Personal/Pro	fessional	Growth			
			Duty: Conduc	Duty: Conduct independent ressarch	ressarch				
A. Perform? Yes No	16 (35%) 30 (65%)	9 (33%) 18 (67%)	4 (194) 17 (814)	4.851	4	.3029	649.	3 of 9 (33.31)	n
8. How? Individual Cooperation Delegate	12 (714) 2 (111) 2 (184)	5 (50%) 4 (40%) 1 (10%)	3 (100%) 3 (100%) 9 (0%)	8,163	IJ	.2264	. 866	7 of 12 (58.3%)	67
C. Frequency7 Annually Occasionally Honthly Heekly Daily	3 (18%) 11 (55%) 2 (12%) 1 (5%) 0 (0%)	1 (12%) 7 (88%) 0 (0%) 0 (0%) 0 (0%)	(10) 0 (10) 0 (10) 0 (10) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	3.178	٩	. 7861	.107	10 of 12 (83.3%)	63
D. Importance? None Littla Average Great Extreme	0 (01) 1 (51) 6 (351) 4 (241) 6 (351)	0 (00) 0 (01) 5 (630) 3 (371) 0 (01)	0 (0%) 0 (0%) 2 (67%) 1 (33%) 0 (0%)	6.091	œ	.4130	,107	(#1.05 12 (91.7%)	69
E. Difficulty? Very easy Easy Average Hard Very hard	1 (64) 3 (194) 12 (754) 0 (04) 0 (04)	0 (01) 1 (124) 6 (754) 1 (124) 1 (124)	(10) (10) (155) (155) (155) (15) (10) (10) (10)	6.04S	u	.4181		10 of 12 (83.3%)	70

Responses to Item 9.3 of the Questionnaire by NCAA Divisional Level

	Division I	Division II	Division III	chi-equare	D.F.	sig.	Hin. E.F.	Colla with E.F. < 5	Missing
		Res	Responeibility area: Pergonal/Frofessional Growth	: Pergonal/Pro	fessional	Growth			
		Duty: Repr	Duty: Represent the institution at4gCAA and conference meetings	ution at4gCAA	and confe	rence m o t	stings		
A. Perform? Yes No	46 (1004) 0 (04)	27 (1004) 0 (04)	21 (100 1) 0 (0 1)	3.032	ri	.2195	. 649	3 of 6 (50.0%)	m
B. How? Individual Cooperation Delegate	29 (64%) 16 (36%) 0 (0%)	17 (654) 9 (354) 0 (04)	19 (954) 1 (54) 0 (04)	7.748	4	.1012	1.299	(NE.EE) 9 20 E	JU I
C. Frequency? Annually Occasionally Monthly Meekly Daily	11 { 240) 21 { 460) 20 { 220) 2 { 41} 2 { 41}	7 (30%) 14 (51%) 2 (9%) 0 (0%)	4 (224) 10 (564) 4 (224) 0 (04) 0 (04)	6.257	æ	. 6184	414.	9 of 15 (60.0%)	9
D. Importance? None Little Average Great Extreme	0 (01) 0 (01) 6 (131) 15 (331) 25 (541)	0 { 04) 1 { 44) 5 { 224} 9 { 394} 8 { 354}	0 (04) 1 (54) 5 (284) 5 (284) 7 (391)	956	ې	. 4281	414	5 of 12 (41.70)	5
E. Difficulty? Very cany Eany Average Hard Very hard	2 (44) 12 (274) 18 (404) 9 (204) 4 (91)	0 (04) 5 (224) 15 (654) 2 (94) 1 (44)	2 (114) 3 (176) 9 (50%) 3 (178) 1 (58)	6.973	æ	. 5395	.837	9 of 15 (60.0%)	1

Responses to Item 9.4 of the Questionnaire by NCAA Divisional Level

Cells with E.F. < 5 Missing

HIN. E.F.

sig.

D.F.

chi-square

bivision III

Division II

I noisivid

			Responses to Item 9.4 of the Questionnaire	m 9.4 of the	Question	natre			
	Du	ty: Serve on pr	Duty: Serve on professional committees at the national and/or conference level	tees at the l	national	and/or conf	erence level		
A. Perform? Yes No	40 (87%) 6 (13%)	(#77) 02 (#52) ð	16 (76%) 5 (24%)	3.087	4	.5432	.866	5 of 9 (55.6%)	4
8. How? Individual Cooperation Delegate	34 (87%) 5 (13%) 0 (0%)	16 (84%) 3 (16%) 0 (0%)	15 (94%) 1 (6%) 0 (0%)	1.573	4	.8135	1.948	4 of 9 (44.4%)	23
C. Frequency? Annually Occasionally Monthly Weekly Daily	5 (12%) 25 (63%) 8 (20%) 0 (0%) 2 (5%)	1 (6%) 11 (65%) 5 (29%) 0 (0%) 0 (0%)	4 (27%) 8 (53%) 2 (13%) 1 (7%) 0 (0%)	9.219	ũ	.3241	- 208	10 of 15 (66.7%)	25
D. Importance? None Littlo Average Great Extreme	(\$0)) (\$0)) (\$2) (\$2) (\$2) (\$2) (\$2) (\$2) (\$2) (\$	0 (0%) 0 (0%) 9 (53%) 5 (29%) 3 (18%)	0 (DN) 0 (00) 6 (401) 5 (331)	2.810	¢	.8322	. 208	(1 6.58.34) 7 of 12 (58.34)	5 7
E. Difficulty? Very easy Easy Average Hard Very hard	0 (00) 11 (280) 23 (590) 4 (100) 1 (36)	0 (01) 2 (121) 11 (651) 4 (241) 0 (01)	1 (71) 2 (131) 10 (661) 1 (71) 1 (73)	9.389	ω	.3105	.112	(1 5.7) 21 Jo LE	56

Responses to Item 9.5 of the Questionnairs by NCAA Divisional Level

	I noisivid	Division II	Division III	ch1-square	D.F.	sig.	HIN. E.F.	Cells with 2.F. < 5	Missing
		Ren	Responsibility area: Personal/Professional Growth	: Personal/Pro	fessional	Growth			
		Duty: We	Duty: Write or edit materials for professional publications	rials for prof	estonal	publicat!	Buo		
A. Ferform? Yes No	16 (36%) 29 (64%)	6 (23 v) 20 (77 v)	5 (24%) 16 (76%)	3.802	4	4334	1.082	3 of 9 (33,34)	ŝ
B. How? Individual Cooperation Delegate			3 (75%) 1 (75%) 2 (40)	1 9 1 1	4	.4730	1.515	5 of 9 (55.68)	5 F
C. Frequency? Annually Occasionally Monthly Weekly Daily	1 (69) 11 (69) 3 (199) 0 (199) 1 (64)	3 (75%) 0 (0%) 1 (25%) 0 (0%)	0 (00) 3 (75%) 0 (00) 1 (25%)	15.321	ν α	.0179	5 5 7 7	(#7.19) 21 30 11	73
D. Importance? None Little Average Great Extreme	0 (04) 4 (254) 6 (385) 2 (124) 4 (254)	0 (00) 1 (254) 1 (254) 1 (254) 1 (254)	0 [04] 0 { 04] 3 {754} 1 {254} 1 {254}	3.400	w	.7572	. 500	11 of 12 (91.74)	E C
 B. Difficulty? Very easy Easy Average Hard Very hard 	1 (7) (8 (3 3 4) (4 7 4) 1 (7 4) 1 (7 4)	0 (04) 1 (254) 1 (254) 2 (504) 0 (04)	0 (0%) 1 (25%) 3 (75%) 0 (0%)	7.421	æ	,4920	.174	14 of 15 (93.34)	74

Responses to Item 9.6 of the Questionnaire by NCAA Divisional Level

	Division I	Division II	Division III	Chi-equare	D.F.	Sig.	Min. E.F.	Cells with E.F. < 5	Misein
		Rei	sponeibility area	a: Personal/Pro	fession	al Growth			
	_	Duty:	Take graduate co	urses for prof	essional	developm	ent		_
A. Perform?				5.674	4	.2248	. 649	5 of 9 (55.6%)	3
Yes	6 (13%)	4 (15%)	6 (29%)						
No	40 (87%)	23 (85%)	15 (711)						
. How?				4.678	4	. 3219	.216	S of 9 (55.6%)	81
Individual	5 (83%)	4 (100%)	6 (100%)						
Cooperation	1 (17%)	0 (0%)	0 (0%)						
Delegate	0 (0%)	0 (0%)	0 (01)						
. Frequency?				6.755	4	.1494	.214	9 of 9 (100.0%)	83
Annually	1 (20%)	3 (100%)	2 (33%)						
Occasionally	4 (80%)	0 (0%)	3 (50%)						
Honthly	0 (0%)	0 (0%)	0 (0%)						
Weekly	0 (0%)	0 (0%)	1 (174)						
Daily	0 (0%)	0 (0%)	0 (0%)						
). Importance?				3.750	6	.7105	.400	12 of 12 (100.0%)	82
None	0 (0%)	0 (0%)	0 (0%)						
Little	1 (17%)	1 (33%)	0 (0%)						
Average	2 (33%)	2 (67%)	3 (50%)						
Great	2 (33%)	0 (0%)	2 (33%)						
Extreme	1 (17%)	0 (0%)	1 (17%)						
E. Difficulty?				8.750	6	. 1881	.200	12 of 12 (100.0%)	82
Very easy	0 (0%)	0 (0%)	0 (0%)						
Easy	2 (33%)	1 (33%)	0 (0%)						
Average	4 (67%)	2 (67%)	2 (33%)						
Hard	0 (0%)	0 (0%)	3 (50%)						
Very hard	0 (0%)	0 (0%)	1 { 17%}						

-

Responses to Item 9.7 of the Questionnairs by NCAA Divisional Level

Targeneticitity area: Feronal/Processional Geoch Dry: Develop computes Akilla A. Perform Dry: Develop computes Akilla A. Perform 11 (41) 2 (51) 1 (61) 3 (61) <td< th=""><th></th><th></th><th>Division I</th><th>Division II</th><th>Division III</th><th>Chi-square</th><th>D.F.</th><th>stg.</th><th>Min. E.F.</th><th>Cella with E.P. < 5</th><th>Hiseing</th></td<>			Division I	Division II	Division III	Chi-square	D.F.	stg.	Min. E.F.	Cella with E.P. < 5	Hiseing
Derive notifie Derive notifie Perform 6.052 4 .1353 3 of 9 (33.3) Perform 10 (63) 11 (41) 12 (57) 6.052 4 .1353 3 of 9 (33.3) Perform 10 (63) 11 (79) 9 (100) 9 (63) 9 (100)<				Rea	ponsibility area	: Personal/Pro	fessional	Growth			
Perform 6.052 4 .153 .649 3 of 9 (33.34) Yea 10 (553) 11 (41) 12 (574) 9 (433) 9 (433) No 30 (553) 15 (594) 9 (433) 9 (433) 6.052 6 .1922 .216 6 of 12 (50.01) Individual 11 (79) 9 (100) 8 (80) 0 (01) 2 (200) 8 (80) 0 (01) 2 (201) 0 (01) 0 (01) 2 (201) 0 (01)<					Duty: Dev	elop computer	skille				
Ver16 (35)11 (41)12 (57)No30 (63)16 (53)11 (41)12 (57)No30 (63)16 (50)9 (43)9 (43)No30 (63)9 (100)9 (43)9 (43)No3 (21)0 (0)2 (20)9 (43)No3 (21)0 (0)2 (20)0 (0)Delegate0 (0)2 (20)2 (20)Delegate0 (0)1 (9)2 (20)Delegate0 (0)1 (9)2 (20)Delegate0 (0)1 (9)2 (20)Denthy6 (43)2 (20)2 (20)Anually6 (43)2 (20)2 (20)Anually6 (43)2 (20)2 (20)Anually6 (43)2 (10)2 (20)Anually2 (10)2 (10)2 (20)Anually6 (43)2 (10)2 (20)Anually6 (Perform?				6.052	4	. 1953	.649	م م	en.
No J0 (651) J6 (531) J1 (31) J8 (332) J1 (31) J2 (51) J2 (71) <		Yes	16 (35%)	-	12 (57%)						,
		No	30 (65%)		9 (434)						
$ \begin{bmatrix} 11 & (791) & 9 & (1001) & 8 & (801) \\ 0 & (701) & 0 & (701) & 2 & (201) \\ 0 & (701) & 0 & (701) & 2 & (201) \\ 0 & (701) & 0 & (701) & 2 & (201) \\ 5 & (361) & 5 & (451) & 5 & (451) \\ 5 & (431) & 2 & (181) & 0 & (701) \\ 2 & (141) & 2 & (181) & 0 & (701) \\ 2 & (141) & 2 & (181) & 0 & (701) \\ 2 & (141) & 2 & (181) & 0 & (701) \\ 2 & (141) & 2 & (191) & 0 & (701) \\ 2 & (141) & 2 & (191) & 0 & (701) \\ 3 & (211) & 1 & (101) & 0 & (701) \\ 3 & (211) & 1 & (101) & 0 & (701) \\ 3 & (211) & 1 & (101) & 0 & (701) \\ 3 & (211) & 1 & (101) & 0 & (701) \\ 3 & (211) & 1 & (101) & 0 & (701) \\ 2 & (141) & 1 & (101) & 0 & (701) \\ 3 & (211) & 1 & (101) & 0 & (701) \\ 3 & (211) & 1 & (101) & 0 & (701) \\ 2 & (141) & 1 & (101) & 1 & (701) \\ 2 & (141) & 1 & (110) & 1 & (701) \\ 2 & (1101) & 1 & (101) & 1 & (701) \\ 2 & (1101) & 1 & (101)$	R.	How?				8.682	ý	.1922	.216	6 of 12 (50.04)	64
1 3 (21) 0 0 0) 0 00) 1y 6 (43) 2 (18) 2 (18) 2 (18) 0 <td></td> <td>Individual</td> <td>11 (79%)</td> <td>9 (1001)</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td>•</td> <td></td>		Individual	11 (79%)	9 (100 1)						•	
0 (0h) 0 (0h) 0 (0h) 10 (0h) 1y 6 (434) 6 (554) 5 (454) 5 (434) 6 (554) 5 (454) 6 (100) 1 (7h) 2 (18h) 0 (0h) 10 (11) 1 (7h) 2 (18h) 0 (0h) 1 (2h) 2 (14h) 0 (0h) 1 (9h) 3 (27h) 2 (14h) 0 (0h) 1 (9h) 3 (27h) 2 (14h) 0 (0h) 1 (9h) 3 (20h) 2 (14h) 0 (0h) 1 (10h) 3 (20h) 3 (20h) 5 (50h) 3 (20h) 3 (20h) 3 (20h) 1 (10h) 3 (20h) 3 (20h) 3 (20h) 1 (10h) 3 (20h) 3 (20h) 2 (14h) 1 (10h) 3 (20h) 3 (20h) 3 (21h) 1 (10h) 3 (20h) 3 (20h) 2 (14h) 1 (10h) 2 (18h) 3 (20h) 3 (21h) 1 (10h) 2 (18h) 3 (20h) 3 (21h) 1 (10h) 2 (18h) 3 (20h) 2 (14h) 1 ((0h) 1 ((0h) 1 (0h) </td <td></td> <td>Cooperation</td> <td>3 (214)</td> <td>0</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td>		Cooperation	3 (214)	0							
1y 0 (01) 1 (91) 2 (180) 10.178 8 .2394 .917 12 of 15 (80.01) 1 (70) 2 (180) 0 (00) 0 (00) 1 (90) 3 (270) 2 (141) 0 (00) 1 (100) 3 (270) 3 (270) 3 (270) 2 (141) 0 (00) 1 (100) 3 (200) 3 (200) 3 (200) 2 (141) 0 (00) 0 (00) 3 (200) 3 (200) 3 (200) 2 (101) 1 (100) 3 (200) 3 (200) 3 (200) 3 (210) 3 (210) 1 (100) 2 (100) 3 (200) 3 (210) 3 (210) 2 (141) 1 (100) 2 (100) 3 (200) 3 (210) 3 (210) 2 (141) 1 (100) 2 (100) 3 (210) 3 (210) 3 (210) 2 (141) 1 (100) 2 (100) 1 (90) 3 (210) 3 (210) 2 (141) 1 (100) 1 (90) 1 (90) 3 (100) 3 (100) 2 (141) 1 (100) 1 (90) 1 (90) 3 (100) 3 (1 (90) 2 (141)		Delegate		(10) 0							
1y 0 (01) 1 (91) 2 (181) 5 (543) 5 (533) 5 (451) 5 (451) 5 (10) 2 (181) 1 (91) 1 (91) 1 (7) 2 (181) 1 (91) 1 (91) 2 (101) 0 (01) 1 (91) 3 (271) 3 (271) 2 (01) 0 (01) 1 (101) 0 (01) 3 (513) 3 (211) 3 (211) 3 (211) 3 (211) 3 (211) 3 (211) 1 (101) 0 (01) 3 (271) 3 (211) 3 (211) 1 (101) 3 (271) 3 (271) 3 6 0 1 1 2 (75.01) 3 (211) 1 (101) 0 (01) 3 (271) 3 6 0 1 1 2 (75.01) 3 (211) 1 (101) 0 (01) 3 (271) 3 6 0 1 1 2 (75.01) 3 (211) 1 (101) 3 (271) 3 (271) 3 6 0 1 1 2 (75.01) 3 (211) 1 (101) 3 (271) 3 (271) 3 6 0 1 1 2 (75.01) 3 (211) 1 (101) 3 (271) 3 (271) 3 6 0 1 1 2 (75.01) 1 (101) 2 (101) 3 (271) 3 6 0 1 1 2 (75.01) <	ċ	Frequency?				10.378	¢	.2394	116.	12 of 15 (80.0%)	61
Occasionally 6 (431) 6 (551) 5 (451) 6 (51) 5 (431) 6 (51) 5 (431) 6 (70) 9 Monthly 1 (71) 2 (191) 1 (91) 1 (91) 1 (91) 1 (70) Monthly 2 (141) 0 (01) 1 (91) 3 (271) 3 (270) 9 of 12 (75.01) Importance? 1 (101) 0 (01) 1 (101) 0 (01) 0 (01) 9 of 12 (75.01) Importance? 1 (101) 1 (101) 0 (01) 1 (101) 9 of 12 (75.01) Importance? 0 (01) 1 (101) 0 (01) 1 (101) 9 of 00) Average 8 (571) 5 (501) 5 (451) 9 of 12 (75.01) Average 8 (571) 3 (201) 9 (01) 1 (101) Average 8 (571) 3 (201) 3 (271) 9 of 12 (75.01) Average 8 (571) 3 (201) 9 (010) 9 of 12 (75.01) Average 8 (571) 3 (201) 9 (010) 9 (010) Average 8 (571) 3 (201) 3 (271) 9 (010) Difficulty7 1 (100) 1 (100)		Annually	-	-							
$ \begin{array}{llllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllll$		Occasionally	_	-							
Weekly1 (7)2 (18)1 (9)Daily2 (14)0 (0)3 (27)3 (27)Daily2 (14)0 (0)3 (27)3 (27)Importance?0 (0)0 (0)0 (0)9 of 12 (75.01)None0 (0)1 (100)0 (0)9 of 12 (75.01)Nerroge8 (27)5 (500)5 (45)Average8 (27)3 (21)3 (23)Strene3 (21)1 (100)3 (27)Difficulty?1 (100)2 (10)1 (100)Very eary8 (57)3 (200)1 (9)Average8 (57)3 (200)1 (9)Average8 (57)1 (100)1 (9)Average2 (14)1 (100)1 (9)Average2 (14)1 (100)1 (9)		Monthly	ميد	-							
$ \begin{array}{llllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllll$		Weekly	1 (74)	-							
Importance? 3.656 6 .7231 .286 9 of 12 (75.01) None 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 1031 286 9 of 12 (75.01) Little 0		Daily		-							
None 0 (01) 0 (01) 0 (01) Little 0 (03) 1 (104) 0 (01 Average 8 (573) 5 (504) 5 (453) Great 3 (213) 3 (273) 3 (273) Extreme 3 (213) 3 (274) 3 (273) Extreme 3 (213) 1 (101) 3 (273) Difficulty? Difficulty? Difficulty? Very aa89 2 (143) 1 (101) 2 (183) 8 .4082 .857 12 of 15 (80.01) Very aa89 2 (143) 1 (101) 0 (03) Average 8 (574) 3 (301) 7 (640) Hard 2 (143) 1 (101) 1 (91) Very hard 2 (143) 1 (101) 1 (91)	ġ	Importance?				3.656	9	1627.	.286	9 of 12 (75.04)	62
Little 0 (04) 1 (104) 0 (04) Average 8 (574) 5 (504) 5 (454) Great 3 (214) 3 (214) 3 (274) 3 (274) Extreme 3 (214) 1 (104) 3 (274) Difficulty? Very analy 0 (04) 1 (104) 2 (164) Average 8 (574) 3 (204) 1 (94) Hard 2 (144) 1 (104) 1 (94) Very hard 2 (144) 1 (104) 1 (94) Hard 2 (144) 1 (104) 1 (104) 1 (94) Hard 2 (144) 1 (104) 1 (104) 1 (104) Hard 2 (144) 1 (104) 1 (104) 1 (104) Hard 2 (144) 1 (104) 1 (104) 1 (104) Hard 2 (144) 1 (1		None	-	-	~						
Average 8 (571) 5 (504) 5 (451) Great 3 (213) 3 (201) 3 (273) Extreme 3 (213) 1 (101) 3 (273) Difficulty? 8 (214) 1 (101) 3 (273) Difficulty? 8.263 8 .4082 .857 12 of 15 (80.0%) Very samp 0 (01) 1 (101) 2 (184) 1< (101)		Little	-	Ļ	-						
Great 3 (21%) 3 (27%) 3 (27%) Extreme 3 (21%) 1 (10%) 3 (27%) Difficulty? 8.263 8 .4082 .857 Very easy 0 (0%) 1 (10%) 2 (18%) Very easy 2 (14%) 1 (10%) 2 (18%) Average 8 (57%) 3 (30%) 7 (64%) Hard 2 (14%) 1 (10%) 1 (9%) Very hard 2 (14%) 1 (10%) 1 (9%)		Average	-	-							
Extreme3 (21%)1 (10%)3 (27%)3 (27%)Difficulty?8.2638.4082.85712 of 15 (80.0%)Very easy0 (0%)1 (10%)2 (18%)8.2638<.4082		Great		-							
Difficulty? 8.263 8.4032 .857 12 of 15 (80.0%) Very samp 0 (0%) 1 (10%) 2 (14%) 1 (10%) 0 (0%) Xerage 8 (57%) 3 (30%) 7 (64%) 1 (9%) Hard 2 (14%) 1 (10%) 1 (9%) Very hard 2 (14%) 1 (10%) 1 (9%)		Extreme	-	~							
easy 0 (0%) 1 (10%) 2 2 (14%) 1 (10%) 0 19e 8 (57%) 3 (30%) 7 2 (14%) 4 (40%) 1 hard 2 (14%) 1 (10%) 1	н Н	Difficulty?				8.263	8	.4082	.857	12 of 15 (80.0%)	62
2 14% 1 10% 0 sige 8 (57%) 3 30% 7 sige 2 (14%) 4 40% 1 hard 2 (14%) 1 10% 1		Very easy	-	-							
Ide 8 (574) 3 (304) 7 2 (148) 4 (404) 1 hard 2 (144) 1 (104) 1		Easy		~							
2 (148) 4 (40%) 1 hard 2 (14%) 1 (10%) 1		Average		-	7 (644)						
2 (144) 1 (104) 1		Hard		-	1 (94)						
		Very hard		~	1 (91)						

No. of responses	o	5	10	15	20	25	30	35	40	45	50
45	0 (0%)	1 (2%)	4 (9%)	6 (13%)	11 (24%)	8 (18%)	2 { 4% }	2 (4%)	5 (11%)	0 (0%)	6 (13%)
25	0 (0%)	0 (0%)	3 (12%)	3 (12%)	5 (20%)	4 (16%)	3 (12%)	2 (B%)	1 (4%)	1 (41)	3 (12%)
21	0 (0%)	D (0%)	8 (38%)	5 (24%)	4 (19%)	1 (5%)	0 (0%)	1 (5%)	1 (5%)	0 (0%)	1 (5%)
			Anı	alysis of a	variance				_		
D.f.		Sum o	of squares		Xean s	quares		F ratio		Fpi	robability
2		1,	.080.8718		540.	4359		3.5410			.0332
88		13,	430.6667		152.	6212					
90		14,	,511.5385								
	25 21 D.f. 2 88	responses 0 45 0 (0%) 25 0 (0%) 21 0 (0%) D.F. 2 88	responses 0 5 45 0 (0%) 1 (2%) 25 0 (0%) 0 (0%) 21 0 (0%) 0 (0%) D.F. Sum of 2 1, 88 13,	reaponses 0 5 10 45 0 (0%) 1 (2%) 4 (9%) 25 0 (0%) 0 (0%) 3 (12%) 21 0 (0%) 0 (0%) 8 (38%) D.F. Sum of aquares 2 1,080.8718 88 13,430.6667	reaponses 0 5 10 15 45 0 (0%) 1 (2%) 4 (9%) 6 (13%) 25 0 (0%) 0 (0%) 3 (12%) 3 (12%) 21 0 (0%) 0 (0%) 8 (38%) 5 (24%) Analysis of % D.F. Sum of squares 2 1,080.8718 88 13,430.6667	responses 0 5 10 15 20 45 0 (0%) 1 (2%) 4 (9%) 6 (13%) 11 (24%) 25 0 (0%) 0 (0%) 3 (12%) 3 (12%) 5 (20%) 21 0 (0%) 0 (0%) 8 (38%) 5 (24%) 4 (19%) Analysis of variance Analysis of variance Hean s Hean s 2 1,080.8718 540. 88 13,430.6667 152.	responses 0 5 10 15 20 25 45 0 (0%) 1 (2%) 4 (9%) 6 (13%) 11 (24%) 8 (18%) 25 0 (0%) 0 (0%) 3 (12%) 3 (12%) 5 (20%) 4 (16%) 21 0 (0%) 0 (0%) 8 (38%) 5 (24%) 4 (19%) 1 (5%) Analysis of variance D.F. Sum of squares Hean squares 2 1,080.8718 540.4359 540.4359 88 13,430.6667 152.6212	responses 0 5 10 15 20 25 30 45 0 (0%) 1 (2%) 4 (9%) 6 (13%) 11 (24%) 8 (18%) 2 (4%) 25 0 (0%) 0 (0%) 3 (12%) 3 (12%) 5 (20%) 4 (16%) 3 (12%) 21 0 (0%) 0 (0%) 8 (38%) 5 (24%) 4 (19%) 1 (5%) 0 (0%) Analysis of variance D.F. Sum of squares Hean squares 2 1,080.8718 540.4359 1 152.6212	reaponses 0 5 10 15 20 25 30 35 45 0 (0%) 1 (2%) 4 (9%) 6 (13%) 11 (24%) 8 (18%) 2 (4%) 2 (4%) 25 0 (0%) 0 (0%) 3 (12%) 3 (12%) 5 (20%) 4 (16%) 3 (12%) 2 (6%) 21 0 (0%) 0 (0%) 8 (38%) 5 (24%) 4 (19%) 1 (5%) 0 (0%) 1 (5%) Analysis of variance D.F. Sum of squares Mean squares F ratio 2 1,080.8718 540.4359 3.5410 80 13,430.6667 152.6212 3.5410	reaponses 0 5 10 15 20 25 30 35 40 45 0 (0%) 1 (2%) 4 (9%) 6 (13%) 11 (24%) 8 (18%) 2 (4%) 2 (4%) 5 (11%) 25 0 (0%) 0 (0%) 3 (12%) 3 (12%) 5 (20%) 4 (16%) 3 (12%) 2 (6%) 1 (4%) 21 0 (0%) 0 (0%) 8 (38%) 5 (24%) 4 (19%) 1 (5%) 0 (0%) 1 (5%) 1 (5%) Analysis of variance D.F. Sum of squares Mean squares F ratio 2 1,080.8718 540.4359 3.5410 3.5410 80 13,430.6667 152.6212 3.5410 3.5410	responses 0 5 10 15 20 25 30 35 40 45 45 0 (0%) 1 (2%) 4 (9%) 6 (13%) 11 (24%) 8 (18%) 2 (4%) 5 (11%) 0 (0%) 25 0 (0%) 0 (0%) 3 (12%) 3 (12%) 5 (20%) 4 (16%) 3 (12%) 2 (4%) 5 (11%) 0 (0%) 25 0 (0%) 0 (0%) 3 (12%) 3 (12%) 5 (20%) 4 (16%) 3 (12%) 2 (8%) 1 (4%) 1 (4%) 21 0 (0%) 0 (0%) 8 (38%) 5 (24%) 4 (19%) 1 (5%) 0 (0%) 1 (5%) 0 (0%) Analysis of variance D.F. Sum of squares Hean squares F ratio F pi 2 1,080.8718 540.4359 3.5410 3.5410 3.5410 80 13,430.6667 152.6212 3.5410 3.5410 3.5410

Table 10
Administrative Time Spent on Financial Operations by NCAA Divisional Classification

•

Percent of time	No. of responses	o	5	10	15	20	25	30	35	40	45	50
Division I	40	0 (01)	1 (3%)	4 (10%)	7 (18%)	10 (25%)	9 (23%)	4 (10%)	0 (0%)	2 (5%)	0 (0%)	3 (8%)
Division II	21	0 (0%)	3 (14%)	7 (33%)	2 (10%)	3 (14%)	4 (19%)	1 (5%)	1 (5%)	0 (0%)	0 (04)	0 (06)
Division III	21	2 (10%)	13 (62%)	5 (24%)	1 (5%)	0 (0%)	0 (0%)	0 (0%)	0 (0%)	0 (0%)	0 (05)	0 (0%)
	An				Analysis	of variance						
Source		D.F.	Su	m of squar	:es	Mear	squares		F ratio		F pro	bability
Between groups		2		3,968.1366	;	1,9	84.0683		24.7818			.0000
Within groups		79		6,324.8512	2		80.0614					
Total		81	1	0,292.9878	3							

Table 11.	.1	
-----------	----	--

Administrative Time Spent on Generation of Revenues by NCAA Divisional Classification

Table 11.2

Results of the Scheffe Procedure Between NCAA Divisions I, II, and III Concerning Administrative Time Spent on Generation of Revenues

III	II	I
6.1905	16.1905	23.1250
*		
*	*	
	6.1905 *	6.1905 16.1905 *

*Denotes pairs of groups significantly different at the .05 level.

Table 12

Percent of time	ko. af résponses	0	IJ	10	15	20	25	Œ	SE	40	сл 1	50
Division I Division II Division III	43 25 20	1 (21) 0 (01) 0 (01)	9 (214) 4 (164) 2 (104)	18 (424) 10 (404) 7 (354)	4 (91) 3 (121) 5 (251)	6 (14%) 4 (16%) 4 (20%)	2 (54) 2 (124) 3 (124) 1 (54)	2 (5%) 2 (4%) 1 (5%) 1 (5%)	(10) (10) 0	(10) (10) 0	(10) 0 0	1 (24) 0 (04) 0 (04)
					Analysis of variance	varlance						
Source		D.F.		Sum of a quare s	làres		Mean squares	5	F ratio	tio	F pro	F probability
Between groups		61		28.5531	151		14.2766		.2208	08	8	.8023
Within groups		85		5,496.1628	328		64.6607					
Total		87		5,524.7159	55							

Percent of time	No. of responses	0	5	10	15	20	25	30	35	40	45	50
Division I	44	0 (0%)	10 (23%)	13 (30%)	9 (20%)	6 (14%)	2 (51)	2 (5%)	1 (2%)	0 (0%)	0 (0%)	1 (2%
Division II	26	0 (0%)	2 (8%)	13 (50%)	7 (27%)	2 (8%)	2 (8%)	0 (01)	0 (0%)	0 (0%)	0 (0%)	0 (0%
Division III	21	0 (0%)	3 (14%)	3 (14%)	9 (43%)	2 (10%)	1 (5%)	2 (10%)	0 (0%)	0 (0%)	0 (0%)	1 (5%
					Analysis of	variance						
Source		D.F.		Sum of squar	:es	Mear	aquares		F ratio		F pro	babilit
Between groups		2		190.738	34		94.3692		1.2888			2808
Within groups		88		6,512.000	8	-	74.0001					
Total		90		6,702.747	• •							

Table 13 Administrative Time Spent on Personnel by NCAA Divisional Classification

Percent of time	No. of responses	O	5	10	15	20	25	30	35	40	45	50
Division I	41	0 (0%)	11 (27%)	19 (46%)	5 (12%)	4 (10%)	1 (2%)	0 (0%)	0 (0%)	0 (0%)	0 (01)	1 (21)
Division II	26	0 (0%)	5 (19%)	10 (38%)	5 (19%)	5 (19%)	D (04)	0 (0%)	0 (0%)	0 (0%)	0 (0%)	1 (48)
Division III	21	0 (0%)	15 (71%)	6 (29%)	0 (0%)	0 (0%)	0 (0%)	0 (0%)	0 (0%)	0 (0%)	0 (0%)	0 (0%)
				An	alysis of v	ariance						
Source		D.F.	St	m of squares	1	Hean s	quares		F ratio		F pro	bability
Between groups		2		609.7171		304.	.8586		5.5517			0054
Within groups		в5		4,667.5556		54.	9124					
Total		87		5,277.2727								

 Table 14.1

 Administrative Time Spent on Compliance by NCAA Divisional Classification

Table 14.2

Results of the Scheffe Procedure Between NCAA Divisions I, II, and III Concerning Administrative Time Spent on Compliance

Divisions	III	I	II
Mean	6.4286	11.5854	13.4615
III			
I	*		
II	*		

*Denotes pairs of groups significantly different at the .05 level.

Administrative Time Spent on Responsibilities to Student Athletes by NCAA Divisional Classification

Table 15

Percent of time	No. of responses	0	ŝ	10	15	20	25	30	35	40	45	50
Division I	43	(10) 0	26 (60%)	11 (26%)	2 (54)	2 (54) 0 (04)	1 (21)	(10) 0	1 (24)	1 (24) 1 (24)	(10) 0	1 (2N)
Division II	26	(10) 0	(NIE) 8	11 (42%)	5 (194)	2 (84)	(10) 0	(10) 0	(10) 0	(10) 0	(10) 0	(10) 0
Division III	21	(10) 0	(NEE) L	6 (29 1)	6 (294) 7 (334) 1 (54) 0 (04)	1 (54)	(10) 0	(10) 0		(10) 0 (11) 0	(10) 0	(10) 0
				Ana	Analysis of variance	riançe						
. Source	ō	D.F.	Sun	Sum of equares		Mean s	Меап адчагез		F ratio		F pro	F probability
Between groups		71		7.712		m	3.8856		.0674			9349
Within groups	đ	87	ŝ	5,016.9510		57.	57.6661					
Total	Ð	68	л	5,024.7222								

Tal	sle	16	.1

Administrative Time Spent on Public Relations/Promotions by NCRA Divisional Classification

Percent of time	No. of responses	o	5	10	15	20	25	30	35	40	45	50
Division I	43	0 (0%)	13 (30%)	16 (37%)	6 (14%)	2 (5%)	3 (7%)	0 (0%)	D (O%)	1 (2%)	1 (2%)	1 (21)
Division II	26	0 (0%)	3 (12%)	16 (62%)	5 (19%)	2 (8%)	0 (0%)	0 (0%)	0 (0%)	0 (0%)	0 (0%)	0 (0%)
Division III	20	1 (5%)	14 (70%)	3 (15%)	2 (10%)	0 (01)	0 (0%)	0 (0%)	0 (0%)	0 (0%)	0 (0%)	0 (ON)
<u> </u>				Anz	lysis of v	riance						
Source	I	D.F. Sum of squares			Kean squares			F ratio		f probability		
Between groups	2		602.0481		-	301.0240			4.9109			0096
Within groups	ups 86		5,271.5474			61.2971						
Total	68 5,873.5955											

•

Table 16.2

Results of the Scheffe Procedure Between NCAA Divisions I, II, and III Concerning Administrative Time Spent on Public Relations/Promotions

Divisions	III	II	I.
Mean	6.5000	11.1538	13.1395
III			
II			
I	*		

*Denotes pairs of groups significantly different at the .05 level.

Table	17.	.1
-------	-----	----

Administrative Time Spent on Facility/Contest Hanagement by NCAA Divisional Classification

Percent of time	No. of responses	O	5	10	15	20	25	30	35	40	45	50
Division I	42	0 (0%)	34 (81%)	5 (12%)	2 (51)	0 (0%)	0 (0%)	0 (0%)	0 (0%)	0 (0%)	0 (0%)	1 (2%)
Division II	24	0 (0%)	9 (38%)	8 (33%)	6 (25%)	0 (0%)	1 (45)	0 (01)	0 (0%)	0 (0%)	0 (0%)	0 (0%)
Division IIi	21	0 (0%)	9 (43%)	3 (14%)	3 (14%)	5 (241)	1 (5%)	0 (0%)	0 (0%)	0 (0%)	0 (0%)	0 (0%)
				Ar	alysis of v	variance		<u></u>				
Source	I	D.F.	Sur	Sum of squares			Hean squares		F ratio		F pro	bability
Between groups		2	318.1445			159.0722			3.5883			.0320
Within groups		84 3,723.8095			44.3311							

4,041.9540

86

Total

Table 17.2

Results of the Scheffe Procedure Between NCAA Divisions I, II, and III Concerning Administrative Time Spent on Facility/Contest Management

Divisions	I	II	III
Mean	7.1429	10.0000	11.6667
I			
II			
III	*		

*Denotes pairs of groups significantly different at the .05 level.

Percent of time	No. of responses	Ó	. 5	10	15	20	25	30	35	40	¢5	50
Division I	40	0 (0%)	29 (731)	4 (10%)	5 (13%)	2 (5%)	0 (0%)	0 (0%)	0 (0%)	0 (0%)	0 (0%)	0 (0%)
Division II	25	D (0%)	17 (68%)	6 (24%)	2 (8%)	0 (0%)	0 (0%)	0 (0%)	0 (0%)	0 (0%)	0 (05)	0 (0%)
Division III	21	0 (0%)	12 (57%)	7 (33%)	1 (5%)	1 (5%)	0 (0%)	0 (0%)	0 (0%)	0 (0%)	D (O%)	0 (0%)
				Ana	alysis of va	riance						
Source	D.	.F.	. Sum of squares			Mean squares			F ratio		F pro	obability
Between groups		2	8.6379			4.3189			.2600			.7717
Within groups	٤	13	1,378.5714			16.	6093					
Total	£	15	1,387.2093									

Table 18 Administrative Time Spent on Personal/Professional Growth by NCAA Divisional Classification

Table 19

	Division I	Division II	Division III
Financial operations	26%	27%	18%
Generation of revenues	23%	16%	6%
Operational policies	13%	14%	15%
Personnel	14%	13%	17%
Compliance	12%	13%	6%
Responsibilities to student athletes	10%	10%	10%
Public Relations/promotions	13%	11%	7%
Facility/Contest management	7%	10%	12%
Personal/Professional growth	8%	7%	88

Percentage of Total Administrative Time Spent in Each of the Nine Areas of Responsibility by NCAA Divisional Classification

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

APPENDIX B

QUESTIONNAIRE

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

APPENDIX B

QUESTIONNAIRE

A QUESTIONNAIRE

for

QUALIFICATIONS, RESPONSIBILITIES, AND DUTIES OF ATHLETICS DIRECTORS AT SELECTED NCAA DIVISION I, II, AND III INSTITUTIONS IN ELEVEN SOUTHEASTERN STATES

Purpose of the study: This instrument was devised to identify the responsibilities and duties of collegiate athletics directors and to differentiate, among NCAA Division I, II, and III
institutions, which qualifications and professional skills are necessary for respective occupational success. The results of this study may be used: 1) by aspiring athletics directors in order to tailor their preparation patterns to the level of program they wish to direct; 2) by institutions to update and evaluate current preparation programs in sport management; 3) by current athletics directors to evaluate present practices;
4) to give newly appointed athletics directors a data base from which to work; and (5) to aid the administrator in preparing handbooks for the athletics department and for student athletes.

DIRECTIONS

As you complete the check list-rating scale, please consider each item with respect to your <u>present</u> position. <u>Bate each duty even if you do not actually perform the duty</u>. Above all keep in mind your total responsibilities in your current position.

- Step 1: Under column I please check () "Yes" if you perform the duty. If you do not perform the duty or the item is not applicable to your position please check () "No".
- Step 2: Under column II please check () "Ind." if you perform the duty independently. If you perform the duty in cooperation with someone please check () "Coop." If you delegate this duty to someone else check () "Del."
- Step 3: Under column III, <u>encircle</u> the number which best indicates the **frequency** with which you perform the duty.
- Step 4: Under column IV, <u>encircle</u> the number which best indicates the **importance** of the duty to the successful performance of your job.
- Step 5: Under column V, <u>encircle</u> the number which best indicates the degree of **difficulty** required for you to perform the duty satisfactorily.

NOTE: FEEL FREE TO BACKTRACK AND ADJUST THE PERCENTAGES THAT YOU HAVE CHECKED AS YOU DEEM NECESSARY. EACH SECTION HAS AN "OTHER" CATEGORY IF YOU WISH TO ADD A DUTY OR MAKE A COMMENT.

ATHLETICS ADMINISTRATOR QUESTIONNAIRE

Ple	ease respond to the following general information questions concerning your position.
1.	What is the NCAA classification for your institution? Division I-A I-AA
2.	How many intercollegiate athletics teams does your institution sponsor?
з.	To whom do you directly report?
4.	Please check the highest degree you have completed: B.A M.A Ed.S Ph.D Ed.D Other
	in what field is your degree?
5.	How many years of experience do you have as an athletics director?
6.	What position did you hold before becoming an athletics director?
7.	Do you coach an athletic team? If yes, which sport?
8.	Do you teach any courses? If yes, what is the average no. of semester or quarter hours/ year that you teach? Do you teach professional courses, activity courses, or both?
9.	Do you have an associate and/or assistant(s) athletics director? How many?
	If yes, for what areas is this person(s) responsible?
	Do you have an athletics fund-raiser? Is this a full-time position?
10.	Do you have a sports information director? is this a full-time position? To whom does the SID report? Does the SID have an assistant?
11.	Indicate the amount of the total athletic budget for your institution; less than 100,000 100,000 to 500,000 500,000 to 1,000,000 1 000 to 1,000,000

- _____ 1,000,000 to 2,500,000
- _____ 2,500,000 to 5,000,000
- _____ over 5,000,000

FINANCIAL OPERATIONS

-	t·				t	1 <u>v</u>
	Duty	I Do you perform this duty?	II Is this duty performed independently, cooperatively, or is it delegated?	III Frequency 5 Daily 4 Weekly 3 Monthly 2 Occasionally 1 Annually	IV Importance 5 Extreme 4 Great 3 Average 2 Little 1 None	V Difficulty 5 Very hard 4 Hard 3 Average 2 Easy 1 Very easy
1.	Prepare and submit the budget for the athletics program	Yes No	Ind Coop Del	54321	54321	54321
2.	Prepare a capital improvement program and budget	Yes No	Ind Coop Dei	54321	54321	54321
3.	Approve requisitions and authorize departmental purchases	Yes No	Ind Coop Del	54321	54321	54321
4.	Endorse or approve checks or vouchers made on athletics department funds	_Yes _No	[nd Coop Del	54321	54321	54321
5.	Maintain an accounting system which provides control. analysis, and audit for all monies	Yes No	Ind Coop Del	54321	54321	54321
6.	Other (please explain)	Yes No	Ind Coop Del	54321	54321	54321

Please indicate the approximate amount of your administrative time that is spent in the area of FINANCIAL OPERATIONS: 5%______10%_____15%_____20%____25%____30%_____35%____40%____45%____50%____

GENERATION OF REVENUES

•

N72 (2014)

·

19

		1] 111	IV	V
Duty	Do you	Is this duty	Frequency	Importance	Difficulty
	perform	performed	5 Daily	5 Extreme	5 Very ha
	this duty?	independently,	4 Weckly	4 Great	4 Hard
		cooperatively,	3 Monthly	3 Average	3 Average
		or is it	2 Occasionally	2 Little	2 Easy
		delegated?	1 Annually	1 None	1 Very ea
I. Solicit contributions from individuals by phone, mail.	Yes No		54321	54321	54321
or personal contact		Del			
2. Secure donations from	_Yes	Ind	54321	54321	54321
corporations	No	Coop Del			
3. Establish and/or increase	_Yes	Ind	54321	54321	54321
ticket prices	No	Coop Dei			
1. Direct a preseason ticket	_Yes	Ind	54321	54321	54321
sales drive	No	Coop Del			
. Negotiate television and/or	_Yes	Ind	54321	54321	54321
radio broadcast contracts	No	Coop Del			
. Secure revenue through	_Yes	Ind	54321	54321	54321
guarantees	No	Coop Del			
. Secure contracts for the rental	Yes	Ind	54321	54321	54321
of athletics facilities	No	Coop Del			
B. Determine and/or increase	_Yes	Ind	54321	54321	54321
concession prices	No	Coop			
		Del			
Propose increases in	_Yes	Ind	54321	54321	54321
student fees which support	_No	Coop			
the athletics program		Del			
0. Supervise an organizational	_Yes	Ind	54321	54321	54321
unit whose purpose is to fund- raise for the athletics program	No	Coop			
		Del			
1. Submit proposals for grants	_Yes	Ind	54321	54321	54321
from the NCAA and/or from	No	Coop			
the conference		Del			
2. Other (please explain)	_Yes	Ind	54321	54321	54321
	No	Соор			
	-	Dei			

Please indicate the approximate amount of your administrative time that is spent in the area of GENERATION OF REVENUES: 5%_____10%____15%____20%_____30%_____35%____40%____45%____50%____

OPERATIONAL POLICIES

		+		+	
Duty	l Do you perform this duty?	II Is this duty performed independently, cooperatively, or is it delegated?	III Frequency 5 Daily 4 Weekly 3 Monthly 2 Occasionally 1 Annually	IV Importance 5 Extreme 4 Great 3 Average 2 Little 1 None	V Difficulty 5 Very hard 4 Hard 3 Average 2 Easy 1 Very easy
1. Plan athletics department policies and procedures	Yes No	Ind Coop Del	54321	54321	54321
2. Direct the preparation, revision, and distribution of the departmental handbook	Yes No	Ind Coop Del	54321	54321	54321
3. Develop procedures and guide- lines for scheduling, travel, and home athletics contests	Yes No	Ind Coop Del	54321	54321	54321
 Develop and maintain a system for purchasing, receiving, dis- pensing, storing, and inventory of materials, equipment, and support 	Yes No blies	Ind Coop De1	54321	54321	54321
5. Develop a plan for program evaluation	Yes No	Ind Coop Del	54321	54321	54321
 Develop a handbook for student athletes 	Yes No	Ind Coop Del	54321	54321	54321
7. Other (please explain)	Yes No	Ind Coop Det	54321	54321	54321

Please indicate the approximate amount of your administrative time that is spent in the area of OPERATIONAL POLICIES: 5%_____10%_____15%____20%_...__25%____30%____35%____40%____45%____50%____

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

PERSONNEL

				+	
Duty	I Do you perform this duty?	II Is this duty performed independently, cooperatively, or is it delegated?	III Frequency 5 Daily 4 Weekly 3 Monthly 2 Occasionally 1 Annually	IV Importance 5 Extreme 4 Great 3 Average 2 Little 1 None	V Difficulty 5 Very hard 4 Hard 3 Average 2 Easy 1 Very easy
 Plan and conduct regularly scheduled athletics staff meetings 	Yes No	Ind Coop Det	54321	54321	54321
2. Hold individual conferences with staff members	Yes No	Ind Coop Del	54321	54321	54321
3. Prepare a job analysis or job description for all positions	Yes No	Ind Coop Del	54321	54321	54321
 Interview and select new coaching and support personnel 	Yes No	Ind Coop Del	54321	54321	54321
5. Establish or recommend salary schedules for staff	Yes No	Ind Coop Del	54321	54321	54321
6. Determine or make adjustments in loads/coaching assignments	Yes No	Ind Coop Del	54321	54321	54321
7. Conduct formal evaluations of all staff	Yes No	Ind Coop Del	54321	54321	54321
 Direct activities of office personnel (secretary, recep- tionist, etc.) 	Yes No	Ind Coop Del	54321	54321	54321
9. Other (please explain)	_Yes _No	lnd Coop Del	54321	54321	54321

Please indicate the approximate amount of your administrative time that is spent in the area of PERSONNEL: 5%_____10%_____15%____20%____25%_____30%____35%____40%____45%____50%____

COMPLIANCE

_					****	
	Duty	l Do you perform this duty?	II Is this duty performed independently, cooperatively, or is it delegated?	III Frequency 5 Daily 4 Weekly 3 Montbly 2 Occasionally 1 Annually	IV Importance 5 Extreme 4 Great 3 Average 2 Little 1 None	V Difficulty 5 Very hard 4 Hard 3 Average 2 Easy 1 Very easy
1.	Certify the eligibility of all student athletes; complete and submit required forms	Yes No	Ind Coop Del	54321	54321	54321
2.	Ensure that recruitment of all student athletes is in accordance with NCAA regulations	Yes No	ind Coap Dei	54321	54321	54321
3.	Oversee the awarding of athletic scholarships, work aid grants, or other forms of financial aid	Yes No	Ind Coop Del	54321	54321	54321
4.	Provide a program for drug education and/or regular testing for substance abuse	Yes Na	Ind Coop Dei	54321	54321	54321
5.	Inform and interpret NCAA and conference legislation to staff (rules education. etc.)	Yes No	lnd Coop Del	54321	54321	54321
6.	Provide a plan for enforcement	Yes No	Ind Coop Del	54321	54321	54321
7.	Conduct ongoing review and evaluation of compliance systems	_Yes _No	Ind Coop Del	54321	54321	54321
8.	Other (please explain)	Yes No	Ind Coop Del	54321	54321	54321

Please indicate the approximate amount of your administrative time that is spent in the area of COMPLIANCE: 5%_____10%____15%____20%____25%____30%____35%____40%____45%____50%____

RESPONSIBILITIES TO STUDENT ATHLETES

			-+		+	
	Duty	l Do you perform this duty?	It Is this duty performed independently, cooperatively, or is it delegated?	III Frequency 5 Daily 4 Weekly 3 Monthly 2 Occasionally 1 Annually	IV Importance 5 Extreme 4 Great 3 Average 2 Little 1 None	V <u>Difficulty</u> 5 Very hard 4 Hard 3 Average 2 Easy 1 Very easy
ī.	Arrange for an insurance coverage plan for all athletes	Yes No	Ind Coop Dcl	54321	54321	54321
2.	Ensure that all athletes have physical examinations	Yes No	Ind Coop Del	54321	54321	54321
3.	Arrange transportation, meals, lodging, etc. when teams travel	Yes No	Ind Coop Del	54321	54321	54321
4.	Enforce codes of ethics and conduct for athletes	Yes No	Ind Coop Del	54321	54321	54321
5.	Assign athletes to athletics department or campus jobs	Yes No	Ind Coop Del	54321	54321	54321
6.	Develop a system of keeping records for all sports	Yes No	Ind Coop Del	54321	54321	54321
7.	Establish standards for qualifications for sports awards	Yes No	Ind Coop Dei	54321	54321	54321
8.	Provide a plan for laundry services	Yes No	Ind Coop Del	54321	54321	54321
9.	Arrange yearly athletics banquet(s)	_Ycs _No	Ind Coop Dei	54321	54321	54321
10.	Provide a counseling program for athletes who aspire to become professionals	Yes No	ind Coop Dei	54321	54321	54321
11.	Other (please explain)	Yes No	Ind Coop Dei	54321	54321	54321

Please indicate the approximate amount of your administrative time that is spent in the area of RESPONSIBILITIES TO STUDENT ATHLETES: 5%_____10%____15%____20%____25%_____30%____35%____40%____45%____50%____

PUBLIC RELATIONS/PROMOTIONS

					
Duty	l Do you perform this duty?	If Is this duty performed independently, cooperatively, or is it delegated?	III Frequency 5 Daily 4 Weekly 3 Monthly 2 Occasionally 1 Annually	IV Importance 5 Extreme 4 Great 3 Average 2 Little 1 None	V Difficulty 5 Very hard 4 Hard 3 Average 2 Easy 1 Very easy
 Interpret phases of the athletics program to faculty, students, community, alumni 	Yes No	Ind Ind Coop Del	54321	54321	54321
2. Make special addresses to alumni or other groups	Yes No	Ind Coop Del	54321	54321	54321
3. Arrange preferential seating for ardent supporters of the athletics program	Yes No	Ind Coop De!	54321	54321	54321
 Cooperate with boosters and and athletics benefit groups 	Yes No	Ind Coop Del	54321	54321	54321
5. Visit schools for speaking engagements when requested	Yes No	Ind Coop Del	54321	54321	54321
6. Serve as a consultant to programs of youth organizations, commer- cial, civic, and industrial groups	Yes No	Ind Coop Dei	54321	54321	54321
7. Plan marketing campaigns	Yes No	Ind Coop Del	54321	54321	54321
8. Arrange media coverage for athletics events	Yes No	Ind Coop Del	54321	54321	54321
9. Prepare press, radio, or television releases	Yes No	ind Coop Dei	54321	54321	54321
10. Other (please explain)	Yes No	Ind Coop Del	54321	54321	54321

Please indicate the approxumate amount of your administrative time that is spent in the area of PUBLIC RELATIONS/ PROMOTIONS: 5%_____10%_____15%_____20%____25%_____30%____35%_____40%_____45%____50%____

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

FACILITY/CONTEST MANAGEMENT

	Duty	l Do you perform this duty?	II Is this duty performed independently, cooperatively, or is it delegated?	III Erequency 5 Daily 4 Weekly 3 Monthly 2 Occasionally 1 Annually	IV Importance 5 Extreme 4 Great 3 Average 2 Little 1 None	V Difficulty 5 Very hard 4 Hard 3 Average 2 Easy 1 Very easy
ī.	Coordinate all activities and personnel involved in game preparation, operation, and cleanup	Yes No	Ind Coop Del	54321	54321	54321
2.	Oversee the work of physical plant employees in athletics facilities	Yes No	Ind Coop Del	54321	54321	54321
3.	Arrange security for athletics contests	Yes No	Ind Coop Del	54321	54321	54321
4.	Pay officials and/or present guarantee checks to visiting teams	Yes No	Ind Coop Del	54321	54321	54321
5.	Arrange for complimentary tickets and/or pass lists for athletics events	Yes No	Ind Coop Del	54321	54321	54321
6.	Prioritize and schedule athletics facilities usage	Yes No	Ind Coop Del	54321	54321	54321
7.	Inspect facilities, equipment, and supplies for safety hazards and sanitary conditions	Yes No	Ind Coop Del	54321	54321	54321
8.	Other (please explain)	Yes No	lad Coop Del	54321	54321	54321

Please indicate the approximate amount of your administrative time that is spent in the area of FACILITY/CONTEST MANAGEMENT: 5%_____10%____15%____20%____25%____30%____35%____40%____45%____50%____

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

PERSONAL/PROFESSIONAL GROWTH

	Duty	i Do you perform this duty?	II Is this duty performed independently, cooperatively, or is it	III Frequency 5 Daily 4 Weekly 3 Monthly 2 Occasionally	IV Importance 5 Extreme 4 Great 3 Average 2 Little	V Difficulty 5 Very hard 4 Hard 3 Average 2 Easy
 I.	Serve on institutional committees outside of the athletics department	Yes No	delegated? Ind Coop Del	1 Annually 54321	1 None 54321	1 Very easy 5 4 3 2 1
2.	Conduct independent research	Yes No	Iпd Соор Del	54321	54321	54321
3.	Represent the institution at NCAA and conference meetings	_Ycs _No	Ind Coop Dei	54321	54321	54321
4.	Serve on professional committees at the national and/or conference level	Yes No	ind Coop De!	54321	54321	54321
5:	Write or edit materials for professional publications	_Yes _No	Ind Coop Del	54321	54321	54321
6.	Take graduate courses for professional development	_Yes _No	lnd Coop Del	54321	54321	54321
7.	Develop computer skills	_Yes _No	Ind Coop Dei	54321	54321	54321
8.	Other (please explain)	Yes No	Ind Coop Del	54321	54321	54321

Please indicate the approximate amount of your administrative time that is spent in the area of PERSONAL/PROFESSIONAL GROWTH: 5% 10% 15% 20% 25% 30% 35% 40% 50% 50%

NOTE: SINCE YOU MAY HAVE BEEN UNSURE OF THE ORGANIZATION, LENGTH, AND DEPTH OF THIS QUESTIONAIRE, FEEL FREE TO BACKTRACK AND ADJUST THE PERCENTAGES AS YOU DEEM NECESSARY. YOU MAY ALSO WISH TO ADD COMMENTS.

APPENDIX C

.

PERMISSION LETTER (JOHN RENO)

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

.

APPENDIX C

PERMISSION LETTER (JOHN RENO)



12 December 1990

Mr. T. Michael Kinder Eastern Mennonite College Harrisonburg, VA 22801

Dear Mr. Kinder:

Thank you for your recent telephone call regarding the use of information contained in my dissertation. I was pleased to receive your follow-up letter postmarked December 4, 1990 detailing your request.

You have my permission "to extract items or to use the format" of the instrument that I developed for use in my dissertation. Quoting M.S. Kelliher's response to my request to use items from his dissertation, which appears on page 208 of my dissertation, "By all means.. use my material as you find it useful and appropriate to your study."

Best wishes for a successful completion of your study.

Sincerely,

An Keno

^LJohn Reno, P.E.D. Professor of Physical Education Director of Sport Studies

je

APPENDIX D

PERMISSION LETTER (H. LYNN CUNDIFF)

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

APPENDIX D

PERMISSION LETTER (H. LYNN CUNDIFF)



ALABAMA DEPARTMENT OF POSTSECONDARY EDUCATION

t

ires Bealn Fred Gainous, Chancellor 4505 Executive Park Drive Montgomery, Alabama 36116 (205) 244-7900 (Fax) 279-6779 State Board of Education December 10, 1990 Governor Guy Huni President Mr. T. Michael Kinder John M. Tyson, Jr. Vice President Royals Baseball Eastern Mennonite College District 1 Harrisonburg, Virginia 22801 Steadman S Shealy, Jt. Dear Mr. Kinder: This correspondence serves as a letter of approval to use portions of Isabelia B Thomasson the instrument and/or format developed for my dissertation as you see fit. Distuct 3 If I may be of assistance in other ways, please let me know. Ethel H. Hall Best wishes on completing this project. I would be very interested in District 4 reviewing your work upon completion. Wilke J. Paul Sincerely, District 5 Spencer Bachus H. Lynn Cundiff District 6 Executive Vice Chancellor Victor P. Poole District 7 vs Evelyn Pratt Distiict 8

APPENDIX E

.

QUESTIONNAIRE REVIEW PANEL

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

APPENDIX E

QUESTIONNAIRE REVIEW PANEL

- Dr. Francis W. Bonner, Retired Professor of English Faculty Athletics Representative Furman University Member of the NCAA Executive Committee
- 2. G. E. "Sonny" Moran, Jr. Commissioner, Gulf South Conference Former Athletics Director--Morehead State University
- 3. Stephen R. Morgan Associate Executive Director National Collegiate Athletic Association
- 4. Patricia A. Rodgers Director of Physical Education and Women's Athletics State University of New York at Albany
- 5. Dr. A. H. Solomon Professor of Physical Education Middle Tennessee State University Former PE and Athletics Administrator
- 6. Glen Tuckett Director of Athletics Brigham Young University

APPENDIX F

•

.

COMPLIANCE LETTER

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

•

APPENDIX F

COMPLIANCE LETTER

THE NATIONAL COLLEGIATE ATHLETIC ASSOCIATION

6201 College Boulevard

Overland Park, Kansas 66211-2422

Telephone 913/339-1906

February 19, 1991

Mr. Ted Michael Kinder Department of Athletics Eastern Mennonite College Harrisonburg, Virginia 22801

Dear Ted:

I apologize for the inordinate delay in responding to your December letter. I asked some of the members of our compliance services staff to take a look at the questionnaire you submitted, and it took some time to get it back to me.

The members of the staff who reviewed it felt it was generally good. They suggested the addition of a separate section on NCAA rules compliance, which could include the areas of recruitment, financial aid, certification of eligibility, interpretation of regulations, rules education, enforcement, and ongoing review and evaluation of compliance systems. Such a section should give you a more complete questionnaire to evaluate an athletics director's position in this time when compliance with the regulations of national governing bodies is significant.

I hope this information is helpful to you. If you would like to discuss this matter with a member of the compliance services staff, please let me know.

I hope things are going well for you. Please give my best to Tom and his family.

Morgan lehen

Associate Executive Director

SRM:clg

APPENDIX G

.

QUESTIONNAIRE COVER LETTER

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

.

APPENDIX G

QUESTIONNAIRE COVER LETTER



Eastern Mennonite College Harrisonburg, VA 22801

DEPARTMENT OF PHYSICAL EDUCATION AND ATHLETICS (703) 432-4440 FAX (703) 432-4444

Dear Athletics Director,

I am a doctoral candidate at Middle Tennessee State University. For my dissertation, alhietics edministrators within both the NCAA and the Southern Association of Colleges and Schools have been selected to participate in the research. The study will seek to identify the qualifications, responsibilities, and duties needed for successful job performance at each respective NCAA division level. To structure and validate the instrument, both NCAA personnel and current professionals were consulted. Hopefully, the findings may be used to advance and improve the profession.

It is essential that the findings of the study provide an accurate representation of majority opinions. This is why your participation is so important. Your only requirement is to complete the questionnaire and return it in the enclosed business reply envelope. While some basic demographic data is requested, the questionnaire is structured in a check-list response format and should take a minimal amount of time to complete.

Please submit your responses by <u>April 12</u>. You may note on the questionaire if you would like a copy of the results. Your cooperation in this endeavor is greatly appreciated.

Sincerely,

T. Michael Kinder

BIBLIOGRAPHY

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

BIBLIOGRAPHY

- Berg, K. (1978). Comparison of professional preparation, experience, and functions of male and female athletic directors (Doctoral dissertation, University of Utah, 1977. <u>Dissertation Abstracts International</u>, <u>38</u>, 4018A.
- Berg, R. (1990). The roads less traveled. <u>Athletic</u> <u>Business</u>, <u>14</u>(11), 44-48.
- Branch, D. Jr. (1990). Athletic director behavior as a predictor of intercollegiate athletic organizational effectiveness. <u>Journal of Sport Management</u>, <u>4</u>(2), 161-173.
- Brassie, P. S. (1989a). Guidelines for programs preparing undergraduate and graduate students for careers in sport management. <u>Journal of Sport</u> <u>Management</u>, <u>3</u>(2), 158-164.
- Brassie, P. S. (1989b). A student buyer's guide to sport management programs. <u>Journal of Physical Education</u>, <u>Recreation and Dance</u>, <u>60</u>(9), 25-28.
- Broyles, F. J. (1976). Surveying: Key troubles facing today's college athletic directors. <u>Athletic</u> <u>Administration</u>, <u>11</u>, 8-9.
- Broyles, F. J., & Hay, R. D. (1979). <u>Administration of</u> <u>athletic programs, a managerial approach</u>. Englewood Cliffs, NJ: Prentice Hall.
- Broyles, F. J., Hay, R. D., & Ginter, P. M. (1979). Marketing: The other half of a successful athletic program. <u>Athletic Administration</u>, <u>14</u>, 9-12.
- Bucher, C. A. (1983). <u>Administration of physical education</u> and athletic programs. St. Louis: C. V. Mosby.
- Bucher, C. A. (1987). <u>Management of physical education &</u> <u>athletic programs</u>. St. Louis: Times Mirror Mosby College.
- Case, B. (1984, March 29-April 2). <u>Program and curriculum</u> <u>trends in sport management</u>. Paper presented at the Annual Convention of the American Alliance for Health, Physical Education, Recreation, and Dance, Anaheim, CA.

- Cash, P. R. (1983). The cash competency inventory for intercollegiate athletic directors: Development and validation (Doctoral dissertation, Temple University, 1983). <u>Dissertation Abstracts International</u>, <u>44</u>, 1722A.
- Chelladurai, P. (1985). <u>Sport management</u>. London, Ontario: Sports Dynamics.
- Cundiff, H. L. (1985). A comparison of roles and tasks between randomly selected NCAA Division I, Division II, and Division II athletic directors (Doctoral dissertation, Southern Illinois University at Carbondale, 1984). <u>Dissertation Abstracts</u> <u>International</u>, <u>45</u>, 2323A.
- Cuneen, J. (1992). Graduate-level professional preparation for athletic directors. Journal of Sport Management, 6(1), 15-26.
- Dennis, J. M. (1971). Administrative behavior of successful and unsuccessful athletic directors in small colleges and universities (Doctoral dissertation, University of Southern California, 1971). <u>Dissertation</u> <u>Abstracts International</u>, <u>32</u>, 5015A.
- Forsythe, C. E. (1962). <u>The athletic director's handbook</u>. Englewood Cliffs, NJ: Prentice Hall.
- Frost, R. B., Lockhart, B. D., & Marshall, S. J. (1988). <u>Administration of physical education and athletics</u>. Dubuque, IA: Wm. C. Brown.
- Glazier, M., & Jones, K. (1991). Charting a sea of rules. College Athletic Management, 3(3), 14-18.
- Hall, J., Cooper, J., Frost, R., Shenk, H., & Warren, N. (1973). <u>Administration: Principles, theory, and</u> <u>practice with applications to physical education</u>. Pacific Palisades, CA: Goodyear.
- Hardy, S. (1987). Graduate curriculums in sport management: The need for a business orientation. <u>Quest</u>, <u>39</u>, 207-216.
- Hatfield, B. D., Wrenn, J. P., & Bretting, M. M. (1987). Comparison of job responsibilities of intercollegiate athletic directors and professional sport general managers. <u>Journal of Sport Management</u>, <u>1</u>(2), 129-145.

- Havel, R. C., & Seymour, E. W. (1961). <u>Administration of</u> <u>health, physical education, and recreation</u>. New York: Ronald Press.
- Herron, L. G. (1969). A survey to compare the educational preparation, related experiences, and selected duties of collegiate athletic directors (Doctoral dissertation, University of Utah, 1969). <u>Dissertation</u> <u>Abstracts International</u>, <u>30</u>, 1845A.
- Horine, L. (1991). <u>Administration of physical education</u> and sport programs. Dubuque, IA: Wm. C. Brown.
- Karch, R. C. (1979). A study of selected educational, professional, and personal characteristics, and attitudes of directors of athletics at certain institutions of the National Collegiate Athletic Association (Doctoral dissertation, The American University, 1978). <u>Dissertation Abstracts</u> <u>International</u>, <u>39</u>, 750A.
- Kelliher, M. S. (1957). Successful athletic administration. <u>Journal of Health, Physical Education,</u> <u>and Recreation</u>, <u>28</u>, 30-32.
- Kinder, T. M. (1976). Criteria for a graduate program in athletic administration based on a job analysis of athletic administrators in selected southeastern states (Doctoral dissertation, George Peabody College for Teachers, 1975). <u>Dissertation Abstracts International</u>, <u>36</u>, 5125A.
- Kinder, T. M. (1990). <u>Organizational management</u> <u>administration for athletic programs</u>. Dubuque, IA: Eddie Bowers.
- Lopiano, D. A. (1984). How to pursue a sport management career. <u>Journal of Physical Education, Recreation and</u> <u>Dance, 55(7), 15-19.</u>
- Marciani, L. (1991). Mining for Division II gold. <u>Athletic Business</u>, <u>15</u>(5), 49-52.
- Membership in association increases to 1,035. (1990, September 10). <u>The NCAA News</u>, p. 1.
- Nardone, L. J. (1987). The identification and comparison of the fund-raising practices of athletic administrators in National Collegiate Athletic Association Division I, II, and II institutions (Doctoral dissertation, Temple University, 1986). <u>Dissertation Abstracts International</u>, <u>48</u>, 334A.

The 1990-1991 national directory of college athletics. (1991). Amarillo, TX: Ray Franks.

- Parker, W. K. (1986). The managerial roles of NCAA Division I athletic directors with implications for future training (Doctoral dissertation, University of Arkansas, 1986). <u>Dissertation Abstracts International</u>, <u>47</u>, 1624A.
- Parkhouse, B. L. (1987). Sport management curricula: Current status and design implications for future development. <u>Journal of Sport Management</u>, <u>1</u>(2), 93-115.
- Parkhouse, B. L. (1991). <u>The management of sport: Its</u> <u>foundation and application</u>. St. Louis: Mosby Year Book.
- Richey, B. L. (1963). A survey of the responsibilities and qualifications of athletic directors in selected colleges (Doctoral dissertation, University of Colorado, 1963). <u>Dissertation Abstracts International</u>, <u>25</u>, 274A.
- Roach, P. J. (1984, October). Division III institutions unique in budgeting process. <u>The NCAA News</u>, p. 4.
- Rochelle, A. R. (1971). Education, related experiences, and role of the director of athletics in senior institutions of higher learning which are members of the Southern Association of Colleges and Schools (Doctoral dissertation, University of Mississippi, 1971). <u>Dissertation Abstracts International</u>, <u>32</u>, 4380A.
- Scott, L. C. (1991, June 5). Louisiana state athletics shown to be an economic catalyst. <u>The NCAA News</u>, p. 5.
- Scott, P. M. (1979). The new administrator: A point of view. <u>Journal of Physical Education and Recreation</u>, <u>50</u>, 40-42.
- Steitz, E. S. (1971). <u>Administration of athletics in</u> <u>colleges and universities</u>. Washington, DC: National Education Association.
- Sutton, R. G. (1975). Functions and professional preparation of men intercollegiate athletic directors (Doctoral dissertation, University of Utah, 1975). <u>Dissertation Abstracts International</u>, <u>36</u>, 5132A.

- Sutton, W. A. (1989). The role of internships in sport management curricula--A model for development. <u>Journal</u> <u>of Physical Education, Recreation and Dance</u>, <u>60</u>(7), 20-24.
- Thelin, J. R., & Wiseman, L. L. (1990). <u>Capital Ideas, A</u> <u>Publication of the Forum for College Financing</u>. (Available from Capital Ideas, Teachers College, Columbia University, New York)
- Toms, J. M. (1979). An investigation to analyze differences in leadership characteristics of directors of athletics in the three divisions of the National Collegiate Athletic Association and the National Association of Intercollegiate Athletics (Doctoral dissertation, West Virginia University, 1978). Dissertation Abstracts International, 40, 4127A.
- Ulrich, D., & Parkhouse, B. L. (1982). An alumni oriented approach to sport management curriculum design using performance ratings and a regression model. <u>Research</u> <u>Quarterly for Exercise and Sport</u>, <u>53</u>, 64-72.
- Williams, J. M., & Miller, D. M. (1983). Intercollegiate athletic administration: Preparation patterns. <u>Research Quarterly for Exercise and Sport</u>, <u>54</u>, 398-406.
- Youngberg, R. S. (1971). A comparative analysis of the qualifications suggested for intercollegiate athletic directors (Doctoral dissertation, Indiana University, 1971). <u>Dissertation Abstracts International</u>, <u>32</u>, 5030A.
- Zwald, A. D. (1986). NCAA Division III athletic director: A study of actual and preferred preparation (Doctoral dissertation, Ohio University, 1985). <u>Dissertation</u> <u>Abstracts International</u>, <u>46</u>, 2162A.